MALEFAHLE, Alfr ed, lost his shop when it was
demolished by members of the SAP in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, in January 1986 during violent conflict
over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MALEFAHLO, Makwape (64), was hacked and burnt
to death by ‘comrades’ in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 7
September 1986 during conflict over INCORPORATION
into KwaNdebele.

MALEFAHLO, Moseme Solomon (84), was severely
beaten by Ndebele-speaking men in Siyabuswa
community hall, KwaNdebele, on 20 December 1985
because he resisted the scheduled INCORPORATION of
Moutse into KwaNdebele later that month.
MALEFAHLO, Selele Peter (21), was severely beaten
by members of the Bophuthatswana Defence Force
while attending a community meeting in Ga-Rankuwa,
Bophuthatswana, in March 1986.

MALEFAHLO, Simon , was arrested in 1969 by
Rosebank police under Pass Laws at Killarney,
Johannesburg, and transferred to Modderbee prison,
Benoni. He has not been seen since.

MALEFANE, Adam (37), was shot and severely injured
by members of the SAP during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE
in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, on 21 March 1960.
MALEFANE, Captain Petrus (27), was shot dead by a
local supporter of the Lingelethu West Town Council
on 25 October 1990. At least eight people were killed
that day by police and supporters of the town council,
during and after a mass march to express community
opposition to the council. A named perpetrator serving
a prison sentence for the killing was refused amnesty.
MALEHO, Puseletso Zephora , was shot by members
of the SAP during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE in
Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, on 21 March 1960.
MALEKA, Alfr ed, was shot and stabbed to death in
Pimville, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 12 April 1992
when IFP supporters attacked the ANC-supporting
Fred Clarke informal settlement.

MALEKA, Anna Thoko (40), was shot and stabbed by
armed men who boarded a Soweto-bound train at
Jeppe station and began attacking as the train passed
George Goch station, on 13 September 1990. The
attackers killed about 26 people and wounded 45
others. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.

MALEKA, Monge Joubert , a police informer, was
abducted outside the Johannesburg COSATU offices
by COSATU members who suspected him of spying.
He was held against his will, assaulted, and paraded at
a press conference as a police spy. Three COSATU
officials were granted amnesty for the abduction
(AC/2000/116).

MALEKA, Solomon (16), died after being shot by
members of the SAP at Kliptown, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 3 May 1987 when police reportedly passed
his high school in a Hippo during school boycotts.
MALEKA, Tickey, a patron at a tavern, was injured
when MK operatives opened fire on policemen sitting
drinking at the tavern in Mariana Street, Atteridgeville,
Tvl, on 18 March 1988. Three policemen were killed in
the attack. Three MK operatives were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/199).
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MALEKA, William Madime (60), was abducted from
his home in Moteti, KwaNdebele, by IMBokODO
members on 1 January 1986 and assaulted at SIYABUSWA
community hall. The attacks, led by named KwaNdebele
government officials, were designed to suppress
resistance to INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MALEKE, Khani Jacob , was shot dead by a member
of the SAP in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, in March
1990. At the time Khutsong was occupied by the SAP
leading to numerous clashes between police and the
community.

MALEKO, Dieketsang Andr onica, was injured and
suffered damage to property on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MALELE, Almond , died in detention on 20 January
1977, 11 days after being arrested as a suspected
underground ANC activist. Mr Malele is officially
recorded as having died of natural causes after hitting
his head on a desk during interrogation by members of
the SAP.

MALELE, Edward Boy (45), was beaten to death by
alleged members of the Gazankulu Police at the Giyani
police station, Louis Trichardt, Tvl, on 25 December
1991 after his arrest for questioning about the death of
a chief.

MALEMA, Paulos Vincent (14), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Heilbron, OFS, on 24 July
1992. In an armoured patrol of the area, police opened
fire, hitting Paulos as he ran to hide in a yard. A
political march was scheduled to take place in the area
on that day.

MALEMBE, Nonhlanhla Eunice (33), lost her house
in an arson attack in Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 21 February 1993 in continuing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
One person was stabbed and burnt to death in the
attack.

MALEPE, Motsabi Lucas , was shot dead by Bophutha-
tswana Police in Winterveld, Bophuthatswana, on 19
February 1986 during political violence between
‘comrades’ and the homeland government.

MALESA, Emmanuel Phaladi (17), an ANCYL
member, was detained, severely beaten and held in
solitary confinement by members of the SAP in
Namakgale, Lebowa, on 16 June 1993. The ANCYL
clashed with police en route to a stadium to mark the
seventeenth anniversary of the SOWETO UPRISING.
Eleven other people were detained with Emmanuel
and they were all charged with public violence. The
charges were later dropped.

MALETE, Mmakgobo (66), had her home in GaMatlala,
Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of chief BK Matlala
in February 1980, during conflict between Chief
Matlala and residents who supported the ANC-aligned
People’'s Congress.

MALETE, Wilson Latela (51), a People’'s Congress
supporter, had his house in GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt
down by supporters of Chief BK Matlala on 2 February
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1980, because Mr Malete resisted Lebowa’s proposed
independence from South Africa.

MALETJANE, Modjadiji Florah (51), an ANC member,
sustained head and back injuries when thrown from a
moving train by IFP supporters in Germiston, Tvl, on 9
September 1991. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.

MALETSANE, Ezekiel , a traffic officer, was shot and
injured by MK operatives in Krugersdorp, Tvl, on 27
September 1991. The MK operatives were escaping
arrest after being stopped at a roadblock by traffic
officers. Several other traffic officers were also injured
and a passing motorist was shot dead and robbed of
his vehicle by the fleeing operatives. Three MK
operatives were granted amnesty for the incident
(AC/1998/0091).

MALEVU, Lettie Mamiki , was injured when a hand
grenade exploded in a bus transporting workers in
Heidelberg, Tvl, on 28 September 1992 during a labour
dispute between striking COSATU-aligned FAWU
workers and non-striking IFP-aligned UWUSA workers
from July to December 1992. One person was killed
and 13 others injured in the attack.

MALEVU, Ntombi Angelinah , was shot and
wounded when ANC security guards opened fire from
the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg,
on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At
least nine marchers were killed and around 100
injured. Ten ANC security guards were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/142).

MALEWA, Elizabeth Paulinah (20), was detained by
the SAP at Soshanguve, Pretoria, in 1986 and accused
of burning down the house of a police officer at a time
of increasing attacks on police. Police were seen as
legitimate targets in the struggle against apartheid.
MALGAS, Basi Kimberley (68), was severely beaten
on his arrest by members of the SAP in Robertson,
Cape, on 12 June 1986. He was then detained under
emergency regulations for three months. See POLICE
BRUTALITY.

MALGAS, Bethwell (21), a SAYCO member, was shot
and injured by community COUNCILLORS in Crossroads,
Cape Town, on 23 December 1989, during a youth
march past the municipal offices. There were numerous
deaths and injuries in December 1989 when Crossroads
residents, under Jeffrey Nongwe, sought to break away
from the pro-government Johnson Ngxobongwana and
join the ANC.

MALGAS, Columbus , was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in Robertson, Cape, on 16 June
1986. He was then detained for several months under
emergency regulations. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MALGAS, Nombolelo Evelyn , was severely beaten
by police at the police station after being arrested in
Robertson, Cape, in 1985. Ms Malgas was again
arrested in November 1985 and charged with public
violence, spending three months in custody. She was
then detained on 18 June 1986 for three months
under emergency regulations. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MALGAS, Noncethakalo Catherine  (34), was shot
dead by members of the SAP in BOTSHABELO, near
Bloemfontein, on 15 February 1990, while participating
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in a protest march against the INCORPORATION of
Botshabelo into QwaQwa. Police set up roadblocks and
fired teargas in an attempt to stop marchers reaching
the Supreme Court in Bloemfontein. Three other
protesters were killed and many were injured when
police opened fire on marchers.

MALGAS, Nonkululeko Regina Nkulu  (28), was
arrested and beaten by a named member of the
AmvasoLomMz vigilantes in Ashton, Cape, on 20 November
1985, during a mass swoop with police. She was later
convicted with public violence and served two years in
prison.

MALGAS, Sinqokwana Er nest, an ANC member, was
imprisoned on Robben Island from 1963 to 1977, and
was subsequently detained and tortured on several
occasions between 1977 and 1989 in Port Elizabeth
and Cradock, Cape.

MALGAS, Siphiwo , was burnt and later died when
his home was petrol-bombed by unidentified persons
in Cradock, Cape, on 18 June 1985. His home was
allegedly attacked because of his father’s involvement
in the UDF.

MALGAS, Vuyani Mbuyiselo (24), an MK member
from Soweto, Johannesburg, was detained in 1979 by
ANC security. He was held at Quatro camp, Angola,
until 1983, during which time he was subjected to
torture. A number of ANC members were detained,
tortured and killed during a period of anxiety about
infiltration by South African agents following the SADF
bombing of Nova Catengue camp in 1979.

MALGAS, Zola Golden (41), was shot by members
of the CDF in front of his house in Mdantsane, Ciskei,
in 1983, allegedly while he was helping people shot by
the police during the MDANTSANE BUS BOYCOTT.
MALHERBE- BRODY, Michelle Anne (25), was injured
in a limpet mine attack by APLA members at the
Buffalo Springs Spur restaurant in Queenstown, Cape,
on 3 December 1992. See APLA ATTACKS.
MALHERBE, P, was present when the SADF base
was attacked by MK operatives at Letaba stadium,
Nkowa Nkowa, Gazankulu, on 12 April 1990. Five
SADF members were injured. Two MK operatives
were granted amnesty for the incident (AC/2000/98).
MALI, Enoch (43), an ANC supporter and NEHAWU
affiliate, was shot in both legs by a named member of
the MuNiciPAL PoLIcE on 7 February 1987 at Fort
Beaufort, Cape.

MALI, Goodwin Mengxani (20), was one of two
youths shot dead by members of the SAP near
Crossroads, Cape Town, on 16 October 1985, in a
repeat of the TROJAN HORSE INCIDENT, CAPE TOWN, in
Athlone the previous day.

MALI, Latiswa Telmina (15), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in Crossroads, Cape Town, in
1985.

MALI, Matthews Mayezana , was one of five Pogo
supporters shot dead by members of the SAP and
white residents, when a crowd of Pogo supporters
marched into Paarl, Cape, on 21 November 1962 and
launched an attack on the police station and private
residences, killing two white residents.
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MALIBE, Reuben Mandla (17), was repeatedly
assaulted, intimidated and tortured by members of the
SAP in Tembisa, Tvl, on 1 November 1976 because he
was regarded as an instigator of student boycotts
against the use of Afrikaans as a medium of instruction
in black schools.

MALIE, Samuel Mokhele , an ANC supporter, died after
he was allegedly forced to drink poison by a member
of the SAP in Harrismith, OFS, on 17 October 1981.
MALIE, Tseko Ajustinus (18), an ANCYL member,
was shot dead by alleged members of the SADF in
Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, on 18 August 1992.
MALIEHE, Ben, a civilian, was traumatised when
APLA operatives opened fire on a vehicle travelling
from Zastron to Sterkspruit in the OFS on 18 March
1992. In the attack, one person was shot dead while
he lay injured next to the car. Another was severely
injured. Two managed to escape unhurt. See APLA
ATTACKS. One APLA member was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/148). See ZASTRON ROAD AMBUSH.

MALIEHE, Joseph Mahlomola , was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl,
on 3 September 1984 during a rent boycott during the
VAAL UPRISING.

MALINDI, Agnes , was killed on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MALINDI, Fanyana Ishmael (19), an MK operative and
Sharpeville self-defence unit leader, was tortured and
shot dead by members of the SAP in Orange Farm,
Vereeniging, Tvl, on 30 March 1993. Conflicting
reasons for his arrest were given including robbery, the
killing of white civilians at Eikenhof, and his connection
to MK operatives killed by police in Sharpeville. Two
others arrested with Mr Malindi provided sworn
affidavits about extreme torture inflicted on him by the
police before his death. Police also disrupted Mr
Malindi’s funeral.

MALINDI, Francinah , was severely injured on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MALINDI, Gloria Jongiwe (43), was beaten, raped
and robbed by a white Railway Policeman on 14 May
1986 in Cape Town while in the ‘whites only’ section
of a train.

MALINDI, Lydia Mananki , was severely injured and
suffered damage to property on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MALINDI, Mkhonto Samson , was shot dead by a
named perpetrator allegedly collaborating with the
SAP at Avalon cemetery in Soweto, on 21 September
1985 while attending a funeral for a ‘comrade’.
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MALINDI, Zolile ‘Zollie’ (36), an ANC supporter in
Cape Town, was detained for six months, first in 1960
and then in 1963, and was severely tortured after
being taken to Pretoria. In 1966 he was sentenced to
six months' imprisonment for political offences after
again being tortured. After his 1960 detention, he was
banned for a period of 12 years. Between 1985 and
1989, while serving as a national UDF official, he
endured four further periods of detention under
emergency regulations. One of these lasted for 13
months, after which restriction orders were imposed
on him. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MALINDISA, Jabulile Lina , was shot and injured in
Ermelo, Tvl, on 14 September 1992 when he was
caught in conflict between the IFP-aligned BLack CATS
and ANC supporters.

MALINGA, Belesia (53), an ANC supporter, was killed
by IFP supporters in Kwadela, Davel, Tvl, on 27 July
1991 during tension in the area after a number of
houses belonging to councillors were burnt after they
joined the IFP.

MALINGA, Bhe , a member of the SAP, was shot dead
by members of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) during
conflict between the BLack Cats and the ANC in
Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, in October 1993. One SDU
member was granted amnesty (AC/98/0121).
MALINGA, Bigboy Godfrey (23), a UDF supporter,
was shot and injured when named members of the
KwaZuru PoLice and the SADF opened fire on a violent
confrontation between UDF and Inkatha supporters in
Pietermaritzburg area on 26 March 1989.

MALINGA, Bongani , an ANC supporter, was hit by a
train while fleeing from named IFP supporters who
had attacked and burnt down his house at Umkomaas,
Natal, on 24 December 1990. He lost a leg as a result
of the incident.

MALINGA, Bongani , was shot dead by members of
an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) during conflict
between the Brack Cats and the ANC in Wesselton,
Ermelo, Tvl, on 22 October 1993. One SDU member
was granted amnesty for the killing (AC/98/0120).
MALINGA, Brian Themba , was injured when a limpet
mine, placed under a police van by members of the
‘Basil February’ MK unit, exploded at the Duduza
stadium, Tvl, on 11 June 1989. One MK operative was
granted amnesty for the attempted murder
(AC/2000/158).

MALINGA, Busisiwe Beauty (42), had her house
petrol-bombed by ‘comrades’ in Meadowlands,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 15 August 1987 because
she was living with a policeman.

MALINGA, Busisiwe Maureen (32), had her house
burnt down by named Inkatha supporters in Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, on 13 November 1989,
allegedly because her brothers were UDF supporters.
One brother, aged 17, was shot dead by Inkatha
supporters in Inanda on the same day.

MALINGA, Dolly Doris (12), was beaten with batons
and hit with guns and rifles by named SAP members
at a night vigil for a political activist in Khutsong,
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Carletonville, Tvl, on 5 July 1986 during the state of
emergency. Police surrounded the tent before entering
and severely beating people. Dolly and a friend
regained consciousness at Leratong hospital.
MALINGA, Eunice Zandile (23), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by IFP supporters at the taxi rank
at Ixopo, Natal, on 20 January 1994 in fighting
between ANC and IFP supporters. Six bystanders
were wounded. Ms Malinga lost her sight in one eye
as a result of the shooting.

MALINGA, Jabu James (37), was severely beaten by
members of the SADF in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in
1986 due to his political involvement. He lost nine
teeth in the attack and has ear problems as a result of
his injuries.

MALINGA, Leonard Mshiyeni (57), was stabbed to
death by IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers in September
1991 in Bruntville, near Mooi River, Natal, while
walking past a hostel towards the taxi rank. Hostilities
between hostel-dwellers and township residents
frequently resulted in violent conflict in Bruntville. See
BRUNTVILLE ATTACKS.

MALINGA, Mami Nontsikelo (18), had her home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Edendale, KwaZulu,
near Pietermaritzburg, on 19 September 1990 (the day
after an IFP rally). Ms Malinga was thought to be
harbouring a person who had deserted the IFP.
MALINGA, Mbuyiselwa (27), was shot dead in
Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, on 8 April
1993 during continuing conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MALINGA, Minah Delekile , a UDF supporter, had her
house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990 when a
group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF supporters
and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
in spite of a heavy police and military presence.
Fourteen people were killed and at least 120 homes
burnt down. One former IFP member was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MALINGA, Mmakgauta Mar garet, was severely
injured in a bomb, planted by members of the AVF in
Wesselsbron, OFS, on 15 November 1993, during a
right-wing campaign to force the government to
acknowledge their struggle for the creation of a
volkstaat. Four perpetrators were granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0001).

MALINGA, Mphikeleli Joseph (36), an ANC supporter,
was shot and killed by IFP members during political
conflict at Ethandakukhanya, Piet Retief, Tvl, on 9 June
1993. One perpetrator was refused amnesty
(AC/1998/0023).

MALINGA, Msende Michael (56), had his house looted
and set alight by IFP supporters at Mandini, Natal, on
29 November 1993. Mr Malinga was allegedly
targeted because his son was an ANC supporter.
MALINGA, Nkanyiso , a member of the SAP, was
injured by a hand grenade thrown through the window
of a house at Umlazi, Durban, on 11 June 1990. Two
of his colleagues were also injured in the explosion,
which was aimed at Mr Malinga. One MK operative
was granted amnesty (AC/2000/159).
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MALINGA, Nkosi Amos (62), had his house at
Umkomaas, near Durban, burnt down by IFP supporters,
one of whom is named, on 24 December 1990 in
intensifying political conflict in the area. The family fled
the area during the attack. Mr Malinga’'s son was
severely injured when he was hit by a train while fleeing.
MALINGA, Nkosinathi Zwelonke Imaan  (15), was
shot and injured by members of the SAP who opened
fire on protesting students in Steadville, Ladysmith,
Natal on 5 March 1990.

MALINGA, Ntombizodwa Eugina , was injured when
a limpet mine, placed under a police van by members of
the ‘Basil February’ MK unit, exploded at the Duduza
stadium, Tvl, on 11 June 1989. One MK operative was
granted amnesty for the attempted murder
(AC/2000/158).

MALINGA, Philemon Jabulane (30), an ANC supporter,
had his home burnt down by IFP supporters in Kwadela,
Davel, Tvl, on 5 February 1991.

MALINGA, Queen Dorothy (15), an ANCYL member,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Thandukukhanya, Piet Retief, Tvl, on 3 June 1993
during a commemoration ceremony for an ANC activist
killed near the Swaziland border. Police opened fire on
mourners unprovoked and two people were killed and
four injured.

MALINGA, Samuel Julie (44), died in detention in
Pietermaritzburg on 31 January 1977. He had been a
founder member of PAC in the region, and had been
arrested because of his political activities. He is one of
four PAC members who died in detention while
awaiting the ‘Bethal trial’. See BETHAL 18.

MALINGA, Sibusiso , had his house burnt down by IFP
supporters in Kwadela, Davel, Tvl, on 27 July 1991
during conflict between IFP supporters and ANC
supporters.

MALINGA, Theodora , was injured when a limpet mine
placed, under a police van by members of the ‘Basil
February’ MK unit, exploded at the Duduza stadium,
Tvl, on 11 June 1989. One MK operative was granted
amnesty for the attempted murder (AC/2000/158).
MALINGA, Thomas (24), an ANC supporter, was
arrested, severely beaten and detained for a month by
the police in Worcester, Cape, in September 1985. He
later served a five-year prison sentence for public
violence.

MALINGA, Zacharia (15), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by named IFP supporters in Kwadela,
Davel Tvl, on 27 July 1991.

MALINGA, Zola (18), was shot and injured by
members of KwaZuLu PoLice who opened fire on
mourners returning from a funeral at llifracombe, near
Durban in November 1990.

MALINGA, Zondelani Ellenour (52), a member of the
local Crisis Committee, had her house burnt down by
IFP supporters at Trust Feeds, New Hanover, near
Pietermaritzburg, on 2 December 1988. Ms Malinga's
son was a UDF supporter. The attack took place a day
before the TRUST FEEDS MASSACRE as the SAP withdrew
from the area, leaving UDF-supporting families
vulnerable to attack.
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MALINKI, (first name not given), an MK operative, was
shot dead by members of the SAP in Protea, Soweto,
on 21 November 1980.

MALISHE, Linah Ntombi (57), an Inkatha supporter,
was beaten and stabbed to death by UDF supporters
in Izingolweni, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 25
January 1990.

MALISHE, Themba Collin , an ANC supporter,
sustained burn injuries in a petrol-bomb attack by
Inkatha supporters in Alfred, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 5 February 1990 in intense political conflict
following the UNBANNING of political organisations three
days earlier.

MALITI, Lee Man (41), a member of the Security
Branch, was shot and injured by named ANC
supporters in Middelburg, Cape, on 8 August 1993.
MALITI, Robert Nana (22), an MK operative, was
arrested on 22 October 1988 near Crossroads, Cape
Town. He was beaten and tortured so severely by
named and other members of the SAP and Security
Branch that he required brain surgery. The torture left
him with permanent mental and physical disabilities.
Mr Maliti was then held for six months under SECTION
29 before being sentenced to a five-year prison term,
of which he served two years.

MALIWA, Oupa Joseph , was killed by alleged
members of the SAP in Mafikeng, Bophuthatswana,
on 13 March 1978 shortly after visiting his daughter in
exile in Botswana. Lichtenburg police told his wife he
died of a heart attack but the death certificate states
he died of injuries sustained in a car crash.
MALIYANA, Tsotetsi Mapule (47), had her house
burnt down in Nqutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, on
20 April 1994 in ongoing conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters in the area during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MALLESON, Harry Rodbard , sustained damage to
his property in a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop
near the Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl,
on 4 July 1986. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MALOBA, Elias (19), a South African Youth Congress
member, was arrested by members of the SAP and
charged with arson on 8 July 1985 in Daveyton, Tvl.
He was found guilty after the charge was changed to
public violence and was sentenced to seven years’
imprisonment.

MALOBELA, Kamtajanga Justice (26), died in police
custody in Pretoria on 22 September 1993. His parents
were told he hanged himself. The victim was found with
documents showing his involvement in underground
political operations.

MALOBOLA, Balise Emest (25), a UDF supporter, was
abducted by IMBOKODO members in 1986, and taken to
Almansdrift Hall in KwaNdebele where he was beaten
with sjamboks , allegedly in an attempt to force him to
join IMBOKODO.

MALOBOLA, Mabuza , a COSAS member, is assumed
to have been burnt to death by Viakplaas operatives at
Vlaklaagte, KwaNdebele, in June 1986. Malobola was
recruited with eight other youth activists by Vlakplaas
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askaris for supposed military training. The house they
were staying in was set alight and their bodies were
burnt beyond recognition. See NIETVERDIEND AMBUSH.
MALOKA, Matlaka Julia , was severely injured and
suffered damage to property on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MALOKA, Molefe Abel (45), an ANC supporter, was
detained for 31 days during 1990 by the Bophutha-
tswana Police in Hammanskraal, Tvl, under emergency
regulations, still in force in this area. In 1961 Mr Maloka
was deprived of his chieftainship and had his land
confiscated. In 1984 when his cattle strayed onto land
formerly owned by him, his hand was broken during
severe beating by a named perpetrator.

MALOKA, Motlhoki Paulus (41), was arrested and
detained by members of the Bophuthatswana Police
at Maboloko near Brits, Tvl, in September 1976 for
suspected involvement in acts of violence in the
community during conflict over the chieftancy.
MALOKE, Charles T okelo , was shot dead by members
of the MuniciPAL PoLice in Kliptown, Soweto, on 26
August 1986 while they were trying to evict residents
during a rent boycott.

MALOMA, Sibonsile Phumzile (15) was shot by
members of the SAP in kaNyamazane, Nelspruit, Tvl,
on 13 February 1986 during a student protest.
MALONEY, Christian C , was severely injured when
APLA operatives threw hand grenades at and opened
fire on patrons at the Crazy Beat Disco in Newcastle,
Natal, on 14 February 1994. One person was shot
dead and several others were injured in the attack.
See APLA atTacks. Three APLA operatives were
granted amnesty (AC/1998/0016).

MALOPE, Andr ew, a Brigadier in the Bophuthatswana
Police was shot and killed by MK operatives at
Mabopane, Bophuthatswana, during August 1986.
Amnesty applicants testified that Mr Malope was
allegedly targeted because he was implicated in
numerous cases of assault and torture of political
detainees. Four MK members were granted amnesty
(AC/1998/0048).

MALOPE, Beauty (21), was injured when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded during
lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on
30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at least 66
people were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).

MALOPE, Edward (16), was reported to the
Commission as having disappeared from his home in
Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in 1976. The Commission
established that Mr Malope joined MK and operated
under the name of "Joseph “Makero” Masimini’. In
1984, he was executed by firing squad in Angola in
1984 on the orders of an ANC military tribunal, following
a mutiny in the Pango camp. See ANC CAMPS.
MALOPE, Johannes Lekgoa , was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 18 April 1993 in the
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aftermath of the assassination of CHRis HAnI. IFP
supporters in a VW Jetta fired indiscriminately, killing
at least 19 people on that day. The car was eventually
hijacked and the occupants shot dead.

MALOPE, Millios T oto, a member of the SAP, was
shot and injured by MK operatives in an armed robbery
at the Emthonjeni police station, Machadodorp, Tvl, on
25 July 1990. The aim of the robbery was to seize
weapons. A police colleague and one of the MK
operatives were shot dead. One MK operative was
granted amnesty (AC/2000/109).

MALOPE, Richard , a member of the SAP, was shot at
by APLA operatives in Katlehong, Tvl, on 21 January
1993. See APLA ATTACKS. One APLA member was
granted amnesty (AC/1998/0051).

MALOPI ,(first name not given), a constable in the
SAP, was threatened at gunpoint when MK operatives
robbed the Ormonde police station, Johannesburg, on
27 February 1993. No one was injured in the robbery,
which was aimed at acquiring weapons for local self-
defence units (SDUs). Two MK operatives were
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0325).

MALOTO, James , was one of three people injured in
a limpet mine explosion at the Tembisa police station
barracks, Tvl, on 10 October 1988. Two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/132).

MALU, Vusi Brian (34), was shot and injured by
members of the KwaZuLu Potice in KwaMashu,
Durban on 23 December 1989.

MALUANE, Felisberto Catine , was sjambokked by a
named ANC supporter at Shongwe mission, Nelspruit,
Tvl, in May 1987. Mr Maluane was rescued before
being burnt alive.

MALUKA, Andries Fana , an MK operative, returned
to South Africa in March 1992 and was stabbed to
death by named members of the SAP in Komatipoort,
Tvl, on 10 April 1993. The day before, police demanded
his presence at Tonga police station where he was
taken to court and released on his own recognisance.
MALUKA, Paulus , was shot in both legs by members
of the SAP during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE in
Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, on 21 March 1960.
MALULEKA, Charles , an IMBOkODO member, lost his
house in an arson attack at Moutse, KwaNdebele, in
1986 during conflict over proposed INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MALULEKA, Charlie Ntshimane (37), was arrested in
December 1992 and detained for 18 months by
Bophuthatswana Police in Hammanskraal prison, Tvl,
during forced removals.

MALULEKA, Elphas , a UDF supporter, had his house
looted and set alight when a group of Inkatha
supporters and CAPRIVI TRAINEES attacked a UDF
meeting in a house at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 18 January 1988. Nine people were killed
and an estimated 200 people were injured in the
attack. The group went on to destroy around eight
houses. One former Inkatha member was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MALULEKA, Nonhlahla , aged four months, died
when hit on the head by a teargas cannister fired by
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members of the SAP at the Akanani shopping centre
in Lulekani, Gazankulu, on 28 May 1990. Police were
allegedly firing at a crowd involved in a UDF-organised
boycott of the centre.

MALULEKA, Spando Evelyn (30), was slapped twice
across the face by named policemen in balaclavas in
Bela-Bela police station, Warmbaths, Tvl, in April 1993.
She fell on a rock and damaged her spine. Ms Maluleka
was beaten on suspicion of being involved in burning
an informer’s shack with other people, in violence
after the assassination of SACP leader CHRIS HANI.
MALULEKE, Jim Mughakaza (39), was severely
injured when a limpet mine, planted by MK operatives,
exploded during lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in
Benoni, Tvl, on 30 July 1988. One woman was killed and
at least 66 people were injured. Four MK operatives
were granted amnesty for the planning and execution
of the attack (AC/1999/0294).

MALULEKE, Patrick Nyiko , a PAC operative, was
shot dead by members of the SAP in Edenville, OFS,
on 14 October 1992, allegedly while attempting to
leave the country after carrying out a non-combatant
PAC mission.

MALULEKE, Peter (32), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten with sjamboks by members of the
SAP in Soshanguve, Pretoria, in 1985.

MALULEKE, Thomas , disappeared in Boksburg, Tvl,
on 3 February 1982. He was never seen again.
MALUNDA, Sikowukowu William  (46), a UDF
supporter, was arrested by police in Mbekweni, Paarl,
Cape, on 24 June 1986, after which he was severely
beaten and tortured by named and other members of
the police. He was charged with the attempted
murder of an alleged police informer, but was
acquitted and successfully sued the police.
MALUNGA, Dlanyana (19), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by a named member of the KwaZuLu PoLice
at Nhlalakahle, Greytown, Natal, in November 1991.
MALUNGA, Mndeni (15), an ANC supporter, was
killed on 18 February 1994, when four gunmen attacked
a house in the rural Mahahle village, near Creighton,
Ixopo, Natal, in which he and other ANC youths were
sleeping. Fifteen ANC youths were killed in the attack.
They had been seen putting up posters announcing a
voter education workshop in preparation for the APRIL
1994 eLECTIONS. Four prominent IFP leaders were
acquitted on charges relating to the massacre.
MALUNGA, Ntombifuthi Purity  (18), an ANC
supporter, was killed by Inkatha supporters in Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 26 March 1990, following the
UNBANNING of political organisations in February.
MALUNGA, Sibusiso (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead at Nhlalakahle, Greytown, Natal, by a named
member of the KwaZuLu PoLice on 22 December 1991.
MALUNGA, Victoria Zanele (54), had her house
burnt down by IFP supporters at Qinabout, Port
Shepstone, Natal, in May 1991. Ms Malunga was
thought to be an ANC supporter.

MALUNGU, Yengiwe Esther (50), was attacked and
beaten by IFP members in her home at Mtwalume,
near Umzinto, Natal, in October 1990. The
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perpetrators allegedly suspected the family of being
sympathetic to the ANC.

MALUSI, David (28), an ANC member, was stabbed
and injured during ongoing conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters at Camperdown, near Pietermaritzburg,
in 1993. Several family members were shot dead and
others injured in the clashes. The family’s home was
burnt down in political conflict on 14 February 1994.
MALUSI, Dominic (31), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by other named ANC supporters in Inchanga,
Natal, on 14 February 1994 in the course of a serious
internal feud within the local party branch. His father
and brother had been injured in political clashes in
1993, and his sister had been fatally shot in 1992, also
in the course of internal party conflict.

MALUSI, Lillian Elinah  (17), was shot dead by named
ANC supporters in Inchanga, Natal, on 25 December
1992 during a serious internal feud in the organisation.
MALUSI, Mfenana Jackson (27), lost his home in an
arson attack in KTC, Cape Town, in June 1986, during
the mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter
camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit
approval and aid of the security forces. More than 60
people were killed and over 20 000 homes were burnt
during the attacks.

MALUSI, Ntloko Serial (58), an ANC supporter, had
his house burnt down by named ANC supporters at
Inchanga, Natal, on 14 February 1994 in the course of
a serious internal feud within the local party branch.
His son was killed in the attack. Another son had been
injured in political clashes in 1993, and a daughter had
been fatally shot in 1992, also in the course of internal
party conflict.

MALUSI, Thembile Alfred (22), an ANC and UDF
supporter, was shot dead by members of the SAP on
20 May 1986 during clashes between UDF and
AZAPO supporters in Mbekweni, Paarl, Cape.

MAMA, Louis Bonisile , was shot dead on 29 July 1986
when an MK unit attacked the Madeira police station,
in Umtata, Transkei. At least eight people were killed
in the attack, including members of the SAP, civilians
and one of the MK operatives. One MK operative
applied for and was granted amnesty (AC/2000/240).
MAMA, Nomntu V irginia (46), lost her home in an
arson attack in KTC, Cape Town, on 9 June 1986,
during the mass destruction of UDF-supporting
squatter camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the
tacit approval and aid of the security forces. More than
60 people were killed and over 20 000 homes were
destroyed in the attacks.

MAMA, Shadric Sindile Lhelhe (18), a SAYCO
member, was detained and severely assaulted by
members of the SAP on 4 July 1985 in Port Elizabeth.
MAMANI, Lungisile Matthews (20), a COSAS
member, was shot and injured by named members of
the MuniciPAL PoLice and SAP in Joza, Grahamstown,
Cape, on 11 June 1986 during SCHOOL BOYCOTTS and a
protest against local COUNCILLORS. Mr Mamani had
attended a show at the Noluthando Hall and was on
his way home when pellets were fired at a crowd.
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MAMARDO, Lethole Steve (26), a UDF supporter, was
assaulted and beaten with sjamboks , a wooden beam
and a length of iron cable by members of the SAP in
Sekhukhuneland, Lebowa, on 18 April 1986. Mr Mamaro
was suspected of being a leader of ‘comrades’ and of
instigating necklacings.

MAMATELA, Ronney (6), was shot dead by members
of the Bophuthatswana Police in Tlhabane,
Bophuthatswana, on 25 November 1985. Ronney's
uncle and two MK operatives living in the house were
also killed.

MAMATELA, Sekeke Maria , was severely ill treated
and suffered damage to property on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MAMATHO, Molelekeng Claudia (64), chair of the
DIKWANKWETLA NATIONAL PARTY (DNP), had her
house destroyed in an arson attack by UDF supporters
in BOTSHABELO, near Bloemfontein, on 27 July 1989,
allegedly because of her involvement in the DNP.
MAMBA, Alan Ndodomzi ‘Chicks’ , an MK operative,
was arrested in July 1988 and severely tortured by
named members of the SAP and the Western Cape
Security Branch in Cape Town. He was held under
SECTION 29 for six months, after which he was
sentenced to 18 years' imprisonment for terrorism and
murder. One Security Branch operative was granted
amnesty for his torture (AC/1999/0027).

MANMBA, James , was severely beaten with sjamboks
by members of the SADF on his way home in
Vosloorus, Boksburg, Tvl, on 29 June 1986 during the
state of emergency. There was a curfew in place and
special permission was required to be out after dark.
MAMBONA, Mbulaheni Petr us, sustained damage to
his property in a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop
near the Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl,
on 4 July 1986. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MAMELA, Mkhetwa Chrisopher (17), was assaulted,
shot and tortured by police in KwaThema, Tvl, on 3
February 1986 when he refused to identify activists on
a police videotape. He was also shown pictures of his
friend’s body that had been burnt and was threatened
with the same fate. He was subsequently sentenced
to five years' imprisonment for murder and malicious
damage to property. He served three years of his
sentence and was granted amnesty on 30 April 1991.
MAMESA, Geor ge, was severely injured when a
limpet mine planted by an MK operative exploded at
the Silverton bus terminus in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on

4 July 1986. The perpetrator applied for amnesty.
MAMKELI, Charles Vuyisile (17), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP near Crossroads, Cape
Town, in 1986, while toyi-toying during protests. A
week later he was severely assaulted by members of
the SAP.

MAMKELI, Nombuyiselo Maria (58), lost her house
in an arson attack by IFP supporters in Inanda, near
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KwaMashu, Durban, in March 1993. Ms Mamkeli lived
in an ANC stronghold.

MAMOGALE, Maralena January (44), was severely
beaten with a sjambok by members of the SAP in
Burgersfort, Tvl, on 17 March 1986 at a meeting to
discuss the water crisis in the area.

MAMOGALE, William , was arrested by members of
the SAP in Burgersfort, Tvl, on 17 March 1986 at a
meeting to discuss the water crisis in the area.
MAMOROBELA, Lazarus (19), an ANC supporter,
was arrested and severely beaten by named members
of the Lebowa Police in Ga-Kgapane, Lebowa, on 17
October 1985 during a protest march. He was forced
to walk to the police station with his hands in the air
and was sjambokked there because he was regarded
as an instigator of political activity.

MAMOSADI, Sengange John , was shot dead by a
member of the SADF in Sekhukhuneland, Lebowa, in
April 1986 during protest action against farmers in the
area.

MAMPANE, (first name not given), was shot dead by
members of the SAP at Mhluzi, Middelburg, Tvl, on 21
November 1991 during a protest march against the
harassment and intimidation of scholars by local police.
MAMPANE, Beatrice , was assaulted and verbally
abused in detention by members of the SAP at
Bramley police station, Tvl, on 18 March 1987. Ms
Mampane was pregnant at the time and lost her baby
as a result of the beating.

MAMPANE, Elias Mbopo (40), was severely
assaulted with a sjambok by members of the SAP in
Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 1 January 1986 during
conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MAMPANE, Prince Seakgosing (25), a citizen of
Botswana, was shot and severely injured, and his car
destroyed, in Gaborone, Botswana, on 14 June 1985
in a cross-border attack launched by the SADF Special
Forces, together with the Security Branch, on ANC
offices and houses in Gaborone, Botswana. Twelve
people were killed and six were wounded in the
operation. See GABORONE RAID.

MAMPE, Bellington (30), a Poqo activist, was severely
ill-treated while in detention in Worcester, Cape, during
1963. He died in hospital while in custody.
MAMPHAGA, Mpho W innet, a UDF supporter, was
detained and tortured by members of the Venda Police
at Secunda, Venda, in January 1986. Mr Maphaga was
involved in the formation of the Northern Transvaal Co-
ordinating Committee, a UDF affiliate at a time when
people were not allowed to participate in political
organisations.

MAMPOFU, Thobeka Elizabeth (27), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by men clad in
balaclavas on 10 September 1993 while attending a
disco in Khayelitsha, Cape Town. Three people were
killed and five injured. The alleged perpetrators, some
of whom are named, were members of an ANC SELF-
DEFENCE UNIT (SDU) that attacked other ANC supporters
during conflict between ANC groups. See BALACLAVA
GROUPS.
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MAMPURU, Jacob , a Civi member, was shot in the
stomach by unidentified men wearing balaclavas in
Mamelodi, Pretoria, on 11 November 1986 after
attending a political funeral. Mr Mampuru was
hospitalised for 18 months.

MAMPURU, Lillian Buyisiwe (16), was severely beaten
during June 1992 in Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly by members
of the SAP trying to find her brother, a COSAS
member suspected of being an MK member. Lillian
was seven months pregnant at the time and alleges
the attack resulted in the premature birth of her baby.
MAMPURU, Lucky Sibusiso , a COSAS member, was
shot dead by a named member of the SAP on 20
January 1993 in Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly under suspicion
of being an MK operative.

MAMUSA, Amos Madala (14), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Mabopane, Bophuthatswana,
on 17 June 1976 in the wake of the SOWETO UPRISING.
MAMAZ, Julia Khumbuzile (24), an IFP supporter, had
her house in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters on 16 March
1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAN, Thozama Phoebe , was shot dead by members
of the SAP on 10 February 1987 in Port Elizabeth,
allegedly because her boyfriend was a prominent UDF
activist.

MANA, Kholekile (17), an ANC supporter, died when
he was 'necklaced’ by ‘comrades’ on 4 November
1985 in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London, allegedly
because he was thought to be a collaborator.

MANA, Mthetheleli Richard (40), an ANC/SACP
supporter, was shot in the arm by a named PAC
supporter in Fort Beaufort, Cape, on 21 February 1993
during political conflict.

MANAKA, George Solly (14), a PAC member, was shot
and injured by members of the SAP in Daveyton, Tvl,
in June 1986 during a night vigil for a UDF supporter.
MANAKA, S, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and AC/2001/023).
See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.

MANAKA, Spokes , was shot dead by IFP supporters
in Meadowlands, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 28 April
1991. Three family members died in the attack after
the funeral of the slain IFP mayor of Soweto.
MANAKAZA, Levinson Mandisi , an ANC member
from Soweto, was killed on 30 January 1981 in a raid
by SADF Special Forces operatives on three houses in
the Matola suburb of Maputo, Mozambique. Fifteen
other South Africans, including several senior MK
operatives, were killed in the attack. Three of the
attackers (all ex-Rhodesian security force members)
and a Portuguese citizen were also killed.

MANAKE, Alfred (21), was burnt to death in
Jansenville, Cape, on 7 April 1985, allegedly because
he was thought to be a police collaborator.
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MANALI, Laurence Nceba , a UDF supporter, was
shot dead by a member of the SAP in Tembisa, Tvl, on
4 April 1986. Mr Manali was searching a shebeen for
weapons with other UDF supporters when an off-duty
policeman shot him.

MANAMELA, Benjamin (26), was detained in Quatro
camp, Angola, in 1981 and was severely beaten and
tortured by ANC security department members. A
number of ANC members were detained, tortured and
killed during a period of anxiety about infiltration by
South African agents following the SADF bombing of
Nova Catengue camp in 1979.

MANAMELA, Kgabo Daniel (34), had his home in
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr
Manamela resisted Lebowa’s proposed independence
from South Africa.

MANAMELA, Maphuti Ephraim (31), had his home
in GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr
Manamela resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence
from South Africa.

MANAMELA, Meisie Raisibe (18), had her home in
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MANAMELA, Piet (17), was shot and severely injured
by members of the SAP in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele,
on 1 June 1986 during violent conflict over INCORPO-
RATION into KwaNdebele.

MANAMELA, Pitso Piet (20), an ANC supporter, was
arrested by members of the Venda Police in May 1986
and beaten and tortured because he opposed the
INCORPORATION of Vleifontein into Venda.

MANAMELA, Raisbe (69), had her home in GaMatlala,
Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of Chief BK
Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MANAMELA, Ramokone (46), had her home in
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of Chief
BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she resisted
Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South Africa.
MANAMELA, Sebitsi Phineas (52), had his home in
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr
Manamela resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence
from South Africa.

MANAMELA, Tlou Isaac (29), a union shop steward,
was detained at his workplace by members of the
Security Police and subjected to electric shock torture
in Benoni and Heidelberg, Tvl, in 1983. Mr Manamela
was charged with furthering the aims of a banned
organisation and sentenced to four years' impris-
onment. He was released in 1987.

MANANA, Abel Butana , an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the IFP-aligned TOASTER GANG in
Tembisa, Tvl, in February 1992.

MANANA, Godfrey (17), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by unidentified perpetrators in Katlehong, Tvl, on
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23 October 1993 during conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters on the East Rand. Mr Manana's father was
shot dead a month before by unidentified perpetrators.
MANANA, John V elaphi , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead, allegedly by IFP supporters in Katlehong,
Tvl, on 17 September 1993.

MANANA, Kholisekile Lyza (63), had her house burnt
down on 28 March 1990 in KwaShange, KwaZulu,
near Pietermaritzburg, in the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MANANA, Mfanayedwa Ernest (23), an SAP member,
was stabbed and beaten to death by members of the
ANC-aligned Sivukile Action Committee (SACO) and
patrons of a tavern in Morgenzon, Tvl, on 4 May 1990.
Mr Manana had allegedly refused to heed a consumer
boycott of white-owned shops. Two SACO members
were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0284).

MANANA, Mpikwa , was assaulted by the SAP in
Bizana, Transkei, in March 1960 during the PONDOLAND
REVOLT.

MANANA, Muzikayise Goodwill (17), was shot dead
in an attack on a tavern in Daveyton, Tvl, on 8 August
1993 during conflict between IFP and ANC supporters.
Seven people were shot dead and five injured in the
attack.

MANANA, Nodipha , was stabbed to death in
November 1960 at Esikhumbeni, near Bizana,
Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MANANA, Sicelo Sidney (24), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Crossroads, Cape Town, on 10 April
1993, during a series of arson attacks initiated by a
named community leader aimed at removing Section 2
residents by force.

MANANA, Susan Ntozokudla (20), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16
March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANANA, Theophilus (24), an AZAPO supporter,
was stabbed by named UDF supporters in Dlamini,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 26 October 1985.
MANANGANA, Christopher Mlindeli , an ANC
member, had his home burnt down by ADM and PAC
supporters in February 1992 at Upper Mnggesha, near
King William'’s Town, Cape.

MANANKONG, Eagile Joseph (42), was assaulted
and tear-gassed by members of the Bophuthatswana
Police at Taung, Bophuthatswana, on 9 October 1988
on his way home from a mass meeting.

MANASE, Fani (26), was shot dead, allegedly by
members of the SAP and the IFP in Tokoza, Tvl, on 11
December 1990 during political conflict in thea area.
MANCAM, Mthobeli , was shot dead by named
members of the SAP on 23 July 1985 at Phakamisa
High School in Zwide, Port Elizabeth. Scholars were
involved in a student protest when police randomly shot
at students, killing two and injuring six others, including
teachers. The perpetrators were found guilty of murder
and attempted murder and were sentenced to ten
years’ imprisonment but did not serve their sentence.
MANCANCENI, Nomgweni , an ANC supporter, had his
house burnt down in May 1993 at Mthinde, Lusikisiki,
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Transkei, during conflict between supporters of
traditional leaders and ANC supporters.
MANCANYW A, Indi David (53), an ANC supporter,
disappeared from Kubedi Street, Vosloorus, Tvl, on 12
September 1990 during political conflict.

MANCE, Zinukile Annatoria (57), an ANC supporter,
had her house in Ixopo, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 12 October 1993.

MANCENJANE, John (58), was burnt to death in
New Crossroads, Cape Town, on 6 January 1986,
during conflict between vigilantes from Crossroads
and UDF supporters from New Crossroads.
MANCHESA, Tefo T imothy , was shot dead by
members of the SAP during SCHOOL BOYCOTTS at Langa,
Uitenhage, Cape, on 17 November 1980.

MANCI, Dimanda (62), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by named perpetrators in Flagstaff,
Transkei, on 13 December 1992 during conflict between
ANC supporters and other residents in the area.
MANCI, Gcinephi Saraphina (35), an IFP supporter,
had her house in Polela, Bulwer, Natal, burnt down by
ANC supporters in June 1993.

MANCI, Majorie Nopiwa (50), an ANC supporter, was
shot as she fled from her bumning house in Kwa-
Makhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 25
November 1990, in an attack by members of the
KwaZuLu PoLICE.

MANCI, Ms (first name not given) (60), was shot dead
when the house she was visiting was attacked by IFP
supporters at Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
29 October 1993, during continuing political conflict in
the area.

MANDABANA, Moses Siphiwo (18), a COSAS
member, was shot and severely beaten by a named
member of the SAP at St Stephen’s Church in New
Brighton, Port Elizabeth, on 5 November 1985 during
the state of emergency. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MANDEKA, Lulamile (19), a UDF supporter, was shot
dead by members of the MuNIcIPAL POLICE in Veeplaas,
near Port Elizabeth, on 16 August 1986 during a state
of emergency.

MANDITA, Nomangwana , was stoned and necklaced
to death in Fort Beaufort, Cape, on 21 February 1993,
after she and another woman suspected of links to
the PAC were abducted and interrogated by a large
crowd of ANC Youth League members. One
perpetrator applied for and was granted amnesty for
his role in the kidnapping (AC/1997/0022).

MANDLA, Solomon Amos Ndlanga , was injured in a
limpet mine explosion in a bus in Durban on 30
November 1993. The mine had been planted by APLA
operatives. Three perpetrators were granted amnesty
(AC/1998/0076).

MANDLAKAPHELI, Nor man, was shot dead by IFP
supporters at a traffic light near Nancefield hostel in
Soweto, Johannesburg, during an IFP march to Shell
House, the ANC headquarters on 28 March 1993.
MANDLAKAZI, Lolo Beauty , had her home at
KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, set alight
by Inkatha supporters on 28 March 1990, during the
SEVEN-DAY WAR.
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MANDLAZ, David (22), was shot dead by named
members of the SAP in Duduza, Nigel, Tvl, on 18 May
1985 during conflict between residents and security
forces when police tried to disperse mourners at a
funeral.

MANDLAZI, Solomon (43), an SAP member, was
hacked and buried alive by UDF supporters at the
Pretoria memorial cemetery, on 30 May 1986. Police
officers were perceived at the time as legitimate
targets in the political struggle.

MANDLENI, Zimoshile (34), a UDF supporter, was
detained by named members of the SAP during a
consumer boycott in Stutterheim, Cape, on 29
September 1985.

MANELLI, Bubele Jef frey (20), a UDF supporter, was
shot dead by a named member of the SAP while he
was monitoring a consumer boycott in New Brighton,
Port Elizabeth, on 6 September 1985.

MANELI, Eric Thembinkosi Steri (31), an ANC
supporter, was detained and tortured by members of
the Ciskei Police in August 1991 in Seymour, Ciskei.
MANELI, Nonzwakazi Iris (24), a UDF supporter, was
tear-gassed by named members of the SAP in the
police station at Klipplaat, Cape, in 1985. It is believed
that the police wanted information from her about the
launch of a new branch of the UDF.

MANELI, Nosipho Mavis (44), a Cookhouse Women's
Organisation chairperson, was kept in solitary
confinement for two months from 29 August 1986 at
Somerset police station, Cookhouse, Cape.

MANELLI, Simphiwe Sidwell Mpaydo (14), was
arrested on 13 May 1986 at his home in Port Alfred,
Cape, for being involved in the stoning of a vehicle
during SCHOOL BOYCOTTS. He was convicted and
sentenced to five years’ imprisonment, half of which
was suspended.

MANELI, Thandeka Lillian Ntshakaza  (24), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by members of the
SAP in Port Alfred, Cape, on 16 November 1984, when
police opened fire on mourners returning from a burial.
MANENTSA, Moffat Nkosana (50), a SAYCO
member, was assaulted and repeatedly detained, from
1981 until his release in 1991, by alleged Ciskei Police
and Security Branch members in Alice, Ciskei.
MANENTSA, Sibongile (18), was shot and injured by
members of the Ciskei Police in Mdantsane, Ciskei, on
11 February 1990, after a rally celebrating the release
of Nelson Mandela.

MANENTSA, Siphiwo Harry , (27), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP in Khayelitsha, Cape
Town, on 13 September 1991, during a period of
conflict between rival taxi associations that had a
political dimension. Numerous allegations were made
regarding SAP support for one of the associations. See
TAXI VIOLENCE.

MANGA, Siphiwo , was shot dead by named members
of the SAP on 23 July 1985 at Phakamisa High School
in Zwide, Port Elizabeth. Scholars were involved in a
student protest when police randomly shot at students,
killing two and injuring six others, including teachers.
The perpetrators were found guilty of murder and
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attempted murder and were sentenced to ten years’
imprisonment but did not serve their sentence.
MANGALE, Talitha Kebawetse (26), was burnt to
death by members of the ‘Gadaffi’ faction in Khutsong,
Carletonville, Tvl, in 1991 after the ANC in the area
split into two rival groups, the ‘Gadaffis’ and the ‘Zim-
zims'. Conflict between them left at least 20 people
dead in the area. See also KHUTSONG YOUTH CONGRESS.
MANGALLI, Eliiot Petse (31), was shot and injured
during the attacks by WITDOEKE vigilantes and members
of the SAP in Crossroads, Cape Town, during 1986. He
was again shot and injured in 1993 during conflict in
Crossroads.

MANGALI, Nicholas Xolani (19), a COSAS member,
was severely beaten in detention by members of the
SAP in Adelaide, Cape, on 12 April 1985 during political
conflict in which a policeman’s house was burnt down.
MANGANE, Thomas (31), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by an MK operative at his home in Mbuzini,
Komatipoort, Tvl, on 10 January 1990, because he was
believed to be an informer. The MK operative was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0255).

MANGANYE, Robson , was injured when MK
operatives detonated an explosive in a car outside the
South African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and AC/2001/023).
See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.

MANGANYI, Joshua Ntsako Mandela (21), an ANCYL
member, was assaulted and severely tortured by
members of the SAP in Tzaneen, Tvl, on 20 June 1990.
MANGANYI, Lucky , was shot in Tembisa, Tvl, on

14 August 1992.

MANGAYI, STEPHEN (20), a COSAS member, was
shot dead by members of the SAP in Sebokeng, Tvl,
on 3 September 1984 when police opened fire on a
student-led rent protest.

MANGAYI, Steven, was shot dead in Sebokeng, Tvl,
on 4 September 1984 by members of the SAP
avenging an injured colleague during the VAAL UPRISING.
At the inquest, the family were told their son was
killed by ‘mistake’.

MANGAZI, Bonakalisiwe Maggie (43), had her
homestead in Ntuze, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
burnt down on 2 September 1993 in continuing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MANGAZI, Mandlakhe , a member of the ANCYL,
was stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Ebuhleni,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 15 April 1994
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MANGCANGAZA, Lungile (44), a member of the
Alexandria Residents’ Association, was arrested under
emergency regulations on 14 June 1986 at Alexandria,
Cape. Mr Mangcangaza was detained on various
occasions between June 1986 and November 1988,
and at different locations in and around Port Elizabeth.
MANGCATSHA, Melton , was severely beaten, by
members of the SADF, on 27 July 1991 in Alexandra,
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Johannesburg, during conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters.

MANGCOLA, Wyisile John (24), a UDF supporter,
was severely beaten on his arrest in Zolani, Ashton,
Cape, on 20 November 1985, by named vigilantes and
SAP members. Mr Mangcola was one of more than
100 Zolani residents arrested and accused of burning
the homes of AmasoLomzI vigilantes. Thirty-two were
finally sentenced to prison terms. He was detained
awaiting trial for ten months and served a prison
sentence until 1991.

MANGCW AGULE, Svelinkomo (39), had his house
burnt down by IFP supporters during political conflict
between the 'RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, in 1993.

MANGE, Barbara Priscilla  (33), was shot in the neck
by members of the SADF in a random shooting while
visiting Soweto, Johannesburg, on 10 November 1985
during intense conflict in the area.

MANGE, Siboniwe Cyprian , an ANC supporter, was
abducted and killed by named members of the IFP-
aligned TOASTER GANG in Tembisa, Tvl, on 14 February
1993. Mr Mange was abducted with his girlfriend who
was forced to witness his killing before being raped.
MANGELE, Musa Oswald (37), an ANC supporter,
had his home bumnt down by a member of the KwaZuLu
PoLice at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
on 8 May 1992, during ongoing political conflict in the
area.

MANGELE, Sibuyiselo Sidney , an employee of Rand
Water, was shot dead by members of an ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) while he was travelling in a taxi
past the informal settlement of Phola Park in Tokoza,
Tvl, on 26 February 1992. Four people died and eight
were injured. One SDU member was granted amnesty
for the attack on the taxi (AC/1999/0225).
MANGEMPUKU, Tabankulu (42), had his house in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
1993 in intense political conflict between the 'RED" AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MANGENA, Phillip Comfort (aka ‘Drake Chiloane’)

(32), an MK member, was reported to the Commission
as missing by his family. The Commission established
that Mr Mangena had gone into exile to join the ANC
and had been executed on the order of an ANC
military tribunal in 1982 in Angola. A number of ANC
members were detained, tortured and killed during a
period of anxiety about infiltration by South African
agents following the SADF bombing of Nova Catengue
camp in 1979.

MANGERA, Mohamed Ahmed (57), had his home
petrol-bombed by a named perpetrator in Forest Hill,
Johannesburg, on 6 April 1989 reportedly because he
was living in a white area.

MANGOAKE, Tshekishi Phineas (59), had his house
at GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr
Mangoake resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence
from South Africa.
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MANGOANE, Fanie Stephen , a member of the SAP,
was shot and injured by MK operatives in Meadowlands,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 29 January 1988. The
perpetrators ambushed and fired at the police vehicle,
injuring four persons. Two MK operatives applied for
amnesty. One withdrew his application and the other
was granted amnesty (AC/2000/134).

MANGONA, Mbulelo (23), was shot dead by members
of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7 September 1992
during an ANC protest march to demand free political
activity in Ciskei. Thirty people were killed and 200
people injured in the event which became known as
the BISHO MASSACRE. Two members of the former CDF
were refused amnesty for the shooting (AC/2000/122).
MANGQANGW ANA, Mpolose Paulos (27), a Pogo
member, was sentenced to 18 years’ imprisonment
on Robben Island on 15 December 1966 in Bellville,
Cape Town. He had been arrested repeatedly since
1962 in connection with his political activities.
MANGQIKANA, Right , a Pogo member, was
executed with fourteen others in Pretoria Central
prison, on 3 March 1964 after they were convicted for
the killing of five whites in February 1963 near
Mbashe River in the Transkei.

MANGQOBA, Assistant Malungelo (31), was
severely beaten by members of the SADF in Alexandra,
Johannesburg, on 27 July 1991 during conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters.

MANGWANY ANA, Bongekile (48), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
KwaMthethwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on
16 December 1992.

MANGWEJANE, Morwagaabusi George  (23), was
severely beaten and tortured by members of the SAP
after his arrest in Jouberton, Klerksdorp, Tvl, on 21
March 1986 during political conflict in the area.
MANGWELE, Nkete Welhelmina (63), was seriously
assaulted by AWB supporters in Tshing, Ventersdorp,
Tvl, on 11 May 1991. The perpetrators destroyed
property and assaulted various residents in this
informal settlement, accusing them of squatting
illegally in the area.

MANGWENI, Tsalikhuba Thomas (46), lost his home,
shop and all his possessions in an arson attack in
Nyanga, Cape Town, in May 1986, during the mass
destruction of UDF-supporting informal settlements by
WITDOEKE vigilantes acting with the tacit approval and
aid of the security forces.

MANI, Andile (8 months), died from a heart attack
when members of the SAP, on patrol in Soweto, Port
Elizabeth, fired teargas into the yard of the family home
in February 1985.

MANI, Mhlo Phegi Daniel (37), was forced to drink
petrol and was then stabbed to death by UDF supporters
in Mohlakeng, Randfontein, Tvl, on 27 April 1986
because of his friendship with a policeman. Mr Mani’s
body was burnt when the owner of the house where
the service was to be held refused to accept his body.
MANI, Motlagomane Johanna (30), was harassed
and intimidated by ANC supporters in April 1986.
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MANINJW A, Fikile Eric (22), was shot by members
of the SAP in Dobsonville, Soweto, Johannesburg, on
6 August 1976 in the aftermath of the SoweTo
UPRISING. His leg was amputated as a result.

MANISI, Febr uary, a member of the ANCYL, was
arrested on arson charges in Colesberg, Cape, on 12
September 1992, and was tortured by named members
of the SAP. He was acquitted of the arson charges.
MANJATHI, Boyi (18 months), was shot dead in a
vehicle by a naval guard at a roadblock in Nyanga,
Cape Town, on 1 April 1960. Boyi's family was trying
to take him to hospital during the curfew imposed
after the Pass Law protests.

MANJATI, Mcebisi, a COSAS member, was assaulted
with batons by members of the SAP at the police
station in Alicedale, Cape, on 15 September 1986
during a state of emergency. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MANJO, Thamsanga Gorden (21), a COSAS member,
was detained and assaulted by named members of the
Security Branch in Parys, OFS, on several occasions
from 18 April 1986, allegedly because he was organising
SCHOOL BOYCOTTS.

MANKAHLANE, Parks , survived an attempt on his life
by SADF members at his home in Nelspruit, Tvl, on an
unspecified date between 1987 and 1989. Mr
Mankahlane, whom they believed to be an ANC
supporter, managed to escape. One perpetrator was
granted amnesty (AC/2001/277).

MANKAYI, Arthur, was hacked with axes and pangas
by hostel-dwellers in Mzimhlophe, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 24 August 1976. Two of his brothers were
killed with him when violence erupted after the State
used hostel-dwellers in their brutal suppression of the
SOWETO UPRISING.

MANKAYI, Benjamin (22), was hacked with pangas
by hostel-dwellers in Mzimhlophe, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 24 August 1976. Two of his brothers were
killed with him when violence erupted after the State
used hostel-dwellers in their brutal suppression of the
SOWETO UPRISING.

MANKAYI, Lesley Gcinikhaya (23), an SAYCO
member, was detained by members of the SAP in
Steynsburg, Cape, on 5 October 1985, allegedly
because he was suspected of arson.

MANKUMBA, Mason Miindeli , a security guard, died
when he was shot by APLA operatives during an armed
robbery at the Universityof the Transkei in Umtata,
Transkei, on 18 February 1993. The perpetrators robbed
the university of R500 000, shot Mr Mankumba and
injured two other people. See APLA ATTACKS. One
perpetrator was granted amnesty (AC/2000/106).
MANKUNGU, Daniel Manoko (26), was shot and
seriously injured by members of the SAP in Langa,
Cape Town, on 21 March 1960. Police opened fire on
a large crowd who had gathered to protest against the
Pass Laws, killing three people and injuring many more.
MANKUNGU, Gxiva (50), an ANC supporter, was
assaulted by members of the SAP in KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 6 January 1986. Mr
Mankungu was allegedly defending himself against
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attackers armed with spears and assegais, when
police arrived and assaulted him, burnt down his
house and detained him for three days.
MANKUROANE, Beauty Monnye (28), was severely
beaten by named Bophuthatswana Police in Taung,
Bophuthatswana, on 19 September 1988 because she
supported deposed Chief Mankuroane.
MANKUROANE, Elizabeth Mamatchaba (17), was
tear-gassed and severely assaulted by members of the
Bophuthatswana Police in Taung, Bophuthatswana, on
14 September 1988 during conflict over the Taung
chieftaincy.

MANKUROANE, Emelda (51), was severely beaten
by members of the Bophuthatswana Police at Taung,
Bophuthatswana, in September 1988 during conflict
over the Taung chieftaincy.

MANKUROANE, John (18), died a week after being
severely beaten by members of the Bophuthatswana
Police at Taung police station, Bophuthatswana, in
1988. He was allegedly arrested because of his
opposition to Chief Molale.

MANKUROANE, Matshidisho Monica (19), was
severely beaten with batons by members of the
Bophuthatswana Police in Taung, Bophuthatswana, on
14 September 1988 when police invaded Taung looking
for Chief Mankuroane who was involved in political
conflict with Bophuthatswana President Mangope.
MANKUROANE, Samuel Morwagaabusi  (33), was
tortured in detention in Mafikeng, Bophuthatswana, in
April 1988 for supporting UDF during conflict between
President Mangope and deposed Chief Mankuroane.
MANKURUANE, Ruth (39), was severely beaten by
members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Taung,
Bophuthatswana, on 13 March 1992 when police tried
to disperse a protest march in the village.

MANNS, Ruben , an ANC member, was assaulted,
hacked and burmnt to death on 1 August 1993 by
members of KHUMALO GANG, an IFP-aligned vigilante
group after being directed with five other ANC
supporters to Khumalo Street, Tokoza, Tvl, where the
gang was based.

MANONG, Emily (68), was seriously burnt in an arson
attack by UDF supporters at her home in Victoria West,
Cape, on 3 December 1985. She died of her injuries
on 7 December. Several family members were also
injured in the arson attack. It was the third attack on
their home that year, allegedly because her son was a
local COUNCILLOR.

MANONG, Ger trude (28), was injured in an arson
attack on her family home by a group of UDF supporters
in Victoria West, Cape, on 3 December 1985, allegedly
because her brother was a local COUNCILLOR. Ms
Manong’s mother was fatally injured in the attack that
was the third on their home that year.

MANONG, Mbulelo (9), was injured in an arson attack
on his family home by UDF supporters on 3 December
1985 in Victoria West, Cape.

MANONG, Mzolisi Wiseman (12), was injured in an
arson attack on his family home by UDF supporters on
3 December 1985 in Victoria West, Cape.
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MANONG, Nozuko Denise (6), was injured in an
arson attack on her family home by UDF supporters
on 3 December 1985 in Victoria West, Cape.
MANONG, Owen Siyabulela (9), was injured in an
arson attack on his family home by UDF supporters on
3 December 1985 in Victoria West, Cape.

MANONG, V ernon Moyisisi (11), was injured in an
arson attack on his family home by UDF supporters on
3 December 1985 in Victoria West, Cape.

MANOTO, Beverey , suffered severe injuries at her
home in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 21 April
1993, when she was assaulted by a crowd of residents,
ANC and ANCYL members. The attack had been
directed against her father, who was accused of giving
information to the police. Her father and brother were
killed and set alight and two other family members
were assaulted. Six ANCYL members were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/127).

MANOTO, Jacob , was killed and set alight at his home
in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 21 April 1993,
by a crowd of residents, ANC and ANCYL members.
The attack had been directed against his father who
was accused of giving information to the police. His
father was also killed and set alight and three other
family members were assaulted. Six ANCYL members
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/127).

MANOTO, Mar vin, suffered severe injuries at his home
in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg, when assaulted
by a crowd of residents, ANC and ANCYL members.
The attack had been directed against his father who
was accused of giving information to the police. His
father and brother were killed and set alight and two
other family members were assaulted. Six ANCYL
members were granted amnesty (AC/2001/127).
MANOTO, Mary , suffered severe injuries at her
home in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 21
April 1993, when assaulted by a crowd of residents,
ANC and ANCYL members. The attack had been
directed against her father who was accused of
giving information to the police. Her father and
brother were killed and set alight and two other
family members were assaulted. Six ANCYL
members were granted amnesty (AC/2001/127).
MANOTSI, Oheni Hendrick (3), was shot in crossfire
by named members of the SAP in Kutloanong,
Odendaalsrus, OFS, on 15 November 1986. He died a
short time later. The boy was playing in his yard at
home when he was hit.

MANQA, David T shikelo , was shot and his house was
destroyed by a known chief and members of the SAP in
Bizana, Transkei, in 1960 during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MANQA, Ntsoaki Rebecca (24), was seriously injured
when ANC supporters threw a hand grenade into her
relative’s house in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 28 April 1992
because a family member was an IFP supporter. One
person was killed, another subsequently died, and two
others injured in the explosion.

MANQELE, Bongani (15), had his home at
Nhlangenyoka, KwaZulu, near Mtunzini, Natal, set on
fire on 23 April 1994 during political conflict between
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ANC and IFP supporters in the run-up to the APRIL
1994 eLECTIONS. The family were asleep when their
home was attacked. They managed to escape but the
rondavels were completely destroyed.

MANQELE, Cebisile (13), had her home at
Nhlangenyoka, KwaZulu, near Mtunzini, Natal, set on
fire on 23 April 1994 during political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the run-up to the APRIL
1994 eLecTIONS. The family were asleep when their
home was attacked. They managed to escape, but the
rondavels were completely destroyed.

MANQELE, Khetiwe (11), had her home at
Nhlangenyoka, KwaZulu, near Mtunzini, Natal, set on
fire on 23 April 1994 during political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the run-up to the APRIL
1994 eLECTIONS. The family were asleep when their
home was attacked. They managed to escape, but the
rondavels were completely destroyed.

MANQELE, Mandlakapheli Hendry (25), an ANC
supporter, had his house burnt down by IFP
supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 25 February 1994. About 20 deaths of
victims from both the IFP and the ANC and at least 28
incidents of house burning were recorded that month.
Hundreds of people were forced to flee the area, and
schools and shops were forced to close.

MANQELE, Mpliseni (17), had his home at
Nhlangenyoka, KwaZulu, near Mtunzini, Natal, set on
fire on 23 April 1994 during political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the run-up to the APRIL
1994 eLECTIONS. The family were asleep when their
home was attacked. They managed to escape, but the
rondavels were completely destroyed.

MANQELE, Myekeni George (64), a local IFP
chairman, was shot dead by unidentified persons in
Nqgutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, on 22 December
1992, allegedly in a targeted killing.

MANQELE, Mzandile , was shot dead in Mandini,
Natal, on 9 August 1993, in ongoing conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MANQELE, Sipho (21), had his home at Nhlangenyoka,
KwaZulu, near Mtunzini, Natal, set on fire on 23 April
1994 during political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
The family were asleep when their home was
attacked. They managed to escape, but the rondavels
were completely destroyed.

MANQELE, Tandekile (50), had her homestead burnt
down in Nhlangenyoka, KwaZulu, near Mtunzini, Natal,
on 23 April 1994 in political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters during the run-up to the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MANQELE, Velile, was shot and severely injured by
members of the KwaZuLu Police (KZP) in Eshowe,
Natal, on 4 May 1991, when the car in which she was
travelling was ambushed as she was returning from
visiting relatives whose house had been burnt down
by IFP supporters and members of the KZP. Another
passenger was also injured in the attack, and the
driver of the car was killed.
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MANQINA, Shumi (50), was assaulted on 18 October
1985 at Aloevale, near Queenstown, Cape, during
conflict between communities in the area.
MANQINDI, Sikhumbuzo (26), died after he was
‘necklaced’ by UDF supporters and Hofmeyr Youth
Congress members in November 1985 at Hofmeyr,
Cape. The perpetrators accused Mr Mangindi of being
a collaborator.

MANS, Michael Nicholas , was injured when members
of MK'’s Special Operations Unit detonated an explosive
in a car outside the SADF Witwatersrand Command
headquarters in Johannesburg on 30 July 1987. At
least 68 people were injured. Three MK operatives and
one UDF supporter linked to MK were granted
amnesty for their roles in this attack (AC/2001/0003
and AC/2000/2438).

MANTENGU, Bheki , was abducted from KwaSithebe,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 9 April 1990,
allegedly by members of the KwaZuLu PoLICE who
forced him into a police van because he was partici-
pating in a stayaway organised by COSATU. He has
not been seen since.

MANTEWU, No-once Maggie (52), lost her home in
an arson attack during protests in Cookhouse, Cape, in
August 1986.

MANTILE, Jane Msuthukazi (33), was shot dead by a
named members of the MuNICIPAL PoLICE during
political conflict in Grahamstown, Cape, on 2 February
1987. Four other people died in the incident.
MANTILE, Johnson Phikile (40), was shot dead by a
named SPECIAL CONSTABLE on 2 February 1987 in
Grahamstown, Cape.

MANTLANE, Sisa James (56), was detained and
severely beaten by named AmasoLomzi vigilantes and
members of the SAP, in Ashton, Cape, on 24 May
1986, following a funeral and house-to-house search
by police. About 108 people were arrested and 22
injured, eight of them seriously. Mr Mantlane was
released after three months’ detention under
emergency regulations. See pOLICE BRUTALITY.
MANTUTLE, Imameleng Lor raine (21), was shot by
members of the SADF at Dukathole, Aliwal North,
Cape, on 21 August 1985. See ALIwAL NORTH
SHOOTINGS.

MANTYI, Albert Zithulele Style (27), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by a member of the
SAP in Venterstad, Cape, on 4 July 1993. Mr Mantyi
was on his way home from a church service at Nozizwe
location when he was fired at from a police vehicle.
MANTYI, Alfr ed, was shot and killed by ANC/FAWU
members during a period of conflict between ANC and
IFP-supporting workers at the Langeberg Food factory,
in Boksburg, Tvl, in September 1991. One ANC
member was granted amnesty for the killing
(AC/1998/0080).

MANTYI, Booi , was shot dead by members of the
SAP on 16 June 1985 in De Aar, Cape, for allegedly
throwing stones at the police. About 71 people,
mostly youth, were arrested by the police after a
demonstration in front of the local shopping centre.
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MANTYI, Pawulosi (23), was shot dead by members
of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7 September 1992
during an ANC protest march to demand free political
activity in Ciskei. Thirty people were killed and 200
people injured in the event which became known as
the BISHO MASSACRE. Two members of the former CDF
were refused amnesty for the shooting (AC/2000/122).
MANTYI, Sikhulu (33), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten during interrogation by members of
the SAP in detention in Witbank, Tvl, in April 1969. He
was later transferred to Pretoria prison and kept in
solitary confinement.

MANUEL, Moses , a private security guard, was shot
and killed during a cash-in-transit robbery by APLA
operatives at Cleveland, Johannesburg, on 20
September 1991. See APLA atTACKs. Three APLA
members were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0244).
MANUEL, Shaun Norman (14), was shot and
severely beaten by members of the SAP in
Manenberg, Cape Town, on 29 August 1985, in the
aftermath of the POLLSMOOR MARCH to demand the
release of Nelson Mandela.

MANYAKA, Jan Makgale , was abducted from his
home in Kgobokwane, KwaNdebele, by IMBOKODO
vigilantes and assaulted on 1 January 1986 during
conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MANYAKA, Monnana Abram (43), was severely
beaten with knobkerries and sjamboks , allegedly by
KwaNdebele Police, soldiers and IMBOKODO members,
in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 1 January 1986. He was
arrested for allegedly abducting residents supporting
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele. The case was
dropped and he received an out-of-court settlement.
MANY AKA, Mosimpila Lucas (42), was abducted
from his home in Moutse, KwaNdebele, and assaulted
by IMBOKODO vigilantes on 1 January 1986 during
conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MANYAKANY AKA, Nobuzwe (22), an ANC member,
was assaulted by members of the CDF at Dikidikana,
near King William's Town, Cape, on 6 September 1992
during political conflict.

MANY AKI, Passman Stukuna (22), a PAC supporter,
was assaulted and tortured by members of the SAP
while he was in detention in Burgersdorp, Cape, in
June 1963. Police allegedly wanted information from
him on PAC activities.

MANYAMALALA, Elbin Thandabantu , an ANC
supporter, was killed by IFP supporters coming back

from an IFP rally in White City, Soweto, Johannesburg,

on 8 September 1991. Several others were killed by
IFP supporters that day.

MANYAMALALA, Simon , a warrant officer in the
SAP, was killed when members of MK'’s ‘Dolphin Unit’
detonated an explosive in a car near the Krugersdorp
Magistrate’s court and the adjacent police station, Tvl,
on 16 March 1988. Three people were killed and more
than 20 were injured in the blast. Two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003).
MANYAMALALA, Thandabantu Elbin  (50), was
killed by IFP supporters coming back from a rally in
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Soweto, Johannesburg, on 8 September 1991. He
was in a car with his wife when people in the crowd
pursued them, firing into the car before beating and
hacking him to death with knobkerries and assegais.
MANYANGA, Bhekokwakhe (45), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by fellow ANC supporters in Esikhawini,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 7 April 1993 in
the course of a serious internal feud within the local
party branch.

MANYANY A, Simon (44), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by members of the CDF during a bus
boycott in Mdantsane, Ciskei, on August 1990.
MANYASHE, Zilindile (14), a COSAS member, was
shot dead by members of the SAP in Uitenhage,
Cape, on 10 April 1993 during protests following the
killing of ANC/SACP/MK leader, Chris Hani.

MANY ATHI, Fakazile (43), had her house burnt down
by ANC supporters at Blood River, near Dundee, Natal,
in April 1994 in intense political conflict in the area
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MANYATHI, Thabo Benedict (20), an ANC supporter,
was detained under emergency regulations in
Sibongile, Dundee, Natal, in August 1988 and held in
custody for three months, allegedly because of his
political activities.

MANYEF ANA, Thembelani Stanley (20), a UDF
supporter, was beaten to death by AZAPO members
in Mbekweni, Paarl, Cape, on 19 May 1986, during
clashes between AZAPO and UDF supporters.
MANYELO, Alfred Moloko , was stabbed and injured
when his family was attacked in Katlehong, Tvl,
allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10 September 1990
during political conflict in the area. Mr Manyelo's wife,
his son, his daughter, and grand-daughter were also
injured and two other daughters died in the attack.
MANYELO, Asnath Noko (55), was stabbed and
injured when her family was attacked in Katlehong,
Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10 September
1990 during political conflict in the area. Ms Manyelo's
husband, her son, her daughter, and her grand-
daughter were also injured and two daughters died in
the attack.

MANYELO, Benjamin Mmatlou (26), was shot and
injured when his family was attacked in Katlehong, Tvl,
allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10 September 1990
during political conflict in the area. Mr Manyelo’s
mother, his father, his sister, and his niece were also
injured, and two other sisters died in the same attack.
MANYELO, Christinah Makwena (22), was stabbed
and injured when her family was attacked in
Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10
September 1990, during political conflict in the area.
Ms Manyelo’s father, her mother, her brother, and her
daughter were also injured and two other sisters died
in the same attack.

MANYELO, Eunice Matshidiso Mmakwena , was
shot and killed when her family was attacked in
Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10
September 1990 during political conflict in the area.
Ms Manyelo’s father, her mother, her brother and her
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niece were also injured and another sister died in the
same attack.

MANYELO, Katleho Cavin , was stabbed and injured
when her family was attacked in Katlehong, Tvl,
allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10 September 1990
during political conflict in the area. Katleho's mother,
her grandfather, her grandmother, and her uncle were
also injured and two aunts died in the same attack.
MANYELO, Winnie Phuti , was stabbed to death
when her family was attacked in Katlehong, Tvl,
allegedly by IFP supporters, on 10 September 1990
during political conflict in the area. Her father, her
mother, her brother, her sister and her niece were
injured and another sisters died in the same attack.
MANYESE, Agnes , was shot and injured when
gunmen opened fire on residents in Ivory Park,
Tembisa, Tvl, on 14 August 1992 in violent conflict
during a taxi boycott. The taxi industry in the area at
the time was controlled by IFP-aligned groups. Several
others were killed and injured in the attack.

MANYI, Sile Sipho (27), an IFP supporter, was
stabbed to death in Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 28 December 1992 during
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MANYIKA, Andries , was killed on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MANYIKA, Dinah , was killed on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MANYIKA, Maphati Linah , was killed on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MANYIKA, Megete Andries , was killed on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MANYIKA, Sibongile Dinah , had her house destroyed
by arson on 17 June 1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE
in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45
people dead and 27 seriously injured. Thirteen
perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further three
applications were refused (AC/2000/209).

MANYISA, Loveness , was shot and injured in lvory
Park, Tembisa, Tvl, on 14 August 1992 during conflict
over a taxi boycott. The taxi industry in the area at the
time was controlled by IFP-aligned groups. Several
others were killed or injured in the attack.

MANYISI, Agnes , an ANC member, was shot dead by
a named member of the SAP in Sabie, Tvl, on 16
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November 1990 during an ANC-organised consumer
boycott and march.

MANYOBE, Dor een, had her home destroyed and
was severely beaten by IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers
in Swanieville, Krugersdorp, Tvl, on 12 May 1991.
About 115 shacks were set alight, 27 people were
killed and 25 vehicles were burnt in retaliation for the
expulsion of IFP supporters from the informal
settlement. Twelve people were charged with crimes
ranging from murder to arson but were acquitted due
to lack of evidence.

MANYOKOLE, Rantsoli Joseph (16), was severely
beaten with sjamboks by members of the Transkei
Police who accused him of burning down a shop in
Matatiele, Natal, in February 1990.

MANYONI, Agnes Zanele (91), an ANC supporter,
fled her home after she was intimidated by IFP
supporters in Mkhambathini, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, in November 1991. Her house was
then burnt down.

MANYONI, Fanakhe (53), an IFP supporter, was
hacked and stabbed to death by other IFP supporters
at an IFP rally at Wembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt,
Natal, on 29 December 1991. The perpetrators
allegedly suspected him of transporting amaqgabane in
the area.

MANYONI, Maria Nomggibelo  (46), was injured
when a hand grenade exploded in a bus transporting
workers in Heidelberg, Tvl, on 28 September 1992.
One person died and 13 were injured in the attack. A
labour dispute between striking COSATU-aligned
FAWU and non-striking IFP-aligned UWUSA workers
caused violent conflict from July to December 1992.
MANYONI, Nomathemba Mavis (35), had her house
burnt down by UDF supporters in Woodyglen,
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 March
1988 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MANYONI, Ntombikayise Victoria  (36), an Inkatha
supporter, had her home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, destroyed in March 1987 in intensifying conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MANYONI, Nurse Maria (41), an ANC supporter, had
her house at Lindelani, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down by named IFP supporters in intensifying political
conflict in the area in 1987.

MANYONI, Sibongile (50), a UDF supporter, was
severely beaten by Inkatha supporters in KwaMashu,
Durban, during an Inkatha march on 1 January 1986.
The perpetrators were allegedly angered by the fact
that Ms Manyoni was watching the marchers and not
taking part.

MANYONT A, Nompumelelo Freda (36), an ANC
supporter, was arrested in March 1976 in KwaZakele,
Port Elizabeth, and charged with arson. She was
convicted and sentenced to 18 months’ imprisonment.
MANZANA, Mandla James (14), was shot on the
ankle and shoulder by a named member of the SAP
while walking with a KHUTSONG YOUTH CONGRESS
member wanted by the police in Khutsong,
Carletonville, Tvl, on 8 June 1988.
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MANZANA, Mncedi , was assaulted and sustained
injuries when he was attacked by unidentified persons
at Cala, Transkei, on 18 August 1960, during resistance
to the installation of KD Matanzima as Chief of the
Thembus. A relative died in the attack.

MANZANA, Mongez , a Transkei Defence Force
(TDF) soldier, was injured during an ATTEMPTED COUP IN
UMTATA, TRANSKEI, on 22 November 1990. Seven TDF
soldiers were killed and some 33 wounded. Four of
the coup conspirators were granted amnesty. Six
Vlakplaas operatives were granted amnesty for
providing arms for the attempted coup. An SADF
Military Intelligence operative, who applied for
amnesty for his role in supporting the coup, later
withdrew his application (AC/2000/036; AC/2001/095
and AC/2001/199).

MANZANA, W illiam , an ANC supporter, was stabbed
to death by named perpetrators outside his house in
Cala, Transkei, on 18 August 1960, allegedly because
he opposed the installation of KD Matanzima as Chief
of the Thembus.

MANZI, Catherine , had her house burnt down in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
March 1994 in intense political conflict in the area. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Esther (56), an ANC supporter, had her home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Gladys Hope (46), an ANC supporter, lost her
hearing and some of her teeth when was severely
beaten by members of the Security Branch while in
solitary confinement in Durban in 1977. She was
served with two five-year banning orders.

MANZI, Martin (15), was severely assaulted by alleged
members of the SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in
January 1986.

MANZI, Mfuneni Richard (35), an ANC supporter, had
his house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Mkoti Nomusa (44), an ANC member, had
her house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Sabekile Maureen (25), had her home burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Thembeni Ncamisile (24), had her home burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Thembimkosi Zephania (47), had his house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Tholakele Doris (31), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead on 16 March 1994 in an attack by IFP
supporters, allegedly assisted by members of the
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KwaZuLu PoLIcg, on residents of the isolated ANC
stronghold in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MANZI, Vusumuzi (36), an ANC supporter, had his
home burnt down during intensifying conflict between
UDF and Inkatha supporters in Folweni, KwaZulu, near
Umlazi, Durban, in 1989.

MANZI, Wellington Zithembele (29), was arrested on
7 November 1990 and detained without trial for three
days at Mdantsane, Ciskei, allegedly because of his
political activities. While in detention, he was severely
beaten by members of the CDF and Ciskei Police.
MANZINI, David Mevane , was assaulted and killed in
his yard by an unidentified perpetrator at Boiphatong,
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1991 during conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters.

MANZINI, Edward , was killed in KwaDlangezwa,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 27 February 1993
in continuing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters
in the area.

MANZINI, Mthombi Flora (38), was beaten and tear-
gassed at Shongwe Mission, Nelspruit, Tvl, in May
1986 by members of the SADF. Ms Manzini had
attended a meeting called by the ANCYL.

MANBZINI, Solly Stephen (18), an ANCYL member,
was tortured in detention by named perpetrators in
Motetema, Lebowa, on 12 March 1986.

MANZIY A, Mthuthuzeli (36), was stabbed to death
by AMAAFRIKA supporters during conflict between
AmaAfrika and UDF supporters in Uitenhage, Cape, on
28 December 1989.

MAOBA, Elijah (48), an ANC member, was severely
assaulted by ANC-aligned self-defence unit (SDU)
members in Swanieville, near Krugersdorp, Tvl, on 26
September 1993 because he opposed SDU activity. His
shack was looted and sold. Mr Maoba laid a charge
against the perpetrators but they were found not guilty.
MAOKAWE, Mariah Mamoeng , was severely beaten
by Bophuthatswana Police during a meeting at Dryharts
Bathlapin tribal office in Taung, Bophuthatswana, on 6
December 1990. Dryharts villagers had summoned
chief Jerry Mahura to hear their grievances when police
dispersed the crowd with teargas and sjamboks.
MAOKENG, Abram (22), was shot and injured when
members of the Bophuthatswana police fired on a
crowd at City Rocks Stadium, Winterveld,
Bophuthatswana, on 26 March 1986 during a protest
against police brutality. See CiTy ROCKS SHOOTING.
MAPALALA, Sifiso (17), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead at his home at Esigisini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 10 August 1992 in continuing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
His cousin was also killed in the attack.

MAPAPU, Siphiwo Michael (26), a SAYCO member,
was severely tortured by named members of the SAP
on 13 May 1986 in Port Alfred, Cape. Police alleged he
was involved in organising stayaways and consumer
boycotts in the area.

MAPASA, Sonabiso Elias (52), a member of the SAP,
was shot and injured by a named UDF supporter
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during a protest near the Lindokuhle Railway Station,
Umlazi, Durban, on 28 November 1988.

MAPAYA, Moleboge Phineas (29), was severely
assaulted by members of the SAP in Seleka village,
Ellisras, Tvl, during October 1990 because he attended
an ANC meeting declared illegal. Police dispersed the
crowd violently and attacked Mr Mapaya on his way
home.

MAPEKULA, Nyameko , was one of six persons
abducted and interrogated by ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) members near Port St Johns, Transkei, on 20
April 1994, shortly before the ApPRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Mr
Mapekula and three others were then shot dead. The
SDU members believed that they were APLA
members who were on their way to disrupt an ANC
mass rally. Three SDU members were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/045).

MAPELA, Mnedisi Holford (31), an ANC supporter,
was beaten and tortured by named members of the
Security Branch on 13 May 1964 at Fleet Street police
station, East London.

MAPELA, Mzukisi Petros (25), an ANC supporter,
was beaten by named members of the Security
Branch in Uitenhage, Cape, on 6 October 1977.
MAPELA, Zimasile Michael (16), a COSAS member,
was shot dead by members of the SAP during a
SCHOOL BOYCOTT in Port Elizabeth, on 3 August 1985.
MAPELO, Maphefo Maria (16), a COSAS member, was
subjected to electric shock torture by named members
of the SAP in detention in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl,
in May 1990 because of her involvement in enforcing
a consumer boycott.

MAPETU, Mzoli David (23), a UDF supporter, was
severely beaten by members of the Security Branch
on 18 August 1985 in Port Elizabeth, allegedly because
he broke a curfew.

MAPHAHA, (first name not given), was beaten to
death by community residents in the Tshino village of
Venda on 2 February 1990, in attacks on people
accused of practising witchcraft to hinder the work of
political activists in the area. Mr Maphaha was one of
two people killed that day. Two perpetrators were
granted amnesty (AC/2000/094).

MAPHALALA, Alphina Sbuko (59), an ANC supporter,
had her house and shop destroyed in an arson attack
by a named IFP supporter at Mvutshini, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, in February 1992.

MAPHALALA, Elphas Sipho (26), was injured when a
limpet mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded
during lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni,
Tvl, on 30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at
least 66 people were injured. Four MK operatives
were granted amnesty for the planning and execution
of the attack (AC/1999/0294).

MAPHALALA, Mantwa V irginia Virsy (15), a COSAS
member, was shot and severely injured by members
of the SAP in Bloemfontein, in February 1990, while
participating in a SCHOOL BOYCOTT. She was also kicked
in the face and arrested for being at the scene of a
boycott.
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MAPHALALA, Sydney , was shot dead by police in
Mapetla, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 27 August 1976
in the aftermath of the SOWETO UPRISING.

MAPHALALA, Thokozile Lesiah (35), was forced to
leave her home in Bergville, Natal, in February 1994
after persistent intimidation by IFP supporters because
her daughter had witnessed an IFP attack in the area.
MAPHALANE, Lennox Thabang (16), was one of two
youths shot dead in a ‘Trojan Horse' type shooting by
named members of the SAP and Railway Police concealed
on a railway truck on 25 March 1986 in Nyanga, Cape
Town. See TROJAN HORSE INCIDENT, CAPE TOWN.
MAPHANGA, Alfred Qanda , was shot and wounded
when ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a crowd
of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least nine
marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten ANC
security guards were granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).
MAPHANGA, Bhekizwe Russell (21), was severely
beaten and kicked by members of the Security Branch
in Durban during 1963, after being arrested while
attempting to cross the border. He was subsequently
sentenced to seven years' imprisonment on politically-
related charges.

MAPHANGA, Dudu , and her mother were killed by
ANC supporters and residents of Ga Mantlhanyane
village, Nebo, Lebowa, on 11 April 1994. The victims
were abducted and taken to a mountainous area where
petrol was poured over them and they were set alight.
Ms Maphanga's own brother was forced to set them
alight. They were accused of using witchcraft to cause
the deaths of six youths. Two ANC supporters were
granted amnesty (AC/2000/077).

MAPHANGA, James , was abducted from home and
burnt to death by named ANC supporters in Kwa-
Lugetlhane, KwaNdebele, during September 1986. Mr
Maphanga worked for the KwaNdebele chief and was
considere a ‘sell-out’ during violent conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MAPHANGA, Leonard Geor ge, was shot dead and his
body was burnt by |FP-aligned TOASTER GANG members
in Tembisa, Tvl, on 31 July 1992 during violent conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MAPHANGA, Mabhalane , was shot and wounded
when ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a
crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least nine
marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten ANC
security guards were granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).
MAPHANGA, Malope , and her daughter were killed
by ANC supporters and residents of Ga Mantlhanyane
village, Nebo, Lebowa, on 11 April 1994. The victims
were abducted and taken to a mountainous area
where petrol was poured over them and they were
set alight. Ms Maphanga’s own son was forced to set
them alight. They were accused of using witchcraft to
cause the deaths of six youths. Two ANC supporters
were granted amnesty (AC/2000/077).

MAPHANGA, Mondli (26), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead, and his body set alight, along with those of
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two friends, in Edendale, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritz-
burg, on 27 May 1990. It is alleged that the victims,
shortly before they were killed, had discovered a
minibus full of charred bodies at a garage frequented
by ANC supporters.

MAPHANGA, Ngazi Albert (56), an ANC supporter, had
his house destroyed in an arson attack at Richmond
Farm, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 11 February 1991.
See RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MAPHANGA, Okie , was shot and wounded when
ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a
crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least
nine marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten
ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MAPHANGA, Sibusiso (18), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by members of the SAP while attending a
night vigil in KwaMashu, Durban on 16 February 1991.
MAPHANGA, Silwayiphi Alfred (27), was shot and
wounded when ANC security guards opened fire from
the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg,
on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At
least nine marchers were killed and around 100 injured.
Ten ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MAPHANGA, Sukumani Vitans (20), an ANC
supporter, had his home burnt down by a named IFP
supporter in Ncelebantwana, near Bulwer, Natal, on 10
August 1991. Mr Maphanga had allegedly refused to
join the IFP.

MAPHANGA, Themba Albert (38), was shot dead by
a named Inkatha leader in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on
12 November 1989 in intensifying political conflict in
the area. He was allegedly targeted because his family
was sympathetic to the ANC.

MAPHANGA, Tiny, was shot dead by IFP supporters
at a night vigil in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on 26
March 1991.

MAPHANGA-MIKHW ANAZI, Kate Martha (32), was
shot by named perpetrators in Alexandra, Johannesburg,
on 26 March 1991.

MAPHAPHU, Nongezile Nomathemba (33), lost her
shack in an arson attack in Khayelitsha, Cape Town, in
January 1992, after it caught fire from the burning
house of a neighbour who was a SANCO member.
MAPHIKE, Daniel Dibete , was shot dead by members
of the SAP in Sharpeville, Tvl, during the SHARPEVILLE
MASSACRE on 21 March 1960.

MAPHIKE, Stephen Puleramaileng , the Chancellor of
Vista University, had his garage and motor vehicles
damaged in a hand grenade attack at his home in
Rockville, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 6 June 1986, by
members of the Soweto Security Branch purporting to
be MK operatives. The operation was intended to give
an informer credibility. Four Soweto Security Branch
operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2001/036).
MAPHINI, Zakhele Amos (40), had his home burnt
down by IFP supporters during political conflict
between the 'RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, in 1993.
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MAPHIPA, Mzukisi , was shot dead in Tokoza, Tvl, on
19 November 1993, allegedly by named members of
the ISU who killed three people and wounded one,
during political conflict in the area.

MAPHISA, Daemane David (28), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the AWB in
Bethlehem, OFS, on 6 April 1994, in the run-up to the
country’'s first democratic elections. See APRIL 1994
ELECTIONS and RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.
MAPHOLOGELA, Sene Johannes (37), an ANC
supporter, was tortured in detention by members of
the SAP in Naboomspruit, Tvl, in 1993.
MAPHOLOGELA, Solomon Madimetja Chompo  (23),
an ANCYL member, was shot and injured by members
of the SAP in Naboomspruit, Tvl, on 14 April 1993.
MAPHOSA, Beauty Sesana (41), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, on
13 December 1989 when police opened fire on a crowd
marching torwards the court during a rent boycott.
MAPHOSA, Mathews (32), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP at Mapetla, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 17 June 1976, the day after the SoweTo
UPRISING began.

MAPHOSA, Simon Petrus (45), was arrested by
members of the SAP at Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, in
1987 and kept in solitary confinement at Middelburg,
Tvl, because he refused to join the pro-independence
IMBOKODO vigilante group.

MAPHOSA, Vincent, an ANC supporter, was
abducted and assaulted by members of the ‘Zim-Zim'
faction at Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 20
November 1990 during violent conflict between the
'Zim-Zim" and 'Gadaffi’ faction when the local ANC
branch in the area split into two rival groups. Mr
Maphosa was a ‘Gadaffi’ supporter. See also KHUTSONG
YoutH CONGRESS.

MAPHUDA, Alex , was injured when members of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit detonated an explosive
in a car outside the SADF Witwatersrand Command
headquarters in Johannesburg on 30 July 1987. At
least 68 people were injured. Three MK operatives and
one UDF supporter linked to MK were granted
amnesty for their roles in this attack (AC/2001/0003
and AC/2000/248).

MAPHUMANE, Hali Petr us, was killed when a hand
grenade detonated by a named MK operative
exploded in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 27 November 1992. MK
and APLA members returning from exile were training
community members to defend themselves against
attacks by the IFP and security forces. The perpetrator
threw the hand grenade after getting involved in an
argument at a stokvel. Six people died and four were
injured in the explosion.

MAPHUMULO, Africa Mthokozisi (28), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed to death by IFP supporters in
Qinabout, Port Shepstone, Natal, on 28 July 1991. His
family was continually harassed by IFP youths.
MAPHUMULO, Agrippa (33), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead and his body was mutilated by IFP
supporters in KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near
Durban, on 24 September 1993.
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MAPHUMULO, Bahambephi (65), lost her house in
Mandini, Natal, in an arson attack on 28 December
1991 during political violence between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Bhekithemba Eugene (28), was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Magabheni, Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 30 July 1990, allegedly
because his father, in whose house the attack took
place, was an ANC supporter. Mr Maphumulo’s wife
was also shot dead and his son, aged 4, was shot and
injured in the attack.

MAPHUMULO, Bongani (55), had his house in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down by ANCYL members on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAPHUMULDO, Bongiwe (26), an ANC supporter, was
abducted from her home in Ntuzuma, near Durban, on
1 November 1987, in intensifying conflict between
ANC/UDF and Inkatha supporters. Her throat was slit,
and her body was found the following day next to the
Igobhogobho river, between Ntuzuma and Lindelani.
MAPHUMULO, Doto John (68), an ANC supporter,
had his house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16
March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MAPHUMULO, Edward Bonginkosi (37), an ANC
supporter, had his house petro-bombed by IFP
supporters in Bhekulwandle, Amanzimtoti, near
Durban, on 29 October 1992. Shots were fired in the
attack, injuring Mr Maphumulo’s mother. His sister, an
invalid, died from smoke inhalation.

MAPHUMULO, Eric Mhlabunzima (31), had his
home burnt down by IFP supporters at the Geneva
settlement, near Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban,
in March 1993 in intense political conflict in the area.
At least 18 people were killed in political violence in
Bhambayi in March 1993. Seventy-five homes were
burnt down.

MAPHUMULO, Fanlo William (51), was shot dead by
an IFP supporter in Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 31 December 1990 in intense political
conflict in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Fanyana Amos (69), an ANC
supporter, had his house burnt down by IFP supporters
in Magongqo, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg,
in 1991, allegedly because he was associated with
CONTRALESA Chief Mhlabunzima Maphumulo. Chief
Maphumulo had died in a targeted killing on 25
February 1991.

MAPHUMULDO, Flora (65), had her home in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down on 3 July 1993
in intense political conflict between the ‘RED’ AND
‘GREEN" FACTIONS.

MAPHUMULO, Gcina Geof frey (41), an ANC
supporter, was shot and stabbed to death in Bhoboyi,
Port Shepstone, Natal, on 2 July 1991 by unidentified
persons who had urged him to accompany them to an
IFP self-defence training camp.

MAPHUMULO, Gladness Thoko (22), was repeatedly
harassed by members of the Special Branch from
1964 onwards, and was refused permission to own or
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rent a house in Durban. Her husband, an MK operative,
Mr Msizeni Maphumulo, had been imprisoned on
Robben Island.

MAPHUMULDO, Isabel , was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Amanzimtoti, near Durban, during March
1993. Her daughter and granddaughter were killed in
the same attack, which occurred when they returned
to check on the home they had fled for safety.
MAPHUMULO, Joy Maryjane (29), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by IFP supporters on
27 July 1992 in Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi,
Durban. A day earlier, eight people had been killed by
armed IFP supporters in the FOLWENI MASSACRE.
MAPHUMULO, Joyce Sibongile (36), an ANC
supporter, had her house at Umlazi, Durban, burnt
down by Inkatha supporters, allegedly assisted by
members of the KwAZuLu PoLICE, in August 1985.
MAPHUMULO, Justice Nkosingiphile (25), an ANC
supporter, was burnt to death by IFP supporters at
Emachobeni, Richmond, Natal, on 5 July 1991. He had
allegedly failed to respond to an IFP youth recruitment
campaign.

MAPHUMULO, Kenneth Nkosinathi , an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters in
Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban on 5 August
1992. His cousin, also an ANC supporter, was also
killed in the attack. A COSATU stayaway had been
organised for that day, and IFP supporters had
allegedly attacked those who had not gone to work.
MAPHUMULO, Khathi Nomusa (37), an IFP
supporter, lost her house in an arson attack at
Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
January 1993 in continuing conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Linda Michael (30), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by an Inkatha supporter in
Umlazi, Durban, on 21 March 1990. More than nine
people died in political conflict in the area on this day,
following the killing of two people by the police.
MAPHUMULO, Liso, was injured when a limpet mine
exploded on a municipal bus in Gardiner Street,
Durban, on 30 November 1993. The explosive was
being conveyed by APLA operatives to an intended
target. When it accidentally exploded, 12 people were
killed, including one of the operatives. See APLA
ATTACKS. One APLA member and two PASO members
were granted amnesty (AC/1998/0076).
MAPHUMULO, Lulu Dinah (50), had her house at
Lindelani, near KwaMashu, Durban, vandalised by
Inkatha supporters on 7 December 1989. At the time,
Lindelani residents were being forced to make
monthly contributions to Inkatha and pay community
levies. Those who did not pay were either forced to
leave the area or had their houses set alight.
MAPHUMULO, Mandla Erik (28), lost his house in an
arson attack in the Mkhukhuze area, KwaZulu, near
Eshowe, Natal, in 1993 in continuing conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Mandla Ophius (44), was returning
home from a funeral when he was shot dead in
Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
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2 September 1990 in intense conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Mandlenkosi (47), an ANC supporter,
had his house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on

16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MAPHUMULO, Maghikiza Fanisile (46), was shot
and injured when IFP supporters attacked a bus in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 14
February 1994 in political conflict during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MAPHUMULO, Mhlabunzima Joseph (42), was shot
dead at his home in central Pietermaritzburg on

25 February 1991. One of the alleged perpetrators is
named. Chief Maphumulo of Magonggo was the
president of CONTRALESA, an organisation of
traditional leaders, which was aligned with the UDF
and ANC. He was also instrumental in the local peace
process. He had survived several assassination
attempts for his political views.

MAPHUMULO, Mncedisi , was shot dead by IFP
supporters at her family home in Amanzimtoti, near
Durban in March 1993. Her mother and grandmother
died in the same attack, which occurred when the family
returned to check on the home they had fled for safety.
MAPHUMULO, Mr (first name not given), a prominent
Inkatha member, was shot dead at his shop in
Clermont, near Durban, in 1988 by a group of UDF
supporters. Two UDF supporters and members of the
Clermont Youth Congress were granted amnesty
(AC/2001/101).

MAPHUMULO, Msawenkosi , an IFP supporter, was
burnt to death in August 1993 when ANC supporters
attacked and set fire to his mother’'s home in Nsuze,
Tongaat, Natal. His brother, also an IFP supporter, was
also burnt to death in the attack.

MAPHUMULO, Msizeni Shadrack (48), a senior member
of MK'’s Natal military machinery in Swaziland, was
shot by SADF Special Forces operatives while he was
resisting abduction from his home in Manzini, Swaziland,
on 12 December 1986. Mr Maphumulo died en route
to South Africa. A 13-year-old Swazi national was killed
and four other foreign nationals (two Swiss, one Swazi
and one South African) were abducted from their homes
in Mbabane, Swaziland, in the same operation. Mr
Maphumulo, from KwaMashu, Durban, had previously
been imprisoned on Robben Island for ten years.
MAPHUMULO, Mthandeni , an SAP member, was
arrested and tortured by fellow members of the SAP
in Springs, Tvl, on 12 August 1986 after he dug the
body of an MK operative out of a government grave so
it could be sent to Sabie for a decent family burial. He
was later discharged from the police.

MAPHUMULO, Mzwamandla , an IFP supporter, was
burnt to death in August 1993 when ANC supporters
attacked and set fire to his mother’'s home in Nsuze,
Tongaat, Natal. His brother, an IFP supporter, was also
burnt to death in the attack.

MAPHUMULO, Nakoti (51), an ANC supporter, had
her homestead destroyed in an arson attack by
unidentified persons, at Magabheni, Umgababa,
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KwaZulu, near Durban, Natal, in 1991 in ongoing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
Both her sons were injured in the attack.
MAPHUMULO, Nhlanhla Gerald (34), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed and injured by a named IFP
supporter at Magongqgo, Table Mountain, near
Pietermaritzburg, in 1991. At the time of the attack,
Mr Maphumulo was allegedly with a person who was
being targeted by local youths and IFP chiefs.
MAPHUMULO, Nokuphiwa (67), lost her house in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in an
arson attack by IFP supporters on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAPHUMULO, Nonkantolo Ganephi (73), had her
house burnt down by ANC supporters at Nsuze, Tongaat,
Natal, in August 1993. Both her sons, who were IFP
supporters, were burnt to death in the attack.
MAPHUMULO, Nosibhedela (62), had her house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Magongqo, Table
Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, in 1991. Since 1984,
Ms Maphumulo and her family had experienced
sustained periods of victimization and harassment by
Inkatha supporters, allegedly because her son, Chief
Mhlabunzima Maphumulo, refused to align himself
with Inkatha.

MAPHUMULO, Ntombi Alzina , a UDF supporter, had
her house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990 when
a group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF
supporters and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in spite of a heavy police and military
presence. Fourteen people were killed and at least
120 homes burnt down. One former IFP member was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MAPHUMULO, Penelope Nombuso (28), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters at
Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 30
July 1990, allegedly because her father-in-law, in whose
house the attack took place, was an ANC supporter.
Ms Maphumulo’s husband was also shot dead, and
her son, aged 4, was shot and injured in the attack.
MAPHUMULO, Pikinini Ephraim  (57), an ANC supporter,
was arrested in 1985 while crossing the border to
Swaziland. In custody in Durban, he was severely
assaulted by members of the SAP. Mr Maphumulo was
charged and convicted for leaving the country illegally.
He was released from Robben Island early on account
of injuries sustained while he was held in custody.
MAPHUMULO, Primrose Khwezi (37), an ANC
supporter and an invalid, died of suffocation when her
brother’s house was petrol-bombed by IFP supporters
in KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 29
October 1992.

MAPHUMULDO, Prisca , was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Amanzimtoti, near Durban, in March
1993. Her daughter and mother were killed in the
same attack, which occurred when they returned to
check on the home they had fled for safety.
MAPHUMULO, S’'mangile Mavis (24), lost her home
in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in an
arson attack by IFP supporters on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
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MAPHUMULO, Samukelo (4), was shot and injured
by IFP supporters at Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 30 July 1990, allegedly because his
grandfather, in whose house the attack took place,
was an ANC supporter. Samukelo’s parents were both
shot dead in the attack.

MAPHUMULO, Shadrack , an informer, was shot and
killed by Security Branch members and Vlakplaas
operatives on the 14 August 1986 at the Nerston/
Amsterdam Road, Nerston. Mr Maphumulo was
tasked by the perpetrators to infiltrate an MK unit and
transport them across the border. In an ambush, four
members of the unit were killed and one was
wounded. Mr Maphumulo was also killed. Three
perpetrators were refused amnesty and eight granted
amnesty for the incident (AC/2001/148).
MAPHUMULO, Sibongile Patricia (37), had her
house burnt down by ANC supporters in Isigodi
Bekwandla, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 19 March
1990 in intensifying conflict in the area following the
UNBANNING of political organisations in February 1990.
Ms Maphumulo lived in an Inkatha stronghold, which
was attacked that day by ANC supporters.
MAPHUMULDO, Sibusiso (13), an ANC supporter, was
killed on 18 February 1994, when four gunmen attacked
a house in the rural Mahahle village, near Creighton,
Ixopo, Natal, in which he and other ANC youths were
sleeping. Fifteen ANC youths were killed in the attack.
They had been seen putting up posters announcing a
voter education workshop in preparation for the APRIL
1994 eLECTIONS. Four prominent IFP leaders were
acquitted on charges relating to the massacre.
MAPHUMULO, Sihle Cyprian (14), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead at K Section, Umlazi, Durban, on 24
September 1993 in continuing conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Sikhumbuzo Richard (14), was shot
dead in an attack on his family home at Folweni,
KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, on 25 March 1992,
during continuing conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MAPHUMULO, Simon Qhimilili  (36), an ANC
supporter, had his home burnt down by IFP supporters
in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
20 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MAPHUMULO, Simphiwe Hamilton (15), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters and
members of the KwaZuLu PoLIcE at a shebeen in
Adams, Umlazi, Durban, on 16 October 1993.
MAPHUMULO, Thembinkosi (12), was shot dead by in
an attack by IFP supporters at Magabheni, Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 31 December 1990. His
father was also killed in the attack.

MAPHUMULO, Thomi Thomas (39), was shot dead
while returning home from work in Isipingo, Natal, on
9 April 1992, during conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area. Mr Maphumulo had previously
fled Umbumbulu to escape the violence.
MAPHUMULO, Twayisa Godfr ey, had his house
destroyed in an arson attack at Inanda, near KwaMashu,
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Durban, on 27 November 1986, in intensifying conflict
between ANC/UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area.
The perpetrators were allegedly looking for his children,
who were ANC supporters.

MAPHUMULO, Venaneia (49), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by members of the SAP in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, in 1986. Members
of the family members were targeted for harassment
and attack because of their active support for the ANC.
MAPHUMULDO, Vusi Wilson (33), an ANC supporter, was
injured when his car overturned after it had been
stoned by IFP supporters at Magonggo, Table Mountain,
near Pietermaritzburg, in 1991.

MAPHUMULO, V usi, an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by Inkatha supporters in Mariannhill, Pinetown, Natal,
on 7 February 1990, in intense conflict following the
UNBANNING of political organisations a few days earlier.
MAPHUMULO, Zanele (21), was shot dead at
Tongaat, Natal, on 8 August 1992 in continuing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MAPHUMULO, Zibuyile Joyce (24), an IFP supporter,
had her home burnt down by ANC supporters in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, in March 1992.
MAPHUMULO, Zithulele Gilbert (45), an ANC
supporter, had his home burnt down by IFP supporters,
allegedly assisted by the police, at Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 21 September 1992. A peace initiative to end
political violence in the area was underway at the time.
MAPHUTHUMA, Namwele , had her home in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
1993 in intense political conflict between the ‘RED’" AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MAPIPA, Desmond Daliwonga , was one of four
Eastern Cape Security Branch operatives killed in the
MOTHERWELL CAR BOMB explosion, Port Elizabeth, on 14
December 1989, in a joint operation by the Eastern Cape
Security Branch and Security Branch headquarters.
Two operatives from the Eastern Cape Security Branch
and seven from Security Branch headquarters, including
the Vlakplaas commander and his commanding officer,
were refused amnesty for the operation. Applicants
presented different versions as to why the four had
been killed (AC/1999/0345).

MAPIPA, Mvumelwano Nicholas , a PAC supporter,
was shot dead by named and other ANC supporters on
23 March 1994 in Port St Johns, Transkei, because he
and other PAC supporters were seen carrying firearms
while allegedly on their way to attack ANC members.
MAPISA, Buyisile R yan, was tortured while in
detention by members of the SA Railway Police in
1977 at Cambridge police station, East London. He
was detained and tortured again on 23 December
1988 in Mdantsane, Ciskei.

MAPOLISA, Msetshwa (39), had his home and
possessions burnt by IFP supporters in March 1993 in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in intense political
conflict between the ‘RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS. At
least 18 people died in political violence in Bhambayi
that month, and 75 homes were burnt down.
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MAPOMA, Phuti Lina (52), had her home at GaMatlala,
Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of Chief BK
Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MAPONGW ANA, Mhleli Michael (44), chairperson of
the Western Cape Civic Association and an ANC
supporter, was pulled from a vehicle and shot dead by
named and other members of the Western Cape Black
Taxi Association in Philippi, Cape Town, on 8 July 1991.
His driver was also shot dead. Mr Mapongwana had
played a mediating role in ongoing taxi conflicts, which
had acquired a political dimension. He had survived
two previous assassination attempts in 1990, one of
which had killed his wife. See TAXI VIOLENCE.
MAPONGW ANA, Nomsa (36), was shot dead during
a petrol bomb and gunfire attack on her home in
Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 18 October 1990. The
perpetrators, believed to be linked to the Lingelethu
West Town Council, were aiming to kill her husband
who was chairperson of the Western Cape Civic
Association and a leader in the campaign to oppose
the town council.

MAPONYA, Andries Itumeleng (27), was placed in
solitary confinement for about nine months in
Johannesburg, in 1988. Police wanted to know where
his MK member brother was. Mr Maponya was
shown a newspaper cutting stating that his brother
had been killed by security forces.

MAPONYA, Japie Kereng (aka ‘Geeletjie’) , was
abducted from Krugersdorp, Tvl, during September
1985 by Vlakplaas operatives on the instructions of the
West Rand Security Branch. He was taken to Viakplaas
and interrogated and assaulted in an effort to extract
information about the activities of his brother, MK
operative Odirile Maponya, aka ‘Mainstay'. Following
his refusal to co-operate, he was killed and buried on
the Swazi side of the border. Nine Security Branch
operatives, including the divisional commander of
West Rand and the commander of Vlakplaas, applied
for amnesty. Three applications were refused and six
granted (AC/2001/272 and AM/2001/279).

MAPONYA, Peter, was shot at by NUMSA members
during a strike at the Haggie Rand factory in Tembisa,
Johannesburg, on 22 February 1990. Amnesty was
granted one NUMSA member (AC/1999/0296).
MAPOTELE, Piet, suffered injuries when the armoured
vehicle in which he was travelling drove over and
detonated a landmine in Messina, Tvl, on 27 November
1985. The ANC LANDMINE CAMPAIGN was aimed at
military patrols in the rural areas. Three MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/093).

MAPOULA, Noko Albert (57), had his home at
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr
Mapoula resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.

MAPOULO, Monyane Joseph (42), had his home at
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of
Chief BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr
Mapoulo resisted Lebowa’s proposed independence
from South Africa.

VOLUME 7 Victim findings: Summaries

MAPOULO, Ramkoni Martina (53), had her home at
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of Chief
BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MAPUA, Oupa Josiah (21), a UDF activist, was shot
dead by members of the SADF during intense public
unrest in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London, on 13 August
1985.

MAPUMULO, Bongokwakhe Hebron (67), an ANC
supporter, had his house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Bhekulwandle, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, during 1991.
MAPUMULO, Cushiwe , died after being shot dead by
unidentified perpetrators at Katlehong, Tvl, on 12
September 1992, allegedly because her father was
rumoured to be an IFP supporter. Her two sisters died
as a result of the same attack.

MAPUMULO, Danisiel Amy (43), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on

16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MAPUMULO, Dumalile , was shot dead by uniden-
tified perpetrators at Katlehong, Tvl, on 12 September
1992, allegedly because her father was believed to be
an IFP supporter. Her two sisters died as a result of
the same attack.

MAPUMULO, Gilford Katshana (51), had his house
in Qinabout, Port Shepstone, Natal, petrol-bombed in
April 1991 in continuing conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area. Mr Mapumulo and his family
were forced to flee the area.

MAPUMULO, Nomlomo , was severely injured after
being stabbed and shot in Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by
ANC supporters, on 12 September 1992 because her
husband was suspected of being an IFP supporter. Ms
Mapumulo’s three daughters were also allegedly killed
in this incident and her son was reportedly confined to
a wheelchair as a result of his injuries. Ms Mapumulo
herself lost an eye.

MAPUMULO, Siwoti (54), an ANC supporter, had her
home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAPUMULDO, Siyangoshova , was shot dead in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 28 July 1987,
in intensifying conflict between UDF and Inkatha
supporters in the area.

MAPUMULO, Sizeni , was shot dead by unidentified
perpetrators at Katlehong, Tvl, on 12 September 1992,
allegedly because her father was rumoured to be an
IFP supporter. Her two sisters died as a result of the
same attack.

MAPUOA, Ronald Mosebetsi (aka ‘Sidwell Mbele’)
(27), an MK member, was shot dead in an attack by
SADF Special Forces and Viakplaas operatives on
homes at Ditlharapeng village, Ramathlabama,
Botswana, 1000 metres from the South African
border, on 11 December 1988. A 15-year-old boy was
also killed, and three homes were destroyed. The
Vlakplaas commander and eight of his operatives were
granted amnesty (AC/2001/108).
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MAPUTE, Simphiwe Zakariah , was shot dead by a
member of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) in
Vosloorus, Tvl, on 2 February 1993. The perpetrator
thought Mr Mapute was trying to attack him as he
walked along the road at night. One SDU member
was granted amnesty (AC/2001/140).

MAPUTLA, Phadishi Abram (49), was severely
beaten in Ga-Kibi Village, Lebowa, on 10 October 1986
at a community meeting called to discuss grievances
against the self-appointed Chief Lebogo. The chief
used police and SADF members to disperse the
meeting by sjambokking those in attendance.
MAPUTLA, Simon Selema (34), was severely
assaulted in Pietersburg, Tvl, on 10 April 1987 by two
named perpetrators claiming to be sent by a local
chief. They searched Mr Maputla's home, took him to
the veld where they broke his jaw, tied his hands with
wire to the back of a van, and dragged him behind it.
MAQANDA, Themba Abeshai (47), was paralysed
after he was shot and severely injured by a named
town councillor in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 13 December 1992.
Mr Maganda was returning from a mass meeting
about a rent boycott when people taking part in a
protest march tried to set the councillor's house alight.
MAQEKEZA, Dugard Zweledinga (27), an ANC
supporter with links to MK, was severely tortured in
detention in 1987 by members of the Transkei
Security Branch in Umtata, Transkei. One member of
the Transkei Security Branch was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/076).

MAQEKEZA, Jama Hamilton (24), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP in Guguletu, Cape
Town, on 11 August 1976, after the SOWETO UPRISING
erupted in Cape Town. Mr Magekeza was returning
from his job as a chef when he was shot. Over 20
people were killed that day during extensive unrest.
MAQEKEZA, Mazizi Attwell Ngubekhaya (aka

‘Mpilo’) (22), an MK operative from Gatyane,
Willowvale, Transkei, was shot dead in his bed in
Queen Elizabeth hospital, Lesotho, on 15 March 1988.
Mr Magekeza had been hospitalised in February 1988
after surviving a roadside ambush by armed men
wearing Lesotho security force uniforms. A fellow MK
operative was killed in the ambush, but a third MK
operative, Mr Mbulelo Ngono, escaped. He, however,
was abducted four days later by members of the
Ladybrand Security Branch and has not been seen since.
MAQENUKANA, Shakespear , a resident of
Crossroads, Cape Town, was severely beaten by local
squatter leaders in Crossroads in 1985. He was
abducted in 1986 and severely beaten, tortured and hit
with a panga on the head while being held for a week
at a local informal ‘jail’ run by WITDOEKE vigilantes in
Crossroads, with the approval of the security forces.
The second assault left him mentally disabled.
MAQETHUKA, Thamsanga (16), was shot dead by
named members of the SAP in Barkly East, Cape, on
10 February 1990 during celebrations of the release of
Nelson Mandela.

MAQETHUKA, Thembi Joyce (27), an ANC supporter,
had her house destroyed by IFP supporters in Chimora,
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Umlazi, Durban, on 16 January 1992. See CHIMORA
SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.

MAQETUKA, Vuyo (30), a PEYCO member, was shot by
members of the SAP in Port Elizabeth, on 27 March 1985
while he was attending a funeral of an unrest victim.
MAQEWU, Manhanha , was hacked to death by named
perpetrators on 18 December 1960 in Zizityaneni,
Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MAQGAQGA, Enoch Buti , was shot dead while
taking part in a march protesting about sanitation
services in Siyathemba, near Balfour, Tvl.

MAQHABA, Freeman James (57), a UDF supporter,
lost his shops, vehicles and furniture when they were
burnt by members of the SAP on 1 October 1985 in
Kirkwood, Cape.

MAQHASHA, V eronica Phumla , (12), was shot and
injured in Oudtshoorn, Cape, on 17 June 1985, by
members of the SAP who were concealed in a
policeman’s home. Three children, known as the
BONGOLETHU THREE were shot dead and several others
injured when police opened fire on those entering or
near the house.

MAQHASHALALA, Mantuntu Jackson , an ANC
supporter, was shot in Flagstaff, Transkei, in June
1960, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MAQHULA, Mvulo Peter (19), a COSAS member,
was shot dead by a named member of the SAP in
KwaZakele, Port Elizabeth, on 10 May 1985.
MAQOGI, Monwabisi (20), a UDF supporter and
youth activist from Worcester, Cape, was arrested at a
Botswana border post while trying to leave the country
with four others in June 1987. He was severely
tortured by members of the Bophuthatswana Police in
that area and then taken to the Cape where he was
again tortured by named members of the Security
Branch from Worcester. After being held under SECTION
29 in solitary confinement for six months, Mr Magogi
was sentenced to six years’ imprisonment. He was
released as a political prisoner in December 1990.
MAQOKO, Ndolotswana (32), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 28
August 1985, during the POLLSMOOR MARCH to demand
the release of Nelson Mandela.

MAQOLO, Bongani Leanard , a member of the
Cradock Youth Association, was sentenced to eight
years' imprisonment in January 1987 at Cradock,
Cape, on a charge of killing a policeman during the
political conflict of 1985.

MAQOLO, Mbuyiselo Maxin (35), was beaten and
tortured by members of the SAP during political unrest
in Port Elizabeth in 1986.

MAQOMA, Nomagabiso Greta (46), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by IFP supporters
in Amaoti, Inanda, near Durban, on 15 March 1991.
MAQOMA, Nomalungelo , was detained during
OPERATION KATZEN and tortured during interrogation by
members of the Ciskei Elite Unit in Alice, Ciskei,
in1986. Two members of the Ciskei Police, and seven
members of the SADF, Border Security Branch and
Department of Prisons for Operation Katzen were
granted amnesty for the torture (AC/1997/0023;
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AC/1997/0024; AC/1997/0025; AC/1998/043;
AC/1999/003; AC/1999/245; AC/2000/037;
AC/2000/192; AC/2001/159 and AC/2001/224).
MAQUBELA, Wonke Withiel (16), a SAYCO member,
was detained and severely assaulted by members of
the SAP in Stutterheim, Cape, during the 1985 scHooL
BOYCOTTS.

MAQUNGO, Andile (13), was burnt to death in
Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 21 January 1993, in an
attack by members of a BALACLAVA GROUP who shot at the
house and set it alight. Seven people, including several
members of the Jwambi family, were killed in the attack.
MAQUNGO, Babalwa , was burnt to death in
Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 21 January 1993, in an
attack by members of a BALACLAVA GROUP who shot at
the house and set it alight. Seven people, including
several members of the Jwambi family, were killed in
the attack.

MAQWANE, Andrew Mbuiselo , was shot dead by
members of the IFP-aligned KHETISI KHESWA GANG in
Sebokeng, Tvl, on 12 January 1991 during the night
vigil of an ANC activist killed by the gang. Gang
members fired shots and threw hand grenades at
mourners, killing a number of people and injuring
several others. See NANGALEMBE NIGHT VIGIL MASSACRE.
MAQWAZIMA, Vukile Simon (39), was shot and
injured by members of the SADF in Daveyton, Tvl, on
24 March 1991 while the IFP held a rally in a nearby
stadium. Mr Magwazima had gathered with a group of
residents in anticipation of an IFP attack.

MARA, Bafedile Jane (20), an ANC supporter, was
severely tortured by members of the SAP while in
detention in Kroonstad, OFS, in March 1990. Together
with others, she was detained while taking part in a
rent and electricity boycott against the Council of
Moakeng, and charged with public violence. She was
held in custody for six weeks. Charges were
withdrawn after four months.

MARABA, Daniel , an ANC supporter (21), was tortured
in detention on 3 December 1985 at Khutsong,
Carletonville, Tvl, by named members of the SAP
trying to elicit information about the newly formed
Khutsong Youth League.

MARABA, Thibeli , died of injuries after being beaten
with a sjambok by members of the SAP on 16 June
1976, the first day of the SOWETO UPRISING.

MARABE, Maria Lipolelo (35), had her house burnt
down during a tribal dispute in Maboloko, Bophutha-
tswana, in May 1977.

MARA|, Lipota , an ANC member, was shot dead on 9
December 1982 in an attack by SADF Special Forces
operatives on several ANC houses and a block of flats
on Maseru, Lesotho. Thirty South Africans and 12
citizens of Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack.
After Mr Lipota had gone into exile in 1977, his
mother and sister were detained.

MARAIS, Ezekiel Domongo Matshidiso  (20), an ANC
member, was detained by members of the Fountain
Security Branch in Bloemfontein on three separate
occasions between January 1978 and June 1980. He
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was tortured in detention, allegedly for leading a rent
boycott and for ‘furthering the aims of the ANC'.
MARAIS, Philmarin Annelize , was one of 18 people
injured in a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop near
the Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl, on 4
July 1986. Four MK operatives were granted amnesty
for the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MARAKALALA, Dikeledi Johannes (36), was beaten
in Brits, Tvl, in 1989 by a named perpetrator, allegedly
a VARK SQUAD member.

MARAKALALA, Josephine Mokgadi (23), was
tortured in detention by members of the SAP at
Tembisa police station and Sun City prison, Tvl, during
the state of emergency in July 1986. Ms Marakalala
was active in various community organisations.
MARAKALALA, Makgaba Jeanette (35), an ANC
supporter, was beaten by VARK SQUAD vigilantes at
Oukasie, near Brits, Tvl, on 30 October 1989.
MARAKE, Paki George (50), a DIKWANKWETLA
NATIONAL PARTY (DNP) supporter and member of
the QwaQwa parliament, had his house burnt down in
BOTSHABELO, near Bloemfontein, on 19 August 1987.
His home was again petrol-bombed in June 1990.
MARAMBA, Zukiswa (19), an ANCYL member, was
severely beaten and injured by members of the Ciskei
Police on 24 October 1985 in Zwelitsha, Ciskei, while
he was attending a funeral.

MARANANA, Mr (first name not given), was shot
dead by members of the SAP in East London in March
1986.

MARANXA, Pumla (38), a PAC supporter, was
severely injured in Boipatong, Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on
20 June 1990 when the SAP opened fire at a group of
PAC supporters gathered where members of the SAP
had shot a boy. Ms Maranxa was there to check if it
was her son who had been shot when police opened
fire. Ten pellets are still lodged in her back.
MARAWU, Howard , a church minister and trade
unionist, lost his home in a petrol bomb attack in
Guguletu, Cape Town, on 17 October 1979. Reverend
Marawu had endured ongoing police harassment
because of his political activity and had received
telephonic death threats shortly before the attack.
MARAWU, Mziwabantu Jafta , was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in 1976, after which his
house was petrol-bombed, allegedly by the SAP, in
Guguletu, Cape Town, during 1979. Mr Marawu'’s
father was a prominent political activist who had
received death threats before the attack.

MARAVYI, Florence Ntombizonke (24), a UDF
supporter, was shot and stabbed, and had her house
petrol-bombed, by Inkatha supporters at Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, in October 1989.

MARCH, David , was abducted by members of the
SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in November 1993
during violence in the township. He has not been seen
since and is presumed dead.

MARCH, Joseph , was shot dead in his own front yard
in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in June 1993 during
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters.
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MARCH, Philip , was shot dead by members of the
SADF and SAP inside school grounds in Alexandra,
Johannesburg, in June 1976 after the SOWETO UPRISING
had spilt over into neighbouring areas.

MARCUS, Lulamile Mandla (21), was shot by
members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7 September
1992 during an ANC protest march to demand free
political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people were killed and
200 people injured in the event which became known
as the BISHOMASSACRE. Two members of the former CDF
were refused amnesty for the shooting (AC/2000/122).
MARE, Linus (34), was killed when MK operatives
detonated a car bomb using a remote control device
outside the Ellis Park rugby stadium, Johannesburg, on
2 July 1988. Two spectators leaving the rugby match
were killed and 37 others sustained minor and major
injuries. Four operatives from MK'’s Special Operations
Unit, including its commander, were granted amnesty
(AC/2001/161).

MAREBODI, Thomas Mmereki (15), a UDF supporter
and student leader, was shot dead by members of the
SAP in Kimberley, Cape, on 11 April 1985, when police
opened fire on student protesters. His funeral was
tear-gassed and disrupted by police.

MAREDI, Jacob Khomotso (24), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Tembisa, Tvl, on 1 May 1993 because
of his political activities.

MAREDI, Kgagudi Hesekia (58), an ANC supporter,
was arrested and banished from his home in
Sekhukhune, Tvl, in 1956, and placed under house arrest
at Grahamstown, Cape, until 1966. His arrest followed
Sekhukhuneland resistance to self-government.
MAREKANE, Ber nard, was shot and killed by NUMSA
members in Katlehong, near Johannesburg, on 28
March 1990. Amnesty was granted to one NUMSA
member (AC/1999/0296).

MAREMA, Mofolo Aron (36), lost his property in an
arson attack during conflict over the chieftaincy in
Maboloko, Bophuthatswana, on 7 May 1977. Many
other residents lost their homes in the attack.
MAREMAMA, Kwena Alber (52), had his home burnt
down in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters of Chief BK
Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr Maremama
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MAREMAME, Makwena Rosina , had her home burnt
down at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters of Chief
BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MAREMANE, Celia Kgabo (35), had her home burnt
down at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters of Chief
BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because she resisted
Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South Africa.
MAREMANE, Makoena (42), had her house in
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by Chief BK Matlala’s
supporters on 2 February 1980 because she resisted
falling under his jurisdiction.

MAREMANE, Makoena Joseph , had his home at
GaMatlala, Lebowa, burnt down by supporters of Chief
BK Matlala on 2 February 1980, because Mr Maremane
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resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MARENENE, Patrick , a community COUNCILLOR, was
stabbed, stoned and burnt to death by a large group of
named and other UDF supporters in Oudtshoorn, Cape,
on 22 November 1985. Six people were convicted of
the killing, three of which were sentenced to death,
later commuted to prison terms.

MARETLOANE, Thabang (22), an ANC supporter, was
tortured by attempted suffocation while he was in
detention in West Bank prison, East London, in June
1986.

MARETLWA, Joseph Mozwethemba (41), a civic
activist, was arrested and subjected to electric shock
torture by members of the SAP at Uranjoville police
station, Jouberton, Klerksdorp, Tvl, during December
1991. Mr Maretlwa was leading a residents’ campaign
to dismiss the local council and cancel all arrears on
communal services.

MARETLWA, Kgutli , was severely beaten with a hosepipe
at the taxi rank in Bekkersdal, near Westonaria, Tvl, by
a named member of the SAP during May 1990. He
and two friends who were also attacked were then
taken to the police garage and beaten further.

MARI, Ndoyisile W illiam , an ANC supporter, was
arrested in Port Elizabeth in 1964, and sentenced to
seven years' imprisonment on Robben Island, Cape
Town. After his release, he was placed under
restrictions in the King William'’s Town area, Cape.
MARI, Vuyisile (4), was assaulted by members of the
SAP at KwaZakele, Port Elizabeth, in 1964, during a
government crackdown on the ANC. His father served
time on Robben Island for his involvement in ANC
activities.

MARIE, Bobby , was detained by members of the
Security Branch in 1976 and held without trial for five
months. Mr Marie was reportedly targeted because
his mother-in-law was president of the Black WWomen's
Federation.

MARIPA, Susan (34), was shot dead by two named
perpetrators associated with the MANDELA UNITED
FooteaLL CLuB in Tladi, Soweto, Johannesburg, on

29 October 1987 after it was alleged that Ms Maripa
knew too much about a neighbour’s death.
MARIPANE, Ngoakoane L ydia, was tortured by
members of the SAP at Seshego police station,
Pietersburg, in 1984 because his brother was an ANC
member.

MARITE, Tokelo John (22), was attacked in his home
by named members of the THREE MILLION GANG in
Gelukwaarts, Kroonstad, OFS, on 28 March 1992.
When he tried to escape, he was caught and killed.
MARITZ, HSM, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
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MARITZ, JH, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MARKLOE, Martin (6), was shot and injured when
police opened fire with rubber bullets after a community
meeting at Prieska, Cape, in January 1986.

MARKS, Elizabeth , was shot in Soweto,
Johannesburg, in 1990 during conflict between IFP-
aligned hostel-dwellers and ANC-supporting residents.
MAROBELA, Hellen (36), had her home in Ga-
Kgapane, Lebowa, damaged in an arson attack by
members of the SAP on 15 October 1986.

MAROE, Mampatana Salamina , suffered severe ill-
treatment and damage to property on 17 June 1992 in
the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijl-
park, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MAROEKOANE, Anna Ndoti , was shot and severely
injured by members of the SAP in Sharpeville,
Vereeniging, Tvl, during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE ONn
21 March 1960.

MAROGA, Lazar us, an SAP member, was stabbed to
death in Namakgale, Lebowa, on 19 February 1986
during conflict over the proposed removal of a chief.
MAROLA, Andrew Thozamile (23), was arrested in
Robertson, Cape, on 20 November 1985, and beaten
by members of the SAP. After spending three months
in custody, public violence charges against him were
withdrawn due to lack of evidence. He was again
detained on 19 June 1986 and held under emergency
regulations for three months. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MAROPE, Evans (19), an ANC supporter, was beaten
by members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Zeerust,
Tvl, on 8 January 1991 during conflict over the forced
INCORPORATION of Braklaagte into Bophuthatswana.
MAROTI, Kholekile Charles (24), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Guguletu, Cape Town, on 28
August 1985, on the day of the POLLSMOOR MARCH. He
was one of nine people shot dead by police that day.
MARRAND, Wellington Thembinkosi  (24), was
detained and tortured by members of the SAP in
Durban, in March 1984. He was convicted with five
others and sentenced to five years' imprisonment on
Robben Island in December 1984 for recruiting people
to undergo military training with the ANC.
MARTHINUS, Br enda, was injured in a hand grenade
explosion on 25 May 1993 in Kimberley, Cape, during
an ANC protest march to the Bophuthatswana
consulate. Two MK operatives threw a hand grenade
at the building which bounced back into the crowd,
killing one person and injuring 41 others. Two ANC
members were wrongly convicted of the killing. Four
MK operatives and ANC members, two of whom
denied guilt, were refused amnesty (AC/2000/053 and
AC/2000/241).
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MARTIN, Belinda Venice (23), was arrested in August
1975 and held in solitary confinement for six weeks in
Johannesburg, for opposing ethnically based elections.
MARTIN, Florence (36), a People's Congress
supporter, lost her house and livestock in an arson
attack by supporters of Chief BK Matlala in GaMatlala,
Lebowa, on 2 February 1980 because Mr Martin
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa. Two people died and about 80 were wounded
in the attack.

MARTIN, Kevin Peter Robert (19), was tortured in
detention at John Vorster Square in Johannesburg, on
4 August 1975. Mr Martin was involved in mobilising
his community to oppose the imminent ethnically
based elections.

MARTIN, Muzi Mongezi (23), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by ANC supporters, some of whom are
named, in Orlando West, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 2
September 1992 because he was believed to be an
IFP supporter.

MARTIN, Vuyelwa Joyce (49), an ANC supporter, lost
her shop and tavern in an arson attack by named ANC
supporters in Orlando West, Soweto, Johannesburg,
on 2 September 1992. The family was targeted
because they were believed to be IFP supporters.
MARTINS, Bongani (21), was shot dead and his body
was burnt in Bekkersdal, near Westonaria, Tvl, during
conflict between ANC, AZAPO and IFP supporters on
22 December 1991.

MARTINS, Bryn Lowis Kabelu (19), a UDF supporter,
was assaulted and deprived of food while in detention
in Virginia, OFS, in April 1985. He was arrested with
three others, allegedly while trying to leave the
country.

MARTINS, Deon, a civilian, was injured when APLA
operatives opened fire on a vehicle travelling from
Zastron to Sterkspruit in the OFS on 18 March 1992.
In the attack, one person was shot dead while he lay
injured next to the car. Mir Martins was severely
injured. Two managed to escape unhurt. See APLA
ATTACKS. One APLA member was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/148). See ZASTRON ROAD AMBUSH.

MARTINS, Joel Geor ge, an MK operative, was
assaulted and tortured by members of the Witwaters-
rand Security Branch at John Vorster Square,
Johannesburg, during 1988. A Witwatersrand Security
Branch operative was granted amnesty for the torture
(AC/2001/275).

MARUBINI, Funzani Joyce (32), a Namakgale Youth
Congress (NYC) member, was detained during a
meeting of the NYC. Ms Marubini was ordered to
undress and was sjambokked by members of the
SAP in Namakgale, Lebowa, on 21 March 1986
because the homeland government saw UDF-aligned
youth as a political theat.

MARUF ANE, Mildred (51), was shot in the leg in
Alexandra, Johannesburg, while attending the night
vigil of a friend on March 27 1991. The night vigil was
attacked, 13 people were killed and 17 injured. Five
IFP supporters were arrested for the attack but were
found not guilty and discharged.
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MARULA, Patrick Pheteswayo (27), wa s severely
beaten by members of the SAP in Bushbuckridge,
Lebowa, on 28 February 1990 when they attacked a
crowd celebrating the release of Nelson Mandela. Mr
Marula was also detained and tortured in 1993 for
attending a community meeting.

MARUME, Ndiko , a NACTU member, was severely
injured when named police officers and WITDOEKE
attacked striking mineworkers at Zamdela, Sasolburg,
OFS, on 2 October 1987. He died in police custody
shortly after the attack.

MARUMO, Alfred T oko, was shot dead by ‘comrades’
in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, in May 1992. Sharpeville,
like many other Transvaal townships, was embroiled in
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the early
1990s.

MARUMO, Baslius Matlogelwa , was detained without
trial for two weeks in April 1986 in Siyabuswa, Kwa-
Ndebele, because he held illegal meetings and
encouraged resistance to INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele. While in detention he was deprived of
medical attention.

MARUMO, Elizabeth Lesholobe (70), was stabbed and
hacked to death while sick in bed in Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 8 September 1991 by IFP supporters returning
from a rally at the Jabulani stadium. Members of the
SAP allegedly shot open the door for the perpetrators.
MARUMO, James December (23), was one of four
youths shot dead by members of the SAP in Colesberg,
Cape, on 3 July 1985, after extensive unrest broke out
in the township.

MARUMO, Maki Martha (15), was shot and injured in
Sebokeng, Tvl, on 20 September 1992 when IFP
supporters tried to pull her into a car and then shot her
several times. DRIVE-BY SHOOTINGS occurred often
during conflict in the Vaal Triangle in the early 1990s.
MARUMO, Maletsatsi , was killed by members of an
ANC self-defence unit (SDU) near Small Farms, Tvl, on
14 June 1993. Ms Marumo was believed to be an IFP
supporter. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0343).

MARUMO, Wessels Skuta Mahoko , an SAP
member, was killed by ‘comrades’ on May 30, 1992 in
Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, during intense political
conflict. Mr Marumo was accused of killing an ANC
supporter in the area. Mr Marumo's body was chopped
up and his severed head was paraded around the
township and placed on a signpost on the main road.
MARUNGW ANA, Lucas ‘Billy-Boy’ (26), was arrested
and severely assaulted by members of the Bophutha-
tswana Police in Lekubu, Bophuthatswana, on 27
March 1989 because he resisted Leeuwfontein’s
INCORPORATION into Bophuthatswana and attended
Chief Sebogodi's victory celebrations in his legal battle
against his rival Chief Moiloa. Mr Marungwana was
arrested and taken to Motswedi Police station where
he was interrogated, caned and detained for a month.
MARUPING, Jackonia Rakoena (28), was shot dead in
a DRIVE-BY SHOOTING in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 11 November
1991.
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MARUTLA, Maphuti (45), had her home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MARWANE, W ilfred Sebonege , was shot dead by
members of the SAP outside his home in Emdeni,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 19 January 1987. It is believed
he was targeted after a sentence for ‘terrorist activities’
had been set aside by the Appeal Court in 1979.
MARWANQANA, Alfred Fikile (50), an ANC member
from Port Elizabeth, was shot dead in an attack by
SADF Special Forces operatives on several ANC houses
and a block of flats in Maseru, Lesotho, on 9 December
1982. Thirty South Africans, including Mr Marwangana'’s
son and daughter, and 12 citizens of Lesotho were
killed in the midnight attack. Mr Marwangana had
previously been imprisoned for six and a half years on
Robben Island for political offences, and thereafter
banished to llinge, near Queenstown. After 12 years
of banishment, he and his family fled to Lesotho four
days prior to the raid.

MARWANQANA, Monde (3), survived an attempted
killing, when SADF Special Forces operatives attacked
several ANC houses and a block of flats in Maseru,
Lesotho, on 9 December 1982. Thirty South Africans
and 12 citizens of Lesotho were killed in the midnight
attack. Monde’s mother, grandfather and an uncle
were among those killed. Her grandmother, brother,
aunt and uncle survived the attack. The family was
from Port Elizabeth.

MARWANQANA, Mutiwe Nellie (47), survived an
attempted killing when SADF Special Forces operatives
attacked several ANC houses and a block of flats in
Maseru, Lesotho, on 9 December 1982. Thirty South
Africans and 12 citizens of Lesotho were killed in the
midnight attack. Ms Marwangana'’s husband, a son
and a daughter were among those killed. Two of her
other children and two grandchildren survived the
attack. The family was from Port Elizabeth.
MARWANQANA, Mzukisi (17), was shot dead in an
attack by SADF Special Forces operatives on several
ANC houses and a block of flats in Maseru, Lesotho,
on 9 December 1982. Thirty South Africans, including
Mr Marwangana'’s father and sister, and 12 citizens of
Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack. The family
was from Port Elizabeth.

MARWANQANA, Phumelane (12), survived an
attempted killing when SADF Special Forces operatives
attacked several ANC houses and a block of flats in
Maseru, Lesotho, on 9 December 1982. Thirty South
Africans and 12 citizens of Lesotho were killed in the
midnight attack. Phumelane's father, a brother and
sister were among those killed. His mother, sister,
niece and nephew survived the attack. The family was
from Port Elizabeth.

MARWANQANA, Pumeza (22), survived an
attempted killing when SADF Special Forces
operatives attacked several ANC houses and a block
of flats in Maseru, Lesotho, on 9 December 1982.
Thirty South Africans and 12 citizens of Lesotho were
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killed in the midnight attack. Ms Marwangana'’s father,
her brother and sister were among those killed. Her
mother, sister, niece and nephew survived the attack.
The family was from Port Elizabeth.

MARWANQANA, Thandiswa (32), was shot dead in
an attack by SADF Special Forces operatives on several
ANC houses and a block of flats in Maseru, Lesotho,
on 9 December 1982. Thirty South Africans and 12
citizens of Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack.
Ms Marwangana's father and brother were amongst
those killed. Her six-month-old daughter survived. The
family was from Port Elizabeth.

MARWANQANA, Yolanda (10 months), survived an
attempted killing when SADF Special Forces
operatives attacked several ANC houses and a block
of flats in Maseru, Lesotho, on 9 December 1982.
Thirty South Africans and 12 citizens of Lesotho were
kiled in the midnight attack. Yolanda’s mother,
grandfather and an uncle were among those killed.
Her grandmother, brother, aunt and uncle survived the
attack. The family was from Port Elizabeth.
MARWEBU, Talente Miriam (62), an IFP supporter,
had her home at Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters on 3 July 1990.
MARWESHE, Mahlaola Jeanet (13), was shot and
severely injured in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 23 March
1992 when members of the SADF were called in by
the local chief to quell political protests in the area.
MARWEXU, Nosipho Blossom (20), a COSAS
member, was beaten by members of the Security
Police while in detention at Cambridge police station,
East London, on 18 June 1986. She was accused of
burning the homes of two police members during the
1986 state of emergency. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MARX, Getr uida, sustained damage to her property
in a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop near the
Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl, on 4 July
1986. Four MK operatives were granted amnesty for
the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MASA, Elizabeth , survived when shots were fired
into the home of the Ntsime family at Mmabatho,
Bophuthatswana, during an attempted coup d’état on
10 February 1988. Two Bophuthatswana Defence
Force members were granted amnesty for their role in
the attempted coup (AC/2000/044).

MASABALALA, Sandra (20), died after she was tear-
gassed by members of the SAP in Port Elizabeth on
21 April 1986 during the state of emergency. See
POLICE BRUTALITY.

MASAKALA, Jamina (27), was burnt to death in an
arson attack on her home in Tokoza, Tvl, on

12 September 1990 during political conflict. Ms
Masakhala's husband was also killed in the attack.
MASAKALA, Joshua (27), was burnt to death in an
arson attack on his home in Tokoza, Tvl, on 12
September 1990 during political conflict. His wife was
also killed in the attack.

MASALA, Edith , had her shop looted and subsequently
burnt down by ‘comrades’ during a consumer boycott
in September 1990 at Evaton, Tvl.
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MASALA, Nicholus (46), a CAWU member, was shot
and injured by members of the SAP during protests in
Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 8 August 1987.

MASALESA, Raisibe Albertina (32), had her home
demolished by members of the Bophuthatswana
Police acting on an eviction order from the Bophutha-
tswana government in Sekampaneng, Hammanskraal,
Tvl, on 8 February 1993.

MASAMANZI, Miungisi Samuel (24), a BCM member,
was shot and severely injured by members of the SAP
in Guguletu, Cape Town, on 11 August 1976. His left
arm was amputated as a result of the shooting.
MASANABO, Folobi Jacob (32), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP who opened
fire on a crowd of people marching to the town council
offices in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on 21 November 1985.
The marchers were protesting against rent increases.
MASANABO, Petrus Paulus (30), was severely
beaten and shot in the head by members of the SAP
in Vlaklaagte, KwaNdebele, in April 1984 because he
refused to join the IMBOKODO vigilante group during
conflict over INCORPORATION.

MASANABO, Simon Babili , was abducted and burnt
to death by ‘comrades’ in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on
1 June 1986 during conflict over proposed
independence which engulfed KwaNdebele between
May and September 1986.

MASANG, Ntombifikile Nesta (41), had her home at
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in June
1993 during intense conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MASANGANE, Mozi Benjamin (48), had his house
burnt down by ‘comrades’ in Klau-Klau, White River,
Tvl, on 19 May 1986 because he was a friend of the
local chief believed to be a puppet of the apartheid
government.

MASANGO, Aar on, a UDF supporter, was abducted by
IMBOKODO vigilantes in 1986, and taken to Almansdrift
Hall in KwaNdebele where he was beaten with
sjamboks, in an attempt to force him to join IMBOKODO.
MASANGO, Andile Geof frey (23), was detained for
four months at Oudtshoorn, Cape, in 1985, after being
implicated in the killing of a local COUNCILLOR.
MASANGO, Aubrey Benjamin Mzukisi  (25), was
arrested during political conflict at Oudtshoorn, Cape,
during 1985, and detained for six months.
MASANGO, Bettie Bacedeni (43), was abducted by
IMBOKODO vigilantes in 1986, and taken to Almansdrift
Hall in KwaNdebele where she was beaten with
sjamboks, in an attempt to force her to join IMBOKODO.
MASANGO, Bheki Moses , an ANC activist, was shot
dead by alleged members of the SAP in Belfast, Tvl,
during a mass meeting about rent problems on 4
January 1986.

MASANGO, David , was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headguarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
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were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and AC/2001/023).
See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.

MASANGO, Dina Jeli (69), a UDF supporter, had three
rondawels in Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pieter-
maritzburg, burnt down by Inkatha supporters in 1989.
MASANGO, Geor ge, was shot dead by members of
the SAP in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, in July 1986
during clashes over the proposed independence of
KwaNdebele.

MASANGO, Herbert Mnindwa (20), was shot and
severely injured by IMBOKODO vigilantes in KwaNdebele
in 1986 on a bus taking protesters back from a rally
against the employment of kitskonstabels. Resistance to
INCORPORATION forced vigilantes and KwaNdebele officials
to flee the area in July 1986. KwaNdebele police then
regrouped vigilantes as kitskonstabels, legitimising
their activity in a second drive for independence.
MASANGO, Johannes (45), was beaten to death by
members of the SADF near the Moloto military base
at Walmansthal, Tvl, on 3 February 1981 for allegedly
being in a place reserved for ‘whites’.

MASANGO, Lindiwe Susana , was shot dead, by
members of the SAP, in Tsakane, Brakpan, Tvl, on 22
July 1985, the day of a COSAS member’s funeral in
Tsakane. Police claim they opened fire because
mourners began destroying property.

MASANGO, Mandla Mbhekiseni , was shot and
wounded when ANC security guards opened fire from
the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg,
on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At
least nine marchers were killed and around 100
injured. Ten ANC security guards were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/142).

MASANGO, Michael Phakama (24), was shot in the
left hip in Mamelodi, Pretoria, when members of the
SADF opened fire on participants in a march protesting
against high rents on 21 November 1985.

MASANGO, Mirriam Nomz (51), a UDF supporter,
was beaten by named members of the SAP after she
and other parents had attempted to intervene in a clash
between police and school children at Bongolethu,
Oudtshoorn, Cape, on 29 April 1985. She was then
arrested and tear-gassed in her cell at the police station.
MASANGO, Ronnie Buyaphi (aka ‘Singer

Ranhloba’) (18), an MK member, was incarcerated by
ANC security on several occasions between 1983 and
1990 in both Angola and Tanzania, and was severely
tortured.

MASANGO, Samuel Dingaan (36), was one of 18
people injured in a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop
near the Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl,
on 4 July 1986. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MASANGO, Shevula (46), was stabbed and severely
injured in the right hand by alleged members of the
SAP in Duduza, Nigel, Tvl, on 26 July 1985 while
attending a night vigil of a student killed by police. Mr
Masango's hand was paralysed as a result.
MASANGO, Wele Archibald (58), a clergyman and a
UDF supporter, was beaten by named members of the
SAP after he and other parents had attempted to
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intervene in a clash between police and school
children at Bongolethu, Oudtshoorn, Cape, on 29 April
1985. He was then arrested and tear-gassed in his cell
at the police station. Mr Masango experienced
ongoing harassment and arrests by police thereafter.
MASANGO, William V elaphe , an ANC member, was
detained and beaten by members of the SAP in Zola,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 1 January 1960 because
he burmnt his Pass book. He was sentenced to three
years in prison which was suspended.

MASANGU, Paul (78), was shot dead in Katlehong,
Tvl, on 27 July 1993 during political conflict in the area.
MASE, Ncedani (20), was severely beaten by a group
of named AmasoLOMzI vigilantes in Ashton, Cape, on 4
November 1985. During the attack he fatally stabbed
one of his attackers. He was taken to the police station
and beaten unconscious by the same perpetrators. He
then served a nine-year sentence for public violence
and culpable homicide.

MASE, Sindile Simon Bhawi (18), was shot in the
stomach by named members of the SAP during
protests in Hofmeyr, Cape, on 12 August 1988.
MASEBENI, Victor Mlandeli (35), a PAC member, was
arrested in November 1962 and severely beaten by
police in Paarl, Cape. He was detained for six months
in Paarl police station, found guilty of membership of a
banned organisation, and sentenced to three years’
imprisonment on Robben Island, Cape Town. Whilst in
prison he was severely beaten by prison warders.
MASEBISE, Zozo Isaac Mzwandile (24), was shot
dead by members of the SAP in Avalon cemetery,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 2 October 1990. Two
others died in the attack.

MASEBOA, Daniel , was injured in a hand grenade
explosion on 25 May 1993 in Kimberley, Cape, during an
ANC protest march to the Bophuthatswana consulate.
Two MK operatives threw a hand grenade at the building
which bounced back into the crowd, killing one person
and injuring 41 others. Two ANC members were
wrongly convicted of the killing. Four MK operatives
and ANC members, two of whom denied guilt, were
refused amnesty (AC/2000/053 and AC/2000/241).
MASEHLA, Philemon , was abducted, interrogated
and burnt to death by ANC members at Mooihek,
Nebo, Lebowa, on 15 August 1990, allegedly because
he had been identified by a sangoma as being
associated with the killing of an ANC member in taxi-
related violence. Four ANC members were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/202).

MASEKO, Aaron Mazithulele (22), a COSAS member,
was arrested and beaten by members of the SAP in
Tembisa, Tvl, during a student protest march in August
1993.

MASEKO, Alfred (18), was shot dead by members of
the SAP in Siyathemba, near Balfour, Tvl, on 16 June
1986, allegedly because he was part of a group of
youths who stoned four policemen. Mr Maseko was
killed when one of the policemen fired a shotgun.
MASEKO, Ben (19), a COSAS supporter, was shot
and injured by a member of the SAP during political
conflict in Soshanguve, Pretoria, on 13 December
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1985. Mr Maseko was accused of throwing stones at
the house of a policeman.

MASEKO, Bheki Ernest (35), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead and had his throat cut on 14 April 1993 in
Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal. Earlier, he
and two friends had assisted a youth in reporting a
shooting incident. IFP supporters allegedly burst into
the house and attacked them. One of his friends was
shot dead and the other shot and injured in the attack.
MASEKO, Carlton , was killed by members of the
Brack Cats in Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, in 1991. One
perpetrator, who was then a Black Cats member but
later defected to the ANC, was granted amnesty for
the killing (AC/98/0121).

MASEKO, Camie Alice (19), was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, on 15
March 1992 during conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MASEKO, David , was shot and injured by an ANCYL
member in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 24
December 1990. One ANCYL member was granted
amnesty, while another, who denied any involvement
in the attack, was refused amnesty (AC/97/0001 and
AC/97/0004).

MASEKO, Edward (12), was shot dead in Sebokeng,
Vereeniging, Tvl, on 18 April 1993 during random
violence before assassinated SACP leader CHRIS HANI'S
funeral.

MASEKO, Elizabeth Jabile , was severely beaten with
sjamboks and had her property stolen by vigilantes in
Leandra, Tvl, during January 1986. They were looking
for her student activist daughter during conflict
between scholars and the police at Impumelelo
Combined School.

MASEKO, Elliot Ngcolongcolo |, was tortured by
members of the SAP at Komatipoort, Tvl, on 28 April
1980. Other family members were arrested, beaten
and tortured by the police.

MASEKO, Ezra Emmanuel Msimelolo (15), was shot
dead by named members of the SAP near his home in
Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 21 October 1985.
Witnesses asserted that Ezra had only his house keys
in his hands and denied that he had been throwing
stones. The inquest however accepted the police
version and cleared the perpetrators of any
wrongdoing.

MASEKO, George (38), was shot and killed by hostel-
dwellers in Tsakane, Brakpan, Tvl, on 7 May 1985. Mr
Maseko was called to join residents defending the
area against attacks from hostel-dwellers.

MASEKO, Israel (48), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Emathunzi, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 27 July 1993.

MASEKO, Jabu (20), a member of the ANCYL, was
shot in Belfast, Tvl, during a meeting about rent
increases on 4 January 1986.

MASEKO, Jabu Dennis (32), an ANC supporter, died
of injuries after being shot and stabbed in Vosloorus,
Tvl, on 23 August 1990 during political conflict in the
area.
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MASEKO, Jef frey Paulos , was shot dead by members
of the SAP in KwaGuga, Witbank, Tvl, on 12 March
1990.

MASEKO, Jerome Mlungisi (15), was killed by
members of the SADF in Mpohomeni, near Howick,
Natal, on 2 August 1991. The boy had left his home to
visit his uncle when he was shot dead by members of
32 Batallion who were patrolling the area.

MASEKO, Johannes Sipho (37), was shot in the
stomach and legs by members of the SAP in Jabavu,
Soweto, Johannesburg, during a confrontation
between police and residents on 25 September 1985.
Mr Maseko and a friend were returning from work at
the time. His friend was killed.

MASEKO, Johannes , was shot dead by members of
the SADF while leaving the Vusumuzi hostel, Tembisa,
Tvl, on 5 August 1991. Tembisa was one of many
Transvaal townships embroiled in conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the early 1990s.

MASEKO, John (21), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead in Katlehong, Tvl, on 5 September 1993,
allegedly by ANC supporters who suspected him of
organising an attack on ‘comrades’.

MASEKO, Joshua Nsizwa (16), was shot dead by
members of the MuNIcIPAL PoLICE in Diepkloof,
Soweto, Johannesburg, at a meeting to discuss a
defence strategy for the community against KaBAsA
GANG vigilantes on 10 May 1986. Police disrupted the
meeting, killing Joshua and two others.

MASEKO, Khosi (16), an ANC marshall, was stabbed,
stoned and set alight by members of the ‘Gadaffi’
faction of the KHuTsoNG YouTH CoNGREsS (KYC) in
Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 15 April 1990 during
conflict after the ANC-aligned KYC split into two
factions. The ‘Gadaffis’ were younger ‘comrades’ and
the "Zim-zims' were older activists.

MASEKO, Leonard , was shot dead by members of
the SAP in Mhluzi, Middelburg, Tvl, on a march to
Middelburg police station on 21 November 1990. His
body was found a day later. The march was organised
by the ANCWL to protest against the harrassment of
their children by Mhluzi and Middelburg police when
police allegedly opened fire, killing five and injuring
eight others.

MASEKO, Lucky Ben (20), was shot dead in Tokoza,
Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters, on 22 June 1992
during political conflict in the area.

MASEKO, Maphuti David (62), had his home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters
of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Maseko resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASEKO, Mathews (41), was tortured and three
family members were killed when members of the
SAP burnt his home and vehicles during political
conflict in Piet Retief, Tvl, in May 1991.

MASEKO, Mbuti Petr us, was severely assaulted by
members of the SAP and SADF in Daveyton, Tvl, on
23 November 1993 during conflict between IFP-
aligned hostel-dwellers and ANC-supporting residents.
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MASEKO, Msonelwa Amos (19), an ANC supporter,
was shot and blinded in his right eye when police
opened fire on people at a mass funeral in Likazi,
KaNgwane on 23 March 1986.

MASEKO, Nelson Zuzile (45), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by named ANC supporters in Knysna,
Cape, on 24 March 1990, after he had allegedly opposed
certain practices by local ANC youth. His home and
vehicle were also burnt in the attack.

MASEKO, Ngcolongcolo Elliot (46), was severely
beaten after his arrest by members of the SAP in
Komatipoort, Tvl, in February 1980. Mr Maseko refused
to reveal the whereabouts of guns allegedly left by
MK operatives who lived at his house. He was then
detained for about 11 months.

MASEKO, Nobuhle , was abducted by AMABUTHO
members and other Inkatha supporters on her way to
school in Lindelani, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 16
March 1987, and has not been seen again. Ms Maseko
is presumed to be one of seven youths whose bodies
were found at a named pro-Inkatha vigilante's home.
MASEKO, Ntamela Lucas (22), was severely beaten
when arrested at his home in Driekoppies, Komatipoort,
Tvl, in March 1980. He was detained for a year and
then transferred to Barberton prison. Police were
searching for weapons allegedly brought in from
Angola by his cousin, an MK operative.

MASEKO, Ntombizodwa Maria (41), had her home
burnt down by named ANC supporters at Diepdale,
near Nelspruit, Tvl, on 2 July 1993 during political
conflict in the area.

MASEKO, Patrick Dumisani (26), was stabbed to
death in Ermelo, Tvl, on 24 December 1991 during
conflict between residents and IFP-aligned BLAck CAaTs.
MASEKO, Philemon , was severely injured when a
bomb, planted by AWB members, exploded at a taxi
rank on the corner of Odendaal and Victoria Streets in
Germiston, Tvl, on the 25 April 1994. Ten persons
were killed and nine were injured in the blast. Four
perpetrators were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0342).
See RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.

MASEKO, Phillip Nkosinathi (25), an MK operative,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Mamelodi
East, Pretoria, on 1 January 1984 shortly after
returning from exile in Swaziland.

MASEKO, Rabie , was shot dead in Tokoza, Tvl,
allegedly by KHUMALOGANG members on 1 January
1993. Three others were also allegedly killed by gang
members on that day.

MASEKO, Sicelo Christopher Lefty , an MK cadre, died
on 6 October 1988 in Luanda, Angola, reportedly during
a UNITA ambush. MK soldiers based in Angola assisted
the FAPLA forces of the ruling MPLA government in
its war against UNITA, which was assisted by the
South African government. 1987-8 saw particularly
fierce fighting, in which a number of MK soldiers were
killed in combat, often in ambushes laid by UNITA.
MASEKO, Sipho Josaia (20), an ANC supporter, was
abducted and severely tortured in Dennilton, Moutse,
KwaNdebele, in 1986 by IMBOKODO vigilantes and
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members of the SAP during conflict over INCORPO-
RATION into KwaNdebele.

MASEKO, Thandi Mirriam (15), a COSAS leader, was
shot by members of the SAP in Leandra, Tvl, in July
1985 during student protest action in the area.
MASEKO, \eli Badnock (47), an ANC supporter, was
shot and burnt to death, allegedly by named
colleagues who were IFP supporters, in Katlehong,
Tvl, on 14 August 1993. Mr Maseko was reportedly
killed in retaliation for the alleged necklacking by ANC
supporters of one of the perpetrator’s cousins.
MASEKO, Vincent Jabu (18), was shot by IMBOKODO
vigilantes in Moutse, KwaNdebele, in May 1986 and
died in hospital a few days later. The area was tense
due to government proposals for INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MASEKO, Vusimuzi Noah , was seriously injured
when stabbed with knives and pangas by Zulu-
speaking hostel-dwellers on 13 September 1990
during conflict between Vosloorus residents and
hostel-dwellers. Mr Maseko was on his way to work
by taxi when the driver abducted the passengers and
drove them to the hostel.

MASEKO, Wilson Zwelibanzi , one of ten youths on
trial for the murder of a local chief, was shot dead by
named IFP supporters on 30 September 1993 at
Diepdale, Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, when
the vehicle in which he and nine others were travelling
was ambushed. The ten were returning from a court
appearance when they were attacked, allegedly by the
chief's son and other IFP supporters. Four of the
accused were killed and three others injured in this
attack.

MASEKW ANA, Nosipho (16), was burnt to death in
Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 21 January 1993, in an
attack by members of a BALACLAVA GROUP who shot at
the family home and set it alight. Seven people
including several members of the Jwambi family were
killed in the attack.

MASELELA, Aby (29), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SAP in Meadowlands,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 16 June 1976, the first day
of the SOWETO UPRISING.

MASELELA, Morris (28), was shot, beaten and
arrested by members of the Bophuthatswana Police at
Soshanguve, Pretoria, on 28 July 1990 at the funeral
of an activist killed in political conflict.

MASELELA, Samuel , an ANC supporter, was one of
ten youths from Mamelodi, Pretoria, recruited during
the state of emergency by a named askari, supposedly
for ANC military training in Botswana. Near Nietverdiend
the ten youths were forcibly injected with sedatives or
another chemical substance and were burnt to death
when the vehicle was deliberately crashed and blown
up during June 1986. The members of the Security
Police involved were congratulated for good service
and rewarded. They applied for amnesty. See
NIETVERDIEND AMBUSH.

MASELOA, Makgasane Aaron (33), a COSAS
member, was severely beaten by named members of
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the Bophuthatswana security forces in Thaba Nchu,
Bophuthatswana, in 1980. Mr Maseloa was in
detention because of his political affiliation and under
suspicion of assisting South African exiles.
MASEMOLA, Busi (13), was burnt in an arson attack
on her home by IMBOKODO vigilantes in Siyabuswa,
KwaNdebele, on 12 June 1986 during conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MASEMOLA, Kedibone Patricia (20), was shot with
birdshot and blinded by members of the SAP in
Boitumelong, Bloemhof, Tvl, on 21 May 1993. She
and other pupils had permission to be on school
premises to study for their matric exam when shots
were fired.

MASEMOLA, Nkululeko (26), from Soweto, Johannes-
burg, was shot dead by Basotho paramilitary force
members in March 1985 at Qacha’s Nek, Lesotho,
close to the Lesotho-Transkei border. Five other APLA
members died in this incident which occurred at a
time of increased LLA activity in the area aimed at
destabilising the pro-ANC government of Chief Leabua
Jonathan. The Basotho security forces claimed they
had mistaken the APLA unit for LLA members. APLA
and the LLA were closely connected at the time.
MASEMOLA, Phillip , was one of 18 people injured in
a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop near the
Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl, on 4 July
1986. Four MK operatives were granted amnesty for
the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MASEMOLA, Samuel , was killed when a pipe bomb
planted by members of the AWB exploded on 25 April
1994 at a taxi rank on the corner of Blood Street and
Seventh Avenue in Pretoria. Three people were killed
and four injured in the blast. During the pre-election
period the AWB targeted taxi ranks, bus stops and
railway stations, predominantly used by black people,
the majority of whom they believed to be ANC
supporters, in order to derail the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
Six perpetrators were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0342).
MASEMOLA, Thelma Jeannie Molebatsi  (40), was
arrested in Daveyton, Tvl, on 18 September 1967 and
detained for 12 days in Pretoria. During her detention
she was assaulted and tortured by named members
of the Security Branch for information on the activities
of her husband and his colleagues, Oliver Tambo and
Duma Nokwe. She was subsequently deported to
Zambia where her husband was based, leaving her
three young children behind.

MASEMOLA, Violet, was burnt to death by residents
of the Matempule village in KwaNdebele. Ms Masemola
was suspected of practising witchcraft. One ANC
supporter was granted amnesty (AC/2000/210).
MASEMULA, John (31), was injured when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded during
lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on
30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at least 66
people were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).
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MASENG, Joshua Monnapule Moloi  (16), was shot
and injured by members of the SAP while walking near
a protesting crowd in Kimberley, Cape, on 24 April
1989. His right leg was amputated as a result.
MASENY A, Grace , was shot dead by members of the
SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on 18 June 1976
when conflict spread to other areas during the SOweTo
UPRISING.

MASEOMOLA, Alfred Mpho (26), a UDF supporter
was severely tortured by named members of the SAP
in detention in Witbank, Tvl, in 1991. He was also
detained and tortured in 1985.

MASERUMULE, Mammeshoana Barbara (29), was
arrested and tortured by suffocation by members of
the SAP in Pietersburg, Tvl, on 21 October 1983.
Police were trying to establish the whereabouts of her
boyfriend, an MK operative.

MASETELA, Lucas , was shot and injured by police in
Naledi, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 5 October 1986,
during conflict between local councillors and residents.
MASETI, Agnes (39), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead on 16 December 1991 by members of a
BALACLAVA GROUP, allegedly linked to the Lingelethu
West Town Council, in Khayelitsha, Cape Town. The
attack was aimed at a local ANC Women's League
activist and left three people dead, three wounded and
40 houses burnt.

MASETI, Matthews Poppie (15), a COSAS member,
was shot dead by members of the SAP during a
student protest in Addo, Cape, in June 1986.

MASETI, Monwabisi Siegred (21), a Noupoort Youth
Congress activist, was detained, interrogated and
tortured by members of the Security Branch, on 26
September 1985 and again in June 1986, in Middelburg,
Cape, when he was held under emergency regulations
for several months. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MASETI, Mzwandile Tofi (36), lost his home and
possessions in an arson attack in KTC, Cape Town, in June
1986, during the mass destruction of UDF-supporting
squatter camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the
tacit approval and aid of the security forces. More than
60 people were killed and over 20 000 homes burnt
down in the attacks.

MASETI, Ndodiphela Caswell (54), a headman
associated with the ADM, was killed by members of
the ANC Youth League who stoned, assaulted and
necklaced him near Ggumashe, Alice, Ciskei, on 28
September 1992. His home had been destroyed the
previous day. Two ANCYL members applied for and
were granted amnesty for the attack (AC/1998/0028).
MASETI, Thandiswa Beatrice (49), had her house
burnt down by ANC supporters in Alice, Ciskei, on 27
September 1992. Her husband was accused of being
a Ciskei government collaborator and was killed by
‘necklacing’.

MASETI, Wisky, a member of a Crossroads committee
led by Mr Memani, was one of seven men killed in
Crossroads, Cape Town, on 11 April 1983, by supporters
of an opposing committee led by Mr Ngxobongwana,
during conflict arising from the struggle for housing.
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MASETI, Xolani Michael Boket , a SAYCO member,
was detained by named members of the SAP in
Steynsburg, Cape, on 5 July 1985 during protests
against the Black Local Authorities.

MASETI, Zixolisile Mathews (18), a UDF supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in Langa,
Uitenhage, Cape, on 21 March 1985 when police
opened fire on mourners marching to a funeral. At
least 20 people were killed and many injured in the
shooting. See LANGA SHOOTINGS.

MASHA, Mahuhu Dor cas, suffered severe ill-
treatment and damage to property on 17 June 1992 in
the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijl-
park, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MASHA, Patrick Luneng (18), a UDF supporter, was
detained without trial at Burgersfort police station, Tvl,
in 1985 because he was a key organiser of school
protests. Mr Masha was subjected to various forms of
torture during this and subsequent detentions.
MASHABA, Alec (20), was abducted from his home
in Tembisa, Tvl, on 13 July 1986, and burnt to death by
a group of around 40 members of the UDF-supporting
Tembisa Youth Congress. One perpetrator was granted
amnesty for his role in the incident (AC/2000/211).
MASHABA, Esme (9), was shot and killed by members
of the SAP at a taxi rank in Komatipoort, Tvl, on 1 May
1986.

MASHABA, Njabulo Cyril (16), an IFP supporter, was
shot and severely injured by ANC supporters in
Empangeni, Natal, on 3 March 1994, during the run-up
to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MASHABA, Nonhlanhla Pinkie (35), had her home in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
February 1993 in intense political conflict between the
'RED’ AND ‘GREEN' FACTIONS.

MASHABA, Skhumbuzo Elvis (16), was shot and
severely injured by members of the SAP in Matsulu,
KaNgwane, on 2 June 1986 during political conflict in
the area.

MASHABA, Solani Princess (21), a UDF supporter,
was killed when a hand grenade was thrown by
members of the SADF Recce 5 Battalion in Lulekani,
Gazankulu, on 28 March 1986 during conflict between
the Lulekani Youth Congress and SADF members. The
hand grenade was thrown into a shebeen where the
youth were strategising about the removal of
mercenaries from the township. See GAZANKULU HAND
GRENADE ATTACK.

MASHABA, Sweet Johannes , an ANC supporter,
disappeared after his abduction by members of the
SAP on 5 July 1991 in Komatipoort, Tvl. He was
accused of possessing illegal firearms.

MASHABA, Wilson Fanyane (23), an MK operative,
was subjected to electric shock torture by members of
the SAP and the Bophuthatswana Police in 1980 in
Bophuthatswana, after his arrest in Botswana.
MASHABANE, Jarman Gem , an ANCYL leader, was
shot dead in the dining room of his house in Hazyview,
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Tvl, on 30 November 1991 during political conflict in
the area.

MASHABANE, Solomon Ngungunyane , a member
of COSAS, was killed when a booby-trapped hand-
grenade exploded in his hands on 25/26 June 1985.
See OPERATION ZERO ZERO. Fifteen Security Branch
operatives, including the head of the Security Branch
and other senior personnel, were granted amnesty for
the operation (AC/2001/058).

MASHABATAGA, Thomas , was detained by members
of the Venda Police at Vleifontein, Tvl, on 16 May 1986
during conflict about the INCORPORATION of Vleifontein
into Venda.

MASHABELA, Annah Mokgadi (19), was beaten by
named members of the Lebowa Police at Pietersburg,
Tvl, on 2 January 1987 after she was accused with
others of killing their indunas.

MASHABELA, Hendrick Ramphelare (20), was
tortured in Driekop, OFS, in 1961, during a clampdown
on opposition to State-imposed tribal authorities in
Sekhukhuneland. Mr Mashabela was released when
he promised to turn his father in to the police. He
immediately fled the area, returning only months later
when he was informed that his father had been
detained. His father was never seen again.
MASHABELA, Lenga Alpheus , a member of the SAP,
was shot and injured when his SAP tracking unit
ambushed an MK unit of seven members, in Ellisras,
Tvl, on 8 August 1988. One SAP member was killed
and three others were injured in the confrontation. An
MK operative was also killed. One MK operative was
granted amnesty for this incident (AC/2000/081).
MASHABELA, Marule Klaas (62), had her home
damaged in an arson attack by named perpetrators in
Sekhukhuneland, Lebowa, on 25 January 1986 during
a land dispute between two chiefs in the area.
MASHABELA, Mogorosi (47), was severely beaten
by a named perpetrator at Rustenburg, Tvl, on 10
December 1978. Mr Mashabela was called to a chief’s
house where he was assaulted by a security guard
under orders of the chief.

MASHABELA, Petros Patrick (22), a member of the
Vaal Triangle Student Movement (VTSM), was harassed
by members of the SAP in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 1 August
1977. The VTSM visited schools to teach students
about politics. Due to harassment Mr Mashabela was
forced to flee his home.

MASHABELA, Sethaba Johannes (38), was abducted
from his home in Moteti, KwaNdebele, by IMBOKODO
vigilantes on 1 January 1986. He was assaulted at
Siyabuswa community hall with hundreds of others in
attacks led by named KwaNdebele government
officials, designed to suppress resistance to INCORPO-
RATION into KwaNdebele.

MASHAKANE, Piletji Wellington  (44), had his house
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr
Mashakane resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.
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MASHALA, David Mokou (57), had his home burnt
down and livestock stolen in February 1980 in Gamatlala,
Lebowa, by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because
Mr Mashala resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.

MASHALA, Johanna Chuene (28), had her home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHALA, Manare Seemole (56), had her home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHALA, Maphuti Kwena , had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashala
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHALA, Ngoako Frans (79), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashala
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHALA, Ngwako Vincent (43), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashala
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHALA, Powishi Moses (45), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashala
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHALANE, David , an ANC supporter, was beaten
to death in GaMatlala, Lebowa, on 4 February 1980 by
followers of Chief BK Matlala in an attack on residents
opposing his rule.

MASHALANE, Maphuti Phineas (52), had his home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr
Mashalane resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.

MASHALANE, Mokgadi Johannes (60), had his home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr
Mashalane resisted Lebowa’s proposed independence
from South Africa.

MASHALANE, Obed Tlou (61), had his house burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, during
a dispute over the chieftaincy in the area. He was also
assaulted with knobkerries and sjamboks.
MASHAMAITE, Bushman , was arrested and detained
in Winterveld, Tvl, in 1990.

MASHAMAITE, Freddy Makwena (46), a member of
the SAP, was shot and killed, and robbed of his firearm
by APLA members in Katlehong, Tvl, on 21 January
1993. See APLA ATTACKS. One APLA member was
granted amnesty (AC/1998/0051).

MASHAMAITE, Maphuti Stephen  (43), had his home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa,
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by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr
Mashamaite resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.

MASHAMAITE, Nare Elliot (18), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashamaite
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHAMAITE, Phuti Andries (37), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashamaite
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHAMAITE, Phuti Martinos (46), had his home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by alleged supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr
Mashamaite resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.

MASHAMAITE, Pitsi David (17), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashamaite
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHAPA, ME, a constable in the SAP, was injured
when MK operatives attacked the Soekmekaar police
station, Lebowa, on 4 January 1980. Three MK
operatives were granted amnesty for the attack
(AC/1999/0276).

MASHAVA, Amos , a member of the SAP, survived an
armed attack by MK operatives on the Orlando police
station, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 2 February 1979.
Three MK operatives were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/195).

MASHAYA, Ghandi Goodwill , a UDF supporter, was
severely beaten by IFP supporters in Paulpietersburg,
Natal, on 12 February 1994 during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MASHAYA, Goodwill Makhosonke (18), an ANC
supporter, was severely beaten and injured by
members of the Security Branch in Paulpietersburg,
Natal, in September 1988, allegedly because he had
been helped distribute political pamphlets in the area.
MASHAYA, Samson Bafana , was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Siyathemba, near Balfour, Tvl,
on 13 May 1986 during unrest which prompted a
strong police presence in the township.

MASHAYA, Thembekile V irginia (37), an ANC
supporter, was beaten by IFP supporters on her way
to a polling station at Paulpietersburg, Natal on 27 April
1994, the first day of the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Ms
Mashaya’s house had been burnt down by IFP
supporters the previous month.

MASHAZI, Jan Mkhombiseni (67), was shot dead in
Vosloorus, Tvl, in 1993 during political conflict.
MASHEGO, Andries (8), was abducted and killed by
IMBOKODO vigilantes in Dennilton, KwaNdebele, on 1
January 1986. The IMBOKODO, led by named
KwaNdebele officials, invaded Moutse immediately
after it was officially incorporated into KwaNdebele.
Between 200 and 360 individuals were abducted and
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assaulted on the day Andries was killed to try to
suppress resistance to INCORPORATION.

MASHEGO, Aubrey Mias , survived an attempt on his
life when his brother’s house at Kwaguga, Witbank, Tvl,
was bombed by members of the Security Branch in
March 1986 because of his brother's political activities.
MASHEGO, Dan , was abducted from his home in
Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, by IMBOKODO vigilantes on

1 January 1986 and assaulted at Siyabuswa community
hall in attacks led by named KwaNdebele officials. The
attacks were designed to suppress resistance to
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MASHEGO, Early Elside , survived an attempt on his
life when his brother’s house at Kwaguga, near Witbank,
Tvl, was bombed by members of the Security Branch in
March 1986 because of his brother's political activities.
MASHEGO, Joseph , was shot dead by IFP supporters
in Swanieville, near Krugersdorp, Tvl, on 12 May 1991.
IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers were retaliating against
a previous attack by ANC-supporting squatters and
approximately 115 shacks were set alight, 27 people
were killed and 25 vehicles were burnt. Twelve people
were charged with crimes ranging from murder to
arson but were acquitted due to lack of evidence.
MASHEGO, Mar tha, survived an attempt on her life
when her sister’'s house was bombed by members of
the Security Branch at KwaGuga, near Witbank, Tvl, in
March 1986 because of her son’s political activities.
MASHEGO, Nancy , was exposed to dangerous
chemicals fumes when her house was bombed in
KwaGuga, near Witbank, Tvl, in March 1986. Ms
Mashego's home was attacked because her son was
wanted by the police for political activities.
MASHEGO, Sekwayi Barney (34), was severely
beaten by members of the SAP after his arrest in
KwaGuga, near Witbank, Tvl, in August 1985. During
March 1986, his house was destroyed in an explosion.
In 1986 Mr Mashego was detained twice, the second
time he was held in solitary confinement for six
months. On October 29, 1998 Mr Mashego was again
arrested and assaulted by members of the Security
Police based in Witbank.

MASHEGO, Sello Livers , survived an attempt on his
life when his brother’s house was bombed by
members of the Security Branch at KwaGuga, near
Witbank, Tvl, in March 1986 because of his brother's
political activities.

MASHEGO, Sibangani Shadrack , an ANCYL member,
was shot dead by members of the SAP on 29 November
1993 at kaNyamazane, Nelspruit, Tvl, for allegedly
resisting arrest during political conflict in the township.
MASHEGO, Steven Subie Boy , was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Munsieville, Krugersdorp, Tvl,
on 9 December 1985 during a consumer boycott.
Mashego was shot during a confrontation between
residents and the police.

MASHEGOANE, Selby (16) was shot by members of
the SAP in Wattville, Benoni, Tvl, on 16 June 1976
during unrest associated with the SOWETO UPRISING.
MASHEKANE, Machoene Joas , had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
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supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashekane
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASHELA, Don Sipho (aka Ben Maseko) , an ANC
member, was interrogated and assaulted by a camp
administrator in Angola during September 1981. One
ANC camp administrator was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/149).

MASHELE, Agnes Mimi (19), was injured when she
fled and cut herself on broken glass when unidentified
gunmen opened fire with AK47s from a vehicle in
Daveyton, Tvl, on 8 August 1993. Seven people were
killed in this attack. See DRIVE-BY SHOOTINGS.

MASHELE, Calvin Khazamula (19), an ANC supporter,
was severely injured after being shot twice in the right
hand by members of the SADF at a roadblock in
Komatipoort, Tvl, on 11 January 1991. His right hand is
now permanently disabled.

MASHELE, George (29), was killed instantly when
members of the ISU allegedly threw a hand grenade
into his house during the night in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 7
July 1992. Police also broke down doors and smashed
windows in a search for hidden arms. Another family
member also died in the attack.

MASHELE, Johannes , had his home damaged when
a hand grenade, thrown by MK operatives at the home
of a policeman, hit his home in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on
15 April 1988. Three MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/199).

MASHELE, Lafas Ronald , was present when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded during
lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on
30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at least 66
people were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).

MASHELE, Mosabelo Anna , was shot and injured
when Bophuthatswana Police opened fired on a crowd
gathered to protest against police brutality at City
Rocks Stadium, Winterveld, Bophuthatswana on 26
March 1986. See CiTy ROCKS SHOOTING.

MASHELE, Murray Elleck (29), had his house in
Matsulu, KaNgwane, destroyed in an arson attack by
two named perpetrators on 6 July 1990, in intense
conflict between ANC and Inkatha supporters.
MASHELE, Ndanduleni Agnes (33), had her property
damaged and stolen in a raid on her home on 10 July
1992 by members of the SAP and SADF during a
memorial service for her brother and her aunt. Her
brother was an MK member who had recently returned
and he and his aunt were killed in a hand grenade
attack on his home on 7 July 1992, allegedly by
members of the SADF. Ms Mashele’s neighbours
were also raided by the security forces and had
property damaged on 10 July 1992. About 60 youths
at the memorial service were assaulted and arrested.
MASHETENG, Mamare Ramokone (59), had her
home burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala,
Lebowa, by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because
she resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from
South Africa.
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MASHIA, Mfana Jacob , was burnt to death by
‘comrades’ in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, in 1986 during
conflict over the independence of KwaNdebele.
MASHIANE, Bafunani Sophy , (23), lost her house in
an attack by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Dindela,
near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975 during
violent conflict over the INCORPORATION of the village
into the tribal authority of Lebowa. Chief Mahlangu
supported the INCORPORATION.

MASHIANE, Francis (18), was shot dead by members
of the SAP who opened fire on a crowd gathered in
the street in Meadowlands, Soweto, on 22 July 1985
on 26 August 1976. During a stayaway the day before,
Mzimhlope hostel-dwellers attacked township residents.
MASHIANE, Joseph Thabo (22), was shot in the face
with birdshot by members of the ISU in Katlehong,
Tvl, on 10 April 1990 while on patrol during conflict
between rival taxi associations. Mr Mashane was
permanently blinded as a result of his injuries.
MASHIANE, Mbowa Mor hoa(20), a member of
COSAS, was killed when a booby-trapped hand-
grenade exploded in his hands on 25/26 June 1985.
See OPERATION ZERO ZERO. Fifteen Security Branch
operatives, including the head of the Security Branch
and other senior personnel, were granted amnesty for
the operation (AC/2001/058).

MASHIANE, Mvuqu Jim (44), lost his house in an
attack by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Goederede,
near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975 during violent
conflict over the INCORPORATION of the village into
Lebowa. Chief Mahlangu supported the INCORPORATION.
MASHIANE, Rose Sponong (31), lost her house and
possessions in an attack by supporters of Chief
Mahlangu in Goederede, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele,
in July 1975 during violent conflict over the INCORPO-
RATION of the village into Lebowa. Chief Mahlangu
supported INCORPORATION.

MASHIANE, Zackaria , was arrested in Duduza, Nigel,
Tvl, on 28 February 1985. Duduza residents were
demanding a modern sewerage system rather than the
continued bucket system. Youths targeted policemen’s
houses as part of the protest and many were severely
beaten when taken to Dunnottar police station.
MASHIATSHIDI, Matlou Raesetsa , had her home
burnt down in February 1980 in Gamatlala, Lebowa,
during conflict between Chief BK Matlala and residents
supporting the People's Congress.

MASHIATSHIDI, Mosima Melita (61), had her home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHIEA, Boysie Isaac , was shot dead by members
of the SAP in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl, during the
SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE of 21 March 1960.

MASHIEA, Modise Mathews (33), was shot by
members of the SAP in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl,
during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE of 21 March 1960.
MASHIEA, Selepe Petrus (25), was shot and severely
injured by members of the SAP in Sharpeville,
Vereeniging, Tvl, during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE of 21
March 1960.
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MASHIF ANE, Daniel , was shot and injured by gunmen
driving a red minibus in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on
3 May 1992 during political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters.

MASHIGO, Daisey (36), was shot five times by
members of the SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on
17 February 1986 during the SIX-DAY WAR.

MASHIGO, Tamati Elias (56), had his house burnt
down by ANC supporters in Bushbuckridge, Lebowa,
on 3 March 1986. Mr Mashigo was allegedly targeted
because he was accused of killing people and selling
their body parts.

MASHIGOANE, Elias Tlou (18), a UDF supporter, was
detained and tortured by members of the Lebowa
Police in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 9 March 1986
during protests over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
Several people were detained with him and assaulted.
Others were shot at by the police and at least one
person died.

MASHIGOANE, Simon Senyeki , a MK commander,
was shot dead by members of the SAP and SADF in
Sekhukhuneland, Lebowa, where he was hiding on 8
August 1992. The security forces were rounding up
activists in the area.

MASHILE, Aledulege Benson (39), an ANC supporter,
was shot by members of the SOFASONKE PARTY while
patrolling Greenvale village, near Bushbuckridge,
Lebowa, on 29 December 1989. The SOFASONKE PARTY
was backed by Lebowa President Nelson Ramodike.
MASHILE, Joe , was seriously injured in a hand
grenade attack on a friend’s home in Daveyton, Tvl, on
17 September 1991 during conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters.

MASHILE, Segopela Winias (26), was deported to
Alice, Ciskei, from Bushbuckridge, Lebowa, in 1963
because he opposed tribalism. He did not see his family
again until 1974 when his old home was demolished
and the family forcibly removed.

MASHILE, Thaopi Ethel , had her home and belongings
destroyed by IFP supporters in Alexandra, Johannes-
burg, on 1 January 1992 during political conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters.

MASHILO, Abraham Chwene , was injured when MK
operatives detonated an explosive in a car outside the
South African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MASHILO, Lesiba Frans , was assaulted by supporters
of Chief Mapela at Abbotspoort, Pietersburg, Tvl, on
19 January 1981 during conflict between Chief Mapela
and Chief Lerumo.

MASHILO, Speed Katishi , was beaten with sjamboks
and knobkerries by IMBOKODO vigilantes at the tribal
authority in Leeuwfontein, KwaNdebele, in May 1986
during conflict over KwaNdebele independence.
MASHILOANE, Tsietsi Anthony (26), an ANC
supporter, was shot and severely injured in a DRIVE-BY
SHOOTING in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 17 November 1991. Mr
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Mashiloane was one of seven killed and seven seriously
injured when gunmen opened fire with AK47s on a
party in Vosloorus.

MASHIMA, Lucia Tlou (28), an ANC supporter, was
killed in a DRIVE-BY SHOOTING in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 17
April 1994 in political conflict in the area during the
run-up to the ApRIL 1994 ELECTION. Another person was
also killed in this shooting.

MASHIMBYI, Mkhatchana Dixon , was stabbed to
death by IFP supporters on a train from Johannesburg
to Braamfontein, on 28 March 1994. Mashimbyi was
stabbed by IFP supporters on their way to a meeting at
the Library Gardens in Johannesburg. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.
MASHININI, Humphr ey, an ANC supporter, was
burnt to death when his house was petrol-bombed by
IFP-aligned BrLack Cats and members of the SAP in
Ermelo, Tvl, on 7 July 1991. More than 20 people died
in violent conflict in the area between 1990 and 1992.
MASHININI, Julia (29), an ANC supporter, was burnt
to death when her home was petrol-bombed by IFP-
aligned Brack Cats and members of the SAP in
Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, on 7 July 1991. More than 20
people died in violent conlict in the area between 1990
and 1992.

MASHININI, Lehlohonolo (19), was tortured and beaten
in detention in Soweto, on 1 July 1977 by members of
the SAP because his brothers and sister were prominent
activists involved in the SOWETO UPRISING. His mother,
brother and sister were detained on the same day.
MASHININI, Mphikeleli Godfr ey, was arrested and
beaten in detention by members of the SAP in
Siyathemba, near Balfour, Tvl, on 1 May 1985. Violence
erupted when police tried to disperse a crowd at the
Balfour Stadium for May Day celebrations. Mr Mashinini
was sentenced to five years’ imprisonment for public
violence.

MASHININI, Mpho , a student leader in the SOWETO
UPRISING, was detained in Soweto, on 1 July 1977
shortly before she went into exile. Her mother and
two young brothers were detained on the same day.
MASHININI, Nomkhatha V irginia (42), was held in
solitary confinement for seven months from 1 July 1977
by members of the SAP in Standerton, Tvl, because
her older sons and daughter were prominent activists
involved in the SOWETO UPRISING. Two of her younger
sons and her daughter were detained on the same day.
MASHININI, Piet , was killed when a bomb, planted by
AWB members, exploded at a taxi rank on the corner
of Odendaal and Victoria Streets in Germiston, Tvl, on
the 25 April 1994. Ten persons were killed and nine
were injured in the blast. Four perpetrators were granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0342). See RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.
MASHININI, Sydney (14), was tortured and beaten in
detention by members of the SAP in Soweto, on 1 July
1977 because his brothers and sister were prominently
involved in the SOWETO UPRISING. His mother, sister and
brother were detained on the same day.

MASHININI, Thandi (22), an ANC supporter, was
raped in August 1990 in Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by
IFP supporters.
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MASHISHI, Fulubi Esau , was shot dead by IMBOKODO
vigilantes in Tweefontein, KwaNdebele, on 12 June 1986
during were several attacks on this day on Tweefontein
residents who resisted KwaNdebele independence.
MASHISHI, Stephen Fani (25), was shot and hacked
to death in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in April 1993
during conflict between IFP supporters and township
residents.

MASHITA, Chou Johannes , had his home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters
of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Mashita resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHITA, Nkoko Moses (40), a People’s Congress
supporter, was detained on 17 February 1980 and locked
up for 18 months in GaMatlala, Lebowa, because he
resisted Lebowa’ s proposed independence from South
Africa. Many people lost their property and loved ones
and others were arrested because Chief BK Matlala
accused them of having burnt down his house.
MASHITENG, Chuene Johanna (40), had her home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHITENG, Kwena Silas (25), had his home burnt
down by supporters of Chief BK Matlala on 2 February
1980 at Gamatlala, Lebowa, because he resisted
Lebowa'ds proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHITENG, Phuti Jermina (37), had her home was
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MASHIYA, Oupa George (24), an askari, was shot dead
by named members of the SAP in Thabong, Welkom,
OFS, on 21 August 1991, allegedly in a targeted killing.
MASHIYA, Sylvia Monica (34), was stabbed in the
face by IFP supporters in Swanieville, near Krugersdorp,
Tvl, on 12 May 1991. IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers
were retaliating against a previous attack by ANC-
supporting squatters and approximately 115 shacks
were set alight, 27 people were killed and 25 vehicles
were burnt. Twelve people were charged with crimes
ranging from murder to arson but were acquitted due
to lack of evidence.

MASHIYA, Tsietsi Dungan (17), was shot and
severely injured, allegedly by members of the SADF
and SAP while visiting a friend in Katlehong, Tvl, on

18 November 1984 during a rent boycott.
MASHIYANE, Aaron (32), was severely burnt in an
arson attack on his home by ANC supporters on

5 September 1986 during conflict over KwaNdebele
independence. Traditional healers like Mr Mashiyane's
father were allegedly seen as targets by those
resisting independence.

MASHIYANE, Dize Aaron (41), lost his house in an
attack by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Mathula
Stands, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975.
Chief Mahlangu supported the INCORPORATION of the
village into the tribal authority of Lebowa but many
residents resisted incorporation which resulted in the
attacks on people and property.
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MASHIYANE, Mndawe Elijah (19), was shot dead by
IFP supporters in Ratanda, Heidelberg, Tvl, on 14
November 1992 during conflict between IFP-aligned
hostel-dwellers and ANC-supporting township residents.
MASHOENG, Mpho Desmond (aka ‘Der rick
Mashobane’) (25), a SANSCO member from Bloem-
fontein, was killed with two others in an ambush near
Bhunya, Swaziland, on 12 February 1989. The three
were lured into the ambush by an askari purporting to
be an MK operative. The Security Branch then spread
a rumour that they had been killed by the ANC on
suspicion of being police informers. The operation was
conducted by Vlakplaas and Section D of Security
Branch headquarters. Nineteen operatives from
Viakplaas and Security Branch headquarters, were
granted amnesty by majority decision (AC/2001/227a).
MASHOGOANE, Mamareloana Berenis (34), had her
house burnt down in an arson attack in Maboloka,
Bophuthatswana, on 7 May 1977 during conflict over
the chieftaincy of the area.

MASHOKWE, Molefi Godfrey (33), a UDF activist and
ANC supporter, was arrested and severely tortured by
policemen in Mmabatho, Bophuthatswana, in 1985,
after which he was detained for three months. He
was again detained and tortured by a named member
of the Bophuthatswana Police in 1989, after which he
fled South Africa, causing him to lose his house and
his job.

MASHONGOANE, David , was shot dead in his taxi in
Katlehong, Tvl, on 9 February 1991 during political
conflict in the area. The taxi industry was a key area of
conflict in the early 1990s. In October 1993 the SAP
identified taxi wars as one of the major causes of
violence in South Africa.

MASHONGOANE, Ezekiel (46), lost his house and
furniture in an arson attack in Maboloko, Bophutha-
tswana, on 7 May 1976 during conflict between two
chiefs in the area.

MASHONGOANE, Joas Letsepa (43), lost his house
and possessions in an arson attack in Maboloko,
Bophuthatswana, on 7 May 1976 during conflict
between two chiefs in the area.

MASHONGOANE, Matlaselo Jacob (42), had his
home damaged in an arson attack at Maboloko,
Bophuthatswana, in 1976 during conflict between two
chiefs in the area.

MASHONGOANE, Phehello Samson (15), lost his home
in an arson attack in Maboloko, Bophuthatswana, in
1976 during conflict over the chieftaincy of the area.
MASHOPE, Lubenyu Flora , was killed on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MASHUMI, Melvin Miluleki (25), an ANC supporter,
was shot and severely injured by members of the SAP
in Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 25 October 1990, leaving
him paralysed. At least eight people were killed that
day by police and supporters of the town council,
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during and after a mass march to express community
opposition to the council.

MASHUMPA, Lucas, was shot dead by IFP supporters
in Swanieville, near Krugersdorp, Tvl, on 12 May 1991.
IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers were retaliating against
a previous attack by ANC-supporting squatters and
approximately 115 shacks were set alight, 27 people
were killed and 25 vehicles were burnt. Twelve people
were charged with crimes ranging from murder to
arson but were acquitted due to lack of evidence.
MASHWABANA, W iseman, was shot dead while
travelling in a taxi which was ambushed by IFP
supporters in Tembisa, Tvl, on 31 July 1993. The
attackers set fire to the taxi, burning their victims’
bodies.

MASHYIANE, January , a traditional healer, was
necklaced by ANC supporters on 5 September 1986
during resistance to KwaNdebele independence. ANC
supporters targeted traditional healers in their
campaign against INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MASHYIANE, Lololo , was abducted and forced to
watch his father, a traditional healer, being necklaced by
ANC supporters in KwaNdebele, on 5 September 1986.
ANC supporters targeted traditional healers in their
campaign against INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MASIA, Joseph (22), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the Bophuthatswana Police at
Ga-Rankuwa, Bophuthatswana, on 7 March 1990
during protests in the township. His body was found
two weeks later at Ga-Rankuwa police station.
MASIA, Tebello Gloria (52), was shot in the eye and
partially blinded by members of the SAP in Koffiefontein,
OFS, in 1993. Police were allegedly shooting randomly
at people on the street during a student protest in the
township, when Ms Masia was hit.

MASIBA, John Zozman (31), a UDF supporter, was
charged with public violence and sentenced to two
years’ imprisonment in July 1986 at Port Elizabeth,
allegedly because of his involvement in the political
conflict in the Eastern Cape.

MASIBA, Miungiswa Justice (41), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Dannhauser,
near Vryheid, Natal on 12 February 1991. The
perpetrators, allegedly acting with the support of the
Dana Mine management during a wage dispute at this
mine, were attempting to expel Xhosa-speaking
employees from the mine. Those who did not leave
were killed.

MASIBEKELO, Vincent Templeton Reginald  (33), lost
his house in Nyanga Bush, Cape Town, in May 1986,
during the mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter
camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit
approval and aid of the security forces. Over 60 people
were killed and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.
MASIBI, Charles Tjale (29), an ANC secretary, was
severely assaulted by two SAP members in KwaKwATSI,
Koppies, OFS, in August 1992. The assault took place
at a time of heightened political tension and boycotts
in the area. Mr Masibi has developed epilepsy due to
injuries sustained.

pace 339



MASIGO, Reginald Kenny (24), an ANCYL member,
was arrested and severely beaten by members of the
SAP on 6 December 1992 and tortured at Bethanie
police station in Johannesburg, because of his role in
organising the funeral of two people allegedly killed by
the police.

MASIJELA, Masilo Petrus (61), had his house burnt
down and all his possesions destroyed by ANC
supporters in Bekkersdal, Tvl, in December 1990
during political conflict in the area between IFP, ANC
and AZAPO supporters.

MASIKANE, Batshatile Mganti , was shot and
wounded when ANC security guards opened fire from
the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg,
on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At
least nine marchers were killed and around 100
injured. Ten ANC security guards were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/142).

MASIKANE, Mhlonganisa William (76), an ANC

supporter, was stabbed in a mob attack in Mpumalanga,

KwaZulu, near Durban, in 1990. He was blinded as a
result of the attack.

MASIKANE, Mlandeni Anton ‘Jaguar’  (43), a UDF
supporter, had his home burnt down by Inkatha
supporters in KwaNxamalala, KwaZulu, near Pieter-
maritzburg, in 1988.

MASIKANE, Ntombana (59), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by Inkatha supporters at
Gezubuso, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on

27 March 1990, in the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MASIKANE, Patrick V usi, a UDF supporter, was shot
dead by Inkatha supporters in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg,
on 5 August 1989.

MASIKANE, Philisiwe (71), an Inkatha supporter, had

her home at Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu, Durban,

burnt down by ANC supporters on 11 February 1990
in intense political conflict in the area. See RicHMOND
FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MASIKANE, Phiphu (28), had his house in Chesterville,
Durban, burnt down in September 1986 in an attack
allegedly carried out by members of the Chesterville
A-TEAM.

MASIKANE, Vusumuzi Clif ford (19), was shot and
injured during intense conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters near Hammarsdale, Natal, 4 October 1990.
He had also been beaten and intimidated by a named
member of the SAP in 1988.

MASIKE, Isaac Serame (19), a Basotholand Congress
Party (BCP) member, was severely beaten and
tortured by named SAP members in Viljoenskroon,
OFS, in December 1960, allegedly because of his
support for the BCP. At the time, the South African
government was vigorously opposing the BCP’s
campaign for Lesotho’s independence.

MASIKE, Mapula Rahab , was severely beaten by a
member of the SAP in Viljoenskroon, OFS, in
December 1960, allegedly because of her father’s
political activities.

MASIKE, Pitso Andries (16), a UDF supporter, was
detained and tortured in Vereeniging, Tvl, in January 1986.
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MASIKO, Sarah Nomajamani , was burnt to death
when her home in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban,
was attacked on 4 August 1993 in ongoing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MASILELA, (first name not given), was severely beaten
by members of IMBokoDO in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on
18 May 1980 during conflict over the INCORPORATION of
Moutse into KwaNdebele. Ms Masilela was pregnant at
the time and lost her baby as a result of the beating.
MASILELA, Ben Andrew (57), was attacked and his
house was damaged by supporters of Chief Mahlangu
in Mathula Stands, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in
July 1975. Chief Mahlangu supported the INCORPO-
RATION of the village into the tribal authority of Lebowa
but many residents resisted, which resulted in attacks
on people and property.

MASILELA, Booi , was shot dead by named IMBOKODO
members in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 14 May 1986.
Mr Masilela was marching in support of the Ndundza
royal family when IMBOKODO, a vigilante group opposed
to the monarchy, broke up the march violently.
MASILELA, Boyana Jan , an ANC activist, was
abducted, tortured and assaulted by IMBOKODO vigilantes
in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 18 May 1986. The
abducted youths were rescued by members of the
police. Three of the accused paid R50 admission of
guilt fines.

MASILELA, Jim (39), was shot and burnt to death in
Tweefontein, KwaNdebele, on 29 May 1986 during
conflict over the proposed independence of
KwaNdebele.

MASILELA, Jonas , an MK operative, was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Diepkloof, Soweto, in July 1984.
MASILELA, Joseph , was abducted by members of
the SADF in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 17 August
1986 during conflict over KwaNdebele independence.
MASILELA, Khabonina Leah (49), an ANC supporter,
was shot with a rubber bullet by members of the
SADF in Nkomazi, Tvl, in June 1986 at a gathering by
the community of Boschfontein to launch a campaign
to release political prisoners.

MASILELA, Lomatshe Lizzie (57), lost her house and
belongings when it was set alight by ANC supporters
at Kabokweni, KaNgwane, in 1986. Ms Masilela was
targeted by the ‘comrades’, allegedly under suspicion of
being a witch responsible for the death of 15 people.
After two attempts to burn her, the ‘comrades’
apparently accepted that she was not a witch.
MASILELA, Mafele Joana (41), lost her house and
possessions in Goederede, near Dennilton, Kwa-
Ndebele, in July 1975 in an attack by supporters of
Chief Mahlangu. Chief Mahlangu supported the
INCORPORATION of the village into the tribal authority of
Lebowa but many residents resisted, which resulted
in attacks on people and property.

MASILELA, Manikie , was stabbed and seriously
injured in Oukasie, near Brits, Tvl, by named VARK SQuaD
members collaborating with the Bophuthatswana
government. The Oukasie community had won a court
case against being forcibly removed in 1985.
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MASILELA, Mdasie Johanna (52), lost her house and
possessions in Goederede, near Dennilton, Kwa-
Ndebele, in July 1975 in an attack by supporters of
Chief Mahlangu. Chief Mahlangu supported the
INCORPORATION of the village into the tribal authority of
Lebowa but many residents resisted, which resulted
in attacks on people and property.

MASILELA, Samuel , a COSAS member, was recruited
for military training by a Security Branch agent
purporting to be an MK operative, and was killed in the
NIETVERDIEND AMBUSH near the Botswana border on 26
June 1986. Eight operatives from SADF Special
Forces, Northern and Western Transvaal Security
Branches were granted amnesty for the operation
(AC/1999/0190; AC/1999/0192;AC/1999/0194;
AC/1999/0031; AC/1999/0188; AC/1999/0030 and
AC/1999/0197).

MASILELA, Skons Petrus (27), lost his house and
possessions in Goederede, near Dennilton, Kwa-
Ndebele, in July 1975 in an attack by supporters of
Chief Mahlangu. Chief Mahlangu supported the
INCORPORATION of the village into the tribal authority of
Lebowa but many residents resisted, which resulted
in the attacks on people and property.

MASILELA, Soni Petros (66), disappeared after being
abducted in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 17 August
1986.

MASILELA, Sophy , was killed on a farm road near
Nelspruit, Tvl, when the car she was travelling in
detonated a landmine on 17 August 1986. Planting of
landmines aimed at military patrols in rural areas was
part of the ANC’s campaign but was called off due to
the high civilian casualty rate.

MASILELA, Thulani (15), a Soweto Student Congress
member, was shot and injured by members of the
government-aligned RASTA GANG in 1989 in Zola,
Soweto, Johannesburg.

MASILELA, Thulare Booi (70), lost his house and
possessions in Goederede, near Dennilton,
KwaNdebele, in July 1975 in an attack by supporters
of Chief Mahlangu. Chief Mahlangu supported the
INCORPORATION of the village into the tribal authority of
Lebowa but many residents resisted, which resulted
in attacks on people and property.

MASILELA, V elaphi, an ANC supporter, was shot
dead and his body was burnt on 3 August 1992 in
Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by ANC supporters.
MASILO, Innocentia Tebogo (38), was severely
beaten by members of the Bophuthatswana Police in
Phokeng, Bophuthatswana, reportedly to force her to
become an informer. Ms Masilo was detained and
tortured for two weeks.

MASILO, Jones Tony (23), a UDF supporter, was
severely beaten with a sjambok by members of the
SAP at a friend's funeral in Sharpeville, Vereeniging,
Tvl, on 22 September 1984. Mr Masilo was also shot
and injured with a rubber bullet.

MASILO, Mafete Chilboy (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by members of the SAP and the 'ZimZim’
group in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 15 December
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1990. The ANC branch split into two groups - the
‘Zim-zims' and the 'Gadaffis’ which led to conflict in
the community. Mr Masilo was attending the night
vigil of a ‘Gadaffi’ member when he was killed. See
also KHUTSONG YouTH CONGRESS.

MASILO, Solomon Mohauli (25), was shot and
severely injured by members of the SAP in Sharpeville,
Vereeniging, Tvl, during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE oNn
21 March 1960.

MASILWANE, Eliza (17), was shot and severely injured
in the arm and stomach by members of the SAP in
Meadowlands, Soweto, on 14 September 1977 during
conflict between students and police. Ms Masilwane
was nine months pregnant when she was caught in
the crossfire. She was placed under police guard in
hospital. Her baby, born by caesarean section, had
been injured on his shoulder during the attack.
MASIMINI, Nogwebile (35), had her home destroyed
in an arson attack at Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, during 1993, in ongoing political conflict
between the 'RED’ AND 'GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MASIMOLA, Mthunjela Eva , lost her house and
possessions in Nebo, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in
July 1975 in an attack by supporters of Chief Jack. Chief
Mahlangu supported the INCORPORATION of the village
into the tribal authority of Lebowa but many residents
resisted, resulting in attacks on people and property.
MASIMULA, Jan Masondo (21), an ANC member,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Siyabuswa,
KwaNdebele, in 1986 while attending a youth meeting.
KwaNdebele was tense due to the State's attempt to
impose independence on the area.

MASIMULA, Noyende Paulina (24), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured, by IFP-aligned KHETISI
KHESWA GANG members in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 12 January
1991 while attending the night vigil of an ANCYL
member killed by the gang. Gang members fired and
threw hand grenades at the mourners, killing a number
of people and injuring several others. When police
arrived at the scene they provided no protection and
ignored both the attackers and the injured. See
NANGALEMBE NIGHT VIGIL MASSACRE.

MASIMULA, Sithengani Helen , was shot dead,
allegedly by members of the SAP, during an attack on
residents by IFP supporters in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 8
September 1990 during political conflict in the area.
MASINA, Elias , was one of three civilians killed when
a car bomb, planted by MK operatives, exploded
outside the NBS building in Witbank, Tvl, on 24
October 1988. The building was used for commercial
purposes, but also housed the Witbank Security
Branch offices. Three people were killed and over 20
were injured, mainly civilians. Two MK operatives
were granted amnesty for the bombing (AC/2000/055).
MASINA, Hioniphile (18), was shot and partially
paralysed by members of the SAP in Senaoane,
Soweto, while protesting against the teaching of
Afrikaans at the school on 17 September 1976. See
SOWETO UPRISING.
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MASINA, Johannes , an ANC supporter, was
assaulted with sjamboks and hit on his left eye by
members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Mabopane,
Bophuthatswana, on 17 March 1990. Mr Masina lost
his eye as a result of his injuries.

MASINA, Musa Thomas (28), was shot dead by IFP-
aligned KHEeTISI KHESWA GANG members in Sebokeng, Tvl,
on 12 January 1991 while attending the night vigil of
an ANCYL member killed by the gang. Gang members
fired and threw hand grenades at mourners, killing a
number and injuring several others. Police arrived but
provided no protection and ignored both the attackers
and the injured. See NANGALEMBE NIGHT VIGIL MASSACRE.
MASINA, Stanley Sandile (18), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Cape Town in 1976, during
a march by students of Langa High School to protest
against the shooting of the students in the 1976
SOWETO UPRISING.

MASINA, Zodwa , had her house at Bhambayi, near
KwaMashu, Durban, destroyed in an arson attack by
IFP supporters on 23 September 1993, during ongoing
political conflict between the ‘RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.
MASINDA, Christopher , a security guard, was held
up at gunpoint and tied up by ANC Self-Defence (SDU)
members at the Giwi Breyton Construction compound
in Evander, Tvl, on 6 July 1992. One security guard
was shot dead and another shot and injured. The SDU
members, who sought to seize guns at the site, were
engaged in clashes with the BrLack CATs in Ermelo, Tvl.
Two SDU members were granted amnesty
(AC/19998/0121).

MASINGA, (first name not given), an ANC supporter,
was targeted for elimination by IFP members at
Hlanganani Hall, Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, during 1992. One perpetrator in the conspiracy
was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MASINGA, Benjamin , a member of the SAP, was
killed by a group of COSAS members and UDF
supporters in Atteridgeville, Tvl, on 19 April 1986. Mr
Masinga was assaulted at his home with sticks and
axes, then dragged to a nearby school where he was
stoned, doused with petrol and set alight. Four COSAS
members and UDF supporters applied for amnesty;
three were granted and one was refused (AC/2001/147).
MASINGA, Bongiwe , an IFP supporter, was shot
dead by fellow IFP supporters in Enseleni, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, on 6 April 1994, allegedly
because the perpetrators were looking for her brother
who had joined the ANC.

MASINGA, Elphas Ndabazabantu , a member of the
KZP, was targeted for elimination by IFP members at
Sundumbili, KwaZulu, near Mandini, Natal, in August
1991. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0332).

MASINGA, Lemonade Mkase , was burnt to death after
being doused with petrol and set alight by alleged
‘comrades’ in Malelane, Tvl, on 1 June 1986.
MASINGA, Mirriam Nomathimithi  (78), was shot in
the leg at her home in Kwa-Thema, Tvl, by a named
SAP member in October 1993. The police reportedly
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apologised to Ms Masinga once they realised they had
the wrong address.

MASINGA, Ntombi Hilda (54), an ANC supporter, had
her house petrol-bombed by Inkatha supporters in
Esimozomeni, Richmond, Natal, on 26 May 1990.
MASINGA, Thozwana (52), was shot and severely
burnt when her home was attacked by IFP supporters
in Enseleni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 6 April
1994 in political conflict in the area during the run-up
to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MASIPHA, Ananias Boksa (23), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Naboomspruit, Tvl, on 14 April 1993.

MASITHA, Mekia Thele (34), lost his house in an
arson attack in Maboloko, Bophuthutswana, on 29
September 1976 during a dispute over the chieftaincy
of the area.

MASITHA, Sobane Paulos (37), lost his house in an
arson attack in Maboloko, Bophuthatswana, in 1976
during a conflict between chiefs in the area.

MASITHI, Nyamukamadi , was burnt to death in
Thohoyandou, Venda, on 4 February 1990 by named
ANC supporters who accused her of being a
government leader responsible for ritual murders and
reinforcing her position by the use of witchcraft. One
of the perpetrators applied for amnesty.

MASITHI, Thari William (49), lost his home in an
arson attack by named perpetrators in Thohoyando,
Venda, 11 February 1990 because he was suspected
of practising witchcraft. Mr Masithi's mother was
killed in the attack.

MASIYA, Ms (first name not given), was publicly
assaulted in Hambanathi, near Verulam, Natal, on 5
May 1985, by Inkatha supporters who were allegedly
taking possession of the homes of UDF supporters.
MASOEU, Samuel (44), was permanently injured when
he was pushed from a moving train and shot five
times in the back by IFP supporters in Braamfontein,
Johannesburg, on 14 April 1992. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.
MASOGA, Tlhong Justice (50), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Masoga
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MASOKANYE, Liziwe , was shot dead by named
members of the SAP in Kayamnandi, Stellenbosch, Cape,
on 6 September 1989, while she was walking in the
street with friends. There were widespread protests,
shootings and fatalities in and around Cape Town
arising from the apartheid elections being held that day.
MASOKOAMENG, Norah , was repeatedly kicked in the
stomach by members of the SAP in Alexandra,
Johannesburg, in 1983 and subsequently died of her
injuries. Police continually harassed the family after her
sister went into exile. Police arrived at Ms Masokoameng's
house to inform her of their role in the death of
someone known to the family and then attacked her.
Police were allegedly trying to stem rising resistance to
the Black Local Authorities Act in Alexandra.
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MASOLA, Jabulane James (43), was severely beaten
by members of the Chesterville A-Team in 1986,
because he was thought to be a UDF supporter.
MASOLA, Mothomone Ephraim (38) , an ANC
supporter, was severely beaten by members of the
Bophuthatswana Police in Hammanskraal, Tvl, on 25
August 1993.

MASOLENG, Pinkie Sidney (28), a UDF supporter, was
detained and severely assaulted by named members
of the Security Branch on 28 August 1985 in Aliwal
North, Cape.

MASOLOKE, Tsatsawane Anna (38), was tear-gassed
and beaten by members of the Bophuthatswana Police
at Maboloko, near Brits, Tvl, after a protest march by
the Maboloko community on 15 March 1993.
MASOMBUKA (nee Nkabinda) Ester (48), was
severely beaten by members of the Bophuthatswana
Police at City Rocks Stadium, Winterveld, Bophutha-
tswana, on 26 March 1986 during a mass protest
against police brutality. See CiTy ROCKS SHOOTING.
MASOMBUKA, Bapalela Johanna , fled her home
after ‘comrades’ decided to ‘necklace’ her and her
husband in Moutse, KwaNdebele, in 1986 during
conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MASOMBUKA, Elizabeth (21), was severely beaten
by members of the Bophuthatswana Police at City
Rocks Stadium, Winterveld, Bophuthatswana, on 26
March 1986, while taking part in a mass protest
against police brutality. See City ROCKS SHOOTING.
MASOMBUKA, John , was detained, beaten with
batons and kicked on the head by members of the SAP
in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on 18 June 1976 when
the SOWETO UPRISING spread to neighbouring areas.
MASOMBUKA, Zanele (2), was severely beaten by
members of the Bophuthatswana Police at City Rocks
Stadium, Winterveld, Bophuthatswana, on 26 March
1986. She was with her mother and sister taking part
in a mass protest against police brutality. See City
Rocks SHOOTING.

MASON, Cedric , former member of the banned
Christian Institute, suffered intimidation and harrassment
by members of the Security Branch during March and
April 1983. A Witwatersrand Security Branch operative
was granted amnesty (AC/2001/005).

MASON, Penelope , former member of the banned
Christian Institute, suffered intimidation and harrassment
by members of the Security Branch during March and
April 1983. A Witwatersrand Security Branch operative
was granted amnesty (AC/2001/005).

MASONDO (CHILIZA), Ramakale Lungile (1),
survived an attempted killing when a booby-trapped
television set exploded at her home on 11 May 1987
in Harare, Zimbabwe. The explosion killed her mother,
a Zimbabwean citizen married to an exiled ANC
official. The explosion was set up by a named person,
allegedly recruited for this operation by members of
the then SADF's Special Forces/Military Intelligence.
Her father, Mr Vusumuzi Masondo (aka ‘Mhlophe
Chiliza’), was not at home at the time.

MASONDO, Basil (7), was injured when a limpet mine,
planted by MK operatives, exploded during lunchtime
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at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on 30 July
1988. One woman was killed and at least 66 people
were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).

MASONDO, Caroline (2), was injured when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded during
lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on
30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at least 66
people were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).

MASONDO, Joseph \elly (36), was injured when a
limpet mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded
during lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni,
Tvl, on 30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at
least 66 people were injured. Four MK operatives
were granted amnesty for the planning and execution
of the attack (AC/1999/0294).

MASONDO, Mduduzi (48), a UDF supporter, was
detained by named members of the Security Branch in
Newcastle, Natal, on 17 June 1986, allegedly because
of his involvement in the rates boycott at Sibongile
township.

MASONDO, Mpho (3), was injured when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded during
lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on
30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at least 66
people were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).

MASONDO, Ntombi Betina (65), an IFP supporter, had
her house burnt down by ANC supporters in Ezakheni,
KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal, on 4 November 1992.
Her husband, aged 74, was stabbed to death in the
attack.

MASONDO, Octavia (20), was injured when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives, exploded during
lunchtime at the Wimpy restaurant in Benoni, Tvl, on
30 July 1988. One woman was killed and at least 66
people were injured. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the planning and execution of the attack
(AC/1999/0294).

MASONDO, Robert Muntuyedwa (74), an IFP
supporter, was stabbed to death by ANC supporters
when they attacked and burnt down his home in
Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal, on 4
November 1992.

MASONDO, Siphiwe Eric (17), an ANC supporter,
was severely burnt in Duduza, Nigel, Tvl, on 22 June
1985 when struck by a teargas cannister thrown by
members of the SAP during a night vigil for one of the
victims killed by booby-trapped hand grenades handed
out by Vlakplaas operatives. He spent nine months in
hospital and his left arm is now disabled.

MASONDO, Zacharia Mhlabunzima  (33), an IFP
supporter, was beaten and stabbed to death by ANC
supporters in Mondlo, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal,
on 4 October 1992.

MASONDO, Zesizwe (8), was stabbed to death by
named IFP supporters at her grandmother’s home in
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KwaDlangezwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 1
May 1993. Zesizwe's grandmother, aged 61, was also
killed in the attack, which was allegedly related to a
statement the grandmother made to the police about
the petrol-bombing of a relative’s house.

MASOPA, Manta Christina , died after being attacked
and burnt by a group of youths at Daveyton, Tvl, on 2
July 1987. The youths targeted another person who
was not present at the time of the attack. Four
persons died and four suffered injuries as a result of
the attack. One perpetrator, who claimed to be an
ANC supporter and chairperson of a ‘people’s court’,
was refused amnesty for the attack (AC/2001/282).
MASOPA, Moses Godfr ey, suffered injuries when he
was attacked and burnt by a group of youths at
Daveyton, Tvl, on 2 July 1987. The youths targeted
another person who was not present at the time of the
attack. Four persons died and four suffered injuries as
a result of the attack. One perpetrator, who claimed to
be an ANC supporter and chairperson of a ‘people’s
court’, was refused amnesty for the attack
(AC/2001/282).

MASOPA, Motsmai Charles (18), an ANC member,
was shot and injured in the right leg and back by named
members of the SAP in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, at
a night vigil of a fellow ‘comrade’ on 15 June 1990.
MASOPA, Nompi Elinah , suffered injuries and damage
to property when she was attacked and burnt by a
group of youths at Daveyton, Tvl, on 2 July 1987. The
youths were targeting someone else, who was not
present at the time of the attack. Four people died and
four suffered injuries as a result of the attack. One
perpetrator, who claimed to be an ANC supporter and
chairperson of a ‘people’s court’, was refused amnesty
for the attack (AC/2001/282).

MASOTE, Sheila Segametsi (31), was detained in
Pietermaritzburg for four months from December 1976
and tortured by security policemen, allegedly for
information about the political activities of her father,
PAC leader Mr Zeph Mothopeng. Ms Masote, who was
pregnant at the time, lost her baby and has suffered
psychological trauma as a result of continuous police
harassment of herself and her family.

MASUDUBELE, Hilda Matshidiso , was shot in the
right foot by members of the SAP in Sharpeville,
Vereeniging, Tvl, during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE on
21 March 1960.

MASUKA, Handsome (23), an ANC supporter, was
severely tortured and then arrested by members of
the police in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, during 1992. He
was convicted on political charges. In 1995 he was
released from prison, allegedly because he had been
poisoned.

MASUKU, Alpheus Zakhele , an ANC executive
member, disappeared from Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, in
March 1994 and has not been seen since. During the
early 1990s, the area was embroiled in conflict
between the IFP-aligned BLack CATs and the ANC.
MASUKU, Cliff (17), was killed when a hand grenade
was thrown into a shebeen by SADF members in
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Lulekani, near Phalaborwa, Tvl, on 28 March 1986
during conflict between Lulekani Youth Congress
members and SADF members from Angola and
Mozambique deployed in the area. Several people died
in the attack. See GAZANKULU HAND GRENADE ATTACK.
MASUKU, Clif ford, was injured when his home was
bombed by a covert unit of the Northern Transvaal
Security Branch in Atteridgeville, Pretoria, on 5 June
1986. His mother died in the explosion and other
family members were injured. Two Northern Transvaal
Security Branch operatives and a member of a SAP
Special Investigation Unit were granted amnesty for
the incident (AC/2001/027).

MASUKU, Dumazile (28), was injured when the bus
she was travelling in was shot at and set alight in
Tokoza, Tvl, on 23 September 1991 during political
conflict in the area.

MASUKU, Edward , an ANC member, died in an ANC
CAMP prison in Angola in 1985. Negligence due to poor
detention facilities contributed to his ill health and
death. One ANC camp commander was granted
amnesty for negligence in the death (AC/2000/149).
MASUKU, Ezekiel Oupa (28), a SAYCO member and
youth worker for the SACC, survived the bombing of
his home by a covert unit of the Northern Transvaal
Security Branch on 5 June 1986 in Atteridgeville,
Pretoria. His mother died in the explosion and at least
three family members were injured. Two Northern
Transvaal Security Branch operatives and a member of
a SAP Special Investigation Unit were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/027).

MASUKU, Jacob Samuel (47), was one of three
civilians killed when a car bomb, planted by MK
operatives, exploded outside the NBS building in
Witbank, Tvl, on 24 October 1988. The building was
used for commercial purposes, but also housed the
Witbank Security Branch offices. Three people were
killed and over 20 were injured, mainly civilians. Two
MK operatives were granted amnesty for the bombing
(AC/2000/055).

MASUKU, Madiphoso Esther , died when her home
Atteridgeville, Pretoria, was bombed by a covert unit
of the Northern Transvaal Security Branch on 5 June
1986. The attack was aimed at Ms Masuku's son, a
youth activist. Two Northern Transvaal Security Branch
operatives and a member of a SAP Special Investigation
Unit were granted amnesty (AC/2001/027).

MASUKU, Ndumani , survived the bombing of his
home by a covert unit of the Northern Transvaal
Security Branch in Atteridgeville, Pretoria, on 5 June
1986. His mother died in the explosion and other
family members were injured. Two Northern Transvaal
Security Branch operatives and a member of a SAP
Special Investigation Unit were granted amnesty for
the incident (AC/2001/027).

MASUKU, Phiwayinkosi , was stabbed to death by
ANC supporters at Somopho, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 17 July 1992 in continuing
political violence in the area. Mr Masuku was allegedly
perceived to be an IFP supporter.
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MASUKU, Samson Khophi  (42), was severely beaten
in Entshawini, KwaZulu, near Stanger, Natal, in
February 1989, in intensifying conflict between UDF
and Inkatha supporters in the area. While he was in
hospital, his house was burnt to the ground.
MASUKU, Samuel Veli (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 27 April 1994 during an attack
on a tavern where he was celebrating the APRrIL 1994
ELECTION. Mr Masuku died in hospital on 1 May 1994.
MASUKU, Thabo , was injured when his home was
bombed by a covert unit of the Northern Transvaal
Security Branch in Atteridgeville, Pretoria, on 5 June
1986. His mother died in the explosion and other
family members were injured. Two Northern Transvaal
Security Branch operatives and a member of a SAP
Special Investigation Unit were granted amnesty for
the incident (AC/2001/027).

MASUKU, Thembi Emily (46), had her house burnt in
an arson attack in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, in 1992 in
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area. She was allegedly targeted because her sons
were ANC supporters.

MASUKU, Thokozile Pam Rejoice  (22), was shot dead
in Pietermaritzburg, allegedly by members of the SAP, on
14 February 1989 during intensifying conflict between
UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area. Ms Masuku
was missing for two weeks before her family found
that she had been buried without their being notified
of the death. The body was exhumed for identification
on 21 March 1989 and reburied two days later.
MASUKU, Thulani Hansford (26), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by named IFP supporters in Imbali,
Pietermaritzburg, on 23 April 1994 during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MASUKU, Thulani , an ANC executive committee
member, was shot and stabbed to death on 30 August
1992 during conflict between IFP and ANC supporters
in Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl.

MASUNY ANE, Mathabo Adelina (65), a
DIKWANKWETLA NATIONAL PARTY (DNP) supporter,
had her house burnt down by UDF supporters in
BOTSHABELO, near Bloemfontein, on 16 July 1989,
allegedly because of her support for the DNP.
MASWANGANYI, Alina (48), was kicked in her
stomach by named members of the SAP in Louis
Trichardt, Tvl, on 16 May 1985 during the partial state
of emergency.

MASW ANGANY]I, Joel , was shot dead when
Bophuthatswana Police fired on a crowd gathered to
protest against police brutality at City Rocks Stadium,
Winterveld, Bophuthatswana on 26 March 1986. See
City ROCKS SHOOTING.

MASW ANGANYI, Tinyiko Believe John (15), was
severely tortured when he was detained for 18 months
in Louis Trichardt, Tvl, on 16 May 1985. Members of
the SAP put wet socks over his head, sjambokked
him, left him naked and pulled his genitals. He was
leading a youth mass meeting when arrested and the
Security Branch believed that he had undergone
clandestine military training in a neighbouring country.
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MATA, Bungane Jackson (62), a leader of the civic
organisation opposed to the headman system, was
shot dead by a named perpetrator on 12 August 1992
in Bikizana, Sterkspruit, Transkei.

MATA, Thembisile (18), an AZAPO activist, was burnt
to death by UDF supporters on 26 June 1985 in Port
Alfred, Cape. One of the perpetrators was sentenced
to 12 years in prison for the killing.

MATABANE, Peter ltumeleng , a COSAS member, was
killed by an explosive device detonated by named
Vlakplaas operatives in a mine shaft in Kagiso, Krugers-
dorp, Tvl, on 15 February 1982. He and three other
COSAS members believed they were to be trained to
use hand grenades, a ploy used later increasingly by
security forces. Only one person survived the
explosion. The perpetrators applied for amnesty.
MATABOGE, Josia Legodi , was beaten to death by
named perpetrators who were members of a local
civic structure in March 1993 at Evaton, Tvl. His sister
was also assaulted and injured.

MATABOGE, Moitheki Isaac (39), was tortured and
beaten by local civic members in Evaton, Tvl, in March
1993 during conflict between IFP and ANC supporters
in the area.

MATAFENI, Mziuvukile , was shot dead by members
of the AMARUSSIANS in Bekkersdal, near Westonaria,
Tvl, in 1990 during conflict between Xhosas and Zulus
in the area.

MATAKANA, Mtutuzeli (43), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 18
February 1985. Eighteen people were shot dead and
hundreds were wounded in a three-day clash when
Crossroads residents resisted a forced removal to
Khayelitsha.

MATAKANE, Laka David (29), an ANC supporter, was
beaten and tortured by named members of the SAP in
Reddersburg, OFS, in March 1988.

MATAKU, Sinko Mtshanyane , an ANC supporter,
was tortured by a named perpetrator in November
1961 at Cofimvaba, Transkei.

MATALA, Phadishi Erasmus (34), had her home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATANDELA, Dumisani Macbeth (22), an MK
operative from Maluti, Transkei, was shot dead in an
attack by SADF Special Forces operatives on several
ANC houses and a block of flats in Maseru, Lesotho,
on 9 December 1982. Thirty South Africans and 12
citizens of Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack.
MATANIGOANE, Matshediso Annie (17), was
assaulted with batons and sjamboks when members
of the SAP dispersed mourners at a funeral in
Bloemfontein on 30 April 1980. She was beaten
unconscious and suffered severe injury to her eyes,
necessitating the removal of her right eye.

MATASA, Ger trude, was killed by ANCYL members
in Khuma, Stilfontein, Tvl, on 28 February 1986 during
rent and bus boycotts in the area.
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MATAU, Sefako Frans (20), was beaten by members
of the SAP during the state of emergency on 4 June
1986 in Tembisa, Tvl.

MATAUNG, Maria Thabisile (36), had her home and
possessions vandalised in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, during June 1989, in intense conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MATCHES, Joseph Mateti (17), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by SAP members in Kroonstad, OFS,
on 12 February 1985, on suspicion of being involved in
an arson attack at a school.

MATCHES, William (15), an ANC supporter, was
arrested and tortured by named members of the SAP
in Kroonstad, OFS, on 12 February 1985, on suspicion
of being involved in an arson attack at a school. His
cousin, Lawrance Zamile Molale, was detained and
tortured with him.

MATCHISI, Mxolisi Gladman (20), was shot and
injured by members of the SADF during protests in
Zwide, Port Elizabeth, in September 1977.
MATEBESI, Kedibone Rebecca (27), had her house
damaged on 4 February 1994 in Letsopa, Ottosdal, Tvl,
when ANC offices nearby were bombed by AWB
supporters wanting to sabotage the AprIL 1994
ELECTION. The perpetrators applied for amnesty.
MATEEM, Shirey , sustained minor injuries when MK
operatives detonated a car bomb using a remote
control device outside the Ellis Park rugby stadium,
Johannesburg, on 2 July 1988. Two spectators leaving
the rugby match were killed and 37 others sustained
minor and major injuries. Four operatives from MK's
Special Operations Unit, including its commander,
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/161).

MATEGANE, Frans , a constable in the SAP, survived a
hand grenade attack by MK operatives on the Daveyton
police station, Tvl, on 24 February 1978. Two MK
operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2000/195).
MATEKANE, Hendrick Paladi (19), was shot and
paralysed in a DRIVE-BY SHOOTING in Vosloorus, Tvl, in
October 1990.

MATELA, Monkane Joseph (35), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Aliwal North, Cape, in March
1985, while toyi-toying with a crowd of protesters
during intense political conflict and unrest.

MATELA, Samuel Serame , an ANCYL and COSAS
member, was shot dead by IFP supporters in
Sebokeng, Tvl, on 15 May 1992.

MATELA, Stephen Sefilara , was beaten with sjamboks
in Bochum, Lebowa, on 1 January 1986 during violent
conflict between supporters of rival chiefs.
MATENDE, Dingindawo David (53), had his home in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
July 1993 in political conflict between between the
'RED" AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MATENJW A, Kekeletso Samuel (20), was found dead
at eMbalenhle, near Secunda, Tvl, on 22 August 1992
after being abducted by named SAP members.
MATENJW A, Maghikizana Roster (49), had her house
and possessions destroyed in an arson attack near
Empangeni, Natal, in February 1994, in ongoing
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
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MATENJW A, Ziphozonke Patrick (19), an IFP
supporter, was shot dead in Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 2 January 1992 in continuing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MATERA, Monwabisi Zwelicingile (31), was shot and
severely injured by members of the SAP and IFP
supporters in Soweto, Johannesburg, in May 1991
during violent conflict between IFP-aligned hostel-
dwellers and ANC-aligned residents in the area.
MATETA, Matome Simon (37), had his house
destroyed by members of the SAP in Lenyenye,
Lebowa, on 4 August 1981 during an attempt by the
Gazankulu government to force his community to
move and be placed under a new chieftainship. Those
resisting the removal were arrested and fined for
residing unlawfully in the area.

MATETA, Patrick Mphathi (35), lost his home in an
arson attack by perpetrators who accused him of being
a collaborator during intense public unrest in DUNCAN
VILLAGE, East London, in August 1985.

MATETA, Phineas , had his house destroyed by
members of the SAP in Lenyenye, Lebowa, on 4
August 1981 during an attempt by the Gazankulu
government to force his community to move and be
placed under a new chieftainship. Those who resisted
the removal were arrested and fined for residing
unlawfully in the area.

MATETE, Dorothy was severely beaten by members
of the SAP in Leeudoringstad, Tvl, on 21 June 1990
because she was seen as an instigator at her school.
There was a stayaway at the time to protest against
the detention of a number of ‘comrades’ from Kgakala
township.

MATETE, Moseklemang Meriam (61), was severely
beaten by Viakplaas operatives in Leeudoringstad, Tvl,
on 1 November 1990.

MATETE, Phoka Patriot , a civic leader in Kgakala, was
severely beaten by named members of the SAP in
Kgakala, near Wolmaransstad, Tvl, on 1 November 1990.
MATHABA, Elinah (74), had her home burnt down at
Bhekizitha, Gobandlovu, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, in April 1992 in continuing conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area.

MATHABA, Gorden Thembinkosi Geina (18), a UDF
supporter, was shot and severely injured by Special
Constables while attending a memorial service for a
slain UDF leader at a high school in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 15 May 1987.

MATHABA, Livingstone (29), an MK member, was shot
dead in KwaDlangezwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 20 May 1992.

MATHABA, Masondo Zesizwe (8), was killed by IFP
supporters at her grandmother’s home in Kwa-
Dlangezwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 1 May
1993. Zesizwe's grandmother, aged 61, was also killed
in the attack, which is alleged to be linked to a
statement the grandmother made to the police about
the petrol-bombing of a relative's house.

MATHABA, Nicholina (61), was shot dead by named
IFP supporters on 1 May 1993 at KwaDlangezwa,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 1 May 1993. Ms
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Mathaba had witnessed a petrol-bomb attack on her
daughter’s house in April and was killed after she had
made a statement to the police about the incident. Her
granddaughter, aged 8, was also killed in the May attack.
MATHABA, SaniLeonard (48), an ANC supporter, was
shot and severely injured by named IFP supporters at
Empangeni, Natal, on 30 November 1992.

MATHABA, Xolani , an ANC supporter, was shot and
injured when unidentified persons attacked and burnt
down his mother’s house at Machibini, KwaZulu, near
Mandini, Natal, in November 1993 in continuing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MATHABATHA, Paul Maboyi (46), an ANC supporter,
was crippled after a severe beating by IFP supporters
in Hillorow, Johannesburg, on 25 November 1993.
MATHABATHE, Modiegi Constance , was assaulted
in Moutse in 1987 by members of the SAP looking for
her husband during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele. Ms Mathabathe was five months
pregnant at the time.

MATHABATHE, Moleshewe (54), had her house burnt
down by members of the SAP in Moutse, KwaNdebele,
in January 1986 during confict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHABE, Ramasedi David (25), a UDF supporter,
was beaten and tortured by named KwaNdebele
policemen in Dennilton, KwaNdebele, on 29 December
1986 during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele. Mr Mathabe was beaten to try and force
him to confess to murder.

MATHABELA, Bhekizizwe Daniel (43), had his home
in KwaMancinza, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down in October 1991 in political conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area.

MATHABELA, Boy , a farm employee, was severely
beaten by members SAP at the Pondoriver police
station, Blood River, near Dundee, Natal, in 1986, after
he and a friend reported having found a limpet mine.
MATHABELA, Evelyn Kemoneilwe , was shot by
members of the SAP in Khuma, Stilfontein, Tvl, on 28
February 1986 for taking part in a protest march by the
Khuma Youth Congress.

MATHANG, Josia Booi , an ANCYL supporter, was
arrested, detained and tortured by members of the
SAP in Kliprivier, Natal, in 1960.

MATHE, Anthony , was shot dead by Bophuthatswana
Police who opened fire on people protesting against
the INCORPORATION of Leeuwfontein into Bophutha-
tswana, on 1 July 1989.

MATHE, Augustine (13), a church altar boy, was one
of two youths shot dead by members of the SAP in
Guguletu, Cape Town, on 25 October 1980, after his
mother sent him to the shop. Police opened fire on
unruly crowds celebrating the defeat of Gerrie Coetzee,
a white South African boxer, by Mike Weaver, an
African-American boxer.

MATHE, Bhekizitha , an IFP supporter, was stabbed to
death by a named ANC supporter in Macekane,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 4 June 1993.
MATHE, Eunice Shisekile (44), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured and had her home burnt down by
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IFP supporters in Somopho, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 9 May 1994 in ongoing political
violence following the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MATHE, Joseph Allbino (36), a COSATU member,
was shot by members of the SADF in Kagiso, Tvl, on
8 January 1987. At the time, there was a curfew
under emergency regulations.

MATHE, Mishake (10), was shot and injured when IFP
supporters attacked his home in Somopho, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, on 9 May 1994 in ongoing
political violence following the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MATHE, Musa Mathews , an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by an IFP supporter in KwaMbonambi,
KwaZulu, near Richards Bay, Natal, on 1 November
1992, while on his way to attend a peace meeting
called by the local induna.

MATHE, Petros (23), was thrown from the first floor
of Ngoye University by members of the SAP in
Empangeni, Natal, on 18 June 1976 when the SOWETO
UPRISING spread throughout the country. The police
allegedly evacuated the campus by force and Mr
Mathe fell and injured his head. He still receives
medication for mental iliness as a result of his injuries.
MATHE, Reuben Fisokwakhe (25), an ANC supporter,
had his home burnt down by Inkatha supporters in
Magonggo, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, in
February 1990 following the UNBANNING of political
organisations earlier that month.

MATHE, Sibongiseni (20), an IFP supporter, was shot
dead by ANC supporters in KwaDlangezwa, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, in December 1992 in
continuing political violence between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MATHE, Sipho Bethuel (35), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death, allegedly by IFP supporters in
Vosloorus, Tvl, on 13 October 1990.

MATHE, Tolakele Judith (65), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house at Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters on 11
February 1990. See RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.
MATHEAKWENA, Pule (60), a citizen of Botswana,
was shot dead by Vliakplaas operatives in Sikwane,
Botswana, on 23 April 1990. Mr Matheakwena was a
security guard for the Chand family, five of whom were
killed in the attack. Eight Vlakplaas operatives were
granted amnesty for this operation (AC/2000/089).
MATHEBA, Elizabeth Matu (42), had her property
destroyed by members of the Bophuthatswana Police
in Marokolong, Hammanskraal, Tvl, on 12 January
1993 during conflict with the chief of Marokolong. The
chief was suspended and the whole community was
forcibly removed.

MATHEBE, (first name not given — granddaughter 2),
was incarcerated by members of the SADF in 1987 in
Moutse, KwaNdebele during conflict over the
proposed INCORPORATION of the area into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBE, (first name not given — granddaughter 3)
was incarcerated by members of the SADF in 1987 in
Moutse, KwaNdebele during conflict over the
proposed INCORPORATION of the area into KwaNdebele.
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MATHEBE, (first name not given) was incarcerated by
members of the SADF in 1987 in Moutse, KwaNdebele
during conflict over the proposed INCORPORATION of the
area into KwaNdebele

MATHEBE, Charles Baledi Doctor (29), an ANC
supporter, was arrested and tortured by the KwaNdebele
police in Moutse, KwaNdebele, in 1987 during conflict
over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Collert Mohlamme Piet (25), was killed in
Ntoane Village, Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 6 May 1986
when knocked down by a named perpetrator driving a
police vehicle during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Daniel Mankuruoane (16), a PEYCO
member, was assaulted by named members of the
SAP and detained for a year from August 1986, in Port
Elizabeth.

MATHEBE, Godfrey Matekane (44), an ANC
supporter, had his home burnt down by a named
member of the SAP in Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in 1986
during opposition to INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBE, Lekwelalore Lydia (57), had her house
damaged when members of the KwaNdebele Police
searched the house for her husband at Dennilton,
KwaNdebele, in 1986 during conflict over INCORPO-
RATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Magaruba (36), was severely assaulted by
alleged members of the SAP in Moutse, KwaNdebele,
on 1 November 1986 to make her reveal the
whereabouts of MK operatives accused of killing a
policeman. Vigilantes and homeland officials were forced
to flee the area in July 1986 because of fierce resistance
to INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Magomothabi (40), had his possessions
destroyed in a raid by members of the SADF in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, in 1987 following clashes over INCORPO-
RATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Majadihlogo Jim , was detained for two
weeks by members of the SAP in Siyabuswa, Kwa-
Ndebele, in 1986 during conflict over INCORPORATION
into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Mamotshabo Evelina (26), was beaten with
rifle butts and sjamboks by members of the SAP in
Ntoane, Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in 1986 during conflict
over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele. Police wanted
information on the whereabouts of her husband and
her father-in-law, a chief opposed to incorporation.
MATHEBE, Matholo , was severely assaulted in
Moutse, KwaNdebele, in 1986 by members of the
SAP and SADF looking for guns during conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Maxwell Molefe , was severely beaten by
members of the KwaNdebele Police in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, on 6 May 1986 during conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele. Police bundled Mr
Mathebe into a car boot and drove him to
KwaMhlanga where he was held for two days and
assaulted. His brother was killed in a hit-and-run by a
named perpetrator who had links with the police.
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MATHEBE, Mmakgosi (71), was severely beaten by
members of the SAP in Moutse, KwaNdebele, in
October 1987 during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Mmamothalo (41), was severely beaten
by alleged members of the SAP in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, in October 1987 during conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Mmapule Elizabeth (60), was severely
beaten by members of the SAP in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, in October 1987 during conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Mmule (49), had her home burnt down by
IMBOKODO members in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 1
January 1986 during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Mmusi Moses (67), was severely beaten
by named and other Ndebele-speaking men in
Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 20 December 1985
because he resisted INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele
later that month.

MATHEBE, Mogwape (71), was severely beaten by
members of the SADF in Moutse, KwaNdebele,
allegedly because her sons went into exile during
conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBE, Morako , was severely assaulted by
members of the SAP and SADF in Moutse, Kwa-
Ndebele, in 1986 when they were allegedly looking for
guns during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Nnina (45), lost her house when it was
set alight by a teargas canister thrown by members of
the SAP in Ntoane, Moutse, KwaNdebele, during
January 1986 because she resisted INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Norman Chipane (31), a UDF supporter,
was severely beaten by members of the SAP in
Elandskraal, Moutse, KwaNdebele, in January 1989 to
try and establish the whereabouts of his cousin who
had links to a dissident chief. He was forced to leave
Moutse because of police harassment.

MATHEBE, Paledi, was severely beaten by Ndebele-
speaking men in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 20
December 1985 because he resisted INCORPORATION
into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Philemon , was shot dead by members of
the SADF in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 16 December 1985
during conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBE, Piet (18), was assaulted by members of
the SAP and SADF in Kwarielaagte, Moutse,
KwaNdebele, on 24 December 1985 during a police
raid. The area was tense following state plans for
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Queensly (26), was severely assaulted by
members of the SAP in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 1
February 1987. Police were looking for her husband
during conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBE, Sarah Matlakalana , was shot by alleged
members of the KwaNdebele Police in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, on 1 June 1985 during conflict over
INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
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MATHEBE, Selape Walter (28), an ANC supporter, was
detained and tortured by members of the KwaNdebele
Police in Moutse, KwaNdebele, on 15 December 1988
following plans for INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBE, Shipane Ephraim , was arrested and had
teargas fired at him and others in a police vehicle on
their way to a police station in Dennilton, KwaNdebele,
on 10 December 1985. He was detained for three
weeks because he was part of the general resistance
t0 INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Tlokwe Gibson , was arrested by members
of the KwaNdebele Police at Dennilton, KwaNdebele,
in 1986 during conflict over INCORPORATION into
KwaNdebele.

MATHEBE, Wellington Chipane (32), survived being
tortured and thrown off a bridge by named and other
SAP members at Moutse, KwaNdebele, in January 1987
during conflict over INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHEBULA, (first name not given), died when he
was shot and his body burnt by members of an ANC
self-defence unit (SDU) in Tokoza, Tvl, during 1993.
The victim was thought to be an IFP supporter. One
SDU member was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0243).
MATHEBULA, Christopher , a member of the SAP,
was injured in a hand grenade explosion at a Municipal
Police training centre in Soweto, Johannesburg, on 21
April 1987. One MK operative was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/195).

MATHEBULA, Dumalile Agnes (39), had her home
burnt down by IFP-supporting Vusumuzi hostel-
dwellers in Tembisa, Tvl, on 23 June 1993 because
her husband was an MK operative in charge of training
the local ANC-aligned self-defence unit.

MATHEBULA, George (24), a member of the SAP,
was severely injured when MK operatives threw hand
grenades into his house in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on 13
October 1985. Two MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0260).

MATHEBULA, Gladys Thandi (33), a UDF supporter,
was shot by members of the SAP in Barberton, Tvl, as
she was returning from the funeral of a political
activist on 1 March 1986.

MATHEBULA, Isaac (13), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in Ackerville, near Witbank, Tvl,
in 1986 during political conflict and a stayaway in the
area. He was hospitalised for two weeks and upon his
discharge was detained for four months on charges of
public violence. He was found guilty, and sentenced to
a five-year suspended sentence and eight strokes
which were reduced to five by a doctor.
MATHEBULA, Kenneth Chimane (22), was shot by
Inkatha supporters in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in
March 1990 during conflict between IFP-aligned
hostel-dwellers and ANC-aligned residents.
MATHEBULA, Lenah Makhoakane (38), was assaulted
and detained in solitary confinement in Pretoria, in
1977 after she unwittingly agreed to house four boys
on their way into exile.

MATHEBULA, Lizzy Nkiyasi , was beaten to death by
ANC supporters at her house in Xhelani village,
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Malamulele, Venda, in May 1991. Ms Nkiyasi was
suspected of witchcraft.

MATHEBULA, Michael Funfun (15), an ANCYL
member, was tortured in detention in KaNyamazane,
Nelspruit, Tvl, in 1984.

MATHEBULA, Nhlanhla Sanele (18), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters in KwaNxamalala,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 4 February 1993.
Two other ANC supporters were also killed.
MATHEBULA, Nomadlozi Lettie (20), the wife of an
SAP member, was severely injured when MK operatives
threw hand grenades into their house in Mamelodi,
Pretoria, on 13 October 1985. Two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0260).

MATHEBULA, Patrick , was injured in a hand grenade
explosion in a shebeen in Lulekani, Gazankulu, on 28
March 1986. Fifteen people died and scores of others
were injured in the explosion which was allegedly
caused by members of the SADF. See GAZANKULU
HAND GRENADE ATTACK.

MATHEBULA, Robert Themba (49), an Inkatha
supporter, was stabbed to death and his body set
alight on 14 May 1990 in Hibberdene, Natal, in intense
political conflict between Inkatha and ANC supporters
in the area.

MATHEBULA, Samuel (30), was shot in the arm in
Katlehong, Tvl, on 7 May 1994 while travelling through
‘no-man’s land’ — a buffer zone between hostels and
Katlehong. He was caught in crossfire at the burial of
an ANC supporter.

MATHEBULA, Themba Zobha , an ANC supporter,
was killed by Inkatha supporters in April 1990 in
Mahwaga, near Port Shepstone, Natal.

MATHEBULA, Vincent (24), was killed in a hand
grenade explosion in Lulekani, near Phalaborwa, Tvl,
on 28 March 1986. The grenade was thrown into a
shebeen by members of the SADF Recce 5 Battallion,
deployed to act against youth activists in this area. See
GAZANKULU HAND GRENADE ATTACK.

MATHEBULA, Zephania , an MK operative was shot
dead by IFP-aligned TOASTER GANG members and IFP
supporters in Isando, Tvl, on 25 June 1993. The
perpetrators burnt down his house on 23 June 1993
before shooting him in the head and heart at the
entrance to his workplace. After returning from exile,
Mr Mathebula led the local ANC-aligned self-defence
unit which aimed to counter attacks on township
residents organised from the IFP-supporting Vusimuzi
hostel.

MATHENGELA, Donald Sifiso (26), an MK operative,
was detained, assaulted and held in solitary confinement
by members of the SAP in Germiston, Tvl, in 1969,
after entering the country on a mission to recruit ANC
members. He was then imprisoned on Robben Island,
Cape Town, for a period of seven years, where he was
severely ill-treated. After his release he was again
detained in 1979 and tortured in Durban, after which
he experienced severe psychiatric problems.
MATHENJW A, Busisiwe (53), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by Inkatha supporters at Amaoti,
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Inanda, near Durban, on 2 October 1988 in intensifying
violent conflict in the area. Her grandson, aged 16,
was killed in political conflict the following day.
MATHENJW A, Dumingo Sigwili (16), an ANC
supporter, was dragged out of a taxi, beaten and
stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters in Verulam,
Natal, on 3 October 1988 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MATHENJW A, Julia Sizani (37), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Matshana, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, burnt down by IFP supporters on 27 July 1992.
MATHENJW A, Nhlakanipho , was injured in a hand
grenade explosion at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 26 August 1992. Members of
the ESIKHAWINI HIT SQUAD entered the home of a
COSATU official, who threw a grenade at them. Four
people were injured in the incident. The COSATU
official was granted amnesty (AC/1998/0061).
MATHENJW A, Phyllis (55), was shot and injured and
had her house burnt down at Esikhawini, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, by ANC supporters on 14
January 1992. The perpetrators were allegedly looking
for Ms Mathenjwa'’s son, an IFP supporter.
MATHENJW A, Sifiso (3), was shot dead by named
IFP supporters in KwaMthethwa, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 5 September 1993 in continuing
political conflict in the area. His mother and grandmother
were also killed in the attack on the family home.
MATHENJW A, Thandukwazi Phillip  (37), an ANC
supporter, lost his house in an arson attack in Iniwe,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 25 December
1992 in continuing violent conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MATHEWS, Matlakala Ir ene, an Azanian Students’
Congress member, was arrested and kept in solitary
confinement at Stilfontein, Tvl, in 1986. She was
involved in organising a mass funeral for three activists
killed by the police.

MATHEZA, Martha Josephine (18), was shot and
killed by IFP supporters in the Entshawini area,
KwaZulu, near Stanger, Natal, on 3 January 1993 in
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MATHI, Sergeant Joseph , was killed on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MATHIBA, Isaac, a COSAS member, was detained in
Mamelodi, Pretoria, in 1984 during student protests in
the area.

MATHIBE, Millicient , was injured in a hand grenade
explosion on 25 May 1993 in Kimberley, Cape, during
an ANC protest march to the Bophuthatswana
consulate. Two MK operatives threw a hand grenade
at the building which bounced back into the crowd,
killing one person and injuring 41 others. Two ANC
members were wrongly convicted of the killing. Four
MK operatives and ANC members, two of whom
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denied guilt, were refused amnesty (AC/2000/053 and
AC/2000/241).

MATHIBE, Thembisile Samson (22), a UDF
supporter, was shot and injured by a named
COUNCILLOR and member of the SAP in Fort Beaufort,
Cape, in 1984 during resistance to the Black Local
Authority.

MATHIBELA, Bongani Patrick (23), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by members of the
SAP in Ntuzuma, near Durban, in August 1985, and
again by Inkatha supporters in December 1989. Both
incidents occurred in the context of intensifying
political conflict in the area.

MATHIBELA, David Butana (53), was abducted from
his home and severely beaten by IMBOKODO vigilantes
in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, in December 1985 during
resistance to INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele in an
attempt to force him to participate in assaults on
residents. Mr Mathibela refused.

MATHIBELA, Fantsi Piet (23), had his house
destroyed by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Dindela
village, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975.
Chief Mahlangu supported the state's proposal to
incorporate the village into Lebowa because it would
grant him chief rule but many residents resisted
INCORPORATION, Which resulted in violent conflict.
MATHIBELA, Johannes , chairperson of the local
ANCYL, was shot and injured by a named member of
the SAP in Groblersdal, Tvl, on 5 May 1990, allegedly
because of his political activities.

MATHIBELA, Kleinbooi (21), had his home destroyed
by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Goederede, near
Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975. Chief Mahlangu
supported INCORPORATION into Lebowa but many
residents resisted, which resulted in violent conflict.
MATHIBELA, Magidi Feitjee (66), had her home
destroyed by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in July
1975 at Kwadlaulale, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele.
Chief Mahlangu supported INCORPORATION into Lebowa
but many residents resisted, which led to violent
conflict.

MATHIBELA, Mali Lena (48), had her home destroyed
by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Goederede, near
Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975. Chief Mahlangu
supported INCORPORATION into Lebowa but many
residents resisted, resulting in violent conflict.
MATHIBELA, Mfanyana Stefans (66), lost his house
and possessions in an attack by supporters of Chief
Mahlangu at Goederede, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele,
in July 1975. The community opposed INCORPORATION
into Lebowa.

MATHIBELA, Phillip Buti (36), was abducted from his
home by IMBOKODO vigilantes in December 1985 and
was later found dead in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele. Mr
Mathibela was abducted at a time when residents
resisted INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele.
MATHIBELA, Phomolo Samson (19), an |FP
supporter, was shot and injured in Empangeni, Natal,
in January 1991 in ongoing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
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MATHIBELA, Selina (57), an ANC supporter, had her
house in Ntuzuma, near Durban, looted and set alight
by Inkatha supporters on 7 December 1989. She fled
with her children. Her son, aged 23, was shot and
severely injured in the attack.

MATHIBELA, William (44), an ANC activist, was
severely beaten by IFP supporters in one of many
random attacks on residents in Alexandra, Johannes-
burg, on 28 March 1992. Alexandra was one of several
Transvaal townships embroiled in conflict between the
ANC and IFP in the early 1990s.

MATHIBELI, Lekhoa Robert (31), was tortured and
mutilated by named perpetrators on 17 July 1971 in
Modderbee prison, Johannesburg, on a Pass offence.
MATHIKGE, Jacob Molefe (27), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl,
on 3 March 1990 during political conflict in the area
which began in late 1989 when residents burnt a
police informer’s car.

MATHIKWE, Lentikile Ephraim Mohapi , was one of
six persons abducted and interrogated by ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) members near Port St Johns,
Transkei, on 20 April 1994, shortly before the April
1994 elections. Mr Mathikwe and three others were
then shot dead. The remaining two survived the
shooting. The SDU members believed that they were
APLA members who were on their way to disrupt an
ANC mass rally. Three SDU members were granted
amnesty (AC/2000/045).

MATHISO, Joseph Sana (19), was shot with birdshot
by members of the security forces during protests in
Dukathole, Aliwal North, Cape, on 22 August 1985.
See ALWAL NORTH SHOOTINGS.

MATHISO, Mbuyiselo James (38), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the security forces on
23 August 1985 during political conflict in Aliwal North,
Cape. See ALIWAL NORTH SHOOTINGS.

MATHIZA, Aaron (20), a COSAS member, was
disabled after being shot in the spine by members of
the SAP in Meadowlands, Soweto, Johannesburg,
while organising a May Day rally on 1 May 1986.
MATHLOMBE, Victoria Ninah (19), an ANC
supporter, was detained and assaulted by members of
the SAP in Dannhauser, near Vryheid, Natal, in January
1982, allegedly because she had information about her
brother, an MK operative.

MATHOBELA, James Bongani (24), was shot by
members of the SAP at Ackerville, Tvl, on 25 March
1990 and then driven around by police until he collapsed.
MATHOBELA, Refiloe Grace (33), a Young Christian
Workers member, was tortured and kept in solitary
confinement by members of the SAP in detention in
Benoni, Tvl, in May 1978 because of her political
activities in the organisation.

MATHOMBANE, A, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
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were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MATHONSI, Isaac Mkombe (77), had his home burnt
down in KwaMthethwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, in 1992 in continuing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MATHONSI, Mgolozelwa Sipho  (41), an ANC supporter,
had his home burnt down in an arson attack by IFP
supporters at Mandini, Natal, on 29 November 1993.
MATHONSI, Mufumane Ber nard, a member of the
SAP, was robbed and killed by members of an ANC
self-defence unit (SDU) in Diepkloof, Johannesburg, on
11 August 1993. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0036).

MATHONSI, Qondeni Cecilina (55), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed several times by a named IFP supporter
at Trust Feeds, New Hanover, near Pietermaritzburg,
on 14 September 1991.

MATHONSI, Thembelihle Felix , a UDF supporter,
was shot dead by Inkatha supporters, one of whom is
named, in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 26 June 1984 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MATHONSI, Winnie Nobuhle (26), had her house
burnt down by Inkatha supporters in Sweetwaters,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, in March 1989 in
intensifying political conflict between Inkatha and UDF
supporters in the area.

MATHOPE, Aaron (9 months), was shot and killed on
17 June 1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong,
near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and
27 seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MATHOPE, Rebecca Ramajwe , was shot and killed
on 17 June 1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in
Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people
dead and 27 seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators
were granted amnesty; a further three applications were
refused (AC/2000/209).

MATHOPENG, Mabuti , was shot and injured on 23
May 1993, allegedly by members of the SAP, during a
march of Phola Park residents through Katlehong, Tvl.
MATHUDI, Thys , was shot dead by members of the
SAP on 7 March 1990 when he visited a neighbour’s
home in Tshing, Ventersdorp, Tvl, during a protest
demonstration.

MATHULE, Pinki Bettie (23), a UDF supporter, was
severely beaten by members of the A-TEAM in
Tumahole, Parys, OFS, in 1985.

MATHUSE, Geor ge, suffered damage to his motor
vehicle when it was set alight by a crowd of ANC
supporters at Phatsima, Rustenburg, Tvl, on 8 August
1993. One perpetrator was granted amesty for his
involvement in the incident (AC/1998/056).

MATHW ASA, Milfred Mar hasha, was shot and
stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Germiston, Tvl,
in 1990.

MATHWASA, Petr os, was stabbed and shot to death
by IFP supporters in Germiston, Tvl, in 1990.
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MATIA, Don Molteno (55), an ANC supporter, lost his
home in an arson attack in July 1985 in East London.
MATIBIDI, Phineas Nkgafeng , was stabbed to death
and his body burnt in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 3 September
1984 during a rent boycott, because he was suspected
of being a councillor. During the VAAL UPRISING councillors
were targeted as puppets of the apartheid state.
MATIDZA, Matiora William (81), a Venda
Independence People’s Party member, was arrested
and severely beaten by named policemen in Maelula
village, Sibasa, Venda, on 18 July 1984 during conflict
between the Venda Independence Party and the
Venda National Party.

MATIKINCA, Buzelwa Eunice (42), an ANC supporter,
was trampled on by a crowd running away from shots
fired by members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7
September 1992 during an ANC protest march to
demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people
were killed and 200 people injured in the event which
became known as the BiSHO MASSACRE. Two members
of the former CDF were refused amnesty for the
shooting (AC/2000/122).

MATIKINCA, Nomalungelo Lucy (39), was continually
harassed and detained by members of the Ciskei Police
and SAP in Mdantsane, Ciskei, in 1980. She was
questioned about her husband, an ANC/MK operative,
who went into exile, but was later killed in a shoot-out
with the police on 31 July 1985.

MATIKINCA, Patrick Dumile (16), a COUNCILLOR'S son,
was stabbed and burnt to death by ‘necklacing’ by
named perpetrators in Fort Beaufort, Cape, on 24
December 1986 during conflict between UDF
supporters and residents who supported the councillors.
MATIKINCA, Siputsu Camer on, an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the CDF in Bisho,
Ciskei, on 7 September 1992 during an ANC protest
march to demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty
people were killed and 200 people injured in the event
which became known as the BISHO MASSACRE. Two
members of the former CDF were refused amnesty
for the shooting (AC/2000/122).

MATIMA, Ntshiuoa Agnes (25), was held at gunpoint
while SAP members assaulted her husband in Thabong,
Welkom, OFS, on 24 October 1992. Her husband, a
member of the Thabong Civic Association, died of his
injuries. The assault took place at a time of heightened
political tension and boycotts in the area.

MATIMA, Solomon Mabusane (32), a member of the
Thabong Civic Association, was severely beaten by
named and other SAP members at Thabong, Welkom,
OFS, on 24 October 1992, at a time of heightened
political tension and boycotts in the area. He died of
his injuries.

MATIMA, Tefo Johannes (15), was shot dead by a
named SAP member in Masilo, Theunissen, OFS, on
19 May 1990. At the time, ‘comrades’ were allegedly
burning houses belonging to ‘anti-comrades’ and
police members. Tefo was found at his home and shot
dead while hiding under a bed.
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MATISO, Mbuyiseli Michael (27), was shot by
members of the SAP in Uitenhage, Cape during the
1986 consumer boycott.

MATISO, Melvin , a policeman, was shot and injured
when MK operatives robbed the Frankfurt police
station, Ciskei, of its firearms, in August 1992. One
MK operative was granted amnesty (AC/1999/354).
MATISO, Pisi, an ANCYL supporter, was shot dead by
named members of the SAP during political conflict in
Hofmeyr, Cape, on 28 July 1985.

MATISO, Sithembele (20), a student activist, was
killed when a rubber bullet fired by a named member
of the SAP hit his head in Guguletu, Cape Town, on 29
July 1985, during street protests following the discovery
of the bodies of the CrRaDOCK FOUR in the Eastern Cape.
MATITI, Zandisile (20), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the Ciskei Police in Sada, Ciskei,
on 11 September 1985, while on his way to visit his
sister during the unrest in Whittlesea.

MATIW ANA, Hombakazi (17), was shot dead by a
named SAP member who opened fire on mourners in
Joza, Grahamstown, Cape, on 12 May 1985.

MATIW ANA, Nontombi Beauty Siphokazi  (21), was
detained on 18 March 1985 in Pearston, Cape. She
was convicted of public violence and other charges
and sentenced to eight years’ imprisonment (three
suspended) at Vereeniging prison, where she was
repeatedly assaulted by named members of the SAP.
MATIW ANA, Siphiwe Headman (20), was shot dead
on 14 April 1988 when a named SAP member opened
fire on a mass funeral for unrest victims in Zwide
cemetery, Port Elizabeth.

MATIW ANE, (first names not given), was severely
beaten with rifle-butts, sjamboks and knobkerries in
Crossroads, Cape Town, in 1986, by supporters of a
local community leader, Mr Ngxobongwana. The assault
was due to his opposition to a rent system imposed
on the Crossroads community by Mr Ngxobongwana.
MATIW ANE, David Ndumiso (21), left Sobantu, near
Pietermaritzburg, in April 1968 to join MK, and was
never seen or heard of again. He is believed to have
died in exile in 1988.

MATIW ANE, Lungisa Welcome (17), was shot by
members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7 September
1992 during an ANC protest march to demand free
political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people were killed and
200 people injured in the event which became known
as the BisHO MASSACRE. Two members of the former
CDF were refused amnesty for the shooting
(AC/2000/122).

MATIWANE, Mafu (75), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the CDF on 19 September 1992 at
Majwarheni, near Alice, Ciskei, after being interrogated
about the burning of the headman'’s house.

MATJEE, Lawrence (16), was arrested and assaulted
by members of the Lebowa Police during student riots
in Motetema, Lebowa, in 1986.

MATJILA, Motshentshe Jan (28), an ANCYL member
and a marshal, was severely kicked and beaten by named
members of the SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg,
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after being arrested at a night vigil in December 1986.
He lost his front teeth, dislocated a shoulder blade and
spent a week in hospital recovering from his injuries.
MATJILA, Phillistus Botsietsa Lerutla  (24), was shot
by members of the SAP in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on 21
November 1985 during a march to municipal offices.
MATJOKANA, Mantshana Herbert , and his family
survived a hand grenade attack on 25 March 1985 on
his home in Tembisa, Tvl. Mr Matjokana was a deputy
mayor in the local community council. One MK operative
was granted amnesty for the attack (AC/2000/165).
MATLADISA, Sello Vincent (16), was severely
assaulted with rifle butts by named members of the
Venda Police at his home in Vleifontein, Louis Trichardt,
Tvl, on 16 June 1986. The police came looking for
Sello and his brothers because they resisted the
INCORPORATION of Vleifontein into Venda.

MATLADISA, Tebogo, an ANC supporter, was severely
sjambokked , beaten with rifle butts and then detained
for three months by alleged members of the Venda
Police in Vleifontein, Louis Trichardt, Tvl, on 16 June
1986. The police came looking for Mr Matladisa and
his brothers because they were involved in opposing
the INCORPORATION of Vleifontein into Venda.
MATLAKALA, Seboge Frans (47), was shot by IFP
supporters on their way to a rally on 17 January 1994
in Soweto, Johannesburg. Mr Matlakala died on 23
January 1994.

MATLALA, China Jacob (39), an ANC member, was
tortured in detention by named members of the SAP
in Tembisa and Benoni, Tvl, in 1982.

MATLALA, Choene Solomon (39), had his home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlala
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATLALA, Chuene Salphy (37), had her home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATLALA, Comfort (50), had his home burnt down on
2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters
of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlala resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATLALA, Godfrey Daniel (16), was shot in the face
with pellets in Tembisa, Tvl, on 4 August 1993 by
members of the SAP after an incident where a white
Cressida without number plates opened fire on
residents. Youths gathered to protect the community
and Godfrey was shot in a subsequent clash between
youths and police. He has lost the sight in his right eye
as a result of the shooting.

MATLALA, Jacob Madisha (33), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlala
resisted Lebowa’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATLALA, Kgadi Petrus (31), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr MAtlala
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resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATLALA, Lebogang Sunday (21), was detained and
tortured by members of the SAP in June 1976 in the
wake of the SoweTo UPRISING and held for 18 months
in Pretoria.

MATLALA, Makeku Flora (47), was shot dead and
her house set alight by supporters of the Sofasonke
Party in Bushbuckridge, Lebowa, on 4 June 1991
because of her son'’s political activities.

MATLALA, Makgabo George (44), was severely beaten
on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters
of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlala resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATLALA, Makopo George (38), had his home burnt
down in Moganyaka, Lebowa, in November 1990 by
named supporters of the chief because Mr Matlala
questioned the use of community funds. Mr Matlala
and a fellow community activist were reportedly
sentenced to death by the chief and were to be burnt
alive in their homes.

MATLALA, Mathebe Geofrey (18), was shot and
injured by members of the Lebowa Police in Marble
Hall, Tvl, in April 1986 after a meeting to discuss
police brutality in the area.

MATLALA, Matlou Alfr ed, had his home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by supporters
of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlala resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATLALA, Molotshi Richard (29), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten by members of the SADF in
Motetema, Lebowa, during the funeral of a ‘'comrade’
on 13 March 1986.

MATLALA, Morwata Joseph (41), lost his home when
it was burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala,
Lebowa, by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because
Mr Matlala resisted Lebowa's proposed independence
from South Africa.

MATLALA, Mothokoa T error (26), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlala
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATLALA, Noko Solomon (43), lost his home when
it was burnt down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala,
Lebowa, by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because
Mr Matlala resisted Lebowa’s proposed independence
from South Africa.

MATLALA, Phillip Seabe (24), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten and tortured by members of the
Lebowa Police in Motetema, Lebowa, on 9 March 1986
after he was suspected of hatching a plan to topple
the Lebowa government. Mr Matlala was arrested at
the funeral of an activist. At least six people were shot
dead and five wounded when police tried to stop
youths entering Motetema for the funeral.

MATLALA, Plantina Seemole (61), had her home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
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MATLALA, Seemole Modjadji (49), had her house
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa’s proposed independence from South Africa.
MATLALENG, Junior , was killed in Khutsong,
Carletonville, Tvl, by members of the SAP and the
'Zim-zims' faction within the ANC branch when a night
vigil for an ANC activist was attacked on 16 December
1990. See KHUTSONG YOUTH CONGRESS.
MATLASULELE, Madimetja , an ANC member, was
arrested while attending a night vigil for assassinated
SACP leader CHRis HANI in Mookgophog, Naboomspruit,
Tvl, in April 1993. He was detained for three days and
beaten daily, suffocated with a rubber tube and denied
food and water.

MATLAWE, Selekiso Howard , was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl,
on 3 March 1990. Khutsong was occupied by the SAP
at the time which led to numerous clashes between
police and members of the community.

MATLHABE, Daniel (23), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SAP in Dobsonville, Soweto,
Johanneburg, on 1 May 1992. Mr Matlhabe was
allegedly shot while running away from IFP supporters
during conflict between hostel-dwellers and residents
which claimed many lives between 1990 and 1993.
MATLHAELA, Elizabeth Puleng , was injured and
suffered damage to property on 17 June 1992 in the
BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MATLHAKO, Christopher Tshepo (18), a COSAS
member and UDF supporter, was detained for ten
days under Section 50 in Kimberley, Cape, on 10 April
1985. He was severely tortured by named members
of the SAP at the police station and was hospitalised
after his detention.

MATLHAKOANE, Daniel Thebe (17), was shot
several times by IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers at
Klipspruit, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 3 May 1991
during conflict between |IFP-aligned Nancefield hostel-
dwellers and Pimville residents.

MATLHARE, Isaac Rocks (20), an ANC member from
Chiawelo, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 9 December
1982 in an attack by SADF Special Forces operatives
on several ANC houses and a block of flats on
Maseru, Lesotho. Thirty South Africans and 12 citizens
of Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack.
MATLHOKO, Senatlana Thomas (21), an ANC
activist, was shot dead by IFP supporters in Tigane,
Hartbeesfontein, Tvl, on 14 May 1993 on his way to
make arrangements for a mass funeral the next day.
While passing through an IFP-controlled zone with
fellow activists, shots were fired from a house and Mr
Matlhoko was hit in the head and killed.

MATLHOKO, Thomas Oupa , was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Tigane, Hartbeesfontein, Tvl, on 14 May
1993 during a confrontation between IFP and ANC youths.
Mr Matlhoko was reportedly trying to assist a friend
targeted by the IFP supporters when he was killed.
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MATLOGA, Raselina Ntombizodwa (57), was injured
when a hand grenade exploded in a bus transporting
workers in Heidelberg, Tvl, on 28 September 1992
during a violent labour dispute between striking
COSATU-aligned FAWU workers and non-striking IFP-
aligned UWUSA workers from July to December
1992. One person was killed and 13 others were
injured in the attack.

MATLOHA, Alfr ed, was shot dead by IFP supporters
in Meadowlands, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 28 April
1991. The attack followed the funeral of Moses
Khumalo, the slain IFP mayor of Soweto. Three family
members died in the attack.

MATLOHA, Stephen , was hacked to death with pangas
by IFP supporters at his home in Meadowlands,
Soweto, Johanneburg, on 28 April 1991. The attack
followed the funeral of Moses Khumalo, slain IFP
mayor of Soweto. Three family members died in the
attack.

MATLOMBE, Christina Mantombi (22), an ANC
supporter, was arrested in January 1981, detained for
a week and severely assaulted by named members of
the SAP in Vryheid, Natal, who wanted information
about her brothers, who were in exile. Ms Matlombe
was three months pregnant at the time, and lost her
baby as a result of the beating.

MATLOTLO, Paulos (20), a UDF activist, was arrested,
bitten by police dogs, and detained for 14 days in
Aliwal North, Cape, on 21 August 1985 during the
state of emergency. He was denied access to medical
treatment. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MATLOU, Aletta Mamogabi (14), was shot with
birdshot by members of the SAP in lkageng,
Potchefstroom, Tvl, on 13 March 1990. Aletta was
hiding in a shack, watching the looting and burning of
a bottlestore when police allegedly began shooting at
the crowd.

MATLOU, Ezekiel Matsiela (35), was injured when he
was knocked down by a vehicle driven by members of
the Bophuthatswana Police in Ga-Rankuwa, Bophutha-
tswana, on 7 February 1990. Mr Matlou was
deliberately run over when police attacked community
members on a protest march about rents imposed by
the Bophuthatswana government

MATLOU, Lebiba Joseph (42), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlou
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATLOU, Magadu David (56), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlou
resisted Lebowa'’s proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATLOU, Makgalane Solomon , an ANC supporter,
was detained several times without trial and regularly
sjambokked by members of the SAP in Nebo, Lebowa,
between 1966 and 1969 during conflict over
chieftainship in the area.

MATLOU, Mashala Elisa (27), had her home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
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supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATLOU, Mediyamere Sana (51), was whipped and
stoned in Pietersburg, Tvl, on 19 January 1981 when
Chief Lerumo's supporters were forced by Chief
Mapela's supporters forced to accept his leadership.
MATLOU, Ngdakoana Maggie (25), an ANC
supporter, was shot and severely injured by IFP
supporters on a train to Germiston, Tvl, on 27 January
1991. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.

MATLOU, Thahedi Mack (60), had his home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because Mr Matlou
resisted Lebowa's proposed independence from South
Africa.

MATODLANA, Monde Ronnie (24), was assaulted by
members of the SAP and SADF in KwaNobuhle,
Uitenhage, Cape, in April 1986. Mr Matodlana had
allegedly been provoked by a soldier and threw a
stone at him, upon which SADF backup was called in
and he was assaulted.

MATODLANA, Mxhasi Matthew (20), a UDF
supporter, was detained for 14 days under emergency
regulations, in Kareedouw, Cape, during April 1986.
During his detention, he was assaulted and tortured by
members of the SAP.

MATODZI, (first name not given), lost her home in an
arson attack by a group of community residents in
Venda on 10 March 1990. Nine people were killed and
11 houses burnt down in attacks on people accused of
practising witchcraft to impede the community’s
campaign for re-incorporation of the homeland into
South Africa. Two perpetrators were refused amnesty
(AC/2000/094).

MATOLENGWE, Fezeka (28), had her home burnt
down in Nyanga Bush, Cape Town, in May 1986, during
the mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter
camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit
approval and aid of the security forces. Over 60 people
were killed and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.
MATOLENGWE, Mongazi Florence (38), had her
house destroyed in an arson attack in Nyanga, Cape
Town, in May 1986, during the mass destruction of
UDF-supporting squatter camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes,
acting with the tacit approval and aid of the security
forces. Over 60 people were killed and 20 000 homes
were burnt in the attacks.

MATOME, Blantina (40), had her home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATOME, Maphuti (58), had her home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATOMELA, Mkhangeli (24), an ANC supporter, was
detained for two weeks by members of the Transkei
Police on 8 August 1981 in Butterworth, Transkei.
During his detention, he was assaulted and tortured
while under interrogation about his political activities.
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MATOMELA, Qinisekile Jef frey (34), a UDF
supporter, was stabbed and assaulted with pick handles
on 1 April 1987 during conflict between AMAAFRIKA and
UDF supporters in Uitenhage, Cape.

MATONG, Gilbert Kgomotso (23), an ANCYL
member, was arrested and tortured in August 1993 by
members of the Bophuthatswana Police at Itoseng,
Bophuthatswana, when he insisted on accompanying
his colleague who had been arrested.

MATONSI, Pumzile Esther (73), had her house burnt
down at Machibini, KwaZulu, near Mandini, Natal, in
November 1993 in political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area. The attack was targeted
at her son, who was an ANC supporter. He was was
shot and injured.

MATOTI, Agnes Baubui (25), was arrested by members
of the Bophuthatswana Police at Leeuwfontein, Tvl, on
1 July 1989 and detained for a week during community
resistance to the INCORPORATION of Leeuwfontein into
Bophuthatswana.

MATOTI, Felicity Nomonde (34), was detained in
Umtata, Transkei, on 17 February 1987, in connection
with the activities of her brother, an MK operative. Ms
Matoti was severely tortured and sexually assaulted
by members of the Transkei Security Branch. Two
days after her detention, she was admitted to
hospital, where she spent seven months. One
Transkei Security Branch operative was granted
amnesty for torture (AC/2000/076).

MATOTI, Kutazwa Constance (17), was detained and
severely beaten by named members of the SAP in
Zolani, Ashton, Cape, in May 1986. She was then
detained for three months under emergency regulations.
See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MATOTO, Mpoye Elias (22), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by members of the SAP after his
arrest in Tembisa, Tvl, on 31 July 1985 because of his
involvement in organising community meetings.
MATOTO, Richard Ntsikelelo (22), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Middelburg,
Cape, on 15 February 1986.

MATROOS, Aleta , the wife of an AMAasoLOMZI vigilante,
was stabbed and injured by a named UDF supporter in
Zolani, Ashton, Cape, on 8 April 1986, during conflict
between residents and the Amasolomzi. Ms Matroos
had been a state witness in a court case against
several UDF supporters.

MATROOS, Mziwamadoda Paulos (17), was beaten
on his arrest in Zolani, Ashton, Cape, on 20 November
1985. He was one of over 100 Zolani residents arrested
and accused of burning the homes of AMAsSoLOMZI
vigilante members. Thirty-two residents were finally
sentenced to prison terms. Mr Matroos was held in
custody awaiting trial for ten months and served a prison
sentence until his release in 1991 as a political prisoner.
MATROOS, Nikiwe Victoria (34), was severely beaten
by members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Taung,
Bophuthatswana, in 1988. Ms Matroos was attending
a protest meeting to discuss the fate of exiled Chief
Mankuroane.
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MATROSS, Zolile Christopher (35), a UDF supporter
and Civic activist, was arrested on charges of public
violence and beaten by police in Worcester, Cape, in
August 1985. He fled the country, returning in 1986
when he was again arrested on 29 September 1986 in
Worcester and held under secTioN 29. He then served
five years of a 14-year prison sentence.

MATSABA, Lephallo Abel , was tortured by members
of the SAP while in police custody in Kroonstad, OFS,
in 1991. He had been arrested on suspicion of the
murder of a member of the THREE MILLION GANG.
MATSABO, Abel , was shot at by NUMSA members
during a strike at the Haggie Rand factory in Cleveland,
Johannesburg, on 24 November 1989. Amnesty was
granted to the one NUMSA member (AC/1999/0296).
MATSAMGU, Wilson (40), a UDF supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SAP near Endlovini, Soweto,
on 19 July 1986. Mr Matsamgu had attended a night
vigil the previous night.

MATSANE, Miemie suffered an attempt on her life when
she was attacked by IFP supporters during political
conflict at Bushbuckridge, Lebowa, on 13 June 1993.
One person was killed. Ms Matsane and another were
injured. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0343).

MATSANE, Thabo Godfr ey, an ANC activist, was
arrested and tortured by named members of the SAP
in Hoedspruit, Tvl, on 7 April 1992.

MATSAP A, an AZAPO suppor ter, was arrested at a
shebeen by named members of the Lebowa Police at
Mahwelereng, Lebowa, during an illegal gathering on
4 April 1985.

MATSAPOLA, Elizabeth (18), was shot on the forehead
and in the back by members of the SAP in Naledi,
Soweto, on 17 June 1976 during the SOWETO UPRISING.
MATSEMBE, David , was seriously injured when he
was stabbed by ANC supporters at a squatter camp
on a chicken farm in Kliptown, Soweto, Johannesburg,
on 7 July 1991. One ANC supporter was granted
amnesty for the attempted killing (AC/1999/0212).
MATSEMELA, Elizabeth (61), an ANC supporter, was
arrested in June 1986 and held at Wilbeken prison in
Benoni, Tvl, following student boycotts and other
political protests in the area.

MATSEMELA, Matsobane Monis (32), an MK
operative, was detained and tortured for nearly a year
from 1 April 1964 in Pretoria by named members of
the SAP. He was accused of sabotaging the Ministry
of Agriculture.

MATSEMELA, Ramolobi Robert (48), had his home
burnt down by members of the Bophuthatswana
Police in Rustenburg, Tvl, on 17 January 1993.
MATSEMELA, Solomon (24), an ANCYL member,
was assaulted by members of the SAP in Soshanguve,
Pretoria, in March 1986 following a student boycott in
the area.

MATSENA, Michael Silas (17), a community activist,
was tortured in detention in 1985 and 1986 and his
family home in Mamelodi, Pretoria, was bombed by
members of the SAP in 1986.
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MATSEP ANE, Makomene , was killed when AWWB
members detonated a car bomb in Bree Street,
Johannesburg, on 24 April 1994, in an effort to disrupt
the electoral process. Seven people were killed and 13
injured in the blast. Two perpetrators were granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0342). See RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.
MATSETELA, Lucas (24), was shot and severely
injured when members of the MUNICIPAL POLICE
opened fire on protesters in Naledi, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 5 October 1986.

MATSHABA, Nunu Andrew Freddy (29), a Jabavu
Soweto street committee member, was severely
tortured in detention by members of the SAP at Protea,
Soweto, Johannesburg, in 1987. Mr Matshaba was
beaten, subjected to electric shocks and had teargas
sprayed into his eyes to try and force him to reveal the
names of street committee members involved in
monitoring and enforcing the rent boycott in Soweto.
MATSHAKA, Lukhanyiso Arthur (26), an AZAPO
member, was hacked and stabbed to death by UDF
supporters on 27 June 1987 during political conflict in
KwaNobuhle, Uitenhage, Cape.

MATSHAKA, Mantantisa Priscilla  (52), was stabbed,
stoned and assaulted by UDF supporters on 28 May
1986 during political conflict between UDF and AZAPO
supporters in KwaNobuhle, Uitenhage, Cape.
MATSHALUKA, Mzimkhulu Desmond  (34), a UDF
supporter, was stabbed and seriously injured by a
named AZAPO supporter during political conflict in
Walmer township, Port Elizabeth, on 27 August 1985.
MATSHANA, Lazarus Ndebele (65), an ANC
supporter, was sjambokked by members of the
Bophuthatswana Police in Phokeng, Bophuthatswana,
while participating in an ANC march through the
township on 21 March 1991

MATSHATSHA, Lina Dieketseng (27), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead in Kliprivier, Tvl, on 21
September 1993 when gunmen travelling in two
minibuses opened fire on the taxi in which she was
travelling. Attacks on taxis were a characteristic of
political conflict on the East Rand from 1991.
MATSHAYA, Magdaline Nombulelo (45), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down on 30 April 1990
in Pholile, Matatiele, Natal, by a group of men carrying
traditional weapons and allegedly looking for ANC
supporters. Nine homes were burnt in the area that
day. At the time ANC supporters were also killed in an
attempt to prevent the setting up of local ANC
branches in the area.

MATSHAYA, Quido Mvikeli (22), an ANC supporter,
was beaten by named perpetrators in Matatiele,
Transkei, on 16 March 1990. A group of men
associated with the traditional authorities and opposed
to the launch of an ANC branch attacked numerous
homes and persons associated with the ANC.
MATSHAYA, Thabo Bethuel (52), an ANC supporter,
lost his home when it was burnt down by named
perpetrators in Matatiele, Transkei, on 30 April 1990. A
group of men associated with the traditional
authorities and opposed to the launch of an ANC
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branch attacked numerous homes and persons
associated with the ANC.

MATSHAYANA, Mxolisi MacDonald , a PAC activist,
was arrested and sentenced to five years' impris-
onment in 1960 in Transkei, for his political activities.
On release from prison, he was placed under house
arrest for a further four years.

MATSHAYI, Temba, a UDF supporter, was abducted
and burnt to death by named perpetrators in
Uitenhage, Cape, on 30 November 1986, during
violent political conflict between the UDF and
AMAAFRIKA members in the area.

MATSHEHLE, Lucas (19), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SADF while preparing for a
fellow ‘comrade’s’ funeral in Gamagolego village,
Sekhukhuneland, Lebowa, on 20 June 1986.
MATSHEKA, Ketlogetswe Joseph (24), was shot by
AWB members in Mafikeng, Bophuthatswana, when
the AWB attempted to invade Bophuthatswana on 12
March 1994.

MATSHEKE, Gugulethu , an ANC supporter, was shot
and injured by members of the KwaZuLu POLICE in
Umlazi, Durban, on 23 November 1992.
MATSHEKETE, Mphangeli (30), a civic organisation
member, was shot dead by members of the SADF
during intense public unrest in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East
London, on 14 August 1985.

MATSHELE, Andile (28), an ANC underground
member, was arrested, assaulted and tortured by
being suffocated on 15 April 1986 in the Cambridge
police station, East London. Police wanted information
from him about MK operatives who were allegedly in
hiding at Mooiplaas, near East London, where Mr
Matshele lived.

MATSHELE, Dan (26), an ANC underground member,
was arrested in February 1982 in Aliwal North, Cape,
and tortured by suffocation and electric shocks over
seven days by named members of the Security Police
who wanted information on MK operatives outside the
country. Mr Matshele was transferred to Dimbaza
police station, Ciskei, where he was detained for
seven months.

MATSHIANE, Seopele John (49), an ANC supporter,
was the victim of a teargas attack by members of the
SAP in KwaNdebele, on 14 May 1986. Earlier in the
day there had been a meeting in the area because
ANC supporters opposed KwaNdebele independence.
MATSHIBI, Siphiwo Macdonald Kaizer  (22), a UDF
supporter, was detained without trial in Alexandria,
Cape, during the state of emergency in August 1986.
MATSHIKA, Nobayeni Lettie (43), had her home
destroyed by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in Thaba
Lebota, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in July 1975. Chief
Mahlangu supported the State’s proposal to incorporate
the village into Lebowa but many residents resisted
INCORPORATION Which resulted in violent conflict.
MATSHIKI, Milton Chumani Nozulu , was killed and
decapitated by Pogo members in Mbekweni, Paarl,
Cape, on 27 October 1962, allegedly for his opposition
to Pogo activities.
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MATSHIKIZA, James Mzwandile , a UDF supporter,
was burnt to death after his friend's home where he
was sleeping was set alight at Philippi, Cape Town, on
27 October 1989. His mother had been warned a
week before his death that his life was in danger.
MATSHINGA, Abner V usi, was shot and injured by
members of SAP at Sebokeng, Tvl. on 3 September
1984. Mr Matshinga was allegedly mistakenly thought
to be one of a crowd burming down shops at the time
of the shooting.

MATSHIP A, Maringisile (39), had her home in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
1993 in intense political conflict between the 'Rep’ AND
'GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MATSHIY ANE, Babereki Piccanin (52), had his home
destroyed by supporters of Chief Mahlangu in
Vriesgewacht, near Dennilton, KwaNdebele, in 1975.
Chief Mahlangu supported the State’s proposal to
incorporate the village into Lebowa but many residents
resisted INCORPORATION which resulted in violent conflict.
MATSHOBA, Andile (18), a COSATU branch secretary,
was shot dead by members of the Ciskei Police at
Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 7 September 1985, when he
tried to flee from them.

MATSHOBA, Diliza Benedict (34), a UDF supporter
and SACC employee, disappeared from his home on
23 May 1986 and his body was found three days later
at the government mortuary, in Zondi, Soweto, covered
with sjambok weals. He is believed to have been
beaten and tortured to death by members of the SAP
who then staged a car accident to cover up his death.
MATSHOBA, Fezile , was gunned down, by a named
SAP hitman at Protea, Soweto, Johanneburg, on 4
January 1986 for his political activities in the area and
his involvement with the SACC, a church organisation
opposed to police brutality.

MATSHOBA, Nomathemba Amoree (40), an ANC
supporter, lost her home and all its contents in an
atack by IFP supporters in Chimora, Umlazi, Durban,
on 16 January 1992 in intense political conflict in the
area. See CHIMORA SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.

MATSHOBA, Sicero Sherperd (44), a UDF supporter
and Civic activist, was detained in Worcester, Cape, on
10 October 1985, under emergency regulations. He
was again detained for over ten months from 12 June
1986 at Victor Verster prison in Paarl, Cape.
MATSHOBANE, Mandla (22), was shot and tortured
by members of the SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg,
on 1 May 1986.

MATSHOGO, Allen , was shot dead by members of
the SAP on his way to a night vigil in Mohlakeng,
Randfontein, Tvl, on 2 March 1986 because he was
out after curfew during the state of emergency.
MATSHOGO, Stephen (22), was beaten to death with
knobkerries by members of the SAP in Kagiso, Tvl, on
24 February 1984.

MATSHONISA, Noxolo (24), had her home in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
1993 in intense political conflict between the 'RED’ AND
'GREEN' FACTIONS.
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MATSHUSA, Maggie , was burnt to death and her
house was set alight by a group of community residents
in Venda on 10 March 1990. Nine people were killed
and 11 houses burnt down in attacks on people
accused of practising witchcraft to impede the
community’s campaign for re-incorporation of the
homeland into South Africa. Two perpetrators were
refused amnesty (AC/2000/094).

MATSHWINY ANE, Mar garet (79), was burnt to death
by named perpetrators in Hammanskraal, Tvl, on 14
April 1992 during conflict between youths and elders
about the value of traditional practices. Ms
Matshwinyane was labelled a witch by the youth and
accused of ‘delaying’ the struggle.

MATSI, Mosima Julia (45), had her home burnt down
on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATSIE, Adelade , was shot and injured by members
of the SAP in Matwabeng, Senekal, OFS, on 11
February 1990, when student protesters, who had been
marching to celebrate the release of Nelson Mandela
from prison, ran through the Matsie home, pursued by
members of the SAP. Ms Matsie's 12-year-old
granddaughter was also shot and injured. The following
day, her husband was shot dead by the police.
MATSIE, Mosele Sinah (12), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in Matwabeng, Senekal, OFS, on
11 February 1990, when student protesters, who had
been marching to celebrate the release of Nelson
Mandela from prison, ran through the Matsie home,
pursued by members of the SAP. Her grandmother
was also shot and injured. Her grandfather was shot
dead by the police the next day.

MATSIE, Schalk (75), was shot dead in front of his
house by members of the SAP in Matwabeng,
Senekal, OFS, on 12 February 1990. Police opened fire
on protesters celebrating the release of Nelson
Mandela from prison.

MATSIPE, (first name not given), a councillor, suffered
damage to his property as a result of a hand grenade
attack at his home in Jabulani, Soweto, Johannesburg,
on an unspecified date between 1985 and 1987 by
members of the Soweto Security Branch purporting to
be MK operatives. The operation was intended to give
an informer credibility. Four Soweto Security Branch
operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2001/036).
MATSOBANE, Ninki Maria (15), was arrested,
detained for three days, and assaulted while in police
custody in Parys, OFS, in July 1990. Ninki was caught
up in a clash between the police and people returning
from a mass meeting.

MATSOBANE, Piet , died after being beaten by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala on 2 March 1980
because Mr Matsobane resisted Lebowa's proposed
independence from South Africa

MATSOBANE, Thomas (13), was shot and killed by
members of the SAP in Tembisa, Tvl, in June 1976 in
the wake of the SOWETO UPRISING.

MATSOBE, Letlhogonolo Lazarus (15), an ANC
supporter, was severely beaten with rifle butts by
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members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Zeerust,
Tvl, in September 1990. Letlhogonolo was a student
activist and opposed the INCORPORATION of the Makgola
community into Bophuthatswana.

MATSOBE, Mpedi Richard (41), was beaten,
suffocated by a plastic bag and subjected to electric
shocks by members of the Bophuthatswana Police
and the SAP in Zeerust, Tvl, in August 1989. He was
arrested on charges of killing a policeman during a
protest by Braklaagte community against INCORPO-
RATION into Bophuthatswana.

MATSOBOSHE, Mr (first names not given), was
assaulted by APLA members at a PAC camp in
Tanzania during 1992 or 1993. He was allegedly
assaulted because he disobeyed the code of conduct.
One perpetrator was granted amnesty (AC/2000/247).
MATSOELE, Grace Mantshe (41), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP’s Riot Squad in Kimberley,
Cape, on 22 August 1985. The shooting occurred
during student protests and a SCHOOL BOYCOTT.
MATSOGE, Philip Filipo , was shot dead by members
of the SAP in Soweto, on 29 May 1992 during conflict
between mainly IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers and
ANC-supporting residents. Mr Matsoge and others
were guarding the township against expected night
attacks by hostel-dwellers when he was shot ten
times in the chest, arms, stomach and feet.
MATSOLO, Luthando Duncan (19), a member of
SASM, was detained for six months in March 1977 in
Graaff-Reinet, Cape. During his detention, he spent
four months in solitary confinement.

MATSOLO, Masetheo Jerminah (38), was struck on the
head and injured while travelling home in a taxi during
a stayaway in Kroonstad, OFS, on 17 March 1986.
MATSOLO, Sabelo (16), a member of SASM, was
detained for six months in March 1977, and was shot
and injured by members of the SAP during the 1980
unrest in Graaff-Reinet, Cape.

MATSOLO, Willie Kolisile (49), a teacher, was beaten
to death by members of the SAP for allegedly resisting
arrest during a period of political unrest in Masizakhe,
Graaff-Reinet, Cape, on 28 January 1977.
MATSOMANE, Solomon , was shot dead by members
of the Lebowa Police in Groblersdal, Tvl, in 1986.
MATSONO, Nomathamsanqga , died after being shot
by members of the SAP in Daveyton, Tvl, on 21 March
1990 after an Inkatha rally that day and unrest in the
township.

MATSUNY ANE, Mogale Hekman (31), a BCM activist
and NAWUSA member, was severely beaten by
members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Alexandra,
Johannesburg, in December 1977. Mr Matsunyane
was reportedly tortured in detention in 1988.

MATSW ALEDI, Leah, was severely injured on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MATTEWS, John Edward (51), a SACP member and
MK operative, was detained on 25 June 1964 and

race 358



made to stand in one spot for 36 hours by members
of the SAP before being held in solitary confinement in
Johannesburg. He was eventually sentenced to 15
years' imprisonment and was banned after his release.
MATTHEE, Vivian Stanley (aka “Trevor’) (28), an MK
operative from Paarl, Cape, was shot dead by Viakplaas
operatives in a raid on two houses in Maseru, Lesotho,
on 19 December 1985. Nine people were killed in the
raid, three of which were citizens of Lesotho. Seven
operatives, including the deputy commander of
Security Branch headqguarters, the commander of the
section that oversaw the work of Viakplaas, and the
commander of Vlakplaas, applied for amnesty for the
operation. All except the commander of Security Branch
headquarters were granted amnesty (AC/2001/231 and
AC/2001/279).

MATTHEWS, Doris Thokozani (36), had her house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Elufafa, Ixopo, Natal,
on 18 July 1992 in continuing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area. She was allegedly
perceived to be an ANC supporter and was living in an
IFP area at the time.

MATTHEWS, Reuben ‘Monnapule’ (17), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by a member of the
SAP after an arson attack in Mataleng, Barkly West,
Cape, on 25 August 1990.

MATTHYS, Johnny Martin ‘Fiefie Mirgens’  (20), was
shot and injured by a named SAP member in Kakamas,
Cape, on 13 February 1988. The perpetrator opened
fire on residents outside a house being raided by police.
Two children were shot dead and 13 people injured.
MATUBA, Makwena Christina , had her home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MATUKW ANA, Mzwandile Thomas (21), a UDF
supporter, was shot dead by members of the security
forces during political conflict at Endlovini, Port
Elizabeth, on 16 October 1985.

MATUKW ANA, Ntobeko Arthur (17), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP in March 1983 in
Zwide, Port Elizabeth.

MATUTOANE, Mpule Johanna (29), an ANC supporter,
was shot in the left shoulder in Gobizitwana beer hall
in Zone 14, Sebokeng, Tvl, by residents of the Kwa-
Madala hostel on 23 May 1991 during conflict between
mainly IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers and ANC-
supporting residents. Five people died and 18 were
seriously injured in the attack shortly after the attack
on a night vigil for ANCYL member. The death toll later
rose to 14.

MATYA, Siphiwo Lawr ence (20), an MK cadre, died
in UNITA ambush in Viana, Angola, on 5 November
1987. MK soldiers based in Angola assisted the FAPLA
forces of the ruling MPLA government in its war
against UNITA, which was assisted by the South
African government. 1987-8 saw particularly fierce
fighting, in which a number of MK soldiers were killed
in combat, often in ambushes laid by UNITA.
MATYALENI, Nomveliso , lost her home in an arson
attack at Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, in intense
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conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area
during 1993.

MATYENI, Makhwenkwe (35), a PAC member, was
detained in January 1962 by members of the SAP in
East London. He was held for a year without being
charged.

MATYENI, Mzwandile (39), was assaulted by members
of the Ciskei Police at Phathikhala police station, near
Seymour, Ciskei, on 6 January 1992, after being
arrested at the meeting of the Kolomane Residents’
Association.

MATYENI, Nelson , an IKoNGo member, was shot by
the members of the SAP in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei,
during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MATYENI, Pinky (17), was severely assaulted by
members of the SAP in January 1992 at Kolomane
police station in Seymour, Ciskei, after a community
meeting. Mr Matyeni was accused of alerting people
about police presence in the area.

MATYENI, Siphiwe , an ANC member, was severely
assaulted by named members of the SAP at Kolomane,
Seymour, Ciskei, in November 1992, for organising a
public meeting in the area to inform people about the
ANC.

MATYHOLO, Zalisile Ernest (33), a UDF supporter,
was severely assaulted and then decapitated by named
members of a group supporting the Ciskei government
in Zwelitsha, Ciskei, on 14 November 1985. He was
wanted by police for his role in assisting youths to skip
the country into exile.

MATYOBENI, Mfundo , was assaulted by named ANC
members in 1994 during conflict between ANC and
ADM members at Mnggesha, near King William's
Town, Cape.

MATYOBENI, Nothabeli Agnes , an ANC supporter,
had her home destroyed in an arson attacks by other
ANC supporters at Mnggesha, near King William's
Town, Cape, in April 1994, after the perpetrators
accused her of being an ADM member.

MATYOLO, Nokulunga , was shot on 11 December
1990 in Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters,
during political conflict on the East Rand which
exploded in August 1990.

MATYW ATYWA, Daweti (29), a PAC supporter, was
severely beaten by police on his arrest during a Pogo
march to the police station in Paarl, Cape, on 21
November 1962. Two Paarl residents were killed by
the marchers and five marchers were shot dead. Mr
Matywatywa was then convicted of sabotage and
sentenced to eight years’ imprisonment on Robben
Island, Cape Town. After his release he was banned
for six years.

MAUMELA, Tshifihiwa Anthony (18), an ANC
supporter, was detained, tortured and constantly
intimidated by police in Sibasa, Venda, from 1977
because he addressed a march against Bantu
education and openly criticised apartheid policies.
MAUNYE, Simon Peter , a member of the SAP,
survived an attempted armed robbery by MK operatives
at the Emthonjeni police station in Machadodorp, Tvl,
on 25 July 1990. The aim of the operations was to
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seize weapons. A police colleague was killed and
another wounded. One of the attackers also died. One
MK operative was granted amnesty (AC/2000/109).
MAVATHA, Sdumo (50), an ANC supporter, had his
house burnt down by PAC supporters in Zwelitsha,
Ciskei in 1993, during conflict over the reimposition of
the headman system in Ciskei.

MAVHAUDU, Frans , a member of the headman’s
council, was assaulted and burnt to death by youths in
Tshiozwi district, Venda, on 6 March 1990, allegedly
because he was accused of using witchcraft to hinder
the work of youth activists in the area. The perpetrators
requested Mr Mavhaudu to leave the area. When he
refused, he was stoned and set alight and his hut was
burnt. Five ANC supporters were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/094).

MAVHUNGA, Dovhani Grace (23), was forcibly
removed from her home at Morokolong near Hammans-
kraal, Tvl, by members of the Bophuthatswana Police
on 25 December 1992. She was detained and her
house was destroyed because she supported Chief
Kekane against Chief Mangope.

MAVHUNGA, Edward Nndwakhulu , was burnt to
death and his house set alight by members of the
Mavhunga Youth Congress at Mavhunga, Venda, on 6
April 1990. Mr Mavhunga was accused of using
witchcraft to hinder the work of youth activists in the
area, and was allegedly killed because he refused to
leave the area. Eleven ANC supporters were granted
amnesty and one was refused (AC/2000/094).
MAVHUNGA, Ntendeleni Frans , was arrested and
tortured in detention in Mutale, Venda, in 1987 because

he gave assistance to someone accused of ‘terrorism’.

MAVHUNGA, Phineas T apani, was severely beaten
by members of the SAP in Mutale, Venda, in 1987.
MAVIKELA, Andile Cheerful Ace (13), a UDF
supporter, had his arm twisted until his elbow broke
by a named member of the SAP in Port Alfred, Cape,
in October 1985, after the perpetrator allegedly asked
in Afrikaans where Mr Mavikela was going and he
answered in Xhosa.

MAVIMBELA, Nomphumelelo , was shot and
severely injured by members of the KwaZulu Police in
Ncotshane, Tvl, on 27 November 1993 while attending
a night vigil.

MAVUME, Xolile Ashington (22), an ANC supporter,
was abducted on 16 September 1986 and later shot
dead by a named SADF soldier during protests in
KwaZakele-Magaleni, Port Elizabeth.

MAVUNDLA, Alson Mandlenkosi (33), an ANC
supporter, had his home burnt down by a named IFP
supporter in Utrecht, Natal, on 26 December 1993.
MAVUNDLA, Bangubukhosi George  (64), had his
house in Port Shepstone, Natal, destroyed by IFP
supporters, some of whom are named, in July 1992,
allegedly because he was thought to be harbouring an
ANC leader.

MAVUNDLA, Claud Lindela , a constable in the SAP,
was injured when his police patrol vehicle detonated a
landmine planted by MK operatives, on the road
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between Barberton and Josefsdal, Tvl, on 14 December
1986. The attack formed part of ‘Operation Cetshwayo’,
an MK landmine campaign in the Eastern Tvl. Three
MK operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2000/111).
See ANC LANDMINE CAMPAIGN.

MAVUNDLA, Elvis Mphilelwa Prizer (25), lost his
possessions when his home in Gamalakhe, KwaZulu,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, was vandalised and his
property destroyed by IFP supporters on 4 April 1992
in continuing political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MAVUNDLA, Elwin Thamsanga (31), was shot and
stabbed to death by ANC supporters at Mlozane, Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 18 April 1990 in political conflict
between Inkatha and ANC supporters following the
UNBANNING of political organisations in February 1990.
MAVUNDLA, Emma Bonani (65), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by named IFP supporters in
Ngonweni, Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 27
January 1993.

MAVUNDLA, Gwaziwe (72), an IFP supporter, lost her
house in an arson attack by ANC supporters in Gamalakhe,
KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in 1991.
MAVUNDLA, Kenneth (14), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Wattville, Benoni, Tvl, on 31
August 1984 while running away during political unrest
in schools. Students were demanding recognition for
SRCs and the abolition of age limits in schools.
MAVUNDLA, Khothamile Thokozile  (24), had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAVUNDLA, Lucky W ilfred (20), an ANC supporter,
was killed on 4 July 1992 when the minibus in which he
was travelling was ambushed by IFP supporters as it
left the home of an ANC regional organiser at Bhomela,
Port Shepstone, Natal. Seven ANC members were
killed. Five IFP members were convicted for the attack.
MAVUNDLA, Nikeziwe (61), had his house burnt
down during intense political conflict at Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAWVUNDLA, Ningi Happiness (32), an ANC supporter,
had her home burnt down by AMABUTHO and SAP
members on 10 December 1989 in Ohlange, Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban.

MAVUNDLA, Nonhlanhla Goodness  (25), had her
home at Nkulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, burnt
down by IFP supporters in 1991 in ongoing political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MAVUNDLA, Ntombini Sylvester (46), an ANC
supporter, was shot and killed on 4 July 1992 when the
minibus in which she was travelling was ambushed by
Inkatha supporters as it left the home of an ANC
regional organiser at Bhomela, Port Shepstone, Natal.
Seven ANC supporters were killed Five IFP supporters
were convicted for the attack.

MAVUNDLA, Priscilla Khanyisile (25), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured by a named IFP supporter
in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 27 October 1992.
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MAVUNDLA, Siyabonga Alson (29), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters in Izingolweni, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, on 28 June 1991.
MAVUNDLA, Siyabonga , an IFP supporter, was shot
and injured when ANC supporters attacked the Nkulu
area, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 15 August 1993.
Three people died in this attack and four were
seriously injured.

MAVUNDLA, Thembeni Bazothile (51), had her
home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MAVUNDLA, Thulisile Purity (26), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead, allegedly by ANC members, at
Nyangwini, Port Shepstone, Natal, on 4 September
1992. See NYANGWINI ATTACK.

MAVUNDLA, Zodwa , was stabbed and severely
injured by IFP supporters in Vulindlela, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, on 19 October 1993 in continuing
political conflict in the area.

MAVWUSO, Derrick (17), an ANC supporter, was killed
by a named IFP supporter in Umzinto, Natal, in March
1994, in the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MAVWUSO, Ditaba , an ANC supporter, died after being
stabbed with a spear and shot by named local self-
defence unit (SDU) members in Moleleki section,
Katlehong, Tvl, on 7 December 1993. Mr Mavuso was
one of nine ANC supporters killed execution-style by
SDU members during conflict between local ANCYL
and SDU members. The SDU members applied for
amnesty but were denied amnesty.

MAVUSO, Dumisani Christopher , died after being
shot by members of the SAP in Soweto,
Johannesburg, while marching with a group to attend
a memorial service for assassinated SACP leader CHRIs
HaNI at the Jabulani amphitheatre on 14 April 1993.
MAWUSO, Henry Mandla (32), an ANC supporter,
was shot and seriously injured in Katlehong, Tvl, on 22
April 1991, allegedly by IFP supporters.

MAVWUSO, Jacob Jankie (16), a UDF supporter, was
shot and injured in his right leg by a named community
councillor in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 3 September 1984 during
a rent boycott. This period is known as the VAALUPRISING.
MAVUSO, Johannes Vusumuzi  (26), an ANC supporter
was stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Tokoza, Tvl,
on 5 August 1990.

MAVUSO, Lokufa , was beaten and necklaced by
named ANC supporters in Nelspruit, Tvl, in July 1986
because she was identified as a witch. She died two
days later in Shongwe Mission hospital.

MAVUSO, Mhlupheki Cornelius  (39), was beaten to
death with a golf club in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 7 November
1988 because he was suspected of being an Inkatha
supporter.

MAVUSO, Nomathemba (24), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house in Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters on 23 January
1990 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MAVUSO, Nombuzo , was abducted and gang-raped
by members of the IFP-aligned TOASTER GANG in
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Vusumuzi hostel, Tembisa, Tvl, on 14 February 1993.
Ms Nombuzo was abducted with her boyfriend, an
ANC supporter, and forced to witness his killing.
MAVUSO, Saraphina Thandi (52), an ANC supporter,
had her home destroyed and was shot and injured in
an attack by KHUMALO GANG members in Tokoza, Tvl,
on 15 January 1993. The gang was allegedly involved
in the murder of key political leaders in Tokoza.
MAVUSO, Selby (aka ‘Bab’) (24), an MK operative,
was abducted from Matola, Mozambique, by SADF
Special Forces on 30 January 1981. He was handed
over to members of the Security Branch, who tried
unsuccessfully to recruit him as an askari. VWWhen all
attempts failed, Vliakplaas operatives took him to a
spot near Komatipoort, Tvl, where he was shot dead
and his body burnt. The commander of Viakplaas was
granted amnesty for the killing, while a Vlakplaas
askari was granted amnesty for his role in the attempt
to recruit Mr Mavuso (AC/2000/163 and AC/2001/279).
MAWUSO, Velile Jer emiah, was shot dead at a funeral
by IFP members assisted by the SAP in Boipatong,
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 4 August 1991. Boipatong was
one of the Vaal townhips embroiled in conflict between
IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers and ANC-supporting
residents.

MAWUSO, Zakhe Moses , lost his house in an arson
attack on 1 September 1993 in Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly
carried out by community leaders because Mr Mavuso
refused to give money to the local self-defence unit.
MAWELA, Erasmus , an MK operative, was stabbed
to death by members of the SAP in Mandela informal
settlement, Daveyton, Tvl, on 18 March 1993. The
perpetrator was sentenced to 66 years' imprisonment
for the murder and applied for amnesty.

MAWELA, Keke, a PAC supporter, was severely beaten
after being arrested in 1962. From 5 March 1963, he
served 15 years’ imprisonment on Robben Island,
Cape Town.

MAWELA, Mhlamukile Simon (50), had his houses in
KwaKhoza, KwaZulu, near Eshowe, Natal, burnt down
in November 1993. More than 40 houses were burnt
down in the ongoing conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area that month.

MAWELA, Peter Bigboy (31), an ANC supporter, had
his house and possessions burnt in an arson attack by
IFP supporters in KwaKhoza, KwaZulu, near Eshowe,
Natal, in March 1993.

MAWENI, Hendrick Shima (27), was severely beaten,
shot and injured at Munsieville, near Krugersdorp, Tvl,
allegedly by members of the SAP during the 1986
consumer boycott of white businesses in Krugersdorp.
MAXAM, Robert , a constable in the SAP, survived a
hand grenade attack by MK operatives on the
Daveyton police station, Tvl, on 24 February 1978. Two
MK operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2000/195).
MAXAMA, Stewart (48), a UDF supporter, was shot
and stabbed to death in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 10 June
1986, by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit
approval and aid of the security forces, during the
mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter camps.
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Over 60 people were killed and 20 000 homes
destroyed in the attacks.

MAXELA, Nontobeko Fancy (27), an ANCWL
member, was tear-gassed by members of the SAP in
December 1986 while on his way to the funeral of an
unrest victim in Zwide, Port Elizabeth.

MAXENGANA, Mbuyiseli (18), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Zwide, Port
Elizabeth, on 11 April 1985, in a confrontation between
community residents and the police. He had been sent
to the shop but did not return, and his mother found his
body in a pool of blood with a bullet wound in the head.
MAXHEGW ANA, Eric Sindile (37), was detained on
22 October 1987 by members of the Ciskei Police in
East London. While in detention, he was severely
beaten and tortured by suffocation.

MAXITI, Lumkile (49), was shot dead by members of
a BALACLAVA GROUP, allegedly linked to the Lingelethu
West Town Council, in Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 16
December 1991. The attack was aimed at a local ANC
Women's League activist and left three people dead,
three wounded and 40 houses burnt.

MAXITI, Nonikile (38), was shot and injured by
members of a BALACLAVA GROUP, allegedly linked to the
Lingelethu West Town Council, in Khayelitsha, Cape
Town, on 16 December 1991. The attack was aimed at
a local ANC Women's League activist and left three
people dead, three wounded and 40 houses burnt.
MAXONGO, Amos Vabantu (26), an MK operative
from New Brighton, Port Elizabeth, was detained at
Nova Stella Sao prison in Luanda, in 1983, where he
was assaulted. In 1984, he was again detained and
held at Quatro for five years, during which time he
was repeatedly tortured. See ANC CAMPS.

MAXONGO, Cecilia Nozipho , a UDF branch treasurer,
was detained under emergency regulations on 16
June 1986 in Willowmore, Cape. While in detention,
she was tortured.

MAXWELE, Bubele (28), a Transkei Defence Force
(TDF) soldier, was killed during an ATTEMPTED COUP IN
UMTATA, TRANSKEI, on 22 November 1990. Seven TDF
soldiers were killed and some 33 wounded. Four of the
coup conspirators were granted amnesty. Six Viakplaas
operatives were granted amnesty for providing arms
for the attempted coup. An SADF Military Intelligence
operative, who applied for amnesty for his role in
supporting the coup, later withdrew his application
(AC/2000/036; AC/2001/095 and AC/2001/199).
MAXWELL, Gavin (24), was severely injured in what
became known as the MaG0o0’s BAR BOMBING in Durban
on 14 June 1986. The explosion killed three women and
injured at least 74 other people. Seven MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/128).

MAY, Alicia Thembakazi (14), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by named members of the SAP on
her arrest in Robertson, Cape, on 24 December 1985.
She was also tear-gassed in the police van and in her
cell while being held in custody for a week.

MAY, Audrey Catherine , a civilian, was assaulted and
severely ill-treated during an attack on a farmer at
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Stormberg, Verkeerdevlei, OFS, on 12 February 1992.
The farmer was killed in the attack. See APLA ATTACKS.
Four APLA members were granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0297).

MAY, Danile W ilberfor ce (25), a Civic Organization
member, was the victim of an attempted 'necklacing’
by ANC supporters in July 1980 in Port Elizabeth. He
was allegedly accused of being a collaborator.

MAY, Mlandeli Mickey (27), a PAC supporter, was
shot in the left leg and in the stomach by a named
perpetrator during conflict between AMAAFRIKA and
UDF supporters in KwaNobuhle, Uitenhage, Cape, on
30 June 1987.

MAY, Simphiwe Hantjie , was shot dead by a named
member of the SAP while he was returning home
from a protest march on 26 July 1989 at Lingelethu,
Adelaide, Cape.

MAY, Stanford , was stabbed to death on 25 October
1991 in Vosloorus, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters
during political conflict in the area.

MAY, Zenzele (30), a PAC member, was executed in
Pretoria, on 9 May 1963 after being found guilty of killing
a headman in Cofimvaba during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MAY, Zenzile Eric , a COSAS member (20), was
detained in solitary confinement for nine months from
June 1980 in Queenstown, Cape.

MAVYA, John Gert (14), was beaten to death by
AMAAFRIKA supporters during conflict between
AmaAfrika and UDF supporters in Uitenhage, Cape, on
4 January 1987.

MAVYA, Nhlanhla Johannes (22), was shot by named
ANC-aligned self-defence unit (SDU) members in
Katlehong, Tvl, on 5 December 1993 when the SDU
members opened fire on him, allegedly because he
disagreed with some of their policies.

MAYABA, (first name not given), suffered damage to
property when his house was burnt down by ANC
members in political conflict in Heidelberg, Tvl, during
1992 or 1993. Mr Mayaba and two other suspected
IFP supporters were on an ANC hit list and were
therefore targeted. One ANC member was granted
amnesty (AC/2000/064).

MAYABA, Bhekisisa Stanley (26), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP at the Brakpan
taxi rank, Tvl, on 10 September 1991. Mr Mayaba fled
Mooi River in Natal after he was accused of being
involved in the killing of an IFP supporter in Mooi River.
MAYABA, Henry Mduduzi (24), an IFP supporter, was
shot and injured when ANC supporters attacked a taxi
on 21 January 1993 during a labour dispute between
striking COSATU-aligned FAWU workers and non-
striking IFP-aligned UWUSA workers which caused
violent conflict in Ratanda, Heidelberg, Tvl.

MAYABA, Mongameli , a member of Wembezi Crisis
Committee, was shot dead by named IFP supporters
at Wembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, in 1990.
MAYABA, Ntombeningi Albertina  (68), an IFP
supporter, had her house destroyed in an arson attack
by ANC supporters at WWembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt,
Natal, on 24 September 1992.
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MAYAMA, Patrick Mnyamana (18), was shot dead by
members of the SAP on 28 October 1977 during
political conflict in Queenstown, Cape.

MAYANA, Ndileka No-Unit (33), an ANC supporter,
was shot in the leg while attending a funeral on 9
September 1985 in Whittlesea, Ciskei. Members of
the Ciskei Police opened fire at a group of mourners
toyi-toying at the funeral.

MAVYAPI, Pumzile (31), an MK operative, was detained,
assaulted and tortured by members of the Transkei
Security Branch at their offices in Umtata, Transkei, in
1987. One Transkei Security Branch operative was
granted amnesty for these incidents (AC/2000/076).
MAVYAPI, Zonwabele , an MK operative, was shot
dead by named and other members of the SAP and
Transkei Police in February 1988 at Ncembedlana, near
Umtata, Transkei. Two other MK operatives were killed
and a third injured in this incident.

MAVYATI, Delingubo (30), an ANC member, was
severely assaulted by members of the SAP in 1960 in
Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MAYEKISO, Amos Mthandeki , a PAC supporter, was
severely beaten by named supporters of KD
Matanzima in November 1961 in Qamata, Transkei,
during protests against tribal authority in the area.
MAYEKISO, Ar chie, was detained and tortured in
Umtata, Transkei, by members of the Transkei Security
Branch who believed him to be an ANC supporter. His
detention followed an MK attack on the Madeira Street
police station, Umtata, on 29 July 1986. One Transkei
Security Branch operative was granted amnesty for
the torture (AC/2000/076).

MAYEKISO, Caleb (50), an ANC supporter, was
arrested on 16 January 1964 in Graaff-Reinet, Cape,
and sentenced to three years' imprisonment under the
Terrorism Act. He was rearrested on 1 June 1969 and
died while in police custody.

MAYEKISO, Mzwandile Shadrack (41), a prison
warder, lost his house and property in an arson attack
by ANC supporters on 31 August 1985 during intense
public unrest in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London.
MAYEKO, David , was shot dead by an ANCYL member
in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 24 December 1990.
One ANCYL member was granted amnesty while
another, who denied any involvement in the killing,
was refused (AC/1997/0001 and AC/2997/0004).
MAYELA, Dickson Dlavukile (34), an IKONGO member,
lost his six-rondavel home in an arson attack by
members of the SAP in Mgeni Location, near Lusikisiki,
Transkei, in February 1962. See PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MAVYET, Zubeida (40), a journalist, was arrested in
Lenasia, Johannesburg, on 29 May 1978, and detained
at the Fort prison for five months. Her detention
followed the banning of several newspapers and
journalists in the wake of the SOWETO UPRISING.
MAYEZA, Joseph Banzi , a member of the SAP, was
attacked and stabbed several times by named
perpetrators during political conflict in New Brighton,
Port Elizabeth, on 28 March 1992.

MAYEZA, Ntombithini Theressa (35), was shot and
severely injured when her home in Dokodweni, KwaZulu,
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near Gingindlovu, Natal, was attacked by unidentified
persons on 2 June 1993 during continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MAYEZA, Temba, a SANCO and ELYCO member,
was shot five times and severely injured by members
of the SAP during a consumer boycott in East London,
in November 1985.

MAYIDUME, Thakatshana , an ANC supporter, died in
1965 as a result of being beaten while in detention at
the West Bank prison, East London. He had been
arrested in March 1960 for his involvement in the
PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MAYISA, Ampie , an ANC supporter, a chief and
member of the Leandra Action Committee, was
beaten to death and his body and his house were
burnt by named vigilantes in Lebohang, Leandra, Tvl,
on 11 January 1986. Chief Mayisa supported a group
of young ‘comrades’ who sought refuge in his house
on the day of his murder.

MAYISA, Deliwe Esther (36), an ANC supporter, had
her home burnt down by IFP supporters in Ondondolo,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in 1994 during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. A male relative
was killed during the attack on her house.

MAVYISA, Diloni Moses , an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SAP in Ga-Rankuwa,
Bophuthatswana, on 28 February 1992.

MAYISA, Jabulani Wiseman (15), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed and severely injured by named IFP
supporters in Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, in 1992.

MAVYISA, Josiah Mshayina (26), was severely beaten
in Lebohang, Leandra, Tvl, on 11 January 1986 when
trying to assist his father who was killed by named
vigilante members. They were both UDF supporters.
Conflict erupted in the township after the State
attempted to forcibly remove the community after it
was declared a ‘black spot’.

MAVYISA, Mamatshi Lina (47), wife of Chief Ampie
Mayisa, had her home burnt down by vigilantes in
Lebohang, Leandra, Tvl, on 11 January 1986. Her
husband was also beaten to death by named vigilantes.
The perpetrators confessed killing the chief to the press,
but were sheltered by the police. Conflict erupted in
the area when the state attempted to forcibly remove
the community after it was declared a ‘black spot'.
MAVYISA, Mnantsheni Daniel (43), an ANC supporter,
had his home destroyed by IFP supporters at
Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 22
March 1994, in the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MAVYISA, Ndabayakhe , an ANC supporter, was stabbed
to death by IFP supporters in Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, on 22 March 1994 during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MAVYISELA, Ashley Lungile , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead on 13 December 1992 at a shebeen in
Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly by KHUMALO GANG members.
Another person was killed and one severely injured in
this attack, reportedly carried out in retaliation for the
shooting at the shebeen earlier in the day of a gang
member, allegedly involved in rape and murder.
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MAVYISELA, Madoda Zephania (17), a COSAS member,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 16 June 1986 during conflict between
the police and COSAS members.

MAVYISELA, Mxolisi Ishmael (45), an ANC supporter,
was shot in the leg on 27 November 1990 in Mandela
informal settlement, Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by an IFP
supporter.

MAVYISELA, Victor Sipho (39), a South African
teacher resident in Swaziland, was abducted along
with two Swazi citizens by a group of men, some
white, in a car with a SA registration plate, at Big
Bend, Swaziland, on 11 January 1978. Mr Mayisela
has never been seen again and is presumed dead. The
abduction occurred at a time of PAC activity among a
group of refugees in Swaziland from the Mngomezulu
clan of the northern KwaZulu homeland.

MAVYISELA, Zangaza Albert (21), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SADF at Estcourt,
Natal, on 1 October 1992.

MAYOLI, Caroline Nontinti (30), was detained on 28
June 1985 and severely beaten by members of the
Security Police. She was held under SECTION 29 at the
Milnerton police station in Cape Town. Ms Mayoli's
family had been under constant police surveillance
because her brother was an MK operative. He was later
killed in a Vlakplaas raid into Lesotho in December 1985.
MAYOLI, Joseph Monwabisi (aka ‘Themba’) , head
of MK’s Western Cape military machinery in Lesotho,
was shot dead by Viakplaas operatives in a raid on two
houses in Maseru, Lesotho, on 19 December 1985.
Nine people were killed in the raid, three of which were
citizens of Lesotho. Mr Mayoli was from Guguletu,
Cape Town. Five members of the Security Branch were
granted amnesty for this killing but two, including the
then Deputy Chief of the Security Branch, were
refused (AC/2001/231).

MAYOLI, Monwabisi Thembekile , a senior MK
operative in the MK's Western Cape machinery, was
shot dead by Viakplaas operatives during a raid on two
houses in Maseru, Lesotho, on 19 December 1985.
Nine people were killed in the raid, three of them
citizens of Lesotho. Seven operatives, including the
deputy commander of Security Branch headquarters,
the commander of the section that oversaw the work
of Vlakplaas, and the commander of Vlakplaas, applied
for amnesty for the operation. All except the
commander of Security Branch headquarters were
granted amnesty (AC/2001/231 and AC/2001/279).
MAYOYO, Iltumeleng Isaac (30), was beaten with a
baton and subjected to electric shocks on his genitals
by members of the Bophuthatswana Police at Bafokeng,
Bophuthatswana, in August 1991 because he was
politically active and the founder of the NUM at his
workplace.

MAZAKA, Mike (30) was shot dead by members of
the SADF on 2 September 1985 during intense public
unrest in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London.

MAZALENI, Luyanda (29), was shot and injured in the
arm as he passed by the home of a named female
community COUNCILLOR in Mfuleni, Cape Town, in
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October 1992. The community councillor shot into a
crowd when her house was attacked during an ANC-
organised march.

MAZEKA, Bhekizenzo Joseph (32), was shot and
injured, and had his house burnt down by IFP
supporters, allegedly assisted by members of the ISU,
in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 13 October
1993 in ongoing political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MAZEKA, Menzi Michael Mdumise (30), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead in Umlazi, Durban, on 15
December 1993 in continuing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MAZIBA, Alex , was injured when AWB members
detonated an explosive at the taxi rank in Westonaria,
Tvl, on 25 April 1994, in an effort to disrupt the
electoral process. Five people were killed in the blast.
Six AWB members were granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0342). See RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.

MAZIBANE, Mfanuswano , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by AMABUTHO members in Murchison, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, on 27 April 1992. One other
person was killed in the attack, and a child aged seven
was shot and injured.

MAZIBUKO, (first name not given), suffered damage
to property when his house was burnt down by
members of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) in Tokoza,
Tvl, during 1993 or 1994. The victim was believed to
be an IFP supporter. One SDU member was granted
amnesty (AC/2000/139).

MAZIBUKO, Abram Mgodo (25), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Sharpeville, Vereeniging, Tvl,
during the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE on 21 March 1960.
MAZIBUKO, Alfred Mabalane (62), an ANC supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death by IFP supporters in
Estcourt, Natal, on 31 March 1994, in the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MAZIBUKO, Anna , was shot and killed by members
of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) at her home in
Tokoza, Tvl, during 1993. Two others were killed in the
same attack. One SDU member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0243).

MAZIBUKO, Antie Sophia , was injured when a hand
grenade, thrown by a member of an ANC self-defence
unit (SDU), exploded in her home in Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 2 October 1992. One person was killed and
several others were injured. One SDU member was
granted amnesty (AC/1998/090).

MAZIBUKO, Beggy , a Phoyco member, was detained
and tortured by named members of the SAP in
Bethlehem, OFS, on 20 June 1986, during a protest to
demand the release of political detainees. The police
fired shots at the demonstrators, and arrested Mr
Mazibuko with other Phoyco members.

MAZIBUKO, Betty , an ANC supporter, was burnt to
death in an arson attack on her home on 3 July 1993 in
Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly carried out by IFP supporters.
Ms Mazibuko's father also died in the attack.
MAZIBUKO, Bonginkosi (17), was arrested, together
with his family, in Hibberdene, Natal, on 1 November
1987 and detained for four days. Members of the SAP
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allegedly accused his father of being involved in
political activity. They surrounded the house and
forced the family out using teargas. His father was
shot dead in the incident.

MAZIBUKO, Bongiwe (21), was arrested, together
with her family, in Hibberdene, Natal, on 1 November
1987 and detained for four days. Members of the SAP
allegedly accused her father of being involved in
political activity. They surrounded the house and
forced the family out using teargas. Ms Mazibuko was
mauled by a police dog when she was put into the
police van. Her father was shot dead in the incident.
MAZIBUKO, Brian Mbulelo , was hacked to death by
a group of unidentified people at Tembisa, Tvl, on

2 October 1983 because he was actively involved in
the launch of the UDF.

MAZIBUKO, Cleopas Fana (50), was stabbed to
death by named Inkatha supporters in KwaMnyandu,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 21 July 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area. Mr Mazibuko
had allegedly refused to join Inkatha.

MAZIBUKO, Elias Sesing (53), an ANC supporter, was
abducted from Mandela Park squatter camp, during
political conflict near Odendaalsrus, OFS, on 4
November 1990. Mr Mazibuko, together with other
victims, was later found shot dead in Welkom, OFS. An
ID document of a CID member of the Odendaalsrus
SAP was found under the body of one of the deceased.
MAZIBUKO, Elizabeth (63), an IFP supporter, was
shot dead by a named member of the KwaZuLu PoLicE
and other IFP supporters in Nyanini, KwaZulu, near
Eshowe, Natal, on 8 May 1993. Ms Mazibuko's son
was also killed in the attack. The family had received
death threats after complaining to the police about IFP
youths firing random shots at night.

MAZIBUKO, Elizabeth T iti, was injured when a hand
grenade, thrown by a member of an ANC self-defence
unit (SDU), exploded in her home in Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 2 October 1992. One person was killed and
several others were injured. One SDU member was
granted amnesty (AC/1998/090).

MAZIBUKO, Ellie Ntombana (55), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Katlehong, Tvl, burnt down on 3 July
1993, allegedly by IFP supporters. Ms Mazibuko's
husband and daughter both died in the attack.
MAZIBUKO, Funani (43), was arrested, together with
her family, in Hibberdene, Natal, on 1 November 1987
and detained for four days. Members of the SAP
allegedly accused her husband of being involved in
political activity. They surrounded the house and
forced the family out using teargas. His husband was
shot dead in the incident.

MAZIBUKO, Gugwana (30), had his house in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, destroyed in an
arson attack by Inkatha members in October 1989 in
intense political conflict between Inkatha and UDF
supporters in the area.

MAZIBUKO, Hlakaniphani Wiseman (17), a member
of the ANC-supporting ‘Amagola’ youth group, was
found dead in Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith,
Natal, on 13 March 1993. He was believed to have

VOLUME 7 Victim findings: Summaries

been killed by a named ANC supporter in serious
conflict between two factions.

MAZIBUKO, Infern , was shot and killed by members
of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) at his brother’s
home in Tokoza, Tvl, during 1993. Two others were
killed in the same attack. One SDU was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0243).

MAZIBUKO, Isak (41), an ANC supporter, was killed
when thrown from a moving train between Katlehong
and Wadeville stations in Katlehong, Tvl, on 20 August
1993. Between 1990 and 1993, 572 people died in
TRAIN VIOLENCE.

MAZIBUKO, Johannes \eli (20), a member of
COSAS, was injured when a booby-trapped hand-
grenade exploded in his hands on 25/26 June 1985.
See OPERATION ZERO ZERO. Fifteen Security Branch
operatives, including the head of the Security Branch
and other senior personnel, were granted amnesty for
the operation (AC/2001/058).

MAZIBUKO, John Maphakula (15), was shot twice in
the head and four times in the back by members of
the SAP while walking away from them in Tembisa,
Tvl, on 11 June 1985 because he was actively
involved in student politics. A murder charge was laid
but the policeman could not be found.

MAZIBUKO, Joseph Mfanakadliwa (52), a member
of the SAP, was shot dead by ANC supporters while
waiting at a bus stop at Osizweni, KwaZulu, near
Newcastle, on 21 April 1988.

MAZIBUKO, Joseph Titus (aka ‘Boja Boja’) (18), a
member of COSAS, was severely injured when a
booby-trapped hand-grenade exploded in his hands on
25/26 June 1985. See OPERATION ZERO ZERO. Fifteen
Security Branch operatives, including the head of the
Security Branch and other senior personnel, were
granted amnesty for the operation (AC/2001/058).
MAZIBUKO, Joseph , was killed when a hand grenade,
thrown by a member of an ANC self-defence unit
(SDU), exploded in his home in Soweto, Johannesburg,
on 2 October 1992. One person was killed and several
others were injured. One SDU member was granted
amnesty (AC/1998/090).

MAZIBUKO, Levis , was burnt to death in an arson
attack on his home in Katlehong, Tvl, on 3 July 1993,
allegedly by IFP supporters. His daughter also died in
the attack. The attack took place during political
conflict in the area.

MAZIBUKO, Linah Masesi (51), was severely beaten
by three CP supporters in Brakpan, Tvl, on 14 December
1988. One of the perpetrators is named.

MAZIBUKO, Lindinkosi Clive (23), was shot dead by
a named member of the KwaZuLu Potice and other IFP
supporters in Nyanini, KwaZulu, near Eshowe, Natal,
on 8 May 1993. His mother was also killed in the attack.
The family had received death threats after complaining
to the police about IFP youths firing random shots at
night.

MAZIBUKO, Lita Nombango (aka ‘Mumsy

Khuzwayo’) (47), an MK member, was detained on 23
July 1988 in Manzini, Swaziland, by ANC security after
the killing of a number of MK operatives for whose
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transport into South Africa she was responsible. She
was initially held in Mozambique and then in Zambia
for over a year. During her incarceration, she was
subjected to repeated severe ill-treatment and torture,
including a staged execution. She was later transferred
to a prison in Tanzania where she was held until
December 1992 when she returned to South Africa.
MAZIBUKO, Lucia Mampi (38), was forced from her
home and displaced by IFP supporters in Alexandra,
Johannesburg, in 1992. Hundreds of people had their
homes forcibly occupied by IFP supporters in the area
following clashes between hostel-dwellers and ANC-
supporting residents.

MAZIBUKO, Lukas (59), was stabbed in Meadowlands,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 11 April 1993 by uniden-
tified people who boarded his taxi and accused him of
being an IFP supporter during conflict between IFP
and ANC suporters in the area. Mr Mazibuko died of
his injuries eight months later.

MAZIBUKO, Mandla , was one of three suspected
vigilantes pursued and hacked to death by UDF
supporters in Standerton, Tvl, in June 1987, because
he was believed to have collaborated with members
of the MG Pirates soccer club and community
councillors to persecute UDF supporters. Conflict
between UDF supporters and the Pirates had led to a
number of deaths and injuries. Two UDF supporters
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/071).

MAZIBUKO, Mashinkane Johannes (51), was shot
and injured in Soweto, Johannesburg, in September
1991 when IFP supporters returning from a rally at the
Jabulani stadium attacked residents.

MAZIBUKO, Maureen Lango , was killed when
members of the Security Branch shot at her and threw
a petrol bomb into her home in Inanda New Town,
Durban, on 17 March 1987. The attack was directed at
a family member who was labelled a “terrorist’.
MAZIBUKO, Maureen Thandi (23), was beaten in
detention by members of the SAP at Bishop Lavis,
Cape Town, in 1976, during protests related to the
SOWETO UPRISING. She lost her home in KTC, Cape Town,
in June 1986 when it was burnt down by WITDOEKE
vigilantes, acting with the support and sanction of the
security forces. Several days later she was severely
beaten by police while protesting with other women
against the attack.

MAZIBUKO, McRobert Boy (22), had his home in
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 17 November 1992 in ongoing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MAZIBUKO, Mduduzi Syoney (19), was shot and
injured by alleged members of the KwaZulu Police in
Ncotshane, Tvl, while attending a night vigil on 27
November 1993.

MAZIBUKO, Mndwanakazi (58), an ANC supporter,
had his property destroyed in an arson attack by IFP
supporters in Haladu, Ngutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid,
Natal, in April 1994 during the run-up to the APRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MAZIBUKO, Mpiyezwe , was shot dead when his
house in Emajeni, Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith,
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Natal, was attacked on 24 April 1994 in political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area,
days before the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Another person
was killed in the attack.

MAZIBUKO, Mr (first name not given), was shot dead
by members of the SAP at a time of political conflict in
Welkom, OFS, on 4 November 1990.

MAZIBUKO, Ndukuzakhe Joseph (59), was stabbed to
death in Woodford, Bergville, Natal, on 26 December
1993. The IFP had reportedly called on all men to
attend a camp. Those who refused were killed.
MAZIBUKO, Nkosana (18 months), was shot and
killed, along with two others, by members of an ANC
self-defence unit (SDU) at his parents’ home in Tokoza,
Tvl, in 1993. One SDU was granted amnesty for the
attack (AC/1999/0243).

MAZIBUKO, Nkosinathi (22), was arrested, tortured
and detained in CR Swart Square, Durban, on 13
March 1989. He was kept in solitary confinement for
three months and later charged under the Prevention
of Terrorism Act, convicted, and imprisoned for seven
years. He spent three months in Westville prison
before being transferred to Robben Island.
MAZIBUKO, Nomalanga (40), had her house at
Hopewell, Ixopo, Natal, burnt down by IFP supporters
on 27 August 1992 in continuing political conflict in the
area.

MAZIBUKO, Nomusa Anna (15), had her family
home at Hopewell, Ixopo, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 27 August 1992 in continuing political
conflict in the area.

MAZIBUKO, Ntombikayise (15), was arrested, together
with her family, in Hibberdene, Natal, on 1 November
1987 and detained for four days. Members of the SAP
allegedly accused her father of being involved in
political activity. They surrounded the house and forced
the family out using teargas. Her father was shot dead
in the incident.

MAZIBUKO, Patricia Jabulile (29), lost her house in
Mandini, Natal, in an arson attack during 1993 in
continuing political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MAZIBUKO, Petrus Nqobile , a UDF supporter, was
abducted by named UDF supporters in Pietermaritz-
burg on 28 April 1990, allegedly because he was
suspected of having joined Inkatha. He was never
seen again and is presumed dead.

MAZIBUKO, Phumlani (20), an ANC supporter, was
shot and severely injured by members of the SAP in
Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal, on 20
November 1993, while attending the night vigil of a
named fellow ANC supporter.

MAZIBUKO, Richard , was shot and seriously wounded
when his home was attacked by a group of ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) members in Tokoza, Tvl, during
1993. Three family members were killed in the attack.
One SDU member was granted amnesty for the
attack (AC/1999/0243).

MAZIBUKO, Robert (48), was shot dead by named
members of the SAP in Hibberdene, Natal, on 1
November 1987, allegedly because of his involvement
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in political activity. Police members surrounded the
house and forced the family out using teargas. His
wife, son and two daughters were then detained for
four days.

MAZIBUKO, Rose Thandi , an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by members of the SADF at Diepdale,
near Nelspruit, Tvl, on 1 July 1993. Ms Masibuko and
another person were allegedly in possession of firearms.
MAZIBUKO, Sabayi Lina , had her house petrol-
bombed by Inkatha supporters during political conflict
at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 8 October
1989. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0332).

MAZIBUKO, Sibusiso Abednego (20), an ANC
supporter, was tortured in detention by named
members of the SAP in Bergville, Natal, on 18 October
1993. After his release, he was stabbed and severely
injured by two known IFP supporters in the area.
MAZIBUKO, Siphila John (42), an ANC supporter,
was detained for two years in Nelspruit, Tvl, in March
1986. He had been involved in planning a stayaway in
the area.

MAZIBUKO, Susan Elizabeth , was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Tembisa, Tvl, during a stayaway
on 5 November 1984.

MAZIBUKO, Thabeleni (58), had her house petrol-
bombed by Inkatha supporters in Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, on 1 January 1989.

MAZIBUKO, Thandiwe Gladness (59), was severely
beaten when named Inkatha supporters attacked her
family home in KwaMnyandu, KwaZulu, near Pieter-
maritzburg, on 21 July 1988, during intensifying
political conflict in the area. Her husband was stabbed
to death in the attack.

MAZIBUKO, Themba Isaiah , was shot and wounded
when ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a
crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least
nine marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten
ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MAZIBUKO, Thembi Beauty (50), lost her house in
an arson attack by IFP supporters during political
conflict at Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal,
on 9 December 1992.

MAZIBUKO, Thokozile Samaria (20), was shot by
members of the SAP in Lebohang, Leandra, Tvl, in
1985 during conflict which erupted when the State
attempted to forcibly remove the community after it
was declared a ‘black spot’.

MAZIBUKO, Thulisile (15), was injured in an attack on
her family home by Inkatha supporters in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in November 1989. The family
was allegedly targed because her uncle was thought
to be an ANC supporter.

MAZIBUKO, Vikinduku Steven (47), an ANC
supporter, had his house in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, petrol-bombed by Inkatha supporters on
4 January 1989, allegedly in revenge for the burning
down of an Inkatha official's house a few days earlier.

VOLUME 7 Victim findings: Summaries

MAZIBUKO, Vusi Anderson (13), an ANC supporter,
was abducted by Inkatha supporters and found dead in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 1 January
1989. He had previously fled the area because of
harassment by Inkatha supporters and members of
the KwaZuLu PoLIce.

MAZIBUKO, Vusumzi Mapheshi (31), an IFP
supporter, was shot and injured by ANC supporters in
Bhekuzulu, Vryheid, Natal, on 8 September 1993.
MAZIBUKO, Zinhle Yvonne (15), an ANC supporter,
was severely injured during a student demonstration
at Lamontville, Durban, in 1986. Zinhle jumped from
the first floor of a building while trying to escape from
the police.

MAZIKO, Princess Mandisa (17), an ANC supporter,
was detained while attending a funeral of an ex-Robben
Island political prisoner in Ciskei on 10 September 1985.
She was severely tortured by members of the Ciskei
Police at different police stations in Dimbaza, Ciskei.
MAZIY A, Lindiwe (27), a South African National Civics
Association (SANCO) member, was shot dead in
Vosloorus, Tvl, on 1 June 1990 when a hand grenade
was thrown into her house and unidentified gunmen
opened fire on the occupants. Ms Maziya's infant son
and her mother-in-law were also killed in the attack.
Her husband, a SANCO executive member and well-
known ANC member, was injured during the attack.
MAZIY A, Mokabhe Alpheus (40), an executive
member of the South African National Civics Association
and ANC member, was shot and injured in Vosloorus,
Tvl, on 1 June 1990 when a hand grenade was thrown
into his house and unidentified gunmen opened fire on
its occupants. Mr Maziya's wife, his infant son, and his
mother, were killed in the attack.

MAZIY A, Thandi Elizabeth (62), was shot in
Vosloorus, Tvl, on 1 June 1990 during an attack on her
home in which a hand grenade was thrown into the
house and unidentified gunmen opened fire on the
occupants. Ms Maziya died of her injuries five days
later. Ms Maziya's son, a member of the ANC and the
SANCO executive, was also injured in the attack. Ms
Maziya's daughter-in-law and her infant grandson were
also killed in the attack.

MAZIYA, Zwelakhe (1), was shot dead in Vosloorus,
Tvl, on 1 June 1990 during an attack on his home in
which a hand grenade was thrown into the house and
unidentified gunmen opened fire on the occupants.
Zwelakhe's mother died in the attack, and his
grandmother died later of injuries sustained in the
attack. His father, a SANCO executive member, was
also injured in the attack.

MAZIY ANE, Nozukile (26), had her house destroyed
in an arson attack in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban,
during 1993, in ongoing political conflict between the
'RED’ AND "GREEN' FACTIONS.

MAZOKW ANA, China Gray (35), was stabbed and
injured by Inkatha supporters in Vryheid, Natal, in June
1986, allegedly because he was a COSATU member.
MAZOMBA, Boy Charles (20), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in White City,
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Soweto, Johannesburg, on 14 September 1976 in the
wake of the SOWETO UPRISING.

MAZOMBA, Sindiswa Flora (45), was threatened with
a gun and her home was petrol-bombed in Katlehong,
Tvl, on 25 May 1993, allegedly by IFP supporters from
Buyafuthi hostel, during political conflict in the area.
MAZUBANE, Lamekhi Mbongiseni (26), an ANC
supporter, was attacked by named IFP supporters in
Nyandezulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on three
occasions between February and April 1991.
MAZUBANE, Magubeni (73), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by IFP supporters in Murchison, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, on 3 October 1993. Mr
Mazubane was an induna for the chief, but was
labelled an ANC supporter and sacked from his
position. His wife, a nephew and a friend were killed
in the attack on their home.

MAZUBANE, Ngwala , an ANC supporter, was
abducted by four named IFP supporters in Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 9 February 1991, allegedly
because he refused to join the IFP. He managed to
escape, but his friend was shot dead.

MAZUBANE, Thokozile Alice (64), an ANC supporter,
was hacked and shot dead by IFP supporters in
Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 3 October
1993. Her husband, an induna to the chief, was
sacked on suspicion of being an ANC supporter, and
their home was attacked. Her son and a friend were
also killed in the attack.

MAZUBANE, Thomas Sakhiwe (25), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by fellow ANC supporters who
attacked taxi passengers in Port Shepstone, Natal, in
November 1993. The attackers allegedly believed the
taxi to be occupied by IFP supporters.

MAZUBANE, Thulani Goodboy (14), was shot dead
by IFP supporters in Murchison, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 3 October 1993. The family home was
attacked because they were thought to be sympathetic
to the ANC. His mother and a friend were also killed in
the attack.

MAZUBANI, Dumephi (66), an ANC supporter, had
his house burnt down and his furniture stolen by
AMASINYORA vigilantes in Murchison, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 15 March 1994, in the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MAZULA, Kenneth Mbulelo (20), was shot dead when
members of the SAP opened fire on mourners at the
funeral of unrest victim Nation Nkosana Bahume in
Worcester, Cape, on 31 August 1985. The funeral had
been placed under restriction orders.

MAZUNGULA, Sizwe Douglas (20), a student activist,
was detained and assaulted by members of the SAP in
Kirkwood, Cape, in March 1985. After his release in April
1985, he disappeared and has not been seen since.
MAZUZA, Lukhele Phillip (19), was severely injured
when a booby-trapped grenade exploded in his hand in
Duduza, Nigel, Tvl, on 25 June 1985. Mr Mazuza was
one of seven activists in the area recruited for supposed
military training by a Viakplaas askari and then killed or
injured in this incident. The perpetrators have applied
for amnesty.
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MAZW A|, Siphiwo Hamlet (30), an MK operative,
was shot dead in a shoot-out with members of the
Transkei Police at Mount Fletcher, Transkei, in 1987.
MAZWEMBE, Luke Storie (32), an ANC supporter
and trade union organiser, was found hanged in his
cell at Caledon Square police station, Cape Town, a
few hours after he had been arrested on 4 September
1976. His body had several other injuries. The
Commission found that his death was the direct or
indirect result of torture.

MAZWI, Abednigo Nzimeni , a member of SAYCO
and the Khutsong Youth Congress, was dragged from
his home and stabbed to death at a taxi rank in Khuma,
Stilfontein, Tvl, on 31 October 1990. One ANCYL/
SAYCO member was granted amnesty. Although
convicted, two others denied involvement in the killing
and were refused amnesty (AC/1997/0002;
AC/1997/0003 and AC/97/0005).

MBABELA, Gladman Mankenke (18), a PEYCO
member, was arrested and tortured in Port Elizabeth,
on 15 August 1985. He was accused of being in
possession of illegal firearms that police said were
stolen from a policeman who had been killed earlier.
MBADI, Moses Themba (27), had his house petrol-
bombed by Inkatha supporters, some of whom are
named, in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, during
1989, in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MBALA, Mthetho (26), a UDF supporter, was tortured
in detention by named members of the SAP in
November 1985 at Burgersdorp police station, Cape.
Mr Mbala was again tortured by being repeatedly
admitted to a mental hospital in Queenstown in 1986.
MBALANE, Mathwethu Sheshi (21), disappeared
while schooling in 1983 in Butterworth, Transkei. He
was thought to have gone to Lesotho but has never
been seen again.

MBALATI, Stranger Jabulani (27), an ANCYL member,
was tortured in police custody at John Vorster Square,
Johannesburg, and Duiwelskloof police station,
Lebowa, in 1990.

MBALI, Abegail Nomvuselelo (33), had her home
destroyed by IFP supporters, allegedly assisted by
members of the SAP, at Inanda, near KwaMashu,
Durban, on 3 March 1993, in ongoing political conflict
in the area.

MBALI, Buziwe (61), an IFP supporter, died on 6 May
1991 in Izingolweni, near Port Shepstone, Natal, after
being necklaced by named ANC supporters who
accused her of witchcraft. There was political conflict
in the area at the time.

MBALI, Herbert Fanele , an ANC member, was
abducted from Lesotho and detained by the Orange
Free State Security Branch during November 1972.
The Lesotho Government rendered a formal protest
and Mr Mbali was returned to Lesotho. The divisional
commander of OFS Security Branch and an operative
from Security Branch Headquarters were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/236).

MBALI, Nozuko Monica (33), had her home and
possessions burnt in an arson attack by IFP
supporters, allegedly assisted by members of the ISU,
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in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, during 1993.
See 'RED' AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MBALI, Thembeka Eunice (20), a member of an
ANC-supporting youth organisation, was beaten and
injured by members of the Ciskei Police in Berlin, Cape,
on 21 September 1985, when police used sjamboks to
disperse a crowd holding a meeting in the area.
MBALIGONTSI, V ulindlela , an ANC supporter, was
attacked and killed by supporters of Chief Mdutshane in
Flagstaff, Transkei, on 1 March 1994. Prior to his death
he had attended a meeting called by Chief Samuel
Mdutshane, where ANC supporters were either killed
or stabbed. He escaped unharmed and thereafter
refused to attend any meetings convened by the chief.
Later, while attending to his business, he was shot
dead by supporters of the chief.

MBALI-POTO, Thamsanga (22), a COSAS member,
was killed in the Battle of Motale in Noordvaal, Tvl, in
1989. He had fled the country after harassment by
members of the SAP.

MBALISO, Banoyi, a iKongo member, was severely
beaten while in police custody in 1960. See PONDOLAND
REVOLT.

MBALO, Michael Mfundisi (20), a COSAS member,
was detained in Mofolo, Soweto, Johannesburg, in
August 1985.

MBALO, Mini Agnes (73), was severely beaten with
sjamboks by members of the SAP in Mbekweni, Paarl,
Cape, in 1986, because her grandsons were political
activists. One of them, Sammy Zandisile Mjobo, was
shot dead in the GUGULETU SEVEN incident.

MBALULA, Nobekile (39), an ANC member, was shot
dead by members of the SAP on 4 July 1993 during a
protest in Venterstad, Cape.

MBALWA, Coster, a local chief, lost his house in arson
attack by ANC supporters in May 1960 at Nikiwe, near
Bizana, Transkei. Chiefs in the area were allegedly
targeted as they were accused of favouring Trust land.
MBAMBANI, Thobeka Sylvia (32), an ANC supporter,
was shot by members of the SAP during a stayaway
in Elliot, Cape, in March 1990.

MBAMBAZA, Nomvulazana Ellen  (38), was severely
beaten by members of the SAP in Port Elizabeth in
1986, while she was attending a mass funeral for 12
people killed in political unrest.

MBAMBO, Andrias Mduduzi , a UDF supporter, was
shot and burnt to death in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 21 October 1988, in intense conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MBAMBO, Anna Nomusa (30), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Empangeni, Natal, on 6 May 1993 in
continuing conflict between IFP and ANC supporters
in the area.

MBAMBO, Bangeni Lingani (38), lost her house in an
arson attack in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MBAMBO, Bantwanyana John (58), an ANC
supporter, had his house in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg,
burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 31 January 1990
during intensifying political conflict in the area.
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MBAMBO, Bonginkosi Lawrence (22), an ANC
supporter, was shot and severely injured by a named
IFP supporter in Murchison, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 17 November 1992.

MBAMBO, Charles Michael (27), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Umkomaas,
near Durban, on 26 January 1991. He had allegedly
received death threats shortly before he was killed.
MBAMBO, Christian Sifiso (23), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed, shot and then hacked to death by IFP
supporters in Ndabayakhe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 15 July 1992. Nine other people were injured
when the perpetrators attacked passengers in a bus.
MBAMBO, Chwepeshe Khanyile , an underground
ANC supporter preparing to go into exile, was killed at
Chesterville, Durban, on 21 June 1986, together with
other ANC supporters. The group had been infiltrated
by Viakplaas askaris, and were killed in a planned
attack carried out by a Vlakplaas unit.

MBAMBO, Fana Lucky (28), was shot dead by IFP
supporters during political conflict at Bhoboyi, Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 22 May 1993. He was allegedly
targeted because he was walking through an ANC-
dominated area.

MBAMBO, Florence (49), had her house destroyed by
IFP supporters, allegedly assisted by members of the
SAP, in Nkobongo, Shakaskraal, Natal, on 7 January
1991 in ongoing political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MBAMBO, Joel Dumisani (32), had his house burnt
down by IFP supporters in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, on 16 June 1993, in ongoing political conflict
between the 'RED’ AND ‘GREEN' FACTIONS.

MBAMBO, Kolindi David (39), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead in Mahwaqa, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in
1990 in intensifying political conflict between Inkatha
and ANC supporters in the area.

MBAMBO, Lindiwe Siyathemba Joyce (31), an ANC
member, was shot dead in an attack on her house in
Wattville, Benoni, Tvl, on 24 November 1991 by IFP
supporters looking for her husband, an ANC leader in
the area.

MBAMBO, Manti Doris (50), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down and looted by IFP supporters in
Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 23 November 1989 and
again on 26 March 1994. On both occasions she was
forced to leave the area.

MBAMBO, Mashifu , an ANC supporter, was stabbed
and hacked to death by IFP supporters in Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 May 1992.

MBAMBO, Mathi Mayvis Gunathi  (31), an ANC
supporter, lost her house in an arson attack in
Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area during 1992.

MBAMBO, Mboniseni Alson (40), an IFP supporter
and headman of Chief Mkhwanazi, was stabbed to
death by ANC supporters in Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 13 June 1992 during political
conflict in the area.
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MBAMBO, Mhlangeni , an ANC supporter, was stabbed
and shot to death by ANC supporters in Durban, in the
course of an internal dispute in the organisation. Mr
Mbambo was accused of spying for the IFP.
MBAMBO, Mgetshulwa Themba (29), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters in
Mkhazeni, Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 12
September 1992.

MBAMBO, Musa Matthew , an ANC supporter, was
beaten and severely injured by members of the SAP
while in detention in Durban, on 25 December 1993.
MBAMBO, Mzwethu (35), a member of an MK unit,
was shot dead by unidentified perpetrators in the
Lusaka informal settlement, Cape Town, on 26
December 1988.

MBAMBO, Nani Gertie Magumede (54), an ANC
supporter, had her two huts in Mahwaga, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, burnt down by IFP supporters in
early 1990. In the same year, her son was shot dead in
political conflict.

MBAMBO, Nhlanhla Rafael (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot and severely injured by members of the KwaZuLu
Pouice at Umlazi, Durban, on 25 December 1993.
MBAMBO, Nomafa Rose (57), had her house in
Ntuzuma, near Durban, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters on 7 December 1989 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MBAMBO, Ntombifuthi Mavis Futhi  (36), had her
house in KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban,
burnt down in July 1987 in intensifying conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MBAMBO, Patrick Bhekuyise (22), an ANC supporter,
was shot and killed by a named IFP supporter at
Shakaskraal, near Stanger, Natal, on 4 August 1990.
MBAMBO, Phumzile Patricia (27), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters at Caluza,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 15 April 1991.
MBAMBO, Queen Elizabeth , a UDF supporter, was
shot dead by Inkatha supporters in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 6 August 1988. Five other
UDF supporters were killed in the same attack.
MBAMBO, Sakhile Alpheus (27), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by a named IFP supporter in Umnini,
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 7 January 1993
during political conflict in the area.

MBAMBO, Simon Sibusiso , was shot dead in Kwa-
Ndengezi, KwaZulu, near Pinetown, Natal, on 25 October
1991 in ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area. He was in a shop when it was
attacked by a group of unidentified persons, allegedly
because the shop owner was an ANC supporter.
MBAMBO, Stanley , an ANC supporter, was severely
tortured by SAP members in Mpophomeni, KwaZulu,
near Howick, Natal, on 26 April 1987, while under
interrogation about his political activities.

MBAMBO, Thamsanga (24), was stabbed, hacked and
shot in the head with pellets by Inkatha supporters in
Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 7 December 1989, during
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MBAMBO, Thoko Alice (56), had her house in Umnini,
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, set alight by IFP
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supporters on 7 January 1993 during political conflict
in the area. Her son, an ANC supporter, was shot dead
in the attack.

MBAMBO, Zakhele Patrick (23), was stabbed and
then shot dead by IFP supporters in Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 3 July 1993 in continuing political conflict in
the area.

MBANA, Christabella Nomzilankatha (51), had her
home destroyed in an arson attack in KTC, Cape Town,
in June 1986, during the mass destruction of UDF-
supporting squatter camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes,
acting with the tacit approval and aid of the security
forces. Her home was again destroyed in 1987.
MBANA, Nolesini Victoria (56), an ANC supporter, had
her house vandalised by named perpetrators in
Zwelitsha, Ciskei, in June 1990, following the overthrow
of the Sebe government.

MBANA, Noncedo (34), was detained in 1964 because
of her role in Poqo activities and later died in custody
in Mganduli, Transkei.

MBANA, Ntsikelelo (15), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in KTC, Cape Town, in September
1985, during unrest in the aftermath of the PoLLsMOOR
MARCH. His brother was also injured.

MBANA, Silas Lhlohonolo (23), was arrested, severely
beaten and tortured by members of the Bophutha-
tswana Defence Force in Winterveld, Bophuthatswana,
on 6 March 1986. Mr Mbana was suspected of
instigating protests against the Bophuthatswana
government.

MBANA, Sipokazi Thelma (2), was shot dead in her
aunt’s arms by members of a BALACLAVA GROUP,
allegedly linked to the Lingelethu West Town Council,
in Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 16 December 1991.
The attack was aimed at a local ANC Women's League
activist and left three people dead, three wounded and
40 houses burnt.

MBANA, Solomon Mbulelo (18), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP in KTC, Cape Town, in
September 1985, during unrest in the aftermath of the
PoLLSMOOR MARCH. His brother was also injured.
MBANDA, Thokozile Doris (47), an Inkatha supporter,
was severely beaten by ANC supporters in Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, on 23 March 1989.
MBANDLWA, Bhekisisa Professor (17), an IFP
supporter, was shot and injured by other IFP supporters
at his home in Phatheni, Richmond, Natal, on 27 July
1991, when he was mistaken for an ANC supporter.
His leg was later amputated as a result of the shooting.
MBANDLWA, Themba Christopher (29), was tortured
and kept in solitary confinement for three months after
his detention in April 1986 at John Vorster Square,
Johannesburg. He was then deported and constantly
harassed because of his political involvement. In
January 1989, he was assaulted at a meeting of the
National Education Crisis Committee meeting by
Inkatha members.

MBANE, Kayalethu Thankslord (29), an active ANC
member, was detained for two years under the
Terrorism Act, and was tortured in detention in July
and August 1981 in Umtata and Butterworth, Transkei,
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and East London. Mr Mbane was allegedly involved in
harbouring MK operatives.

MBANGA, Oliver Mongezi (45), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead and his body subsequently burnt in an
attack on his home in Tokoza, Tvl, on 2 December 1990,
allegedly carried out by Zulu-speaking IFP supporters.
Mr Mbanga'’s wife and two tenants were also shot
and seriously injured during this incident.

MBANGENI, Khisana Mackenzie (71), an ANC
supporter, was assaulted, tear-gassed and had his
house burnt down in June 1993 in Katlehong, Tvl,
allegedly by IFP supporters.

MBANGI, Nkosana Jef frey, was shot dead by a
named employee of the Administration Board during
political unrest in Mossel Bay, Cape, on 10 February
1986. Mr Mbangi was trying to assist an injured child
when he was shot.

MBANGO, Nhlanhla Jerome (30), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the Security Branch in
his home at Inanda New Town, Durban, on 17 March
1987, allegedly in a targeted attack.

MBANGO, Richard (24), was shot by named members
of the SAP during a protest in Old Location, Molteno,
Cape, on 12 August 1985.

MBANGO, V ictoria , was severely injured on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MBANI, Mpazamo Bethwell (29), was shot dead and
his body was set alight by named and other UDF
supporters in Worcester, Cape, on 13 October 1985,
allegedly because he was believed to be an informer.
MBANJANA, Mziwoxolo , was shot and wounded by
members of the SAP in Daveyton, Tvl, on 24 March
1994. IFP supporters had agreed to travel to a rally at
Sinaba stadium by bus rather than march through the
streets. When this agreement was broken, police
arrived and ordered the gathering to disperse. Shots
were fired and several people were injured.
MBANJW A, Alex Madodawonke (58), an Inkatha
supporter, was stabbed to death by an ANC supporter
at Ixopo, Natal, on 17 September 1989.

MBANJW A, Babazile Sylvia (36), was detained by
members of the SAP in March 1993. While she was in
detention, her house in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, was burnt down in political conflict between
the 'ReD’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MBANJW A, Bangumuzi (65), an IFP supporter, was
shot dead when unidentified persons attacked his
family at Phatheni, Richmond, Natal, on 14 January
1992 in ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MBANJW A, Bazokwakhe Jerome (31), an Inkatha
supporter, was stabbed to death by UDF supporters in
central Pietermaritzburg on 17 December 1988.
MBANJW A, Bheki (19), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead on 4 June 1992 when the bus in which he was
travelling to work was ambushed and attacked by IFP
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supporters near Esimozomeni, Richmond, Natal. The
driver of the bus was shot and injured in the attack.
MBANJW A, Bhekithemba (19), was shot and injured
by Inkatha supporters at KwaShange, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, on 19 September 1987, in intensifying
political conflict.

MBANJW A, Bhulushe , an Inkatha supporter, was
beaten to death by UDF supporters in Ixopo, Natal, in
August 1989.

MBANJW A, Bongane Maghawe (25), was shot and
fatally wounded in Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near
Howick, Natal, on 10 April 1993. Several other people
died in the ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area that day.

MBANJW A, Bongani Innocent (20), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured in an arson attack on his home in
Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, by Inkatha supporters on 30
March 1990.

MBANJW A, Boselapi Annie (50), had her home at
KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, looted
by Inkatha supporters on 27 March 1990, during the
SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Dida Malchion (58), an Inkatha supporter,
was shot dead by UDF supporters on 16 September
1988 in Isipingo, Natal.

MBANJW A, Dombi V eronica (47), had her property
destroyed by Inkatha supporters during political conflict
in Sweetwaters, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, in
1988. She was allegedly targed because her sons
refused to join Inkatha.

MBANJW A, Foli (55), an ANC supporter, had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters in November
1992 in Polela, Bulwer, Natal.

MBANJW A, Griffiths Sthembiso , died soon after
being knocked down by a car driven by a white hit-
and-run driver near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 14 April
1993. Mr Mbanjwa was returning from an ANC rally
when he was run down.

MBANJW A, Hawulengwe Mandla , an IFP supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death by ANC supporters in
Umlazi, Durban, on 4 December 1992.

MBANJW A, Israel, an Inkatha supporter, was
severely beaten by UDF supporters in Ixopo, Natal, on
17 September 1989.

MBANJW A, Khanyisile (29), an Inkatha supporter,
lost her home in an arson attack in Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in intensifying conflict between
ANC and Inkatha supporters in the area during 1990.
MBANJW A, Khulumile Clarah (49), an ANC
supporter, had her home burnt down by named Inkatha
supporters in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 30 March
1990, during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Lengiswa Roselina (48), had her home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Murchison, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, during 1992. Ms Mbanjwa was allegedly
targeted because her sons were ANC supporters.
MBANJW A, Makhawu Johannes (37), had his home
burnt down by named ANC supporters in Ixopo, Natal,
in April 1994, in political conflict during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
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MBANJW A, Mchithwa , an Inkatha supporter, was
shot dead by UDF supporters in Ixopo, Natal, on 9
September 1989.

MBANJW A, Mduduzi Emmanuel (20), a UDF
supporter, was stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters
and thrown into a river in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 27 November 1987.

MBANJW A, Mduduzi , an ANC supporter, had his
house in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, set alight by Inkatha
supporters on 30 March 1990, during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.
MBANJW A, Mgedane (70), an Inkatha supporter, died
after being shot and stabbed by UDF supporters in
Creighton, Natal, on 9 July 1989.

MBANJW A, Mhlanganyelwa Gideon (42), an ANC
supporter, had his home at Highflats, Ixopo, Natal,
severely damaged in an attack by IFP supporters in
June 1993.

MBANJW A, Mkhulunyelwa , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by IFP supporters at Ndaleni, Richmond,
Natal, on 8 April 1991.

MBANJW A, Mkhuzeni (46), an Inkatha supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death by UDF supporters on
29 June 1989 at K Section, Umlazi, Durban.
MBANJW A, Mntungani Richard (43), an ANC
supporter, had his home in Pietermaritzburg burnt
down by Inkatha supporters on 19 September 1987
during intensifying political conflict in the area.
MBANJW A, Mpiyezwe Isaac , an ANC supporter,
suffered injuries when IFP supporters and Caprivi
trainees carried out attacks on ANC supporters in
Richmond, Natal, between 21 and 23 June 1991. See
RicHMOND ATTACKS. One perpetrator was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/217).

MBANJW A, Mpoloza (72), was stabbed to death
during an arson attack by Inkatha supporters in
Richmond, Natal, on 4 April 1990. Mr Mbanjwa was
shot and had managed to escape, but was then
caught and killed.

MBANJW A, Mqganjelwa Petr os, a UDF supporter,
had his house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990
when a group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF
supporters and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in spite of a heavy police and military
presence. Fourteen people were killed and at least
120 homes burnt down. One former IFP member was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MBANJW A, Mthokozisi Raphael (24), an Inkatha
supporter, died after being assaulted, stabbed and
mutilated by ANC supporters near Creighton, Natal, on
17 September 1989.

MBANJW A, Nelson Jimbephi (41), an IFP supporter,
had his home destroyed in an arson attack by ANC
supporters in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
12 July 1990.

MBANJW A, Netiwe , an ANC supporter, had her
home in Chimora, Umlazi, Durban, destroyed in an
arson attack by IFP supporters on 16 January 1992.
See CHIMORA SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.

MBANJW A, Nicholus Sbusiso , an ANC supporter,
was shot dead and stabbed with spears by IFP
supporters at EQumeni, Bulwer, Natal, on 28
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November 1992. Several other people were also injured
when IFP members stormed and attacked people at
an ANC meeting.

MBANJW A, Nokwazi Emily (41), an IFP supporter, was
shot and injured in an attack on her home at Phatheni,
Richmond, Natal, on 14 January 1992 in ongoing
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MBANJW A, Nomzanyana (64), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by Inkatha supporters in Richmond,
Natal, on 4 April 1990.

MBANJW A, Ntombifikile Rosemary (20), had her
home burnt down by Inkatha supporters at Edendale,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 28 March 1990,
during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Ntombo Sylvina (49), had her house in
Esimozomeni, Richmond, Natal, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters on 6 June 1990 during intense political
conflict in the area.

MBANJW A, Phezile Sephronia (56), an Inkatha
supporter, was stabbed and injured by UDF supporters
in Centrecow, Ixopo, Natal, on 17 September 1989
during political conflict in the area. Her husband was
killed in the attack, and her son and daughter were
beaten and injured.

MBANJW A, Sdindi Hilaria (41), an IFP supporter, had
her home destroyed in an arson attack at Bulwer,
Natal, on 2 February 1993 in ongoing conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MBANJW A, Senene (52), an Inkatha supporter, lost
her home in an arson attack by UDF supporters in
Polela, Bulwer, Natal, on 7 July 1989 in intensifying
political conflict in the area. Her husband was killed by
UDF supporters on the same day.

MBANJW A, Sidlabehleli (49), an Inkatha supporter,
was stabbed to death by UDF supporters near
Creighton, Natal, on 17 September 1989.

MBANJW A, Sipho Erastus , was shot dead by ISU
members at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
12 September 1990, during political conflict in the area.
MBANJW A, Sizakele Doris (52), had her home set
alight and destroyed by Inkatha supporters at
KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on

31 March 1990, during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Sizani Kate (49), an Inkatha supporter, had
her home and possessions destroyed in an arson attack
by ANC supporters at Ixopo, Natal, in August 1989.
MBANJW A, Skhumbuzo (10), was shot and injured
by unidentified persons in Phatheni, Richmond, Natal,
on 14 January 1992 in ongoing conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area. One family member
was killed and two others were shot and injured in the
attack.

MBANJW A, Sokalezwe Sixtus (16), an ANC supporter,
was killed on 18 February 1994, when four gunmen
attacked a house in the rural Mahahle village, near
Creighton, Ixopo, Natal, in which he and other ANC
youths were sleeping. Fifteen ANC youths were killed
in the attack. They had been seen putting up posters
announcing a voter education workshop in preparation
for the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Four prominent IFP leaders
were acquitted on charges relating to the massacre.
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MBANJW A, Stembiso (5), was shot and injured by
unidentified persons in Phatheni, Richmond, Natal, on
14 January 1992 in ongoing conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters in the area. One family member was
killed and two others were shot and injured in the
attack.

MBANJW A, Thandani Africa (21), a UDF supporter,
was abducted by Inkatha supporters in Pietermaritzburg
on 28 May 1989. He has not been seen again and is
presumed dead.

MBANJW A, Thandi (30), an ANC supporter, had her
house set alight by Inkatha supporters in Imbali,
Pietermaritzburg, on 30 March 1990, during the SEVEN-
DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Theku (50), an Inkatha supporter, was
shot and hacked to death by UDF supporters in Polela,
Bulwer, Natal, on 9 July 1989 in intensifying political
conflict in the area. His home was burnt down by UDF
supporters on the same day.

MBANJW A, Themba Vincent (35), was stabbed and
shot by Inkatha supporters in Vulisaka, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, on 27 November 1989, in intensifying
political conflict in the area.

MBANJW A, Theodonsia , an Inkatha supporter, was
severely beaten by UDF supporters in Centrecow,
Ixopo, Natal, on 17 September 1989 during political
conflict in the area. Her father was killed in the attack,
her brother beaten and injured, and her mother
severely injured by stabbing.

MBANJW A, Thobile Matutu , was stabbed and
hacked to death by Inkatha supporters in KwaShange,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 28 March 1990 in
the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Thoko Rosemary (30), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by Inkatha supporters on
27 March 1990 in KwaMnyandu, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, in the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBANJW A, Vika Lukas , a UDF supporter, had his
house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990 when a
group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF supporters
and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
in spite of a heavy police and military presence.
Fourteen people were killed and at least 120 homes
burnt down. One former IFP member was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MBANJW A, Vovo Dingephi , an Inkatha supporter,
was shot and injured in Amanzimtoti, near Durban, in
1990, in intensifying conflict between Inkatha and UDF
supporters.

MBANJW A, Zakhi Milton (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by a fellow ANC supporter in Murchison,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 19 September 1992,
during an internal dispute within the organisation.
MBAQA, Sipho Moses (25), an ANC supporter, was
detained under SecTION 29 in Kimberley, Cape, after an
incident in which MK operatives threw a hand grenade,
and was sentenced to 12 years' imprisonment on 25
May 1993 in Kimberley.

MBASAKHANA, Nomonde |, a civilian, and one other
person, was shot and injured in an attempted robbery
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of their vehicle by APLA operatives during January
1992. The perpetrators required their vehicle in order
to use it in an attack on the Lady Grey police station,
OFS. See APLA atTacks. One APLA member was
granted amnesty (AC/1998/0057).

MBATA, Busisiwe Elizabeth (64), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house set alight by ANC supporters in
Thafamasi, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on

15 March 1990.

MBATA, Dumisani , was shot dead by a member of
the SADF in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg, on 17
June 1986 after the tenth anniversary of the Soweto
UPRISING.

MBATA, Ester (68), an ANC supporter, had her house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MBATA, Hanyane Anna (65), an ANC supporter, was
severely injured when a bomb planted by AWB
supporters exploded at a supermarket in Germiston,
Tvl, on 25 April 1994. The explosion was part of an
attempt by right-wingers to derail South Africa’s first
democratic elections on 27 April 1994.

MBATA, John Fakazi , an ANC supporter, went missing
from his home in Tokoza, Tvl on 7 August 1993, and
was later found dead near Mshayazafe Hostel. The
perpetrators were allegedly IFP supporters.

MBATA, Mzameni Jackonia (48), had her property
destroyed in an arson attack by ANC supporters in
Empangeni, Natal, in March 1993 in ongoing political
conflict in the area.

MBATA, Obedia (72), had her house burnt down by IFP
supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 20 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MBATA, Thenjiwe Ennet , was shot and killed by
members of the IFP-related ‘Khumalo Gang’ at Ngema
Tavern, Natalspruit, Tvl, on the 22 January 1993. Many
persons were killed and injured in the attack. Three
perpetrators applied for amnesty. Two perpetrators were
refused and one was granted amnesty (AC/2000/198).
MBATA, Wsi Samson , was shot dead on 22 November
1993, allegedly by IFP supporters, during political
conflict which led to the deaths of at least 16 000
people before the first democratic election of 1994.
MBATHA (KAMA VUSO-MBA THA), Khosi , was
arrested, detained and tortured, along with her
husband and their three-year-old son in Dube, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 22 October 1981.

MBATHA, (first name not given), was shot dead in
Dube, Soweto, Johannesburg, in 1993 when a named
IFP leader ordered an attack on the shop where Mr
Mbatha worked because his employer was an ANC
supporter.

MBATHA, (full names not given), an ANC supporter,
suffered damage to property in political conflict between
Inkatha and UDF supporters at KwaMashu, Durban, in
the late 1980s. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/054).

MBATHA, Abel Mgedi , was killed with his fatherin-
law in Zonkiziswe, Katlehong, Tvl, on 23 May 1993.
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Their charred bodies were found in the boot of their
car the next day. The incident occurred after an ANC
march past a Tokoza hostel on May 22 1993 led to a
dramatic escalation of political violence on the East
Rand, leaving at least 80 people dead. Mr Mbatha and
his father-in-law were allegedly killed because they
were Zulu-speaking and their attackers therefore
assumed that they were IFP supporters.

MBATHA, Adelina Nobelungu (58), was beaten by
members of the SAP in Prieska, near Upington, Cape,
in 1986.

MBATHA, Africa Dumisani (37), an ANC supporter, lost
his house in an arson attack by unidentified Inkatha
supporters at Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, in
1989 during intensifying political conflict in the area.
MBATHA, Alex , was detained and severely beaten by
members of the SAP in Dube, Soweto, Johannesburg,
on 21 October 1981 and released on 13 April 1982. He
and his family were continually harassed by Security
Police who showed them weapons allegedly found in
their house.

MBATHA, Alexander Eli , was detained and tortured
by named policemen at Protea police station, Soweto,
Johannesburg, and at John Vorster Square, Johannes-
burg, in 1977. During his detention he was kept naked
and in solitary confinement for six months. In 1981,
Mr Mbatha, his wife and their three-year-old daughter
were arrested. He was tortured in various police
stations in the Transvaal, and deprived of food and
medical attention.

MBATHA, Alois Sibeko (68), an IFP supporter, was
shot dead by ANC supporters, some of whom are
named, in Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 26 January 1992.

MBATHA, Anna Ncanyana , suffered severe ill-
treatment and damage to property on 17 June 1992 in
the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijl-
park, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBATHA, Ar chie, was arrested in Duduza, Nigel, Tvl,
on 28 February 1985. Duduza residents had demanded
a modern sewerage system instead of the bucket
system. Youths targeted policemen’s houses as part of
the protest and many were beaten when taken to
Dunnottar police station.

MBATHA, Bacinile Bessie , had her home burnt down
in March 1990 in KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pieter-
maritzburg, during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MBATHA, Bernard (23), was stabbed, stoned and
hacked to death by named Inkatha supporters in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 24 May 1988,
in intense political conflict in the area.

MBATHA, Bhekinkosi (32), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Matshana,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 1 August 1992.
MBATHA, Bhekinkosi (42), was severely beaten by
IFP supporters at Dumbe, Paulpietersburg, Natal, in
April 1994 in political conflict preceding the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.
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MBATHA, Bongani Jeremiah (17), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by a named IFP supporter in Umlazi,
Durban, on 2 April 1991.

MBATHA, Bongani , an IFP supporter, was shot and
injured when members of an ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) opened fire on IFP supporters on their way to a
meeting at the Tokoza stadium on the East Rand, Tvl,
on 8 September 1991. Sixteen people were killed and
ten were injured in the attack. One SDU member was
granted amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/00225). See
TOKOZA ATTACKS.

MBATHA, Bongini Besta (43), an IFP supporter, had
her house burnt down by ANC supporters in Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 October 1991. The
perpetrators were allegedly looking for her nephew, an
active IFP supporter.

MBATHA, Busisiwe Merica (45), a UDF supporter,
was continuously harassed and had her house in
KwaMashu, Durban, petrol-bombed by Inkatha
supporters in September 1985.

MBATHA, Currie Andries (21), was detained and
severely beaten by members of the SAP while taking
part in a march in Nelspruit, Tvl, in December 1986
during boycotts in the area.

MBATHA, Cyril Sibusiso (31), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by unidentified persons on 26 December
1991 in Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal.
One other ANC supporter was shot dead and one
injured in the attack, which allegedly occurred in the
course of serious internal party conflict.

MBATHA, Cyril Zakhele (21), was severely beaten
and subjected to electric shocks while his legs and
hands were tied together by members of the SAP at
Lenasia, Tvl, on 19 February 1989. He was sentenced
to death for the murder of Dr Abu Asvat but his
sentence was changed to 30 years' imprisonment in
August 1992. He applied for amnesty and it was denied.
MBATHA, Dinjana Abraham (45), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead when ANC supporters attacked a
meeting of IFP supporters in Appelsbosch, near
Stanger, Natal, on 24 December 1992. One other
person was shot and injured in the attack.

MBATHA, Dudu (42), was arrested, detained and
tortured by members of the SAP in Dube, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 22 August 1981.

MBATHA, Elizabeth Nombuso (36), an IFP supporter,
had her home at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, burnt down by ANC supporters, some of whom
are named, in January 1992 during ongoing political
violence in the area.

MBATHA, Emma , was shot dead and her house was
destroyed in 1989 in an arson attack in Tokoza, Tvl,
reportedly because members of the community
accused Ms Mbatha's son of being an IFP supporter.
MBATHA, Gawetha , was shot and wounded when
ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a crowd
of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least nine
marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten ANC
security guards were granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).
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MBATHA, Gibson , was shot and injured by IFP
supporters in Alexandra, Johannesburg, while attending
a night vigil on 26 March 1991 during conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters.

MBATHA, Isaac Bhekumusa (29), was beaten to death
and thrown from a moving train between Toronga and
Cleveland stations in Johannesburg, on 28 July 1992.
See TRAIN VIOLENCE.

MBATHA, Jabu , was shot dead by members of the
MunicipAL Potict in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg,
on 10 May 1986 at a youth meeting to discuss
community defence against the vigilante KABASA GANG,
allegedly linked to the SAP. The perpetrators disrupted
the meeting and killed three people.

MBATHA, Joshua (55), an ANC supporter, was stabbed
and injured by fellow ANC supporters at Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, on 31 January 1990, allegedly
because he was thought to be an Inkatha supporter.
MBATHA, Kapane Jean , a UDF supporter, had her
house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990 when a
group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF supporters
and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
in spite of a heavy police and military presence.
Fourteen people were killed and at least 120 homes
burnt down. One former IFP member was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MBATHA, Kohli Lira , was killed on 17 June 1992 in
the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijl-
park, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBATHA, Maria Zodwa (55), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed and had her house in Mariannhill, Pinetown,
Natal, burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 14 May 1989.
MBATHA, Mar tin, an ANC supporter, was stabbed to
death by Inkatha supporters in Mariannhill, Pinetown,
Natal, on 5 May 1989.

MBATHA, Mattheus , an IFP supporter, was shot and
injured when members of an ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) opened fire on IFP supporters on their way to a
meeting at the Tokoza stadium on the East Rand, Tvl,
on 8 September 1991. Sixteen people were killed and
ten were injured in the attack. One SDU member was
granted amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/00225). See
TOKOZA ATTACKS.

MBATHA, Mbuheni (Bongeni) , an IFP supporter, was
shot and injured when members of an ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) opened fire on IFP supporters on
their way to a meeting at the Tokoza stadium on the
East Rand, Tvl, on 8 September 1991. Sixteen people
were killed and ten were injured in the attack. One
SDU member was granted amnesty (AC/1999/00225).
See TOKOZA ATTACKS.

MBATHA, Mduduz William (41), was severely
injured when members of the Orde Boerevolk opened
fire with automatic weapons on a passenger bus in
Durban on 9 October 1990. Seven people were killed
and 27 injured in the attack. See PUTCO BUS ATTACK.
Amnesty was granted to two of the three applicants
and refused to the leader of the unit (AC/1997/0053).
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MBATHA, Melzinah Zibuyizile , died having been
attacked and burnt by a group of youths at Daveyton,
Tvl, on 2 July 1987. The youths targeted another person
who was not present at the time of the attack. Four
persons died and four suffered injuries as a result of
the attack. One perpetrator, who claimed to be an
ANC supporter and chairperson of a ‘people’s court’,
was refused amnesty for the attack (AC/2001/282).
MBATHA, Mfanuthini Alton (43), had his house in
Eshowe, Natal, destroyed in an arson attack by IFP
supporters on 8 August 1993 in ongoing political
conflict in the area.

MBATHA, Mhlopheki Jonas , was killed on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MBATHA, Michael Thulani (18), a UDF supporter,
was stabbed to death by an Inkatha supporter during
political conflict at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 20 February 1987. One perpetrator was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MBATHA, Mohloki Jonas , was shot and stabbed in
Boipatong, Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1992 and
died the next day. His wife and four-year-old daughter
were also killed in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE. The attack
was carried out by IFP-supporting residents of the
KwaMadala hostel, allegedly aided by the police.
MBATHA, Nani Lucy (45), an ANC supporter, had her
home in Trust Feeds, New Hanover, near Pietermaritz-
burg, burnt down by Inkatha supporters in March 1989
in intensifying political conflict in the area.

MBATHA, Ndayizana Richard , suffered injuries after
he was attacked and burnt by a group of youths at
Daveyton, Tvl, on 2 July 1987. The youths targeted
another person who was not present at the time of
the attack. Four persons died and four suffered injuries
as a result of the attack. One perpetrator, who claimed
to be an ANC supporter and chairperson of a ‘people’s
court’, was refused amnesty for the attack (AC/2001/282).
MBATHA, Nonhlanhla (21), an IFP supporter, was
abducted by ANC supporters during political conflict in
Appelsbosch, near Stanger, Natal, on 24 May 1993
and found stabbed to death the following day. Her
father, an IFP supporter, had been killed in the course
of political conflict five months earlier.

MBATHA, Nonhlanhla Beatrice (35), an ANC
supporter, had her house in KwaMashu, Durban,
destroyed in an arson attack on 21 March 1994, in
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MBATHA, Nontombi Muriel (58), an Inkatha supporter,
was attacked by UDF supporters on numerous
occasions in 1988 an 1989 at KwaMashu, Durban. Ms
Mbatha was accused of being a police informer because
she worked at the local police station as a cleaner.
MBATHA, Ntuthumbe Elsaphina (49), was injured
when her home was set alight in Daveyton, Tvl, during
a stayaway on 2 July 1987.
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MBATHA, Paulina , was stabbed repeatedly by IFP
supporters in Boipatong, Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June
1992 during the BOIPATONG MASSACRE. Ms Mbatha
spent nine months in hospital and is still paralysed.
Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further
three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBATHA, Pearl Lucky (35), was severely beaten at
Crown Plaza station in Zola, Soweto, Johannesburg, on
16 September 1993 during TRAIN VIOLENCE on the Rand.
MBATHA, Petros Muzkayise , was shot and injured
in the head, leg and buttocks during ongoing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters at Madundube,
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 September
1992. He had earlier refused to attend an IFP meeting,
after which he was visited by unidentified men who
asked to use his car. When he refused he was shot.
MBATHA, Petrus Fana , was killed on 17 June 1992 in
the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near Vanderbijl-
park, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBATHA, Phillip (65), was stabbed and severely
injured and had his house burnt down by ANC
members in NDWEDWE, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16
March 1994 in political conflict in the area during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBATHA, Popi Nokuthula (18), was shot and seriously
injured by a group of IFP supporters who opened fire
on people standing outside a tavern in Dumbe,
Paulpietersburg, Natal, on 18 November 1993 in
ongoing political conflict in the area.

MBATHA, Poppie (4), was stabbed to death by IFP
supporters on 17 June 1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE
in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45
people dead and 27 seriously injured. Her mother and
father were also killed in the attack. Thirteen
perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further three
applications were refused (AC/2000/209).

MBATHA, Samson Bhekuyise , was shot dead by
named Inkatha supporters during political conflict at
KwaMashu, Durban, on 28 October 1987.

MBATHA, Samuel Ngwane (63), was hacked to
death on 9 December 1990 during political conflict in
Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters.

MBATHA, Samuel Thamsanoa (30), a SAAWU
worker, was detained in Dundee, Natal, on 16 June
1986 and held in Waterval prison for two years under
emergency regulations. He was tortured by a named
member of the Security Police who wanted the names
of other activists responsible for a stayaway organised
for the commemoration of the Soweto student uprising.
MBATHA, Sibongile Jenet (42), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Amaoti, Inanda, near Durban, burnt
down by Inkatha supporters on 15 February 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MBATHA, Sipho Sabelo (26), an ANC supporter, was
beaten and stabbed to death with spears during intense
conflict between UDF and Inkatha supporters at
Finland, Durban, on 19 January 1990.

MBATHA, Solomon Sipho , a member of the SAP,
was shot dead in an attempted armed robbery by MK
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operatives at the Emthonjeni police station,
Machadodorp, Tvl, on 25 July 1990. The aim of the
robbery was to seize weapons. A police colleague was
wounded and one of the attackers was shot dead. One
MK operative was granted amnesty (AC/2000/109).
MBATHA, Sylvia (29), had her house destroyed in an
arson attack by IFP supporters in Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, on 22 March 1993 in ongoing
political conflict in the area.

MBATHA, Tabello , a UDF supporter, who was preparing
to go into exile, was shot and seriously injured by
members of the SAP in Chesterville, Durban, on 20 May
1986. While he was waiting at a safe house, the police
arrived and opened fire, killing three UDF supporters
and injuring one other.

MBATHA, Thamsanqga , was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi Durban,
on 24 October 1992 in ongoing political conflict in the
area.

MBATHA, Thandi , an activist and member of the
Soweto Area Committee, was arrested and detained
in Soweto, Johannesburg, on 18 May 1987.
MBATHA, Themba (20), a COSAS member, was
abducted and imprisoned by IFP supporters during
school boycotts in KwaMashu, Durban, on 16 June
1980. He was taken to Ulundi to appear before the
KwaZulu Legislative Assembly, and was ordered to
give up his leadership role in the school boycotts.
MBATHA, Thembane Dinah (50), an ANC supporter,
had her house destroyed in an arson attack by ANC
supporters in Amaoti, Inanda, near Durban, on 31
January 1990. The perpetrators accused her of being
an Inkatha spy and informer.

MBATHA, Thembi Mabel (50), had her house at
Ekuphumuleni, Mtunzini, Natal, bunt down by IFP
supporters on 18 November 1993. She was allegedly
targed because her sons were ANC supporters.
MBATHA, Thembisile Maria (65), an ANC member,
was shot and injured by ANC supporters at Klipspruit,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 21 March 1994 during a
commemoration of the SHARPEVILLE MASSACRE.
MBATHA, Tholakele (17), a COSAS member, was
abducted and imprisoned by IFP supporters in
KwaMashu, Durban, on 16 June 1980. She and her
siblings were taken before the KwaZulu Legislature in
Ulundi to swear that they would stop mobilising school
students for boycotts.

MBATHA, Thulebona (18), a COSAS activist, was
abducted and detained during school boycotts on 16
June 1980, and had his home burnt down on 10
September 1985, by Inkatha members, allegedly
assisted by the police, in KwaMashu, Durban. He was
also reportedly tortured in detention by named members
of the SAP in Durban in 1980.

MBATHA, Timothy (35), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SAP in Kliptown, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 1 May 1991.

MBATHA, Tokozile Rosemary (48), had her home
burnt down by Inkatha supporters at KwaShange,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 28 March 1990,
during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.
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MBATHA, Vernet, an ANC member, suffered shock
and light injuries in a bomb explosion at the ANC
offices in London on 14 March 1982, an operation
authorised by the Minister of Law and Order. Nine
Security Branch operatives, including the head of
Security Branch Headquarters, were granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0292).

MBATHA, Victor Thulane , a member of the SAP,
survived an armed attack by MK operatives on the
Orlando police station in Soweto, Johannesburg, on 2
November 1979. Three MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the attack (AC/2000/195).

MBATHA, Virginia Ntozethu (45), a UDF supporter,
was detained and tortured by members of the SAP in
Durban on 1 October 1986 and held in solitary
confinement for six months. She had attended the
funeral of Samora Machel was detained on her return.
MBATHA, Vusi Stanley , was killed when members of
the Orde Boerevolk opened fire with automatic
weapons on a passenger bus in Durban on 9 October
1990. Seven people were killed and 27 injured in the
attack. See Putco BuUS ATTACK. Amnesty was granted to
two of the three applicants and refused to the leader
of the unit (AC/1997/0053).

MBATHA, Vusi, was shot and wounded when ANC
security guards opened fire from the ANC headquarters
at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a crowd of IFP
marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least nine marchers
were killed and around 100 injured. Ten ANC security
guards were granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).
MBATHA, Vusumuzi Norman (26), was shot and
severely injured by ANC supporters in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 12 January 1992. He is a quadraplegic as a
result of the shooting. His house in KwaMashu was
burnt down by named ANC supporters on 18 January
1992. There was conflict within the ANC in the area at
the time, and, although Mr Mbatha was non-aligned,
his family were ANC supporters.

MBATHA, Vusumuzi , an MK operative, was killed in a
shoot-out at the home of ANC member Tryphina Jokweni
in Umlazi, Durban, on 24 April 1987 by members of
the Security Police from Vlakplaas and Durban who
had infiltrated their unit. Three MK operatives were
killed and one security policeman was injured.
MBATHA, Vuyani Pelvis (25), a COSAS member, was
shot and killed by named members of the SAP in
KwaGuga, near Witbank, Tvl, on 25 April 1986. Police
thought Mr Mbatha was part of a group of youths
stoning his father's house. His father was the mayor of
KwaGuga and became a target for community protests.
MBATHU, Mthetheleli Shadrack (37), was shot in
the face in a DRIVE-BY SHOOTING during political conflict
in Phola Park, Tokoza, Tvl, on 11 December 1990,
allegedly by IFP supporters.

MBATHU, Wandile Major (40), an ANC supporter,
was shot by members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on
7 September 1992, during an ANC protest march to
demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people
were killed and 200 people injured in the event, which
became known as the BiSHO MASSACRE. Two members
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of the former CDF were refused amnesty for the
shooting (AC/2000/122).

MBATYOTHI, Songezo Papana (23), an MK operative
from the Border area, Cape, was shot and severely
injured in an attack by SADF Special Forces operatives
on several ANC houses and a block of flats in Maseru,
Lesotho, on 9 December 1982. Thirty South Africans
and 12 citizens of Lesotho were killed in the midnight
attack.

MBAYI, Nandipa , an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by a named IFP supporter in KwaMashu, Durban, on 6
January 1993. Ms Mbayi was two months pregnant at
the time of her death.

MBAYI, Phila Per cy, an ANC supporter, was shot and
injured by a named |IFP supporter in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 6 January 1993.

MBAYI, Semuseni Ducard (19), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by Inkatha supporters at KwaMashu,
Durban, on 9 April 1990.

MBAYO, Suzen Nozenzo (21), a UDF supporter, was
shot and injured by members of the A-TEAM in
Thabong, Welkom, OFS, on 26 March 1985.

MBEBE, Lucas Mdunyiswa , an ANC supporter, was
shot by alleged members of a taxi association in Nyanga,
Cape Town, on 28 February 1992, and died a week
later. The perpetrators opened fire on a group of ANC
and Civic activists leaving a meeting, injuring several.
See TAXI VIOLENCE.

MBEDLILA, Mbulelo Aaron (48), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death by fellow ANC supporters in
KwaMashu, Durban, on 1 January 1990. He was
allegedly attacked because he had sold his firearm to a
resident of the Inkatha stronghold of Lindelani.
MBEDU, Thetephi (74), had her house and possessions
destroyed in an arson attack at Nsingweni, KwaZulu,
near Mtunzini, Natal, on 26 March 1994 in political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters before the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBEJE, Betta (75), disappeared during April 1994,
when she left her home in Phatheni, Richmond, Natal,
to attend her sister's funeral vigil at the Springfield
Mission. There was intense political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area at the time. Ms
Mbeje has not been seen again and is presumed dead.
MBEJE, Bhekuyise , an IFP supporter, was stabbed to
death by ANC supporters in Richmond, Natal, on 4
August 1991.

MBEJE, Bongani Nicholas (19), a UDF supporter, was
shot and killed in Howick, Natal, on 6 February 1988 in
intense political conflict between Inkatha and UDF
supporters in the area.

MBEJE, Bongiwe , was attacked and injured by
Inkatha members during political conflict at Sinathing,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, Natal, on 30 December
1987. One perpetrator was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0332).

MBEJE, Busisiwe Paulina , was killed by Inkatha
supporters during political conflict at Sinathing, KwaZulu,
near Pietermaritzburg, on 30 December 1987. Three
perpetrators were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
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MBEJE, Elianorah Nokulunga (43), an Inkatha
supporter, had her house destroyed and her possessions
stolen in an attack by UDF supporters at Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in November 1989.

MBEJE, Eunice Thembisile (22), was severely beaten
by police in her home in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 17 April 1992. The police had started
harassing and arresting people who were thought to
be political activists.

MBEJE, Nomusa Constance (37), an IFP supporter,
had her house in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down by ANC supporters on 11 September 1993.
MBEJE, Ntombenhle Beatrice (28), had her house
destroyed and her belongings stolen in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in intense conflict between
Inkatha and ANC supporters in the area in March 1990.
MBEJE, Ntombeningi Ancial (39), had her house in
Wartburg, Natal, burnt down by UDF supporters on 29
October 1989 during violent political conflict between
Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.

MBEJE, Vincent Bhekani Mpumelelo (22), an active
UDF supporter, was detained in Richmond, Natal,
several times during the 1980s. In detention, he was
severely assaulted by members of the Special Branch,
allegedly because of his political activities. He was
shot and killed in June 1990 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MBEJE, Xolani (20), was shot dead by members of
the ISU at Sokhulu, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
in 1993. Mr Mbeje had been a marshal in a protest
march earlier that day.

MBEKA, Nondumiso (13), was shot and injured by
members of the SAP in Crossroads, Cape Town, on 20
May 1993, during conflict sparked by a local Crossroads
leader’s attempts to remove Section 2 residents by force.
MBEKELA, Mxoliswa Christian  (24), the Grahamstown
Youth Congress chairman, was seriously injured in a
firebomb attack on his house by members of the SAP
on 22 May 1985 in Grahamstown, Cape. His girlfriend
died of burns sustained in this incident. He was
subsequently detained by the SAP.

MBEKELA, Sonwabo Sydwell (28), an MK operative,
was tortured during interrogation in Umtata, Transkei,
in September 1985 and again in December 1987. Mr
Mbekela was charged with political offences and held
in custody until 1989. One Transkei Security Branch
operative was granted amnesty for the 1987 torture
(AC/2000/076).

MBEKI, Joseph Molefi (17), lost the sight in one eye
after being shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Atteridgeville, Pretoria, on 14 April 1993 while singing
freedom songs with others after the assassination of
CHRIS Hani. Police arrived and opened fire. Mr Mbeki
was hit several times in the left eye and on the body,
then loaded into a police Hippo and assaulted. He was
later charged with public violence but found not guilty.
MBEKI, Monwabisi Kwanda (21), an ANC supporter,
was abducted by unidentified persons in 1981 in
Cradock, Cape. He has never been seen again and is
presumed dead.
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MBEKI, Mteteleli (33), was shot and severely injured
by members of the SAP in Nyanga, Cape Town, in 1986,
while watching a protest march to the Administration
Board.

MBEKILE, Maholwane (50), was stabbed to death
with a panga on 16 August 1990 in Soweto, Johannes-
burg, by IFP supporters who suspected he was an
ANC member.

MBEKO, Hlakaniphani John , was abducted, beaten
and stabbed to death by ANC members in Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 25 January 1991. Mr
Mbeko was suspected of changing his allegiance to
the IFP. One ANC member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0335).

MBEKO, Mfanufikile (21), an ANC member, was stabbed
several times and then shot dead by IFP supporters in
Umkomaas, near Durban, in 6 January 1991.

MBEKO, Muzokuhle (36), an ANC supporter, was shot
and stabbed to death by IFP supporters at Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 30 April 1992. His son was
killed some nine months earlier, also in the course of
political conflict.

MBEKO, Xolani (16), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Umgababa, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 6 September 1991, while on his way to
the night vigil of a fellow activist. His father was killed
nine months later, also in the course of political conflict
in the area.

MBEKUSHE, Sizakele (20), an SRC member and
political activist, was shot dead by a named SPECIAL
ConsTABLE who fired at demonstrators in De Aar, Cape,
on 14 December 1989.

MBEKWA, Sibunu , an ANC member, was severely
beaten by members of the SAP in 1960 in Bizana,
Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MBELE, Aaron (22), a member of the KwaKwatsi
Youth Congress, was shot and severely injured when
police opened fire on a crowd of ANC supporters
marching to the Koppies court, in KwaKwaTsi, KopPPIES,
OFS, on 30 March 1990. Mr Mbele had 180 pellets
removed from his body.

MBELE, Andrew V usi, who had been arrested
previously for trying to leave the country, disappeared
from Orlando East, Soweto, Johannesburg, in September
1982 and has not been seen since. Members of the
Security Police allegedly visited his family after his
disappearance and took his reference book.

MBELE, Ben, and a friend were shot dead in a DRIVE-BY
SHOOTING while standing outside the friend's home in
Katlehong, Tvl, on 17 June 1993.

MBELE, Bettie Tomfikile (49), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down on 10 March 1992 in Gamalakhe,
KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in continuing
political conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in
the area. Her son was shot dead in the attack.
MBELE, David (35), an ANC supporter, was abducted
by named and other members of the SAP in Khutsong,
Carletonville, Tvl, in 1991. He was subjected to electric
shock torture and beaten to try and force him to
become a police informer.
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MBELE, David, was shot dead by ANC supporters
during an arson attack on his home in Boipatong,
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 13 June 1992. Mr Mbele was
suspected of being an IFP supporter.

MBELE, Dumisane Cyril (19), an ANC supporter, was
shot and severely injured by members of the KwaZuLu
PoLice in Umkomaas, near Durban, in July 1990, during
political conflict in the area.

MBELE, Emily Busi Zini (19), was raped and had her
possessions stolen in April 1993 in Mathelanjeni,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, during intense
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MBELE, Eugene Mlungisi (28), a member of the SAP,
was shot dead in Kokstad, Natal, on 18 October 1993
while on night duty at a local police station. There was
evidence to suggest the involvement of APLA in this
attack, but the APLA leadership denied responsibility
for the killing.

MBELE, Fikile Bulisile (39), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by Inkatha supporters at
Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, on
29 October 1989 during intensifying political conflict
between UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area.
MBELE, France (55), had his house and furniture
destroyed in an arson attack by IFP supporters in
Umlazi, Durban, on 4 May 1992 in ongoing political
conflict in the area.

MBELE, George Mduduzi (63), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters (allegedly aided by
members of the AWB and the SAP) in his office at
Inala School, Uvongo, Natal, on 16 February 1994. It is
alleged that the perpetrators targeted Mr Mbele
because of his leadership role in the ANC.

MBELE, Happy Frank (25), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead in Tokoza, Tvl, on 18 December 1992, allegedly
by members of the IFP-aligned KHUMALO GANG.
MBELE, Jabulisiwe (12), lost her home when her
parents’ house in Swayimane, Table Mountain, near
Pietermaritzburg, was set alight by Inkatha supporters
on 29 October 1989 in intensifying political conflict in
the area.

MBELE, Joseph (40), was shot dead in Katlehong, Tvl,
on 28 November 1993 during political conflict in the area.
MBELE, Lilian , was threatened with sexual assault and
stabbed in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 16 December
1992. Ms Mbele was pregnant at the time of the attack.
Her husband was rumoured to be a police informer.
MBELE, Lucia (51), an ANC supporter, had her house
bumt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MBELE, Mazwi Lynos (23), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by IFP supporters at Umlazi, Durban,
on 24 April 1994, three days before the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MBELE, Mfolwane , was imprisoned in 1970 for eight
years under the Terrorism Act in Flagstaff, Transkei, for
his involvement in a popular movement in Pondoland
against the introduction of the tribal authorities system.
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After his release he got sick because of the injuries
sustained during his imprisonment and later died.
MBELE, Mhleli, a UDF supporter, was shot dead by
members of the KwaZuru PoLice in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 25 December 1989, during political conflict
in the area.

MBELE, Michael (40), a UDF supporter, was severely
beaten by named members of the Security Branch
while in detention in Protea police station, Soweto,
Johannesburg, in 1986.

MBELE, Millicent Zandile (18), a member of the IFP
Youth Brigade, was shot dead, allegedly by ANC
members, at Nyangwini, Port Shepstone, Natal, on 4
September 1992. See NYANGWINI ATTACK.

MBELE, Mina Nyane , was shot in the spine by IFP
supporters at the Johannesburg station on her way to
work on 28 February 1989. Ms Mbele was paralysed
and hospitalised for three years before dying as a
result of her injuries.

MBELE, Mkhohlisi Wellington (22), an IFP supporter,
was shot and killed by ANC supporters at KwaDabeka,
near Pinetown, Natal, on 4 August 1993.

MBELE, Mlungisi , an ANC supporter and member of
the SAP, was shot dead by unidentified persons in
Kokstad, Natal, on 17 October 1993.

MBELE, Msongelwa Jeremiah (46), was stabbed to
death with knives and pangas by Zulu-speaking hostel-
dwellers during conflict between residents and hostel-
dwellers in the area on 13 September 1990. Mr Mbele
was on his way to work by taxi when the driver
abducted the passengers and drove them to the hostel.
MBELE, Musa (24), was shot and severely injured in
an attack by ANC supporters on the Nkulu area, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, on 15 August 1993. Three people
died in this attack and four were seriously injured.
MBELE, Mzawu Solani (58), had her house destroyed
in an arson attack by Inkatha supporters in Wartburg,
Natal, during 1989, in intensifying political conflict in
the area.

MBELE, Mzondwase Ivy (61), an ANC supporter, had
her home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MBELE, Nguzimangabemtu , an IFP supporter, was
shot dead at a hostel in Johannesburg, on 19 March
1993 during conflict between IFP-supporting hostel-
dwellers and ANC-supporting residents.

MBELE, Nokuthula Sibibongile , was shot and killed
by a member of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) in
Tokoza, Tvl, in 1993. It was believed that Ms Mbele
was an IFP supporter who provided information to the
IFP. One SDU member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0348).

MBELE, Ntombembhlophe Ritta Ntombekhaladi  (41),
an ANC supporter, had her home in Port Shepstone,
Natal, burnt down by IFP supporters in July 1991.
MBELE, Ntombifikile Elizabeth  (44), an ANC
supporter, had her home in Umkomaas, near Durban,
burnt down on 22 July 1990 in intensifying political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
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MBELE, Ntombifuthi Eunice (27), an ANC supporter,
had her home at Swayimane, Table Mountain, near
Pietermaritzburg, burnt down by Inkatha supporters on
30 October 1989 in intensifying political conflict in the
area.

MBELE, Ronnie Michael (23), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead in Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 10 March 1992 in continuing
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MBELE, Sfiso Mzonjani , an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters at his home in Swayimane, Table
Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, on 3 January 1991.
MBELE, Sipho (31), a UDF supporter, was detained
under emergency regulations on 9 June 1986 in
Alexandria, Cape, because of his political activities. He
was held in custody for 17 months.

MBELE, Sitoni Clementina (73), had her house
destroyed in an arson attack at Mpophomeni, KwaZulu,
near Howick, Natal, in 1991 in ongoing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBELE, Thandeka Cinder ella, an IFP supporter, was
shot and injured when ANC supporters attacked her
home at Phatheni, Richmond, Natal, on 10 July 1993.
Seven occupants, including family members and
neighbours who had taken shelter at the house because
it was fenced, were killed, and three were injured.
MBELE, Vukani, an IFP supporter, was shot and
injured while travelling with a prominent IFP supporter
who was the target of an ANC attack in Estcourt,
Natal, on 16 December 1992. Three people died in the
attack and several others were injured.

MBELE, Vusumazi Eric (23), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by Inkatha supporters at Swayimane, Table
Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, on 31 December
1989 during political conflict in the area.

MBELE, Zithulele Solomon (65), an ANC supporter,
had his house, car and livestock destroyed in an arson
attack by IFP supporters at Ixopo, Natal, on 16 March
1994, in the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MBELE, Zwelifile , an Inkatha supporter, was shot
dead by an ANC supporter in Wartburg, Natal, on 21
December 1985, during intensifying political conflict in
the area.

MBELEKANA, Mbulelo Archie (29), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed to death by other ANC
supporters on 20 September 1993 in Komga, Cape
during a serious internal feud.

MBELU, Bhekuyise Israel (18), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Durban on 28 February 1990 in
intense conflict between ANC and Inkatha supporters
following the UNBANNING of political organisations
earlier that month.

MBELU, Lovey Gideon (20), was shot dead, by IFP-
aligned KHETISI KHESWA GANG members in Sebokeng,
Tvl, on 12 January 1991 while attending the night vigil
of an ANCYL member killed by the gang. Gang
members fired and threw hand grenades at mourners,
killing several people and injuring others. Police arrived
but provided no protection, ignoring the attackers and
the injured. See NANGALEMBE NIGHT VIGIL MASSACRE.
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MBELU, Percy Mpho (20), was shot dead, by IFP-
aligned KHETISI KHESWA GANG members in Sebokeng,
Tvl, on 12 January 1991 while attending the night vigil
of an ANCYL member killed by the gang. Gang
members fired and threw hand grenades at mourners,
killing several and injuring others. Police arrived but
provided no protection, ignoring the attackers and the
injured. See NANGALEMBE NIGHT VIGIL MASSACRE.
MBEMBE, Nokufuna Vinna (54), an ANC supporter,
was shot and severely injured at Mevamhlophe,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 10 January 1994
in political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MBENENGE, Simon Simangele , an MK operative, was
shot dead in Johannesburg, in September 1988. His
mother claims that police came to her home in Paarl,
Cape, and asked her to identify a photograph of her
son who she was then informed was dead. The ANC
confirmed that Mr Mbenenge was an MK operative
but do not know the circumstances of his death.
MBENENGE, Thembekile Eric (30), was shot dead by
a member of the MuNIcIPAL PoLICE on 27 July 1986 in
Newtown, near Adelaide, Cape. One of the policemen
was then stabbed and stoned to death by angry residents.
MBENENTO, Matse Wellington (28), an ANC supporter,
was shot by named SAP members in Qumrha, near
Komga, Cape, on 11 October 1991, while campaigning
for the boycott of white-owned shops in the area.
MBENGA, Adam (26), a COSAS member, was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Orlando, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 15 June 1993 during intense conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters.

MBENGE, Phindile Lhelhe (24), was shot dead by
members of the SADF at during protests at Fingo
Village, Grahamstown, Cape, on 2 February 1987.
MBENGO, Vusumzi Mzuvukile (22), a UDF supporter,
was tortured in various ways by named members of
the Security Branch on 26 August 1985 during intense
public unrest in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London.
MBENGWA, Elias (43), was shot and injured by IFP
supporters during conflict between residents and
hostel-dwellers in Meadowlands, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 2 May 1991.

MBENSE, Eugene Siyabonga (28), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten by unidentified persons in
Clermont, near Durban, during a bus boycott in 1986.
MBENSE, Mduduzi Sydney (22), was intimidated and
threatened in his home in Greytown, Natal, in March
1994. Mr Mbense had been the bodyguard of Solomon
Mzolo, who was shot and killed, allegedly by ANC
members, in February 1994.

MBESE, Nosisana Negina (36), an MK operative, was
detained, tortured by suffocation and severely beaten
by named members of the Ciskei Police on 8 January
1986 in Mdantsane, Ciskei. She was interrogated
about identities of people who were harbouring and
liaising with MK cadres.

MBESI, Esther Nokolosani (67), a UDF supporter, lost
her home in an arson attack in KTC, Cape Town, in
June 1986, during the mass destruction of UDF-
supporting squatter camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes,
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acting with the tacit approval and aid of the security
forces. Over 60 people were killed and 20 000 homes
destroyed in the attacks.

MBETE, Mwandile (25), an ANC member, was
repeatedly detained, interrogated and assaulted with
sjamboks by members of the Transkei Police and SAP,
at his home and at the Norwood police station in
Umtata, Transkei, during the 1980s. He was
interrogated about ANC pamphlets in his possession
for which he was charged, convicted and sentenced.
He was released in 1988.

MBEWANA, Mxolisi T ototo, was shot by members
of the SADF during political conflict in DUNCAN VILLAGE,
East London, on 13 October 1985.

MBEWE, Isaac (17), a UDF supporter, was beaten
with sjamboks and knobkerries by IMBOKODO vigilantes
at the tribal authority in Leeuwfontein, KwaNdebele, in
May 1986 during conflict over the independence of
KwaNdebele.

MBEWE, Mongez , was arrested and tortured by
Bophuthatswana Police at Winterveld, Bophuthatswana,
in July 1986. He was accused of killing Brigadier
Molope, the head of the Bophuthatswana Police.
MBEWE, Monsi Lolland (18), was arrested and
tortured by members of the Bophuthatswana Police in
Brits, near Bophuthatswana, on 4 July 1986. He was
accused of killing Brigadier Molope of the Bophutha-
tswana Police.

MBEWE, Thos Bethuel (31), was killed when thrown
from a moving train by IFP supporters in Tembisa, Tvl.
His body was found next to a railway line in Kaalfontein
and taken to a mortuary where his family found him
on 24 September 1993. Both his feet were crushed
and his arm was cut off. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.

MBEWU, Nolungile (40), an ANC member, was tear-
gassed and shot in the left leg by members of the
Ciskei Police during political conflict between the ADM
and the ANC supporters in Zwelitsha, Ciskei, on 27
October 1991.

MBEWU, Wuyani Edward (14), was shot and blinded
in one eye by members of the Railway Police in
Guguletu, Cape Town, on 1 September 1985. Edward
was watching his friends playing soccer when police
shot at stone-throwers in the vicinity.

MBEWU, Winnie Vuyiswa (70), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten in July 1990 in Uitenhage, Cape,
by members of the SAP who were interrogating her
about her son’s whereabouts. Police claimed that her
son was a suspect in a murder case.

MBHALI, Aaron Mandokoza , an IKONGO member,
was detained at Bizana, Transkei, in June 1960, for his
involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MBHAMALI, Sigodi , an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by IFP supporters in Mandini, Natal, on 30 May 1993.
MBHELE, (first name not given), a member of the
SAP, was abducted, together with a another police
member, from the Bhongweni police station in
Kokstad, Transkei, on 18 October 1993, in an attack by
members of an ANC SDU. Both were shot dead. Four
SDU members were granted amnesty (AC/1998/0033).
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MBHELE, Albert Lungisani , was shot and wounded
when ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a crowd
of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least nine
marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten ANC
security guards were granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).
MBHELE, Balungile Donata (25), an Inkatha supporter,
had his house at Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down on 11 February 1990 in violent
conflict between ANC and Inkatha supporters. See
RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MBHELE, Bazisola Augustine (47) had her house in
KwaMashu, Durban, vandalised and looted by UDF
supporters in 1989 during intensifying political conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MBHELE, Ben Chunkie (38), an ANC supporter, was
thrown out of a train by IFP supporters in Clermont,
near Durban, in 1990.

MBHELE, Bhekabantu Clement (38), an ANC
supporter, had his home vandalised and destroyed in
an attack by IFP supporters in Ntuzuma, near Durban,
in March 1994, during the run-up to the APRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MBHELE, Bhekabantu , an ANC supporter, died of
smoke inhalation when the house he was in was set
alight at Umkomaas, near Durban, on 22 July 1990
during ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MBHELE, Boy (34), a COSATU member, was shot
dead by members of the KwaZuLu PoLice at Umlazi,
Durban, on 25 July 1991 during continuing political
conflict in the area.

MBHELE, David , was injured and suffered damage to
property in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE by IFP supporters
in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June
1992, which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously
injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a
further three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBHELE, Dingane (37), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by a named IFP supporter at Ncekubane Village
in Ixopo, Natal, on 1 May 1994, days after the APRIL
1994 ELECTIONS.

MBHELE, Dumisani Cyril (19), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by named Inkatha supporters in
Umkomaas, near Durban, on 19 July 1990.

MBHELE, Dumisani Henry (25), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by an IFP supporter in Magabheni,
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, in December 1992.
MBHELE, Eugene Mlungisi , a member of the SAP,
was abducted, together with another police officer, by
MK operatives during a raid on the Bhongolethu police
station at Kokstad, Natal, in October 1993. The two
police officers were subsequently killed by the
perpetrators. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/1998/0033).

MBHELE, Eunah (50), an ANC supporter, was hacked
by a named Inkatha supporter in 1979, and in 1981
was beaten and stabbed and had her house damaged
by named Inkatha supporters in Umlazi, Durban,
allegedly in conflict due to ethnic rivalry.
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MBHELE, Florence (59), an IFP supporter, was stabbed
to death in an attack by IFP supporters on her home in
Nsangwini, Port Shepstone, Natal, on 4 December
1991. The perpetrators were allegedly conducting
house searches for ANC supporters and believed Ms
Mbhele to have sympathies with the ANC.

MBHELE, Fokozi, an ANC supporter, was shot and
severely injured by named IFP supporters in
Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on
11 December 1993.

MBHELE, Gretta Thandi (27), a UDF supporter, had
her house at Swayimane, Table Mountain, near
Pietermaritzburg, burnt down on 29 October 1989 in
intense political conflict between Inkatha and UDF
supporters in the area. Eight people were killed in the
fighting, and many houses were destroyed by fire.
MBHELE, Khayelihle Madlokovu , an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Wartburg, Natal, on 3 January 1991,
in ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters
in the area.

MBHELE, Lindiwe Ignatia (16), an ANC supporter,
had her family home at Swayimane, Table Mountain,
near Pietermaritzburg, burnt down on 29 October
1989 in intense political conflict between Inkatha and
UDF supporters in the area. Eight people were killed in
the fighting, and many houses were destroyed by fire.
MBHELE, Liphi David (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot and killed by Inkatha supporters at his home in
Okhalweni, Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 8 July
1990 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MBHELE, Livingston Gabriel , was severely injured
when members of the Orde Boerevolk opened fire with
automatic weapons on a passenger bus in Durban on
9 October 1990. Seven people were killed and 27
injured in the attack. See PuTco BUS ATTACK. Amnesty
was granted to two of the three applicants and
refused to the leader of the unit (AC/1997/0053).
MBHELE, Lynette Lindekile (17), a UDF supporter,
had her family home at Swayimane, Table Mountain,
near Pietermaritzburg, burnt down on 29 October
1989 in intense political conflict between Inkatha and
UDF supporters in the area. Eight people were killed in
the fighting, and many houses were destroyed by fire.
MBHELE, Magdaline Sessie , was hacked on 24 June
1992 while sleeping at her home in Ratanda, Heidelberg,
Tvl, by IFP supporters who claimed they were sent by
management of the factory where her husband was
on strike. The area was tense due to a labour dispute
between striking COSATU-aligned FAWU workers and
non-striking IFP-aligned UWUSA workers which caused
violent conflict in the area.

MBHELE, Mandla Joseph (54), was shot and stabbed
to death in KwaNdengezi, KwaZulu, near Pinetown,
Natal, on 25 March 1992 in continuing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBHELE, Mandlenkosi Alois (26), an ANC supporter,
was killed on 18 February 1994, when four gunmen
attacked a house in the rural Mahahle village, near
Creighton, Ixopo, Natal, in which he and other ANC
youths were sleeping. Fifteen ANC youths were killed
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in the attack. They had been seen putting up posters
announcing a voter education workshop in preparation
for the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Four prominent IFP leaders
were acquitted on charges relating to the massacre.
MBHELE, Meluli, an ANC supporter, was beaten to
death by members of the A-Team in Parys, OFS, in
November 1985.

MBHELE, Mfiseni Sibusiso (30), had his house at
Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg,
burnt down on 29 October 1989 in intense poalitical
conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the
area. Eight people were killed in the fighting, and
many houses were destroyed by fire.

MBHELE, Mhlabunzima , was one of three men
stabbed to death by ANC supporters and residents of
the Bottlebrush informal settlement, Chatsworth,
Durban, in ongoing political conflict on 26 December
1993. Three ANC supporters were granted amnesty
(AC/1998/0059).

MBHELE, Mkhombeni James , an ANC supporter,
was shot and killed by IFP supporters in Wartburg,
Natal, on 25 December 1992.

MBHELE, Msizeni Mazwendoda , was shot and
wounded when ANC security guards opened fire from
the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg,
on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At
least nine marchers were killed and around 100 injured.
Ten ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MBHELE, Mxolisi Petros (18), an ANC supporter, had
his house burnt down by IFP members in Esimozomeni,
Richmond, Natal, in 1991.

MBHELE, Mzondile Aaron Papanyame (18), an ANC
supporter, was tortured and beaten by named members
of the Security Branch in Vredefort, OFS, on 11 June
1986. A boycott was underway at the time. Mr Mbhele
was shot and severely injured by members of the SAP
in KwaKwatsi, Koppies, OFS, on 30 March 1990
MBHELE, Nomakhwezi V eronica (39), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by IFP
supporters at Ncalu, Ixopo, Natal, on 27 July 1993.
MBHELE, Nomphumelelo (13), was shot dead in an
attack on her home at Bhoboyi, Port Shepstone, Natal,
by known IFP supporters on 16 January 1994 in
political conflict in the area during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBHELE, Ntombikayise Getrude (35), had her home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MBHELE, Oupa Johannes (30), was shot by members
of the SAP who opened fire on a group of toyi-toying
youths in Bloemfontein in May 1986. On 21 January
1992, Mr Mbhele was arrested and assaulted by
members of the SAP in Bloemfontein when he
attempted to speak on behalf of a group of hawkers.
MBHELE, Phumephi (42), an ANC supporter, had her
house at Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pieter-
maritzburg, burnt down in October 1989 in intense
political conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters
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in the area. Eight people were killed in the fighting,
and many houses were destroyed by fire.

MBHELE, Purity Thuleleni (25), an ANC supporter,
had her family home at Swayimane, Table Mountain,
near Pietermaritzburg, burnt down on 29 October
1989 in intense political conflict between Inkatha and
UDF supporters in the area. Eight people were killed in
the fighting, and many houses were destroyed by fire.
MBHELE, Qondeni Evelinah (42), an IFP supporter, was
shot and severely injured by ANC at Polela, Bulwer,
Natal, supporters in April 1992 in continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBHELE, Qude Anthony (53), was shot dead by IFP
supporters at Mtengwane, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
on 20 June 1993 in continuing political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MBHELE, Rose Philisiwe (22), an ANC supporter, had
her home in Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pieter-
maritzburg, burnt down by IFP supporters on 3 March
1991.

MBHELE, Shuqwana Jessie (45), an ANC supporter, had
her house in Chimora, Umlazi, Durban, burnt down by
IFP supporters on 16 January 1992, in intense political
conflict in the area. See CHIMORA SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.
MBHELE, Sibongile Lucket (32), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death by IFP supporters at Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, on 11 July 1993.

MBHELE, Sibusiso Justice , a constable in the SAP,
was threatened at gunpoint by MK operatives, when
they robbed the Ormonde police station,
Johannesburg, on 27 February 1993. No one was
injured in the robbery, which was aimed at acquiring
weapons for local self-defence units (SDUs). Two MK
operatives were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0325).
MBHELE, Simon, was shot and wounded when ANC
security guards opened fire from the ANC headquarters
at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a crowd of IFP
marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least nine marchers
were killed and around 100 injured. Ten ANC security
guards were granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).
MBHELE, Siphiwe Lesley (22), an IFP supporter, was
shot and severely injured at Woodford, Bergville, Natal,
on 27 February 1994 in political conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters during the run-up to the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS. His friend was shot dead in the attack.
MBHELE, Sizeni (38), an IFP supporter, was shot dead
when ANC supporters attacked her neighbour’'s home
in Phatheni, Richmond, Natal, on 10 July 1993. Seven
occupants, including family members and neighbours
who had taken shelter at the house because it was
fenced, were killed, and three were injured.

MBHELE, Synod Simon , an IFP supporter, was shot
and wounded when ANC security guards opened fire
from the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannes-
burg, on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994.
At least nine marchers were killed and around 100
injured. Ten ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MBHELE, Thamsanga Jer ome, was hit on the head
with a glass bottle and robbed of his firearm by MK
operatives in F Section, Kwamashu, Durban, on 2 July
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1992. One MK operative was granted amnesty
(AC/2000/062).

MBHELE, Thezaphi Doris , an ANC supporter, was
shot and severely injured by members of the KwaZuLu
PoLice at KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on
5 October 1991 during political conflict in the area. Ms
Mbhele was allegedly shot after going to help a man
who had been shot dead by the perpetrators outside
her home. After her discharge from hospital, uniden-
tified attackers destroyed her house.

MBHELE, Thulebona Justice (16), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in a pre-dawn attack on a home in
KwaSithole, Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
on 5 April 1993, allegedly in attempt to disrupt the
peace process in the area. Ten ANC supporters were
killed and two injured.

MBHELE, \klepi Elizabeth (50), had her home at
Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg,
burnt down on 29 October 1989 in intense political
conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the
area. Eight people were killed in the fighting, and
many houses were destroyed by fire.

MBHELE, Vimba Wiseman (34), a union member,
was shot and paralysed in Maraisburg, Johannesburg,
on 6 April 1992. He had received death threats from
management shortly before this incident because of
his union activities.

MBHELE, Xolani (32), an ANC supporter, was burnt to
death on 26 July 1992 when armed IFP supporters
attacked several homes in Folweni, KwaZulu, near
Umlazi, Durban. See FOLWENI MASSACRE.

MBHELE, Xolani , was shot dead in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 16 September 1992, during ongoing
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBHELE, Zakhele Elijah (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by a named IFP supporter in Magabheni,
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 12 August 1992.
MBHELE, Zodwa (18), was shot dead by IFP
supporters returning from a Shaka Day rally in Kwa-
Mashu, Durban on 27 September 1992. About ten
people were injured in fighting that broke out between
ANC and IFP supporters following the rally.

MBHELE, Zonduyise (47), an ANC supporter, had his
house burnt down at Swayimane, Table Mountain,
near Pietermaritzburg, on 29 October 1989 in intense
political conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters
in the area. Eight people were killed in the fighting,
and many houses were destroyed by fire.

MBHETE, R, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MBHUDU, Qaphela Anselem (39), an IFP supporter,
was shot and injured by ANC supporters in Esikhawini,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 28 March 1992.
MBIBI, Margar et Ntombicacile (36), an ANC
supporter, was beaten by members of the SAP who
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forced their way into her home at Sigedleni, Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 19 October 1993, allegedly in a
house-to-house search for weapons.

MBIDIDI, Patrick , was killed during intensifying conflict
between UDF and Inkatha supporters at Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, in 1985.

MBIKO, Ntombizanele Annatolia , had her home
burnt down in a dawn attack on the ANC stronghold of
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in ongoing
political conflict between the ‘ReD’ AND ‘GREEN’
FACTIONS on 16 February 1993.

MBILI, Aaron, escaped physical injury on 30 April
1991 when the car in which he and five other people
were travelling was attacked by ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) members at Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu,
near Durban. Two of the vehicle occupants were killed
and two injured. One SDU member was granted
amnesty (AC/1998/066).

MBILI, Bhekani (17), an ANC supporter, was axed and
shot to death by IFP supporters in Magabheni,
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 5 August 1990
in intense political conflict in the area.

MBILI, Bonisile Mavis (28), an IFP supporter, had her
house burnt down by ANC supporters at Okhalweni,
Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on
4 May 1991. In April and May 1991, political violence
in the area claimed the lives of at least 31 people and
rendered about 200 people homeless.

MBILI, Charles Meshack (17), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by IFP supporters at Nomakhanzane,
Mtwalume, Natal, on 30 January 1992. His mother was
shot dead, and their home was destroyed in the attack.
MBILI, Esther Mamdlonkolo , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by IFP supporters at Nomakhanzane,
Mtwalume, Natal, on 30 January 1992. Her son was also
injured, and their home was destroyed in the attack.
MBILI, Hleziphi Mirriam (45), was shot dead by IFP
supporters at Inkanyezi, Port Shepstone, Natal, in
continuing political conflict in the area on 2 June 1992.
The perpetrators had come to her home and taken her
son, whom they shot and killed outside. They returned
later to shoot Ms Mbili.

MBILI, Isaac Khalesakhe (38), an ANC supporter, had
his house burnt down in an attack by IFP supporters in
Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
during continuing political conflict in May 1993. Both
his parents were killed in the attack.

MBILI, Jabula Hemington (34), was shot dead when
hooded gunmen attacked three homes at Murchison,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, during ongoing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters on 20 June 1993.
See MURCHISON ATTACKS.

MBILI, Kelele (55), an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by IFP supporters in Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, in May 1993 during continuing
political conflict in the area. The perpetrators arrived at
her house and caught her trying to run away. Her body
was found near a stream two days later. Her husband
was also killed, and their house was burnt down. Her
son survived the attack.
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MBILI, Kufokwakhe (70), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by IFP supporters at Okhalweni,
Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 9
July 1991. The family had fled the area because of the
political violence and because of pressure on Mr Mbili's
son to join the IFP. When he and his wife returned to
their home, they were both killed.

MBILI, Lindani (19), was shot dead by IFP supporters
on 2 June 1992 at Inkanyezi, Port Shepstone, Natal, in
continuing political conflict in the area. The attackers
took him out of his home and shot him outside. A
short while later they returned for his mother, whom
they also shot and killed.

MBILI, Lindeni Eunaistance (36), an ANC supporter,
lost her house at Nomakhanzane, Mtwalume, Natal,
when it was set alight by IFP supporters on 30 January
1992. Her mother was shot dead and her brother
injured in the attack.

MBILI, Mabhovu (56), an ANC, supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, in May 1993. The attackers
arrived at his house and killed him when he opened
the door. His wife tried to run away, but was caught,
and her body was found near a stream two days later.
Their house was also burnt down. His son survived
the attack.

MBILl, Mabhowu Eggie (64), was stabbed and shot dead
by named IFP supporters at Okhalweni, Gamalakhe,
KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 9 July 1991,
allegedly because her son was an ANC supporter.
MBILI, Mampapanana Lilian (60), had her three
houses at Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 20 March 1990,
in intensifying political conflict in the area.

MBILI, Mavis, an ANC supporter, lost her house and
many of her possessions in an attack by alleged IFP
supporters at Mangamazini, Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in 1993 during political conflict in the area.
MBILI, Mduduzi Aubrey (17), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death after being abducted from a taxi by
IFP supporters in Mtengwane, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 17 October 1991. Six IFP supporters and a
child were killed in attacks by ANC supporters in the
area that day. See MTENGWANE ATTACK.

MBILI, Nino Elias Ntontoza , was abducted and shot
dead at Nyandezulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, by
one named and other IFP supporters on 22 April 1991
during ongoing political conflict in the area. Mr Mbili
was allegedly targeted because he was thought to be
an ANC sympathiser.

MBILI, Nkosiyezwe Zibo (22), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead and his body mutilated by ANC supporters
at Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 7 August
1992. Mr Mbili was allegedly killed because his brother
was affiliated to the IFP.

MBILI, Phathowubani Phillys  (59), had her house at
Bhoboyi, Port Shepstone, Natal, destroyed in an arson
attack on 18 October 1991 in continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
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MBILI, Rabukani Agnes (43), lost her house in an
arson attack in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in
ongoing political conflict between the ‘RED’ AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS during 1993.

MBILI, Richard (23), an IFP supporter, was stabbed to
death and his body was mutilated by ANC supporters at
Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 7 August
1992.

MBILI, Richman Zibokwakhe (23), an IFP supporter,
was abducted and stabbed to death, and his body
mutilated, by ANC supporters at Murchison, near Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 7 August 1992.

MBILI, Sihle Maxwell (22), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by Inkatha supporters in 1989. Two
years later, in April 1991, his house in Okhalweni,
Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, was
burnt down, also by IFP supporters. Mr Mbili had
allegedly refused to join the IFP, and he and his parents
were forced to flee the area. His parents returned to
their home in July 1991 and were both killed.

MBILI, Simon \ela (38), was stabbed and shot dead
by IFP supporters at Bhuqu, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 20 November 1991 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MBILI, Thandekile (39), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters in the forest at Magabheni,
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 19 April 1992.
MBILI, Thembekile (41), had her house and
possessions destroyed in an arson attack by IFP
supporters in Umlazi, Durban, on 2 February 1992
during intense political conflict in the area. See
EKUTHULENI ATTACKS.

MBILI, Thokisane , escaped physical injury on 30 April
1991 when the car in which he and five other people
were travelling was attacked by ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) members at Magabheni, Umgababa, KwaZulu,
near Durban. Two of the vehicle occupants were killed
and two injured. One SDU member was granted
amnesty (AC/1998/066).

MBILI, Tobhi Beatrice (23), an ANC supporter, was
severely injured in a panga attack by IFP supporters in
Danganya, Umkomaas, near Durban, on 4 October 1992.
MBILI, Wellington Bheki (19), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by named members of the SAP in
Gamalakhe, KwaZulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 4
October 1993, after he had been arrested on suspicion
of involvement in MK activities. Mr Mbili was taken,
handcuffed, to a forest for a pointing-out, and was
fatally wounded in a hand grenade explosion and the
shooting by the police.

MBINDA, Mpumelelo Ashwelli (43), had his house
burnt down and was severely beaten by IFP supporters
in Soweto, Johannesburg, in 1991. Soweto and many
other Transvaal townships were embroiled in political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters.

MBINDA, Philton Mntuyedwa (37), an ANC supporter,
was detained by members of the SAP for attending a
meeting to protest against the Trust Land Act in 1960
at Endlovu, Bizana, Transkei. While in detention, he
was severely tortured.
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MBINGO, Christopher , a member of the SAP, was
stabbed and stoned to death by a group of ANC
supporters at Elukwatini, KaNgwane, on 14 September
1990. One ANC supporter was granted amnesty
(AC/2001/137).

MBINQO, Mpumelelo , was one of several young
men abducted, assaulted and necklaced on 2 February
1987, by a large crowd of residents of Mdantsane
township, Ciskei, who accused them of being part of a
criminal gang called the 'Killer Boys'. Mr Mbingo and
three others were burnt to death while one survived
with serious injuries. Twelve perpetrators were
refused amnesty (AC/1997/0049).

MBITYO, Vuyiswa Gladys (35), was shot and severely
injured in a random shooting by members of the SAP
during political conflict in KwaNobuhle, Uitenhage,
Cape, on 4 March 1985.

MBIWA, Mankwekwe Ben (57), was hacked to death
by IFP supporters in Kagiso, Tvl, on 22 August 1990
during conflict between IFP and ANC supporters.
MBIXANE, Mzwandile (3), was shot by members of
the ‘Amatshaka’ MunNiciPAL PoLICE in February 1987 at
New Brighton, Port Elizabeth.

MBIXANE, Nceba Mpimpi (14), was 'necklaced’ to
death by named police collaborators in Motherwell, Port
Elizabeth, in August 1986 during a state of emergency.
MBIZA, Witnes Gezani (29), an ANC supporter, was
tear gassed and shot in the left eye when members of
the Bophuthatswana Police fired on a crowd gathered
to protest against police brutality at City Rocks stadium,
Winterveld, Bophuthatswana on 26 March 1986. See
City ROCKS SHOOTING.

MBIZANA, Justice Mfulathelwa (aka ‘Mandla’) , an
MK operative, was abducted by members of the
Northern Transvaal Security Branch in September 1986
and taken to a farm in the Hammanskraal area, Tvl. He
was severely tortured and, after several days, taken to
a spot near Phokeng, Bophuthatswana, where he was
killed. His body was blown up using a landmine, to
make it appear that he had blown himself up while
laying the mine. Ten Northern Transvaal Security
Branch operatives, including the divisional commander,
applied for amnesty. Seven applications were granted
and three refused (AC/2001/248).

MBIZANA, Sibongiseni Simon (19), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead at KwaMnyandu railway
station, Umlazi, Durban, on 14 April 1993. Mr Mbizana
was allegedly returning from a prayer meeting after
the assassination of Chris Hani when he was shot,
allegedly by IFP supporters who opposed the
memorial service.

MBIZANE, Bhanoyi (54), an ANC supporter, had his
home in Polela, Bulwer, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters in November 1991. Mr Mbizane was
allegedly thought to be harbouring ANC supporters.
MBIZO, Modi (30), a PAC member, was executed in
Pretoria Central prison, on 9 May 1963. He was
sentenced to death for killing a headman in the
Cofimvaba district, Transkei during protests against
forced removals and the Trust Land Act.
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MBOBHOZI, Dumisani Erick (18), an ANC supporter,
was severely injured when he was stabbed, shot and
beaten by unidentified perpetrators in Umkomaas,
near Durban, on 30 January 1994 in continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBOBO, Lunga Patrick , was shot and killed by
members of the SAP in Diepkloof, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 17 August 1993.

MBOCHANA, Freddy Zanempi (44), a UDF supporter,
was severely beaten by a named member of the SAP
on 1 January 1985 in Murraysburg, Cape.
MBODAMO, Mkhuseli (21), a member of SAYCO,
was shot dead by members of the CDF at Mdantsane,
Ciskei, on 31 July 1987, while he tried to protect his
younger brother during an assault by the same
perpetrators.

MBODAMO, Phakamile Welcome (15), was assaulted,
kicked and beaten with a piece of wood by members of
the Ciskei Police during political unrest in Mdantsane,
Ciskei, on 31 July 1987.

MBODLA, Nkosana , an ANC member, was detained
by the SAP in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei, for his
involvement in the PONDOLAND REvOLT.

MBOKANE, Madoda Lionel (24), was injured in a hand
grenade attack on his home by members of the IFP-
aligned Brack CaTs in Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, on 30
July 1991. He was allegedly killed in retaliation for the
killing of a gang member during conflict in the area.
MBOKAZ, Alzinia (50), had her property destroyed in
an arson attack by ANC supporters in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in January 1989 in intense
political conflict in the area.

MBOKAZI, Esias Dingile (60), had her home in
Umlazi, Durban, petrol-bombed and shot at by Inkatha
supporters, one of whom is named, in February 1990
in intense political conflict in the area following the
UNBANNING of political organisations earlier that month.
MBOKAZI, Mfanafuthi (21), an alleged IFP supporter,
was stabbed to death by an ANC member while
walking to the market at Umgababa, KwaZulu, near
Durban, with his girlfriend on 1 January 1992. One
ANC member was refused amnesty (AC/2000/022).
MBOKAZI, Mlungisi Wellington (22), was severely
beaten by IFP supporters on 25 April 1992 near
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban. Mr Mbokazi and
his three companions were confronted and accused of
supporting the ANC. His three companions were all
beaten to death in the attack.

MBOKAZI, Muzikayifani Nicholas  (30), a UDF
member, was shot dead by a known member of the
Chesterville A-TEAM on 28 March 1986. The attack
occurred in the course of conflict over the incorporation
of Chesterville into KwaZulu.

MBOKAZI, Phiwase (61), lost her house in Empangeni,
Natal, in an arson attack on 21 May 1993, during
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area. She was allegedly targeted because her son
was an ANC supporter.

MBOKAZI, Zolani Cyprian , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead during ongoing conflict between ANC and
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IFP supporters at at KwaCele Village, Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 20 July 1993.

MBOKOTHA, Mbiza Penstone (29), an ANCYL leader,
was tortured in detention by members of the Gazankulu
Police at Zaselamani police station in Giyani, Gazankulu,
on 3 March 1992 because he was suspected of being
involved in burning down a policeman’s house.
MBOKWE, Nonkenyana , an ANC supporter, died
after being severely beaten by members of the SAP in
1960 at Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MBOLA, Nonkosi Muriel (42), whose husband and
son were collaborators, was assaulted and had her
home burnt down during political conflict at Mooiplaas,
near East London, on 13 March 1986.

MBOLEKWA, Betshwana , an ANC supporter, was
assaulted by the SAP in February 1960 in Embhobheni,
near Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MBOLEKWA, Mntukanti (69), was shot and injured
on 18 April 1985 when police members, concealed in
a MuniciPAL PoLice vehicle in Despatch, Cape, opened
fire on youths playing football. Mr Mbolekwa was
sitting outside when he was hit by the gunfire. Four
people were killed and two injured in the shooting.
See TROJAN HORSE INCIDENT, DESPATCH.

MBOLEKWA, Zinyanya Raymond (21), a UDF
supporter, was shot dead by a member of the SAP at
a communal tap in the street in Port Elizabeth on 1 April
1985. The police claimed that the victim had been
throwing stones at a police Casspir.

MBOLEKWA, Zita , was injured when a pipe bomb
planted by members of the AWB exploded on 25 April
1994 at a taxi rank on the corner of Blood Street and
Seventh Avenue in Pretoria. Three people were killed
and four injured in the blast. During the pre-election
period the AWB targeted taxi ranks, bus stops and
railway stations, predominantly used by black people,
the majority of whom they believed to be ANC
supporters, in order to derail the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
Six perpetrators were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0342).
MBOMA, Masixole (13), was injured when a hand
grenade was thrown into his home on 9 August 1992
during political conflict between ADM and ANC
supporters in Quzini, King William's Town, Cape. His
grandfather was a member of the ANC.

MBOMA, Nosipho (5), was killed with an axe in an
attack by hostel-dwellers in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 26
December 1976, in political conflict between Nyanga
residents and migrant workers from the hostels over
the Christmas 1976 period.

MBOMBO, Silulami Khobotsi Richard (36), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by members of the SAP and
Transkei Police on 21 September 1993 in Qumbu,
Transkei.

MBONA, Vusumzi Michael (20), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead by ANC supporters, one of whom is
named, while travelling in a vehicle in Estcourt, Natal,
on 16 December 1992. The perpetrators were
allegedly targeting one of Mr Mbona's companions to
avenge an earlier attack on ANC supporters.
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MBONAMBI, Babhekile (7), was shot dead at a
political rally at the King Zwelethini Stadium in Umlazi,
Durban, in February 1992 during intense political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBONAMBI, Beauty (53), had her home in
Esindisweni, Verulam, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 25 June 1993, allegedly because her
sons supported the ANC.

MBONAMBI, Bhekabakubo (43), an ANC supporter,
died 18 days after being shot by Inkatha supporters on
12 April 1989 in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban.
MBONAMBI, Bhekani Sibusiso , aka ‘MK Hugo’, an
MK operative, was killed in a shoot-out at the home of
ANC member Tryphina Jokweni in Umlazi, Durban, on
24 April 1987 by Security Police members from
Vlakplaas and Durban who had infiltrated their unit.
Three MK operatives were killed and one security
policeman was injured.

MBONAMBI, Bongani Ephraim (32), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed to death in the Vezunyawo
area, KwaZulu, near Stanger, Natal, on 29 June 1991 in
ongoing political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters. His brother was killed in February 1994,
also in political conflict.

MBONAMBI, Bonginkosi Vincent (24), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed to death by IFP supporters at
Stanger, Natal, on 25 March 1994 during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Clashes broke out between
ANC and IFP supporters following an ANC march in
the area.

MBONAMBI, Bungu Simon (48), had his home at
Umlazi, Durban, destroyed in an arson attack in
February 1992, in continuing political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MBONAMBI, Busisiwe Prudence (22), was detained
and severely tortured by members of the SAP at
Chesterville, Durban, in May 1987, allegedly because
of her political activities. Her brother, an ANC
supporter, had been killed by the police at Umlazi,
Durban on 21 April 1987.

MBONANMBI, Emmanuel , had his property burnt and his
bottle store looted and destroyed by a named perpetrator
at KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu, near Richards Bay, Natal,
on 1 January 1991, allegedly because he and his family
were branded ANC members. They received death
threats and had to close other shops at KwaMbonambi.
MBONAMBI, Glenrose (31), had his home at
Empangeni, Natal, petrol-bombed by IFP supporters on
12 July 1991 in ongoing political conflict in the area.
MBONAMBI, Mbongeni (42), lost his house at
KwaKhoza, KwaZulu, near Eshowe, Natal, in an arson
attack on 7 November 1993 in continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBONAMBI, Mbuzeni Mabhalane (36), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by Inkatha supporters in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 28 October
1989 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MBONAMBI, Muziwenhlanhla Gilbert (34), was shot
dead by Inkatha supporters in Umlazi, Durban, on 14
July 1989 in intensifying political conflict between UDF
and Inkatha supporters in the area.
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MBONAMBI, Mzo, was severely beaten in Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 29 June 1993, at a ‘people’s
court’ under the command of an officer of a local ANC
self-defence unit (SDU). Mr Mbonambi was one of five
people who survived the beating, while two others
were beaten to death, allegedly for crimes committed
in the community. One SDU member was granted
amnesty (AC/2000/033).

MBONAMBI, Ngila Balungile (42), had her home at
Umkomaas, near Durban, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters during January 1990 in ongoing political
conflict in the area.

MBONAMBI, Nokulunga (13), was shot dead in Lower
lllovo, Natal, in 1992 during a violent political confrontation
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBONAMBI, Sibusiso Patrick (27), an ANC supporter,
was killed near Stanger, Natal, on 22 February 1994 in
intense conflict between ANC and IFP supporters
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. His
brother had been killed in June 1991, also in political
conflict in the area.

MBONAMBI, Sizwe , was severely beaten in
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 29 June 1993,
at a ‘people’s court’ under the command of an officer
of a local ANC self-defence unit (SDU). Mr Mbonambi
was one of five people who survived the beating, while
two others were beaten to death, allegedly for crimes
committed in the community. One SDU member was
granted amnesty (AC/2000/033).

MBONAMBI, Vimba Enock (41), an Inkatha supporter,
had his home burnt down by ANC supporters at
Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 20
February 1990.

MBONAMBI, Vincent Bonginkosi (24), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed to death by IFP supporters in
Stanger, Natal, on 25 March 1994 during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBONAMBI, Zandile Anna (44), an ANC supporter,
had her house in Nowebwe, KwaZulu, burnt down by
IFP supporters on 25 May 1993.

MBONAMBI, Zwelempi (44), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by Inkatha supporters at Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 25 September 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MBONANE, John , was beaten to death in
Mathyzensloop, KwaNdebele, in 1986 by ‘comrades’
during conflict over the INCORPORATION of the village
into KwaNdebele. Mr Mbonane’s house was torched
and his stock and property were destroyed and stolen
prior to this attack.

MBONANE, Lucas Lucky (23), was severely beaten
by named perpetrators in Lebohang, Leandra, Tvl, in
January 1985. Mr Mbonane had reportedly participated
in killing Chief Mayisa but was attacked by his vigilante
group when he told the Mayisa family how the chief
had died. Conflict erupted in the township after the
State attempted to remove the community forcibly
after it was declared a ‘black spot’.

MBONANE, Mgazi Phillip , was shot dead in Vosloorus,
Tvl, on 12 September 1993 during ongoing political
conflict in the area.
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MBONANE, Pali Sarah (41), had her house set alight
by ‘comrades’ in Mathyzensloop, KwaNdebele, in
1986 during conflict over the INCORPORATION of the
village into KwaNdebele. Her husband was killed after
the attack.

MBONANI, Adam Mgidi , was shot in the abdomen
and injured by IMBOKODO vigilantes who set up a
roadblock in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, during 1986.
The area was tense due to attempts by the State to
impose independence on KwaNdebele.

MBONANI, Mlotshwa David , was severely beaten
and shot by vigilantes in Lebohang, Leandra, Tvl, in
1982 during conflict which erupted in the area when it
was declared a ‘black spot’. State-sponsored vigilantes
terrorised the community to try and forcibly remove them.
MBONANI, Oupa Josiah (23), was tortured in detention
by members of the SAP in Mabopane, Bophutha-
tswana, on 17 March 1986. He had been arrested on
suspicion of killing of a policeman at a night vigil.
MBONANI, Swartbooi Skhangeni  (47), was severely
beaten by members of the SADF in Moutse,
KwaNdebele, in 1986 during resistance to INCORPO-
RATION into KwaNdebele.

MBONANI, Themba Tsepo (14), was shot dead in a
DRIVE-BY SHOOTING in Daveyton, Tvl, on 25 August 1993.
The perpetrators in many such attacks were IFP
supporters and members of the security forces
terrorising communities.

MBONDE, Siphiwo Headman (23), a UDF supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SADF and the
SAP on 20 May 1986 at KwaNomzamo, Humansdorp,
Cape, while he was attending a meeting to demand
the removal of Black Local Authority COUNCILLORS. The
next day, he was arrested and detained for 14 days.
MBONDLI, Mr (first name not given), was shot in the
arm by members of the SADF during the NGauza HiLL
massacre on 6 June 1960 in Lusikisiki, Transkei. He
was captured and imprisoned for several years for
taking part in the PONDOLAND RevoLT. Mr Mbondli died
of ill health soon after his release.

MBONGENI, Mati (23), had his home burnt down
when IFP supporters attacked the ANC stronghold of
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in February 1993,
allegedly in the course of conflict over access to
resources. Ten people were killed and 35 houses burnt
down.

MBONGO, Jane Nozililo , was repeatedly stabbed and
hacked in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE by IFP supporters in
Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1992,
which left 45 people dead and 27 seriously injured.
Thirteen perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further
three applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBONGO, Mbuyiswa Ezfr ose, died on 10 April 1994
after he was shot by IFP supporters during their ill-
fated march in Johannesburg, on 28 March 1994. Mr
Mbongo was not politically aligned and was attacked
on his way to work for not attending the IFP rally held
in Johannesburg, on that day.

MBONGO, Mbuyiswa , was shot and wounded when
ANC security guards opened fire from the ANC
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headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg, on a
crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At least
nine marchers were killed and around 100 injured. Ten
ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MBONGO, Victoria (1), was stabbed in the BoIPATONG
MASSACRE by IFP supporters in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1992, which left 45
people dead and 27 seriously injured. Thirteen
perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further three
applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
MBONGW A, Bongiwe , survived an attempt on his life
when members of a self-defence unit (SDU) shot at
and threw petrol bombs into his house at Bhekezulu,
Estcourt, Natal, on 23 January 1994. One family
member was killed and five others survived, and the
house was damaged. One SDU member was refused
amnesty (AC/2000/223).

MBONGW A, Emmanuel Mfanufikile (33), an ANC
supporter, lost his shop and its contents in an arson
attack at Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 6 December
1988 in intensifying political conflict between UDF and
Inkatha supporters in the area.

MBONGW A, Khumbulani , survived an attempt on his
life when members of a self-defence unit (SDU) shot
at and threw petrol bombs into a house at Bhekezulu,
Estcourt, Natal, on 23 January 1994. One family
member was killed and five others survived. One SDU
member was refused amnesty (AC/2000/223).
MBONGWA, Lillian Z (41), an ANC supporter, was
shot and had her house burnt down by IFP supporters
in Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal, on 23
October 1992.

MBONGW A, Maxwell Bhapa (16), was shot and
injured by an Inkatha member during political conflict
in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 21 December 1988. An
amnesty applicant testified that he believed that Mr
Mbongwa was a UDF supporter involved in attacks on
Inkatha supporters. He was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0334).

MBONGWA, Melusi, survived an attempt on his life
when members of a self-defence unit (SDU) shot at
and threw petrol bombs into a house at Bhekezulu,
Estcourt, Natal, on 23 January 1994. One family
member was killed and five others survived. One SDU
member was refused amnesty (AC/2000/223).
MBONGW A, Ntokozo Joyce (25), lost her house in
an arson attack by ANC supporters at Matikwe,
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 22 August 1990.
The attack was allegedly motivated by the belief that
Ms Mbongwa was a collaborator.

MBONGW A, Phumzile , was shot dead when
members of a self-defence unit (SDU) shot at and
threw petrol bombs into a house at Bhekezulu,
Estcourt, Natal, on 23 January 1994. Five of her family
members who were in the house survived the attack.
One SDU member was refused amnesty (AC/2000/223).
MBONGWA, Sifiso, survived an attempt on his life
when members of a self-defence unit (SDU) shot at
and threw petrol bombs into a house at Bhekezulu,
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Estcourt, Natal, on 23 January 1994. One family
member was killed and five others survived. One SDU
member was refused amnesty (AC/2000/223).
MBONGWA, Sihla , an MK operative, was beaten
unconscious by members of the SAP in April 1977
after his arrest at Paulpietersburg, Natal. Mr Mbongwa
and three other MK operatives were allegedly on their
way from Swaziland to Durban when their car was
stopped at a roadblock. One of the four men was
never seen again.

MBONGWA, Sindiswa (33), had her home destroyed
in an arson attack in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, in ongoing political conflict between the ‘Rep’
AND "GREEN’ FACTIONS during 1993.

MBONGWA, Thamsanga (33), an ANC supporter,
disappeared from his home at Lindelani, near
KwaMashu, Durban, on 4 October 1989, and was
found dead five weeks later. Mr Mbongwa, who lived
in an Inkatha stronghold, is believed to have been
killed by Inkatha supporters in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MBONGWE, Bongani Fasties , had his home at Trust
Feeds, New Hanover, near Pietermaritzburg, burnt down
by SpeciaL CONSTABLES during the TRUST FEEDS MASSACRE
on 3 December 1988. The station commander at New
Hanover police station was granted amnesty for the
attack (AC/1996/0011).

MBONGWE, Bonisiwe Constance (48), an IFP
supporter, had her house in Ntabamhlophe, near
Estcourt, Natal, burnt down by ANC supporters on 20
April 1994 in political conflict during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBONGWE, Emmanuel Bongani ‘Faustus’ , a UDF
activist and member of the Trust Feeds Crisis Committee,
was repeatedly harassed by named Inkatha supporters
and members of the SAP in November 1988. He was
detained on 23 November 1988 and held for 65 days
under emergency regulations, during which time the
TRUST FEEDS MASSACRE took place. His house had been
burnt in an arson attack about a year earlier, in October
1988. On 8 July 1990 he was shot and injured in a flat
on the Durban beachfront while in the company of
ANC-supporting Chief Mhlabunzima Maphumulo.
MBONGWE, Musa Eustace (19), an ANC supporter,
was detained under emergency regulations in October
1988 and tortured by members of the Security Police
while in detention in Richmond, Natal.

MBONGWE, Mzwandile , an ANC supporter, was shot
and killed by a named ANC supporter and unidentified
members of a self-defence unit in Richmond, Natal, in
the course of internal conflict in the area during 1994.
MBONGWE, Thembekile Jemina (53), an IFP
supporter, had her house at Wembezi, KwaZulu, near
Estcourt, Natal, burnt down by ANC supporters in
December 1992 during continuing political conflict in
the area.

MBONISWA, Ntomboxolo (14), was shot dead by
members of the CDF in Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 5
September 1985, while she was attending a political
meeting.
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MBONISW A, William Ntonton (29), was shot dead
by members of the SAP in Athlone, Cape Town, on 28
August 1985, while participating in the PoLLSMOOR
MARCH to demand the release of Nelson Mandela.
Twenty-eight people were shot dead by police during
the march and the days that followed.

MBOTHO, Bhekazakhe Amos (16), an ANC
supporter, lost his home at Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near
Durban, in an arson attack by alleged ANC supporters
on 15 July 1990. His parents and two siblings were
stabbed to death in the attack, allegedly because his
father was suspected of being an IFP informer.
MBOTHO, Daphney , was shot dead by UDF supporters
in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 22
December 1990 in intense political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MBOTHO, Dudu Princess (29), an ANC supporter, was
shot and killed by named IFP supporters in Umlazi,
Durban, on 17 November 1993.

MBOTHO, Mr (first name not given), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters in
Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in 1993 in
continuing political conflict in area. His house was also
burnt down in the attack.

MBOTHO, Nyembani Mafolozi , lost her house in an
arson attack in April 1961 at Esikhumbeni, near Bizana,
Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MBOTHO, Rose Nombuluko (52), had her home
destroyed in an arson attack in Bhambayi, near
KwaMashu, Durban, in ongoing political conflict
between the '‘RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS during 1993.
MBOTHO, Thobekile Florence Makanomsa (61), an
ANC supporter, had her house in Nyandezulu, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, destroyed by IFP supporters in
February 1991. Her husband was severely beaten in
the attack.

MBOTHO, Vunina Tryphinah  (52), had her home
burnt down by ANC supporters on 30 September
1993 in Izingolweni, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in
continuing political conflict in the area.

MBOTHWE, Nomajaji Gladys (49), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Chimora, Umlazi, Durban, on 16 January 1992 in
intense political conflict in the area. See CHIMORA
SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.

MBOTO, Themba (42), an ANC supporter, was burnt
to death with three members of the Falakhe family
when their home was set alight in Khayelitsha, Cape
Town, on 18 February 1992. The attack took place
during conflict between ANC supporters and the
Lingelethu West town COUNCILLORS who were allegedly
aided by police.

MBOTWE, Sibusiso Jerome (18), a UDF supporter,
was stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters at Umlazi,
Durban, on 28 January 1990 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MBOTYA, Thembekile Edwin (17), a UDF supporter,
died after being stabbed by a named perpetrator
during political conflict at Masizakhe, Graaff-Reinet,
Cape, on 14 September 1984.
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MBOVANA, Nomathamsanga Sylvia (18), an ANC
supporter, was arrested in Zolani, Ashton, Cape, on 4
November 1985, and held in custody for many
months. She was later convicted of public violence.
MBOVANA, Xolile Anthony (21), an ANC supporter,
was arrested in Zolani, Ashton, Cape, on 4 November
1985, and held in custody for many months. He was
later convicted of public violence.

MBOVANE, Jackson (61), an ANC supporter, had his
home petrol-bombed by unidentified perpetrators
during political conflict between the ANC and ADM
supporters at Ndakana, near King William's Town,
Cape, on 10 September 1992.

MBOVANE, Mandisa Nongenisile (30), an ANC
supporter, was shot and killed by members of the Peace
Force security company at her home in Ndakana, near
King William's Town, Cape, on 29 September 1992.
MBOVANE, Ntozelizwe Stulo (27), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Grabouw, Cape, in August 1992,
when SAP members opened fire on demonstrators
protesting against the BISHO MASSACRE.

MBOYA, Mthobeli Herold (21), a COSAS member,
was shot by members of the SAP in Somerset East,
Cape, on 13 May 1993 during a march intended to
disrupt classes at a school.

MBOYA, Vuyisile John (32), was shot dead by members
of the SAP while he was held in custody in Lingelihle
police station, Cradock, Cape, on 20 October 1992.
MBOYANA, Mncedisi Bar rington , an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Katlehong, Tvl, on 15 August 1990,
allegedly by IFP supporters.

MBOYANI, M P, was severely injured and suffered
damage to property in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE by IFP
supporters in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on
17 June 1992, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MBOYI, Collen Bhekizizwe (21), was shot and injured
in Vosloorus, Tvl, when members of the ISU dispersed
a joint COSAS/SADTU march protesting the detention
of two teachers on 19 July 1991.

MBOVYI, Zukisa Howard (22), a COSATU member,
was shot dead by members of the CDF in Bisho,
Ciskei, on 7 September 1992 during an ANC protest
march to demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty
people were killed and 200 people injured in the event
which became known as the BISHO MASSACRE. Two
members of the former CDF were refused amnesty
for the shooting (AC/2000/122).

MBOZA, Nomsa Cecilia (29), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by IFP supporters in Chimora,
Umlazi, Durban, on 16 January 1992 in intense political
conflict in the area. See CHIMORA SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.
MBOZA, Sasiwe (29), an ANC supporter, had her
house in Umlazi, Durban, destroyed in an arson attack
by IFP supporters in 1992.

MBUBE, Ntanzi (52), had his home burnt down by IFP
supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 16 or 20 March 1994. See SONKOMBO
ARSON ATTACKS.
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MBUKW ANE, Fortune Dudu , was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in KwaThema, Tvl, when
police disrupted a march for the Duduza hand grenade
victims on 7 July 1985.

MBULA, Vukani Goodman , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on
7 September 1992 during an ANC protest march to
demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people
were killed and 200 people injured in the event which
became known as the BISHO MASSACRE. Two members
of the former CDF were refused amnesty for the
shooting (AC/2000/122).

MBULANA, Kanisile (37), an ANC supporter, lost his
house in an arson attack by named members of the
CNIP during political conflict at Mooiplaas, near East
London, in April 1986.

MBULAWA, Eugene (15), was subjected to electric
shock torture, collapsed and lost consciousness in
police custody in Welverdiend, Carletonville, Tvl, in
July 1990. Eugene died later that day in the Leratong
hospital without regaining consciousness.
MBULAWA, Ncikazi Emily , was severely injured and
suffered damage to property in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE
by IFP supporters in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, on 17 June 1992, which left 45 people dead and
27 seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were
granted amnesty; a further three applications were
refused (AC/2000/209).

MBULAWA, Nofayini Elsie (87), died after she was
severely beaten by members of the SAP in October
1984 in Cradock, Cape. Ms Mbulawa, who was blind
and bedridden, was assaulted by police who had
chased a suspect in the political unrest into her house.
MBULENI, Zitulele Reginald (38), was shot and severely
injured by members of the SAP in Katlehong, Tvl, on 7
October 1991. Mr Mbuleni was one of 20 people killed
and 26 injured during violence following the funeral of
Sam Ntuli, general secretary of the Civic Association
of the Southern Tvl who was assassinated in Tokoza,
Tvl, on 29 September 1991. See NTULI FUNERAL.
MBULI, Boysie Innocent (17), an ANC supporter, was
shot and killed on 12 December 1993, when members
of the KwaZuLu PoLice opened fire on a student protest
at Ohlange Primary School at Inanda, near KwaMashu,
Durban.

MBULI, Dumisani Makukula , was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Matsulu, KaNgwane, on 13
March 1986 during student demonstrations in the
township.

MBULI, Khanyisile (21), an IFP supporter, was raped
and then stabbed to death by ANC supporters on 17
April 1994 at Lindelani, near KwaMashu, Durban, in
violent political conflict in the area during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBULI, Mayenzeke Michael (28), a member of the
SAP, was assaulted with sjamboks, dragged out of his
home, doused with petrol and burnt to death by a
group of youths during political conflict in Sterkspruit,
Cape, on 10 July 1990. Four of the youths were
consequently convicted of murder.
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MBULI, Mzwakhe , a well-known poet and UDF
supporter, was falsely arrested in Pimville, Soweto,
Johannesburg, by the Witwatersrand Security Branch on
17 March 1989, together with his wife. The Mbulis were
later prosecuted for the illegal possession of firearms
and explosives found at their home. A Wit-watersrand
Security Branch operative was granted amnesty for
planting the arms in their home (AC/2000/164).
MBULI, Nomsa, was falsely arrested in Pimville,
Soweto, Johannesburg, by the Witwatersrand Security
Branch on 17 March 1989, together with her husband.
The Mbulis were later prosecuted for the illegal
possession of firearms and explosives found at their
home. A Witwatersrand Security Branch operative was
granted amnesty for planting the arms in their home
(AC/2000/164).

MBULLI, Petros Mafika (55), an ANC supporter, was
beaten and stabbed to death by IFP supporters at
KwaMashu, Durban, on 27 March 1994 during the run-
up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBULI, Simon Mbusomoni (34), died under
mysterious circumstances in Tokoza, Tvl, in January
1990 after being taken into custody by members of
the SAP who alleged that he was a self-defence unit
member in possession of illegal weapons.

MBUNDU, Nceba Mxolisi , was shot and killed by
members of the SAP in Orlando West, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 6 November 1986 during evictions
following a rent boycott in the area.

MBUNGE, Thami Stanford , was shot and killed by
members of the SAP in White City, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, on 25 June 1977 during a student march in the
wake of the SOWETO UPRISING.

MBUNGE, Zola Joseph (17), was injured in the eye
and on his body when members of the SAP opened
fire with birdshot in Dlamini, Soweto, Johannesburg,
on 16 June 1977 during the SOWETO UPRISING.
MBUNGELA, Thomas , was shot and killed by a
member of the SAP in Komatipoort, Tvl, during the
state of emergency in May 1986.

MBUNGW A, Manthiywa Jeanet , was beaten by
members of the SAP at Bizana, Transkei, in June 1960
during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MBUQE, Xolile Humphrey (17), was shot and injured
by named members of the SAP during political conflict
at New Brighton, Port Elizabeth, on 5 October 1987.
MBUQE, Zwelitsha (41), was shot dead in Alexandra,
Johannesburg, in March 1991 during conflict between
IFP-aligned hostel-dwellers and ANC-supporting residents.
MBUSI, Nomakhaya Patricia (39), lost her home in
an arson attack in Nyanga Bush, near Crossroads,
Cape Town, in May 1986, during the mass destruction
of UDF-supporting squatter camps by WITDOEKE
vigilantes, acting with the tacit approval and aid of the
security forces. Over 60 people were killed and 20 000
homes destroyed in the attacks.

MBUSO, Malobola , was shot and burnt to death by
IMBOKODO vigilantes near Pretoria, during July 1986. Mr
Mbuso and four ‘comrades’ fled from KwaNdebele to
avoid being arrested. Two weeks later his parents
were notified of his death. Prior to his killing, members
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of the security forces visited his home and confiscated
ANC T-shirts. They allegedly threatened his family,
warning them that the pending funeral of their son
would be disrupted.

MBUTHO, Cecelia Nompumelelo (43), an ANC
supporter, had her house in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, burnt down by IFP supporters, allegedly
assisted by members of the SAP, in March 1992.
MBUTHO, Constance (39), an IFP supporter, had her
house at Nqutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, burnt
down by ANC supporters on 20 April 1994 during the
run-up to the ApRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Ms Mbutho's
husband had been killed five days earlier, also in the
course of political conflict.

MBUTHO, Khulile Rejoice (38), an IFP supporter, had
her house in Ehlanzeni, Umkomaas, near Durban,
burnt down in 1992 in continuing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MBUTHO, Siyabonga Lawrence (17), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by named IFP supporters in
Murchison, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 19 April
1993. The perpetrators allegedly opened fire on a
crowd of demonstrators when the vehicle in which
they were travelling was attacked.

MBUTHO, Titiza lvy (29), had her home in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, set alight in
January 1990 in intensifying political conflict between
Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.

MBUTHU, Florence T (45), had her home severely
damaged in an arson attack at Esikhawini, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, on 16 February 1992, when
IFP supporters returning from a chief's gathering
attacked ANC hostels and homes in the area. See
ESIKHAWINI ATTACKS.

MBUTHU, Goodness Nonhlanhla Fikile  (29), an ANC
supporter, had her home burnt down by IFP supporters
in Umlazi, Durban, on 24 July 1992.

MBUTHU, Wellington Bafana , an IFP supporter, was
shot and stabbed to death by a named ANC supporter
at Mphelandaba Store, Nqutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid,
Natal, on 15 April 1994 during the run-up to the APRIL
1994 ELECTIONS.

MBUTHUMA, Deliwe Paulinus (18), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead at KwaNdengezi, Kwazulu, near
Pinetown, Natal, by named Inkatha supporters on 17
November 1989 in intensifying political conflict in the
area. The family home was burnt down in the attack.
MBUTHUMA, Emerencia (62), had her house burnt
down by named Inkatha supporters at KwaNdengezi,
Kwazulu, near Pinetown, Natal, on 17 November 1989
in intensifying political conflict in the area. One of her
sons died in the attack. The attack was allegedly
motivated by the belief that the family supported the
ANC.

MBUTHUMA, Msongelwa Nicholas , was stabbed to
death by named Inkatha supporters at Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 4 September 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area. Mr Mbuthuma
was perceived to be an ANC supporter.

MBUTHUMA, Ruth Zitshu (25), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten and sexually assaulted by a named IFP
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supporter at Mvutshini, near Port Shepstone, Natal, on
20 March 1994 in intense political conflict in the area
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Her son,
aged nine, was also severely beaten in the attack.
MBUTHUMA, Simo (9), was severely beaten by a
named IFP supporter at Mvutshini, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 20 March 1994 in intense political conflict in
the area during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
His mother, an ANC supporter, was also severely
assaulted in the attack.

MBUTHUMA, Thami , was shot by members of the
IFP-aligned TOASTER GANG in Tembisa, Tvl, in April 1992
during conflict between IFP-aligned hostel-dwellers
aided by gang members and ANC-supporting residents.
MBUTO, Nongephi Elizabeth , lost her home in an
arson attack in KTC, Nyanga, Cape Town, in June 1986,
during the mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter
camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit
approval and aid of the security forces. Over 60 people
were killed and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.
MBUTO, Skhumbuzo Moses (54), an ANC supporter,
survived an attempted killing when the home of his
parents-in-law in Isipingo, Natal, was petrol-bombed in
1989 in intensifying political conflict between Inkatha
and ANC supporters in the area.

MBUTWA, Bandiwe Annie Mandaba (65), an ANC
supporter, had her home burnt down by IFP supporters,
some of whom are named, at Magabheni, Umgababa,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in 1992.

MBUYAZI, Gladness (43), was shot and injured by
members of the Esikhawini hit squad at Esikhawini,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 24 July 1992. Two
perpetrators were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
MBUYAZI, Johannes Michael (40), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten by IFP supporters in Durban, on
16 March 1992.

MBUYAZ, Joseph (60), an IFP supporter, was abducted
and shot dead by ANC supporters at Mhlangeni,
KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu, near Richards Bay, Natal, on
6 April 1994 in intense political conflict in the area
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MBUYAZI, Lucky , was injured in a hand grenade
explosion at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 26 August 1992. Members of the ESIKHAWINI
HIT SQUAD entered the home of a COSATU official, who
threw a grenade at them. Four people were injured in
the incident. The COSATU official was granted amnesty
(AC/1998/0061).

MBUYAZI, Luntu (53), had his house destroyed in an
arson attack at KwaSokhulu, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 1 January 1993 in continuing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area. Mr
Mbuyazi was forced to flee the area.

MBUYAZI, Madabuli (50), was shot dead on 21
January 1992 at Nhlabane, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, in ongoing political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MBUYAZI, Mzondeni Absolom (45), was stabbed to
death in ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters at Enkonjeni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 22 November 1992.
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MBUYAZI, Nelisiwe (46), an ANC supporter, lost her
home in an arson attack in Empangeni, Natal, on 24
February 1994 in political conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters during the run-up to the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MBUYAZI, Paulos (17), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by Inkatha supporters in Enseleni, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 23 March 1990, following the
UNBANNING of political organisations in February 1990.
MBUYAZI, Sibongile Mar garet (41), an IFP supporter,
lost her house in Empangeni, Natal, in an arson attack
on 28 March 1994 in political conflict in the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBUYAZI, Thamsanga , an ANC supporter, was shot
dead in KwaMthethwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 14 October 1993 in continuing political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
Mr Mbuyazi had fled his home at KwaSokhulu, but
was killed while staying at KwaMthethwa.

MBUYAZI, Thembinkosini Lexhur (50), an IFP
supporter, had his home in KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu,
near Richards Bay, Natal, burnt down by ANC
supporters on 20 April 1994 in intense political conflict
in the area during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MBUYAZI, Victor Ntando (28), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead in Enseleni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 12 March 1994 in intense political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MBUYISA, Mapi , a UDF supporter, was shot dead by
a named member of the KwaZuLu PoLice at Umlazi,
Durban, on 2 October 1990. Two other UDF supporters
were killed in the attack.

MBUYISA, Ndodeni Joseph (37), lost his house in
Eshowe, Natal, in an arson attack during July 1991 in
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MBUYISA, Niniza Bernadet (53), an ANC supporter,
had her home at Ixopo, Natal, burnt down by named
Inkatha supporters on 19 June 1990.

MBUYISA, Nozipho Mavis (41), had her house in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
January 1993 in political conflict between the ‘Rep’
AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MBUYISA, Sfiso Nicholas (15), a UDF supporter, was
shot dead by a named member of the KwaZuLu PoLice
at Umlazi, Durban, on 2 October 1990. Two other UDF
supporters were killed in the attack.

MBUYISA, Sibusiso (16), an ANC supporter, was shot
by members of the SAP in Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near
Ladysmith, Natal, on 27 December 1992. His friends,
who were taking him to hospital, were stopped at a
police road block and forced to turn the injured Mr
Mbuyisa over to them. Mr Mbuyisa was later found
dead in the mortuary.

MBUYISA, Siyabonga Elliot , an Inkatha supporter,
was shot dead by UDF supporters in Umbumbuluy,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 27 August 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MBUYISA, Welcome Mdayi Dumisani  (36), had his
house in Steadville, Ladysmith, Natal, petrol-bombed
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by ANC supporters on 22 January 1994 in intensifying
political conflict during the run-up to the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MCAKOLO, Msongelwa , an ANC supporter, was
detained and severely beaten in June 1960 during the
PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MCAMA, Zombeyana Benard (69), an ANC supporter,
lost his house in an arson attack in the Mahwaqa area,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 24 March 1990, when
hundreds of armed men, allegedly Inkatha supporters,
invaded the area. Thirteen people were killed in the
attack.

MCAMBI, Alson Thulebona , an ANC supporter, was
killed by Inkatha supporters in Port Shepstone, Natal,
on 24 March 1990 in intense political conflict following
the UNBANNING of political organisations in the area.
MCAMBI, Gibson Sbhongiseni (28), an ANC supporter,
was killed when he was beaten, stabbed and thrown
from a moving train in Umlazi, Durban, on 26 November
1993 in continuing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MCAMBI, Hlaba Anna (63), an ANC supporter, had her
house at Ekuthuleni, Umlazi, Durban, burnt down by IFP
supporters in February 1992. See EKUTHULENI ATTACKS.
MCAMBI, Thulebona Andrias (26), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by Inkatha supporters at the
Mhlungwa River, Mtwalume, near Umzinto, Natal, on
24 March 1990 in intense political conflict in the area
following the UNBANNING of political organisations in
February 1990.

MCAMGISA, Simon Mzwandile (22), an ANC
supporter, was arrested at Vereeniging, Tvl, on 12
August 1992 and tortured in various ways by members
of the SAP.

MCANDA, Daniwe Maggie (58), was severely beaten
and kicked by members of the SAP in Somerset East,
Cape, in 1986 during the state of emergency. Her
children were UDF supporters. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MCANDA, Ntombizodwa Mirriam  (28), was detained
and severely beaten by named members of the SAP on
22 August 1986 at Somerset East police station, Cape.
MCANYANA, Ntombenhle Christina (31), an ANC
supporter, had her home in Inanda, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by IFP supporters on 13 March
1991.

MCATA, Lawrence Mzwanda , an MK operative, was
killed in a shoot-out with members of the SAP and
Ciskei Police on 31 July 1985 at Mt Ruth railway station,
Mdantsane, Ciskei.

MCcBRIDE, Derick (54), an MK operative, was arrested
and tortured during July 1986 in Nigel, Tvl, and then
taken to Durban where SAP and named Security
Branch members tortured him. He was sentenced to
15 years' imprisonment on Robben Island for his
involvement in the MAGOO'S BAR BOMBING.

MCBRIDE, Derrick Robert (six months), was forcibly
taken from his mother and denied food when his mother
was detained because her family was involved in the
political struggle. The police allegedly refused to take
his milk formula with them when they removed him
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from CR Swart Square, Durban, and took him to his
great-aunt without his mother’s permission.

McBRIDE, Donis Yvonne (around 47), an ANC supporter,
was continually harassed and was detained on several
occasions by members of the Security Police in Durban
in the 1980s, allegedly because of the involvement of
members of her family in political activities.
McCLUNE, Robert , was shot and injured by named
members of the SAP in Wolseley, Cape, on 24
November 1990, while participating in a legal protest
at the opening ceremony of Wolseley's community
hall. Residents objected to the participation of a
Tricameral Parliament Minister in the proceedings.
MCDONALD, lan, was killed when APLA operatives
attacked members and guests at the King William's
Town Golf Club, Cape, on 28 November 1992. Four
people were killed and 17 injured in the attack. See
APLA atTACKS. Four APLA members were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/182).

McDONALD, Nonceba Mary , an ANC supporter, was
tortured and had a hand grenade thrown at her home
by members of the Ciskei Police on 19 January 1987
in Mdantsane, Ciskei, allegedly because her son was
an MK operative.

McDONALD, Patrick Vusumzi (30), an MK operative,
was shot dead by named members of the Ciskei
Police on 18 January 1987 in Mdantsane, Ciskei.
MCDONALD, Rhoda , a civilian, was injured when
APLA operatives attacked members and guests at the
King William's Town Golf Club, Cape, on 28 November
1992. Four people were killed and 17 injured in the
attack. See APLA ATTAcks. Four APLA members were
granted amnesty (AC/2001/182).

MCEDI, Vincent Mpho , was shot dead by members of
the "Zim-Zim’ faction of the KHUTSONG YOUTH CONGRESS
(KYC) in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, on 27 November
1990. The ANC-aligned KYC had split into two rival
factions, the 'Zim-zims' and the ‘Gaddaffis’. At least 17
people were killed in Khutsong between 1989 and
1991 before a peace pact took effect in May 1991. Mr
Mcedi was a supporter of the ‘Gadaffi’ faction.
MCELU, Morris Mzimkhulu (20), a COSAS member,
was shot and injured by named members of the SAP
at Mlungisi, Queenstown, Cape, on 19 November 1985.
Two days earlier, police and residents had clashed at a
meeting at the Nonzwakazi Methodist Church.
MCERWA, Ndumiso (15), an AZASM member, was
shot and injured by a UDF-aligned SASCO member in
Soweto, Johannesburg, in March 1986. UDF and
AZASM supporters clashed violently in a number of
Transvaal townships in the mid to late 1980s.
MCETYW A, Harriet Jabulile (34), had her home
damaged in an arson attack by IFP supporters and
other named perpetrators in Pongola, Tvl, in 1993.
MCGLUWA, Patric W illiam , a BCM member, was
arrested on 14 February 1975 and held at John Vorster
Square, Johannesburg, where he was beaten and
intimidated by named members of the Security Branch
to try and force him to testify against Trevor Bloem,
charged under the Terrorism and Suppression of
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Communism Acts. Mr Mcgluwa and another were
suspected of being co-conspirators in attempting to
discourage participation in the CRC and were sentenced
to a year'’s imprisonment for refusing to testify.
McGOSH, Samuel Navarro  (22), a founder member
of AZAPO, was tortured in detention in Johannesburg,
in 1976. He was arrested for being a member of
AFRO, an anti-collaborationist front.

MCHIZWA, Phungula (55), an ANC member, was
detained and severely beaten by members of the SAP
in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MCHOLWA, Mthingwevu Lizethile (29), an ANC
member in Engcobo, Transkei, was killed in an attack
by SADF Special Forces operatives on several ANC
houses and a block of flats in Maseru, Lesotho, on 9
December 1982. Thirty South Africans and 12 citizens
of Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack.
MCHUNU, Andrinah Malithi  (26), an ANC supporter,
had her house destroyed in an arson attack by Inkatha
supporters in Pietermaritzburg, on 26 March 1990,
during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MCHUNU, Baphindile (47), an ANC supporter, had
her house at Engonyameni, near Umlazi, Durban, burnt
down by Inkatha supporters in December 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MCHUNU, Batembile (49), an ANC supporter, had her
house in Chimora, Umlazi, Durban, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 16 January 1992 in intense political
conflict in the area. See CHIMORA SETTLEMENT ATTACKS.
MCHUNU, Bheki Joseph , was severely assaulted by
members of KwaZuLu PoLICE at Inchanga, Natal, in
1989. The police claimed that he was in possession of
illegal firearms.

MCHUNU, Bhekumuzi Moses (36), an ANC supporter,
was shot and severely injured by IFP supporters in
Wembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, on 27
September 1991.

MCHUNU, Bhekuyise Phillip , a UDF supporter, was
killed by a named member of the SAP in Pietermaritz-
burg on 7 January 1990, allegedly because of his
active political involvement.

MCHUNU, Deli, was shot and injured by Inkatha
supporters at Nhlalakahle, Greytown, Natal, on 17
January 1988. The perpetrators were allegedly looking
for another occupant of the house, whom they
suspected of being a UDF supporter.

MCHUNU, Dumisani (36), was severely stabbed and
beaten by named IFP supporters in Empangeni, Natal,
on 12 March 1991. She was suspected of being an
ANC supporter.

MCHUNU, Elizabeth Ntombifuthi  (24), an IFP
supporter, was shot and injured in Wembezi, KwaZulu,
near Estcourt, Natal, on 4 September 1993, when
ANC supporters ambushed the taxi in which she was
travelling.

MCHUNU, Elsie , an ANC supporter, disappeared
when IFP supporters attacked her home in Pieter-
maritzburg in March 1990. She has not been seen
since and is presumed dead.

MCHUNU, Flemina (44) was shot and injured by
named members of the SAP at Bruntville, near Mooi
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River, Natal, on 16 June 1990, when the police opened
fire on mourners after the funeral of a youth who died
of natural causes.

MCHUNU, Funani Maria , an ANC supporter, had her
house destroyed in an arson attack by IFP supporters
at Esimozomeni, Richmond, Natal, in 1990.

MCHUNU, Goodwill Bheki , was shot dead in Umlazi,
Durban, on 5 September 1992 in ongoing conflict
between the ANC and IFP.

MCHUNU, Hezekia , was severely injured when
members of COSATU bombed a bus carrying workers
in Empangeni, Natal, on 6 June 1988. The attack
occurred during a two-day national stayaway.
MCHUNU, Jonathan Miungiseni (21), was severely
assaulted by Inkatha supporters in March 1986 at
Ntuzuma, near Durban, in intensifying political conflict
between UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area.
MCHUNU, Joseph Mbona (65), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead by fellow IFP supporters in Estcourt,
Natal, on 27 September 1993. He was allegedly killed
because he had witnessed the perpetrators’ role in the
killing of two other people in the continuing political
conflict in the area.

MCHUNU, Joseph , an ANC supporter, was injured
when his wife's shack was burnt down by named
perpetrators in Khutsong, Carletonville, Tvl, in
November 1993 during conflict between the SHENGE
vigilante group and the ANC.

MCHUNU, Khetheni Beauty (35), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by IFP supporters in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, on 17 November 1993.
MCHUNU, Lindiwe Lilian (48), an IFP supporter, had
her home in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban,
burnt down on 18 June 1993 in ongoing political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MCHUNU, Lucky Robert (24), was shot on 29 August
1991 by IFP supporters who attacked the church in
which ANC supporters had taken refuge in Mooi River,
Natal.

MCHUNU, Lungi Elizabeth (50), an ANC supporter,
had her house at Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban,
burnt down by IFP supporters on 27 April 1993 in
political conflict between the 'RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.
MCHUNU, Magaga Michael (38), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed and severely injured by Inkatha
supporters near Hammarsdale, Natal, on 18 June 1989.
MCHUNU, Mandlakayise Elias , an IFP supporter, had
his house burnt down by IFP supporters in Haladu,
Nqutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, in April 1994 in
intense political conflict in the area during the run-up
to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MCHUNU, Mar garet (42), was shot dead by IFP
supporters on 29 August 1991 in Bruntville, near Mooi
River, Natal, in ongoing political conflict in the area. His
friend, a COSATU member, was shot dead in the
same incident.

MCHUNU, Matika Mabel (54), an ANC supporter, had
her home in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down by IFP supporters in April 1991.

MCHUNU, Mgenzeni D (22), an ANC supporter, had
his home in Richmond, Natal, burnt down in an attack
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by IFP supporters in 1990, allegedly in the course of
an IFP membership recruitment campaign.

MCHUNU, Mhlaliseni Ber nard (38), an IFP supporter,
had his home burnt down by ANC supporters in the
Cingi area, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 17
November 1992.

MCHUNU, Michael Sipho (26), a UDF supporter, was
shot and injured by a named Special Constable in
Chesterville, Durban, on 19 November 1988 during
political conflict over the incorporation of Chesterville
into KwaZulu.

MCHUNU, Mildred (49), had her house burnt down
during political conflict between the ‘ReD’” AND ‘GREEN’
FACTIONS in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in
1993.

MCHUNU, Mirriam Bayabulile (45), lost her home in
an arson attack in Eshowe, Natal, in early 1994 in
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MCHUNU, Mndeni Christian (19), was shot an
injured by Inkatha supporters during political conflict
near Hammarsdale, Natal, on 8 December 1987. Two of
the perpetrators were granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
MCHUNU, Moses (12), was shot dead by members
of the SAP in White City, Soweto, Johannesburg, on
16 June 1976 while watching an office burning after
an arson attack on the first day of the SOWETO UPRISING.
MCHUNU, Moses (17), was severely assaulted by
members of KwaZuLu PoLIce at Inchanga, Natal, in
1989. The police claimed that he was in possession of
illegal firearms.

MCHUNU, Musawenkosi , a UDF supporter, drowned
in Pietermaritzburg on 25 December 1987 when armed
Inkatha supporters chased him into the Umsunduzi
River and stoned him while he was trying to swim to
safety.

MCHUNU, Mzikayise Zeblon (60), an Inkatha
supporter, was stabbed to death on 16 April 1990 at
Thulini, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in intense political
conflict between Inkatha and ANC supporters
following the UNBANNING of political organisations in
February 1990.

MCHUNU, N, was severely beaten by members of the
KwaZuLu PoLice in KwaMashu, Durban, on 26 December
1989, in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MCHUNU, Nathan , an ANC supporter, was bumnt to
death by Inkatha supporters in KwaMashu, Durban, on
3 March 1990.

MCHUNU, Ndabayakhe (42), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured on 16 March 1994 when IFP
supporters, allegedly assisted by members of the
KwaZuLu PoLicg, attacked residents in Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MCHUNU, Ndleleni , a UDF supporter, was fatally
stabbed by fellow UDF supporters at Mpophomeni,
KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, on 21 October 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area. The attack
was allegedly motivated by the belief that he
supported Inkatha, because he lived in an Inkatha-
dominated area.
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MCHUNU, Ndodo (20), a UDF supporter, was abducted
and shot dead by named Inkatha supporters at
KwaMpande, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 18
October 1987 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MCHUNU, Nhlanhla Isiah Brian  (45), was shot five
times and severely injured in a taxi in Meadowlands,
Soweto, Johannesburg, on 3 June 1996 during conflict
between IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers and residents
of the area.

MCHUNU, Nkosinathi Joel (20), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters at Bruntville, near
Mooi River, Natal, on 20 July 1991.

MCHUNU, Nonhlwati ‘Eta’ (69), an IFP supporter,
was shot and killed by ANC supporters in Phatheni,
Richmond, Natal, on 10 July 1993, allegedly in a
revenge attack. Her granddaughter and several other
family members and neighbours were killed or injured
in the attack.

MCHUNU, Nontobeko , an IFP supporter, was shot
and injured by ANC supporters at Phatheni, Richmond,
Natal, on 10 July 1993.

MCHUNU, Nozi (59), an IFP supporter, was stabbed
to death by ANC supporters at Bruntville, near Mooi
River, Natal, on 11 August 1991.

MCHUNU, Ntinti Amos (58), an IFP supporter, was
stabbed to death by ANC supporters in Wembezi,
KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, on 31 December 1992.
MCHUNU, Oscar Thamduxolo (31), was shot dead
by Inkatha supporters in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 9 April 1990 in ongoing political conflict
between Inkatha and ANC supporters in the area.
MCHUNU, Paulos Lucky (34), an ANC supporter, had
his house in Ntuzuma, near Durban, burnt down on 14
December 1989 in intensifying political conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MCHUNU, Peter Jabulani , was shot dead by
members of the SADF in Mofolo North, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 17 February 1988 during the state
of emergency. The soldiers chased him in a Casspir,
broke down a door in his home and shot him.
MCHUNU, Phendukile Beauty (49), an Inkatha
supporter, had her house burnt down by ANC
supporters in Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu,
Durban, on 3 July 1990.

MCHUNU, Phumelele , was shot dead during ongoing
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters at Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, on 16 September 1993. Her
home was also set alight and all belongings were
destroyed.

MCHUNU, Richard (25), an Inkatha supporter, had his
house in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down by UDF supporters in November 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MCHUNU, Samson Mfaniseni (36), a SANCO
supporter, was shot and injured during political conflict
in Pietermaritzburg on 8 June 1992.

MCHUNU, Shadrack Mechack (32), had his house
burnt down by IFP supporters at Gobandlovu,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 10 September
1990. Mr Mchunu, whose tenant was burnt to death
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in the attack, was allegedly targeted because he was
believed to be an ANC supporter.

MCHUNU, Silindile Genekose Janet (34), had her
house in Ntuzuma, near Durban, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters on 7 December 1989 in intensifying
political conflict in the area.

MCHUNU, Simphiwe , an IFP supporter, was shot
and injured by ANC supporters in Phatheni, Richmond,
Natal, on 10 July 1993.

MCHUNU, Siphiwe (45), had her home damaged in
an arson attack by IFP supporters in Mabhuyeni,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in 1992, and was
shot and injured by IFP supporters in 1994, allegedly
because she was perceived to have sympathies with
the ANC.

MCHUNU, Sithombo Saraphina  (62), an IFP supporter,
had her house destroyed by ANC supporters in
Empangeni, Natal, on 13 January 1994.

MCHUNU, Sizakele (15), was shot and injured at
Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on
30 October 1993, when she and two other family
members were abducted by ANC supporters and taken
to a neighbour’s house. The neighbour was killed and
Sizakele's cousin and aunt were stabbed and severely
injured. The perpetrators accused them of hiding IFP
weapons, because their home was in an IFP stronghold.
MCHUNU, Thandazo Jumama (45), lost her house in
an arson attack at Gingindlovu, Natal, on 31 January
1994 during intense political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MCHUNU, Thandeka Cynthia (13), an ANC supporter,
died on 25 June 1991, two days after being stabbed
by IFP supporters at Thawulendeni, Richmond, Natal.
Between 21 and 23 June, IFP supporters, allegedly
transported by the police, attacked ANC supporters in
the Richmond area, killing at least 16 people from
ANC-supporting families.

MCHUNU, Thandiwe Regina , an ANC supporter, was
killed at her home in KwaMashu, Durban, by Inkatha
supporters on 3 March 1990.

MCHUNU, Thandiwe , had her house at Mondlo,
KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 26 November 1992. Ms Mchunu was
accused of helping ANC supporters in the area.
MCHUNU, Themba Alpheus (23), was severely
tortured by members of the Security Branch at the
Loop Street police station, Pietermaritzburg, on 11
November 1976.

MCHUNU, Themba , suffered injuries when IFP
supporters and Caprivi trainees carried out attacks on
ANC supporters in Richmond, Natal, between 21 and
23 June 1991. See RICHMOND ATTACKS. One perpetrator
was granted amnesty (AC/1999/217).

MCHUNU, Thembekile (33), had her house at
Inchanga, Natal, burnt down by UDF supporters during
political conflict in 1988.

MCHUNU, Thembi Irene (30), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by Inkatha supporters, one of whom
is named, on 18 June 1989 at Ntshangweni, Mpuma-
langa, KwaZulu, near Durban, at a time of intensifying
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political conflict in the area. The perpetrators had
accused her of being a spy.

MCHUNU, Thembisile Gloria Christi  (33), was shot
and severely injured by IFP supporters at Imbali,
Pietermaritzburg, on 3 January 1993, while travelling in
a taxi headed for a known ANC area. The perpetrators
boarded the taxi and opened fire, killing two people
and injuring Ms Mchunu.

MCHUNU, Thenjiwe Maria (52), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by ANC supporters at
Wembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, in 1993
during political violence in the area. The motive for the
attack is unknown.

MCHUNU, Tuku Thembi (32), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
burnt down in October 1989 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MCHUNU, Victor Julius (38), a UDF supporter, was
injured when his house was burnt down by named
members of the Chesterville A-TEAm during political
conflict in Chesterville, Durban, on 30 December 1986.
MCHUNU, Victor, was injured in what became
known as the MAGOO'S BAR BOMBING in Durban on 14
June 1986. The explosion killed three women and
injured at least 74 other people. Seven MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/128).

MCHUNU, Vincent Mazwi (17), a UDF supporter, was
abducted by Inkatha supporters in Pietermaritzburg on
17 July 1986 during intensifying political conflict in the
area. He has not been seen since and is presumed dead.
MCHUNU, Vincent, an ANC supporter, was shot and
injured by Inkatha supporters during political violence at
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in August 1988.
One perpetrator was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
MCHUNU, Wiseman Simomo (26), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters, allegedly assisted by
members of the KwaZuLu PoLicg, at Ntiyane,
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 1 March 1991.
MCHUNU, Wiseman Sipho (29), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead on 8 March 1992, when IFP supporters
attacked a home in Zamani informal settlement,
Umlazi, Durban. Mr Mchunu was staying overnight
with friends at the house.

MCHUNU, Zamani , an IFP supporter, was killed by
ANC supporters in Wembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt,
Natal, on 28 March 1993.

MCHUNU, Zodwa Mar garet (42), an IFP supporter,
had her house destroyed in an arson attack by IFP
supporters in Haladu, Nqutu, KwaZulu, near Vryheid,
Natal, in April 1994 in intense political conflict in the
area during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MCHUNU-NTINGA, Mandla , an ANC supporter, was
shot and killed by a group of IFP supporters at
Ndlovu’s Kraal, Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
on 7 March 1992, in ongoing political conflict in the
area. Eight people died and five were injured in the
attack. One perpetrator serving a prison sentence was
refused amnesty (AC/1998/0010).

MCILONGO, David , was stabbed and burnt to death
on 13 April 1986 at Mzwini, Mooiplaas, near East
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London, when named perpetrators attacked the
Mcilongo family during conflict between two rival
residents’ associations. Mr Mcilongo was accused of
being an informer before he was doused with petrol
and set alight. His son and other members of the family
were killed with him, and their houses burnt down.
MCILONGO, Fumbathile Gladman , was detained
and tortured on 14 April 1986 after fighting between
two rival residents’ associations in East London. Mr
Mcilongo died in June 1989 as a result of injuries
sustained in detention.

MCILONGO, Lulama , was stabbed and burnt to death
on 13 April 1986 at Mzwini, Mooiplaas, near East
London, when named perpetrators attacked the
Mcilongo family during conflict between two rival
residents’ associations. Mr Mcilongo was accused of
being an informer before he was doused with petrol
and set alight.

MCILONGO, Mzonke , was stabbed and burnt to death
on 13 April 1986 at Mzwini, Mooiplaas, near East
London, when named perpetrators attacked the
Mcilongo family during conflict between two rival
residents’ associations. Mr Mcilongo was accused of
being an informer before he was doused with petrol and
set alight. His father and other members of the family
were killed with him, and their houses burnt down.
MCILONGO, Nomathokazi Deborah (64), lost her
house in an arson attack on 13 April 1986 at Mzwini,
Mooiplaas, near East London, when named perpetrators
attacked the Mcilongo family during conflict between
two rival residents’ associations and accused them of
being informers. Her husband and son were burnt to
death in the attack.

MCILONGO, Nomavela Ethelina (39), lost her house
in an arson attack on 13 April 1986 at Mzwini,
Mooiplaas, near East London, when named perpetrators
attacked the Mcilongo family during conflict between
two rival residents’ associations and accused them of
being informers. Several family members were killed
in the attack.

MCILONGO, Nomight Ella (66) lost her house in an
arson attack on 13 April 1986 at Mzwini, Mooiplaas, near
East London, when the perpetrators attacked the
Mcilongo family during conflict between two rival
residents’ associations and accused them of being
informers. Several family members were killed in the
attack.

MCILONGO, Vuyisile Victor (41), lost his house and
livestock in an arson attack by named perpetrators on
13 April 1986 at Mzwini, Mooiplaas, near East London
during conflict between two rival residents’ associations.
The Mcilongo family were accused of being informers.
Several family members were killed in the attack.
MCILONGO, Xolile Louis (20), an ANCYL member, was
subjected to electric shock torture by members of the
SAP in Mhluzi, Middelburg, Tvl, in July 1988 because
they wanted information on his political activities.
MCINEKA, Lawrence Linda (46), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters on 30 October 1993
at Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban.
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MCIZWA, Pungula , an ANC supporter, spent five
years in prison following his arrest in 1960 in Bizana,
Transkei, for his involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
Mr Mcizwa died shortly after his release, allegedly as a
result of injuries sustained while in detention.

McKAY, Anne Frances (23), an END CONSCRIPTION
CAMPAIGN member, was harassed and her home was
petrol-bombed by named members of the Security
Branch in Berea, Johannesburg, on 11 July 1986. Ms
McKay was also a UDF and JODAC activist.
McKENNA, John , was injured in what became known
as the MAGOO's BAR BOMBING in Durban on 14 June
1986. The explosion killed three women and injured at
least 74 other people. Seven MK operatives were
granted amnesty (AC/2001/128).

McKENZIE, Keith Chades (35), from Eersterus, Tvl,
was detained in Botswana by ANC security members
in April 1987 and held for several years in Zambia and
Angola during which he suffered severe ill-treatment. At
the time, Mr McKenzie was involved in a joint Northern
and Western Transvaal Security Branches and Special
Forces operation which resulted in the deaths of three
Batswana citizens, including two children, and injury to
three others. This occurred when, a few days after his
detention, South African security agents found the bus
he had been driving and detonated the bomb it was
carrying. According to amnesty applicants, Mr McKenzie
was unaware he was driving a booby-trapped vehicle.
Five members of the Security Branch were granted
amnesty for the explosion (AC/2000/0214).

McLEAN, Thamsanga Godfrey (34), a PAC supporter,
was stabbed, hacked and left seriously injured by
WITDOEKE vigilantes in KTC, Cape Town, on 9 June 1986,
during the mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter
camps by the vigilantes, acting with the tacit approval
and aid of the security forces. Over 60 people were
killed and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.
MCOSANA, Mampho Betty (53), was beaten by SAP
members at her home in Parys, OFS, on 28
September 1990, allegedly because the police overheard
her commenting about them. Her 16-year-old daughter
was also severely beaten by the SAP members when
she tried to help her mother.

MCOSANA, Sweetness Tanetjie (16), who was
pregnant at the time, was beaten by named members
of the SAP in Tumahole, Parys, OFS, on 28 September
1990, when she tried help her mother, who was being
beaten by the police. Sweetness Mcosana’s child is
now blind and mentally retarded.

MCOSINI, Nombali Philby (28) was stabbed and
severely injured in December 1985 at KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, in what became known as
the UMBUMBULU MASSACRE.

MCOYANA, Moses , a UDF supporter, was shot with
birdshot and injured by named members of the SAP
when a student demonstration passed his home in
Colesberg, Cape, on 22 July 1985. Reverend Mcoyana
was detained under Article 50 of the Internal Security
Act on 24 July 1985. He was acquitted of all charges
by the Supreme Court, Eastern Cape.
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MCOYI, Goodman Sipho (25), an ANC supporter,
was killed by IFP supporters in Hammarsdale, Natal,
on 17 December 1990.

MCOWVI, Innocent (23), an ANC supporter, was killed
by IFP supporters and members of the KwaZuLu
Potice in Hammarsdale, Natal, on 2 November 1990.
MCUBE, Buyanaye Mirriam (73), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Hopewell, Ixopo, Natal, burnt down
by IFP supporters in March 1992.

MCUBE, Thembani Ester (31), an ANC supporter, had
her home in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down by Inkatha supporters in July 1985.
MCULWANE, Elizabeth (45), was stabbed and injured
when IFP supporters attacked her home on 5 December
1991 in Bruntville, near Mooi River, Natal, in continuing
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the
area. One family member was killed in the attack and
one other was stabbed and injured. See BRUNTVILLE
ATTACKS.

MCULWANE, Hiuthu (56), an IFP supporter, was shot
and stabbed to death by ANC supporters in Bruntville,
near Mooi River, Natal, on 20 June 1992.
MCULWANE, Ntobeko (10), was stabbed and injured
when IFP supporters attacked her family home on 5
December 1991 in Bruntville, near Mooi River, Natal.
One family member was killed in the attack and one
other stabbed and injured. See BRUNTVILLE ATTACKS.
MCULWANE, Ntokozo Petros (10), was stabbed to
death when IFP supporters attacked his family home
on 5 December 1991 in Bruntville, near Mooi River,
Natal. Two other family members were stabbed and
injured in the attack. See BRUNTVILLE ATTACKS.

MCUNU, Doli Stephen (50), had his home in
Madakane, Port Shepstone, Natal, burnt down by ANC
supporters on 26 April 1991 in ongoing political conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MCUNU, Johannes Bigboy (48), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead by named IFP supporters in Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 6 November 1992. Mr Mcunu,
who lived in an ANC stronghold, was allegedly
throught to have ANC sympathies.

MCUNU, Msolwa (51), an ANC supporter, had his
house in Richmond, Natal, destroyed in an arson attack
in 1991 during intense conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MCUNU, Vimbekhaya (47), an IFP supporter, was
assaulted by other IFP supporters in Empangeni, Natal,
during September 1992, in the course of an internal
dispute.

MCUNUKEL WA, Makhubalo , was detained for two
months and severely tortured by members of the SAP
in 1961 in Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MCWABE, Mbukelwa Jerome (38), an Inkatha leader,
was shot dead by ANC supporters in Imbali, Pieter-
maritzburg, on 16 March 1990 following the UNBANNING
of political organisations in February.

MDA, Anele (15), was shot dead by members of the
SAP in Crossroads, Cape Town, on 18 March 1985.
Eighteen people were shot dead by police and over
250 injured in three days of conflict, when Crossroads
residents resisted forced removals to Khayelitsha.
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MDABE, Makazi (58), an ANC supporter, had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters at Mevamhlophe,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in February 1993.
MDABE, Ndukuzempi , an IFP supporter, was shot
dead by ANC supporters in Enkunzini, KwaZulu, near
Hammarsdale, Natal, on 19 August 1991.

MDADANE, Esta , a UDF supporter, had her house
damaged when a group of Inkatha supporters and
CAPRIVI TRAINEES attacked a UDF meeting in a house at
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 January
1988. Nine people were killed and an estimated 200
people were injured in the attack. The group went on
to destroy around eight houses. One former IFP
member was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
MDADANE, Fortune Mthokozisi (18), was shot and
injured at KwaNdengezi, Kwazulu, near Pinetown,
Natal, on 30 March 1992, during ongoing conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MDAKANA, Jafter Mphangeleni , was stabbed to
death by IFP supporters in Tembisa, Tvl, on 20 August
1990 during conflict between IFP-supporting hostel-
dwellers and ANC-supporting residents.

MDAKANA, Maleti Alice (25), an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban,
on 15 July 1990 in ongoing political conflict between
ANC and Inkatha supporters in the area.

MDAKANE, (first name not given), suffered an
attempt on his life when he was shot at by members
of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) at Cartwright in
Everest, Tvl. One SDU member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0243).

MDAKANE, Eugene , was shot and injured in Tokoza,
Tvl, on 19 November 1993, allegedly by named
members of the ISU.

MDAKANE, Muzikayise Roderick , a member of the
SAP, was shot and killed by IFP supporters during
political conflict in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, Natal, in 1993. One perpetrator was granted
amnesty for (AC/1999/0332).

IMIDAKANE, Sifiso (17), was shot dead by SAP
Special Constables in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 11 December 1988 in intense political
conflict in the area.

MDAKANE, Zephania , was shot dead by members of
the SAP in Alexandra, Tvl, on 1 May 1986.

MDAMBA, Muzokhana Mntukayise , an IFP
supporter, was shot dead by ANC supporters in
KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu, near Richards Bay, Natal, on
3 July 1993.

MDANDA, Alzinah (21), an ANC supporter, had her
house bumnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDANDA, Lilly (60), an ANC supporter, had her home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDAU, Virginia , was injured when Security Branch
members detonated an explosive device at the Why
Not Club, Vanderbijl Square, Johannesburg, on 21
September 1988. The club was targeted because it
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was allegedly frequented by ANC supporters. Four
members of the Witwatersrand Security Branch,
including the divisional commander and his deputy,
and one Vlakplaas operative were granted amnesty for
the operation (AC/2001/046).

MDAVI, Eugenia Tamara (19), was shot and injured
by a named member of the SAP in Port Elizabeth, on
18 June 1976 in the aftermath of the SOWETO UPRISING.
Ms Mdayi was subsequently detained and tortured.
MDAYIMANI, Nkanyezi , was executed in Pretoria on 6
July 1962 for his involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
IMDEBUKA, Sandile Patrick (18), was shot by a named
policewoman in Paarl, Cape, on 29 December 1985, as
he passed near children fleeing from the police. Mr
Mdebuka was arrested, but later acquitted.

MDEKAZI, Mzukisi Goodman (32), a member of the
SADF and AN ANC supporter, was shot by a named
member of the SAP during a dispute in a bar in Indwe,
Cape, on 2 February 1990. He died two days later of
his wounds.

MDEKAZI, Sonwabo , an MK operative, was killed in a
shoot-out with members of the SAP in Ntshekisa
Road, New Brighton, Port Elizabeth on 5 August 1987.
MDHLULI, Sizanje Elizabeth , was shot and injured by
members of the SAP outside the magistrate’s court in
Kabokweni, KaNgwane, during court proceedings
against a number of student leaders in 1986.
MDHLULI-PIKELELA, Moses Wellington Khehla
a COSAS member, was arrested and tortured by
members of the SAP in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, in 1986 during student unrest in the township.
MDIBI, Thembinkosi Lenford (35), was shot in the
stomach by members of the ISU during political
conflict at Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 4
January 1993.

MDIDIMBA, Mzukisi Cathnick (16), was severely
beaten by named AmAsoLomzI vigilantes in Zolani,
Ashton, Cape, on 24 May 1986. Mr Mdidimba and 115
others were arrested on charges of public violence. Mr
Mdidimba was acquitted after spending months in
custody.

MDIKENI, Nowanda , an ANC member, was assaulted
in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLANDREVOLT.
MDIMA, Gibe (64), an ANC supporter, had his home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

IMIDIMA, Khokhiwe (50) an ANC supporter, had his
home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDIMA, Lulu (62), had her house burnt down in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 13
February 1994. Around 20 deaths and at least 28
incidents of house burning were recorded that month
in intense political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in intense political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area. Hundreds of people were
forced to flee from the area, and schools and shops
were forced to close.

(16),
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MDIMA, Mandlakayise , an ANC supporter, died in
detention after being detained and severely assaulted
by members of the SAP at his home in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 20 December 1990. Mr Mdima'’s two
brothers were killed in political conflict in the Durban
area in 1989 and 1990.

MDIMA, Mfeleni (46), an ANC supporter, had his
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDIMA, Mthozisi , an ANC supporter, was shot dead
in Chesterville, Durban, on 11 November 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area. Mr Mdima'’s
two brothers were both killed in 1990, one in detention
and one in political conflict in the Durban area.
MDIMA, Nomtshezi Eliza , was shot dead by IFP
supporters in Empangeni, Natal, on 26 March 1992,
allegedly because she was thought to be harbouring
ANC supporters.

MDIMA, Nqgoba , an ANC supporter, was stoned to
death on 12 November 1990 near his home in Kwa-
Mashu, Durban, in ongoing conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters in the area. Mr Mdima'’s brothers were
both killed, one in detention, and one in political
conflict in the Durban area.

MDIMA, Salelem Dorcas (38), had her home burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDIMA, Sizani (47), an ANC supporter, had her home
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDIMA, Solekhaya Jack , was shot dead in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 13 February
1994. Around 20 deaths and at least 28 incidents of
house burning were recorded that month in intense
political conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in
the area. Hundreds of people were forced to flee from
the area, and schools and shops were forced to close.
MDINGANE, Bandile , an ANC supporter, was killed in
1986 in Umtata, Transkei.

MDINGI, Leonard Maghatshu (49), an ANC supporter,
was detained and tortured by members of the SAP in
Durban during 1975, allegedly because he had been
involved in harbouring ANC operatives in the area.
MDINGI, Lucky , a UDF supporter, was stabbed to
death by Inkatha supporters in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 28 August 1989.

MDINGI, Ntombizodwa Ger trude (46), an ADM
supporter, was killed when a hand grenade was thrown
into her bedroom during conflict between ANC and ADM
supporters in Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 28 February 1993.
MDINGI, Yongama (23), an ADM supporter, lost his home
in an arson attack by ANC members during political
conflict in Kidd's Beach, Cape, on 12 December 1993.
MDINISO, Duduzile Paulina (40), was hacked and
injured by armed men who boarded a Soweto-bound
train at Jeppe station and began attacking passengers
as the train passed George Goch station, on 13
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September 1990. The attackers moved through three
carriages, killing about 26 people. See TRAIN VIOLENCE.
MDINISO, Mafika David (17), an ANCYL supporter,
was detained in Bethal, Tvl, on 14 January 1991 and
tortured by named members of the SAP at Bethal,
Ermelo and Davel police stations and at a shooting
range. He was reportedly one of a group of young
people detained and assaulted after police raided the
homes of political activists looking for AK47s.
MDISHWA, Zimisele , was shot dead by IFP supporters
in Swanieville, near Krugersdorp, Tvl, on 12 May 1991.
IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers were retaliating against
the expulsion of IFP supporters from the area by ANC-
supporting squatters. About 115 shacks were set
alight, 27 people were killed and 25 vehicles were
destroyed. Twelve people were charged with crimes
ranging from murder to arson but were acquitted due
to lack of evidence.

MDITSHWA, Florence Nomabala (34), the wife of a
local chief, was assaulted by members of IKONGO in
Bizana, Transkei, on 2 December 1960. Persons
associated with chiefs were targeted in the belief that
they were collaborating with the government. See
PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MDITSHW A, Stanford , was killed by members of
IKONGO on 2 December 1960 in Bizana, Transkei. Chief
Mditshwa was allegedly accused of being an informer
and a sell-out to the apartheid government. Chiefs who
supported the self-governance of Transkei were targeted
by activists because they were believed to be involved
in the re-demarcation of land. See PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MDIYA, Lungisani , was severely beaten by members
of the Security Branch in Mafikeng, Bophuthatswana,
on 30 November 1975. Mr Mdiya and two other
‘comrades’ were arrested at the Botswana border
while fleeing the country.

MDLADA, Hlaleleni Isabel (50), an ANC supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death when named IFP
supporters attacked ANC supporters in Osindisweni,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in February 1991.
Her grandson, aged four, was shot and severely
injured in the attack.

MDLADLA, Bhekani Gilbert (56), an IFP supporter,
was shot dead by ANC supporters in Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 27 January 1991.
MDLADLA, Felani Elizabeth (51), an IFP supporter,
had her home in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban,
burnt down by ANC supporters on 27 January 1991.
Her husband was killed in the attack.

MDLADLA, Mondli Kulana (15), an ANC supporter,
was killed on 18 February 1994, when four gunmen
attacked a house in the rural Mahahle village, near
Creighton, Ixopo, Natal, in which he and other ANC
youths were sleeping. Fifteen ANC youths were killed
in the attack. They had been seen putting up posters
announcing a voter education workshop in preparation
for the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Four prominent IFP leaders
were acquitted on charges relating to the massacre.
MDLADLA, Ntombizonke Dora (46), an ANC
supporter, had her home in Ntuzuma, near Durban,
burnt down by IFP supporters on 19 June 1991.
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MDLADLA, Sibonelo (4), was shot and injured when
named IFP supporters attacked ANC supporters in
Osindisweni, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
February 1991. His grandmother was killed in the attack.
MDLADLA, Sokesimbane (44), an IFP supporter, was
shot dead in KwaMthethwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 15 March 1994, in political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters during the run-up to the APRIL
1994 ELECTIONS.

MDLADLA, Stobi Constance (64), an IFP supporter,
had her home burnt down in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban in March 1994 in political conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area during
the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MDLADLA, Timothy Roy , an ANC supporter, had his
two houses in NDWEDWE, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down by IFP supporters in February 1991.

MDLADLA, Vincent Senti (21), was beaten by SADF
soldiers and died from his injuries two weeks later, on
6 December 1990, in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban. Mr Mdladla’s father often gave sanctuary to
ANC refugees.

MDLADLA, Zibuyile Kinini (21), an ANC supporter,
was abducted by unidentified persons from Dambuza,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 14 March 1990,
and was found dead in Plessislaer, near Pietermaritz-
burg, during intense political conflict following the
UNBANNING of political organisations in February 1990.
IMDLALA, Linda , an ANC supporter, was stabbed to
death by unidentified persons in Chesterville, Durban on
1 January 1989 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MDLALO, Makhosi , was axed and burnt to death by
WITDOEKE vigilantes in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 12 June
1986, during the mass destruction of UDF-supporting
squatter camps by the vigilantes, acting with the tacit
approval and aid of the security forces. Over 60 people
were killed and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.
MDLALOSE, (first name not given), was shot dead by
members of the IFP-aligned KHETISI KHESWA gang in
Sebokeng, Tvl, on 12 January 1991 at a night vigil for
an ANCYL member killed by the gang. Gang members
fired and threw hand grenades at mourners, killing a
number and injuring several others. Police arrived on
the scene but provided no protection, ignoring both
the attackers and the injured. See NANGALEMBE NIGHT
VIGIL MASSACRE.

MDLALOSE, Africa , was beaten to death by IFP
supporters in Madundube, Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 25 April 1992 in ongoing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MDLALOSE, Amos Mbongiseni (27), a UDF supporter,
had his home burnt down by Inkatha supporters in
Magonggo, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, in
June 1989 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MDLALOSE, Anna , was shot and killed when a large
group of ANC self-defence unit (SDU) members
stormed her home and opened fire on its occupants in
Tokoza, Tvl, during 1993. The family was believed to
be supportive of the IFP. Another person was killed in
the attack. One SDU member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0243).
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MDLALOSE, Bheki (32), had his home in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in 1993 in
political conflict between the ‘RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.
MDLALOSE, Butana Wilmoth (54), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured, allegedly by IFP supporters, while
waiting for a bus to take him to work in Vosloorus, Tvl,
on 20 September 1992.

MDLALOSE, Caro (23), an ANC member, was shot
dead in a revenge attack by a former councillor and
member of the MuNiciPAL PoLIcE in Daveyton, Tvl, on
11 June 1991.

IMIDLALOSE, Elliot Bhudiza (28), was severely beaten
by IFP supporters in Mondlo, KwaZulu, near Vryheid,
Natal, in April 1991. The perpetrators allegedly
accused Mr Mdlalose of being an ANC supporter.
MDLALOSE, Ephrem Maswelindoda (21), was
severely beaten and stabbed by IFP supporters in
Mandini, Natal, on 27 April 1994, the first day of the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Mr Mdlalose was wearing an
ANC cap when he was assaulted.

MDLALOSE, Fangithini Petr os, was killed in Mondlo,
KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, on 9 October 1992 in
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MDLALOSE, Fikile Irene (57), an IFP supporter, was
severely beaten and had her home burnt down by IFP
supporters in Mondlo, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal,
on 22 March 1994 after she had joined an IFP march.
ANC supporters, trying to disrupt the march, shot
dead a marcher from Ms Mdlalose's house. Believing
her to be an ANC supporter, IFP marchers then burnt
her home down and attacked her. Police standing
nearby allegedly did nothing to assist her.
MDLALOSE, Frans , a member of the SAP, was killed
when members of MK'’s ‘Dolphin Unit' detonated an
explosive in a car near the Krugersdorp Magistrate’s
court and the adjacent police station, Tvl, on 16 March
1988. Three people were killed and more than 20
were injured in the blast. Two MK operatives were
granted amnesty (AC/2001/003).

MDLALOSE, Jabulani (47), the son of a former chief,
had his home in Vryheid, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters and the KwaZuLu PoLice on 28 November
1990. Mr Mdlalose was involved in a land dispute with
the new, government-appointed chief, who was
supported by the IFP.

MDLALOSE, Jabulisile Julia (38), had her home in
Caluza, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, burnt down by
ANC supporters on 7 September 1987, allegedly
because the family was perceived to be associated
with an Inkatha supporter. Ms Mdlalose’s husband
was killed in the attack.

MDLALOSE, Knowledge , disappeared from Durban in
1992. He had been a member of the SRC at the
University of Natal. He has not been seen since.
MDLALOSE, Madoda Simon (29), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP at his home in
Vryheid, Natal, on 19 April 1990. Police were allegedly
looking for his nephew when they shot Mr Mdlalose,
allegedly in self-defence.
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MDLALOSE, Makehlana Simon (27), a local
councillor in Madadeni, KwaZulu, near Newcastle,
Natal, was hacked to death by unidentified persons in
October 1993 in political conflict arising from
resistance to the local council.

MDLALOSE, Mandlenkosi James (41), an Inkatha
supporter, had his home burnt down by UDF
supporters in Molweni, KwaZulu, near Inchanga, Natal,
on 26 December 1986.

MDLALOSE, Mashudu Sidumo , was shot and hacked
to death, allegedly by ANC supporters, in an attack on
Madala, Mshayazafe and Kutuza hostels in Tokoza, Tvl,
on 11 December 1990 during conflict in the area
between ANC and IFP supporters.

MDLALOSE, Mbhasobheni , was shot and burnt to
death in Mondlo, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal, on 25
April 1994 in political conflict during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MDLALOSE, Mfana Patric (28), an ANC supporter,
was abducted, beaten and stabbed to death by IFP
supporters in Mondlo, KwaZulu, near Vryheid, Natal,
on 22 March 1994 in political conflict during the run-up
to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MDLALOSE, Mngobeni , was stabbed to death by IFP
supporters in Magonggo, Table Mountain, near
Pietermaritzburg, in 1991, allegedly because his
nephew, a chief in the area, refused to side with either
party in local political conflicts.

MDLALOSE, Mzoleni Johnson (50), was stabbed and
burnt to death by ANC supporters in Caluza, KwaZulu,
near Pietermaritzburg, on 7 September 1987, allegedly
because the family was perceived to be associated
with an Inkatha supporter. The family home was burnt
down in the attack.

MDLALOSE, Nana Constance (42), had her house
burnt down in Madadeni, KwaZulu, near Newcastle,
Natal, in October 1993. The attack was allegedly
targeted at her son, a local councillor.

MDLALOSE, Ngenzeni Lillian (40), had her house in
Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, attacked
by Inkatha supporters in October 1985 in intensifying
political conflict between UDF and Inkatha supporters.
She was forced to leave the area.

MDLALOSE, Nikeziwe Joyce (36), an IFP supporter, had
her home burnt down by ANC supporters in Macekane,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 10 March 1994. She
had attended an IFP rally in the area shortly beforehand.
MDLALOSE, Robert (67), was abducted and severely
assaulted by IFP supporters in Mondlo, KwaZulu, near
Vryheid, Natal, on 24 April 1994, allegedly because his
late son had been an ANC supporter. He escaped, to
find his home had been burnt down.

MDLALOSE, Sibongile (41), had her house burnt
down by IFP supporters at Ntambanana, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, on 17 January 1994. One
family member was killed in the attack. At least 14
homes were burnt down when IFP supporters
attacked ANC homes in the area.

MDLALOSE, Sikhumbuzo Michael , a bodyguard,
was shot and injured in Magonggo, Table Mountain,
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near Pietermaritzburg, on 29 September 1992, when
ANC members tried to assassinate a local IFP leader
whom he was guarding. The IFP leader and another
bodyguard were also injured. One ANC member was
granted amnesty for the attack (AC/99/0329).
MDLALOSE, Sipho Mzonjani , was killed when IFP
supporters attacked his home at Ntambanana,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 17 January 1994.
The family home was one of at least 14 burnt down
when IFP supporters attacked ANC homes in the area.
MDLALOSE, Thamsanga Blessing (17), an ANC
supporter, disappeared from KwaMashu, Durban, on
28 April 1990 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
He has never been seen again and is presumed dead.
MDLALOSE, Themba Doen (20), a COSAS member,
was tortured by named members of the SAP in
Daveyton and Benoni, Tvl, in June 1985.

MDLALOSE, Tuku, was shot and killed when a large
group of ANC self-defence unit (SDU) members
stormed his home and opened fire on its occupants in
Tokoza, Tvl, during 1993. The family was believed to
be supportive of the IFP. Another person was killed in
the attack. One SDU member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0243).

MDLAMBUZ, Thakatshana , was detained for two
years in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND
REVOLT.

MDLAMLA, Bambaliphi , an IKONGO member, was
imprisoned in June 1960 in Lusikisiki, Transkei, for his
involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MDLANGATHI, Mbalekelwa Thomas (61), was shot
dead in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban on 20
December 1991 in ongoing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MDLANGATHI, Thomas Mbalekelwa (61), an IFP
supporter, was shot dead by ANC supporters in Mpuma-
langa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 December 1991.
MDLANGU, Nomfaneleko Nobomvu Julian  (27),
was injured by members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei,
on 7 September 1992 during an ANC protest march to
demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people
were killed and 200 people injured in the event which
became known as the BISHO MASSACRE. Two members
of the former CDF were refused amnesty for the
shooting (AC/2000/122).

MDLANKOMO, Ligwa Graham (aka ‘Zakes’) (26), an
ANC member from KwaZakele, Port Elizabeth, was
shot dead in an attack by SADF Special Forces
operatives on several ANC houses and a block of flats
in Maseru, Lesotho, on 9 December 1982. Thirty
South Africans and 12 citizens of Lesotho were killed
in the midnight attack.

MDLELENI, Kekeni Barnabas (42), an ANC supporter,
lost his home and shop in an arson attack by members
of the ANCYL in Matatiele, Natal, on 30 April 1990. The
perpetrators had earlier called for a boycott of his shop.
MDLETSHE, Balindile (56), had her house near
Empangeni, Natal, burnt down by a named perpetrator
in 1993 in continuing political conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area.
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MDLETSHE, Bibiyana Isaac , was shot dead in Ntuze,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 8 January 1993 in
continuing political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area. His daughter was also killed in
the attack.

MDLETSHE, Bonginkosi Ewart (24), had his house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Ntshidi, KwaZulu,
near Eshowe, Natal, on 1 August 1992 in ongoing
political conflict in the area.

MDLETSHE, Bonginkosi Siphiwe (30), an ANC
supporter, was shot and stabbed to death by IFP
supporters in Stanger, Natal, on 5 February 1994,
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MDLETSHE, Daniel (53), had his home burnt down in
Sowanjane, KwaZulu, near Eshowe, Natal, on 23 April
1994 in political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MDLETSHE, Dennis Zenzele (23), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by a named IFP supporter in
Mabhuyeni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 15
March 1994 in political conflict during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MDLETSHE, Derrick Bhekinkosi (23), was shot dead
by unidentified persons in Ongoye, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 19 March 1993 in ongoing
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area.

MDLETSHE, Dumisani , was abducted from his house
at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, and
taken to a river in Empangeni, where he was stabbed
to death. His mud-covered body was found in the river
on 10 May 1992.

MDLETSHE, Khayelihle (14), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by a named perpetrator in the Empangeni
area, Natal, on 4 August 1993 in continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters.
MDLETSHE, Lindiwe Khunjuliwe (28), had her house
at Enseleni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, burnt
down on 17 June 1990 in intensifying political conflict
between Inkatha and ANC supporters in the area.
MDLETSHE, Lucy Nokusa (56), had her home burnt
down by Inkatha supporters, allegedly assisted by
members of the KwaZuLu PoLicg, in Empangeni, Natal,
on 15 April 1990. Her husband, who was killed in the
incident, had been an Inkatha member but had rejoined
the ANC after its UNBANNING.

MDLETSHE, Makatamane Gideon (60), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by Inkatha supporters,
allegedly assisted by members of the KwaZuLu POLICE,
in Empangeni, Natal, on 15 April 1990. His home was
also burnt down. He had previously been an ANC
member and had been imprisoned on Robben Island.
On his release he had joined the IFP, but rejoined the
ANC after its UNBANNING.

MDLETSHE, Martin Mdoda , was shot and stabbed to
death during political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in Sowanjane, KwaZulu, near Eshowe,
Natal, on 23 March 1994. His home was burnt down
in the same incident.
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MDLETSHE, Mashiywa Mandlenkosi (43), lost his
house in an arson attack at Odondolo, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 11 July 1992 in political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MDLETSHE, Mbuyiseni , an ANC supporter, was
severely beaten by IFP supporters and Security Branch
members in KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu, near Richards
Bay, Natal, on 8 February 1992, allegedly because of
his political activities.

MDLETSHE, Mbuyiseni , an IFP supporter, was stabbed
to death by other IFP supporters in Empangeni, Natal,
on 20 February 1994, allegedly because he was
believed to have sympathies with the ANC.
MDLETSHE, Mduduzi Prince (18), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten by members of the SAP in
KwaMashu, Durban, in June 1980 during school
boycotts in the area.

MDLETSHE, Mirriam Edna (37), had her home in
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by IFP
supporters in March 1993, allegedly because she was
perceived to be an ANC supporter.

MDLETSHE, Nombuyiselo Mabel (57), an ANC
supporter, had her house, near Empangeni, Natal,
burnt down by IFP supporters early in 1992, allegedly
because her sons were ANC supporters.

MDLETSHE, Ntombikayise Doris  (46), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by IFP supporters
in Verulam, Natal, on 26 May 1993.

MDLETSHE, Ntondo (51), an IFP supporter, lost his
home in an arson attack in KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu,
near Richards Bay, Natal, in April 1994 in political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MDLETSHE, Thembekile (51), lost her home in an
arson attack in KwaKhoza, KwaZulu, near Eshowe,
Natal, in November 1993 in continuing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MDLETSHE, Thuleleni Nomvula (7), was shot dead
in Eshowe, Natal, on 8 January 1993 in political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
Her father was also killed in the attack.

MDLETSHE, Vukuthu Florence (40), was shot and
injured in Umlazi, Durban, when members of the SAP
opened fire from a police van on 19 October 1990
during a period of mass action in the area.
MDLETSHE, Zifo (70), was hacked to death by alleged
IFP supporters in Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban,
on 29 March 1992 in ongoing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MDLINZE, Roseline Bongiwe (44), had her home in
Emgolombeni, near Port Shepstone, Natal, burnt down
in 1991, allegedly because her children were ANC
supporters. She was forced to flee the area.

MDLIVA, Tobias Mkhosi , was shot and beaten with
gun butts by members of the SAP in the streets of
Daveyton, Tvl, on 24 March 1991 during March 21
commemorations. A civil action was brought against
the Minister of Law and Order for this attack and a
criminal case was heard.

MDLOLO, Alvina (48), was shot dead by IFP supporters
on 27 October 1992 as she fled her home in Wembezi,
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KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, during continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MDLOLO, Mshiyeni, an IFP supporter, was shot dead
by ANC supporters in Estcourt, Natal, on 1 July 1992.
MDLOPHANE, Bheka Brian (25), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters in Elufafa,
Ixopo, Natal, on 6 June 1990 in intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MDLUDLUWATHA, Kululekile (46), an ANC activist,
was shot in the legs by members of the SAP in
Crossroads, Cape Town, on 8 July 1993, during
conflict sparked by a local leader’s attempt to remove
Crossroads residents from Section 2 by force.
MDLULI, Alfred Mkize (50), was stabbed to death by
Inkatha supporters in his home in Sinathing, KwaZulu,
near Pietermaritzburg, in 1989 in intensifying conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MDLULI, Aubrey Mzwakhe , an ANC supporter, was
shot and stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters at his
home in Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 18 February 1990
in ongoing political conflict following the release of
Nelson Mandela from prison a week earlier.

MDLULI, Aubr ey, an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by members of the SAP in KaNyamazane, KaNgwane,
on 15 June 1986. He was with others at a local sports-
ground, rehearsing freedom songs in preparation for
the tenth anniversary of the 1976 SOWETO UPRISING,
when the Riot Squad arrived to disperse the crowd, and
killed him. Police claimed that they had opened fire
because 500 youths were advancing with petrol bombs.
MDLULI, Barry Qethu (aka ‘Mark Mashaba’)  (20), an
MK member from Ladysmith, Natal, was detained and
tortured by members of ANC security in 1979 in Dar es
Salaam, Tanzania. A number of ANC members were
detained, tortured and killed during a period of anxiety
about infiltration by South African agents following the
SADF bombing of Nova Catengue camp in 1979.
IMIDLULI, Bekingosi W ellington , a policeman, was
burnt to death by ‘comrades’ in Mhluzi, Middelburg,
Tvl, on 22 November 1990. Policemen were often
targeted by political activists because they were seen
as agents of apartheid.

MDLULI, Bongi (5), was burnt to death in an arson
attack on her home in Chesterville, Durban, by named
members of the Chesterville A-TEam on 9 January 1987.
Her mother and baby sister were killed in the same
attack.

MDLULI, Brenda (1), was burnt to death in an arson
attack on her home in Chesterville, Durban, by named
members of the Chesterville A-TEAM on 9 January 1987.
Her mother and sister were killed in the same attack.
MDLULI, Busisiwe Blessed (28), had her home burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MDLULI, Elizabeth Sizane , was shot and injured by
members of the SAP outside the magistrate’s court in
Kabokweni, KaNgwane, in 1986, during the hearing of
a case involving student leaders.

MDLULLI, Elsie (46), had her home in Ntuzuma, near
Durban, burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 18
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February 1990, allegedly because her son was an ANC
supporter.

MDLULLI, Elsie Fikile (40), was stabbed and injured by
six Inkatha supporters in Sinathing, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, in intensifying political conflict between
Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area in 1989. Her
husband was killed in the attack.

MDLULI, Ephraim Tsepo (32), was shot by a named
member of the SAP in Sakhile, near Standerton, Tvl, on
17 November 1990, allegedly for violating curfew laws.
MDLULI, Gabazile (22), an IFP supporter, was shot
and injured in the hip by ANC supporters in Sebokeng,
Tvl, on 12 January 1991 in the aftermath of an attack
on a night vigil for an ANCYL member. See NANGALEMBE
NIGHT VIGIL MASSACRE.

MDLULI, Hambani Question (41), lost his house in
Katlehong, Tvl, in an arson attack, allegedly by IFP
supporters, on 7 June 1993 during political conflict in
the area.

MDLULLI, Joseph , an MK operative, died on 19 March
1976 from injuries sustained during torture in
detention at the Security Branch head office in Fischer
Street, Durban. Mr Mdluli had been detained for
interrogation on suspicion of recruiting youths for
military training outside South Africa. Members of the
Security Branch were charged with culpable homicide.
MDLULLI, Kisslow (24), lost her house in an arson
attack at GENGESHE, Richmond, Natal, in April 1992 in
continuing political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area.

MDLULI, Mar garet (45), an IFP supporter, was burnt
to death by ANC supporters at Enseleni, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, in April 1992.

MDLULI, Marvis Tete (21), had her home damaged in
an arson attack by ‘comrades’ in Mhluzi, Middelburg,
Tvl, on 22 November 1990. Ms Mduli's husband, a
policeman, was killed in the attack. Police officers
were often targeted by political activists as they were
seen as agents of an oppressive State.

MDLULI, Mazwi lan , had his house in Durban
destroyed in an arson attack by members of the
Chesterville A-TEAM during January 1986.

MDLULI, Mhlabunzima Michael (19), was shot dead
by named IFP supporters in Nkanyezini, Table
Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, on 29 August 1992,
allegedly because he refused to attend an IFP self-
defence training camp.

MDLULI, Mnuken, an IFP supporter, was shot dead
when members of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU)
opened fire on IFP supporters on their way to a
meeting at the Tokoza stadium on the East Rand, Tvl,
on 8 September 1991. Sixteen people were killed and
ten injured in the attack. One SDU member was
granted amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/00225). See
TOKOZA ATTACKS.

MDLULI, Mziwakhe Henry (42), was shot and killed
in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 19 April 1993 while driving people
to the funeral of assassinated SACP leader, CHRIS HANI.
Mr Mdluli’s blood-soaked body was found later outside
a hostel with bullet wounds under his arm.
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MDLULI, Nokwazi (26), was burnt to death in an
arson attack on her home in Chesterville, Durban, by
named members of the Chesterville A-Team on 9
January 1987. Her two little daughters were killed in
the same attack.

MDLULI, Nompumelelo , was severely burnt when
her home in Durban was set alight by members of the
Chesterville A-TEam during January 1986.

MDLULI, Nonhlanhla Thandi (24), an IFP supporter,
had her home set alight by ANC supporters at Enseleni,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in April 1992.
MDLULI, Peter, was injured in a hand grenade
explosion at Lulekani, Gazankulu, on 28 March 1986.
Fifteen people died and scores were injured when
members of the SADF threw a hand grenade into a
packed shebeen on Good Friday 1986. See GAZANKULU
HAND GRENADE ATTACK.

MDLULI, Samson , was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MDLULLI, Sboniso , an ANC supporter, was shot and
stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters at his home in
Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 18 February 1990 following
the UNBANNING of political organisations on 2 February.
MDLULLI, Sebongile (6), suffered severe burns to her
face during an arson attack on her house on 7 June
1993 in Katlehong, T, allegedly carried out by IFP
supporters. The attack took place during political
conflict in the area.

MDLULI, Sibonelo (5), was burnt to death when his
family home in Durban was set alight by members of
the Chesterville A-TEam during January 1986.
MDLULLI, Sibusiso Banda , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by named members of the ESIKHAWINI HIT
SQUAD at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
on 20 June 1993. Three other ANC supporters were
shot dead in the attack. Two perpetrators were
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MDLULLI, Sibusiso Frank , was killed by Inkatha
supporters during an attack on a UDF-stronghold at
Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 16 January 1989. One
perpetrator was granted amnesty for the murder
(AC/1999/0334).

MDLULI, Sikhumbuzo Msethenzwa Milton  (26),
was shot dead on a street in Pietermaritzburg on 21
August 1992 during ongoing conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters.

MDLULI, Sikhumbuzo , was shot dead in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 21 August 1992 in ongoing
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MDLULI, Sthabile (2), was burnt to death when her
family home in Durban was set alight by members of
the Chesterville A-TEaM during January 1986.
MDLULI, Sthembiso (26), an IFP supporter,
disappeared from his home at Enseleni, KwaZulu, near

race 404



Empangeni, Natal, following an attack on his family by
ANC supporters in April 1992. He has not been seen
since and is presumed dead.

MDLULI, Themba Phineas (32), was shot dead by
Inkatha supporters on 16 January 1988, while he was
driving a bus in an IFP stronghold in Mafakathini,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, during intensifying
political conflict in the area.

MDLULI, Thulani Elias (21), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, in
1986.

MDODA, Mbuyiselo , was shot in the back by members
of the SAP in Sonwabile, Maclear, Cape, on 6 February
1990. Police fired teargas into the Presbyterian Church
hall to disperse a COSATU meeting, and then opened
fire on the home of a COSATU member, severely
injuring several people.

MDODANA, David Mthuthuzeli (49), a UDF
supporter, was injured in an arson attack by named
AZAPO members during political conflict in Port
Elizabeth on 17 October 1986.

MDOKO, Songezo Elvis Sogie (24), a COSAS activist,
was detained under emergency regulations on 25
August 1985 in Port Elizabeth. He was held for three
months during which he was tortured. Mr Mdoko had
been previously been detained in 1980.

MDOLO, Joel (46), was assaulted in detention in
Dududu, near Port Shepstone, Natal, in January 1961.
When he was released, in May 1961, he was mentally
disabled.

MDOLO, Phillip Mfanalezi (17), a UDF supporter, was
shot and severely injured in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 6 December 1987 in intensifying
political conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters
in the area. Two other UDF supporters were killed in
the same incident.

MDOLOMBA, Ntombizandile , an ANC supporter,
was detained on 15 June 1985 in Port Elizabeth, and
held for three weeks during which she was tortured
and interrogated about the activities of other ANC
activists. She was later charged with public violence.
MDUBA, Sithembiso Sydney , was shot dead in KTC,
Cape Town, on 11 June 1986, during the mass
destruction of UDF-supporting squatter camps by
WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit approval and
aid of the security forces. Over 60 people were killed
and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.

MDUBO, Bazini lvy Magambushe (60), had her home
in Bethany Mission, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
destroyed by IFP supporters on 28 May 1991,
allegedly because her son refused to join the IFP.
MDUBULE, Frank , was injured in a hand grenade
explosion on 25 May 1993 in Kimberley, Cape, during
an ANC protest march to the Bophuthatswana
consulate. Two MK operatives threw a hand grenade
at the building which bounced back into the crowd,
killing one person and injuring 41 others. Two ANC
members were wrongly convicted of the killing. Four
MK operatives and ANC members, two of whom
denied guilt, were refused amnesty (AC/2000/053 and
AC/2000/241).
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MDUDUMA, Amos (37), had his house burnt down
by IFP supporters during political conflict at Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, in April 1992.

MDUDUZA, Mr (first name not given), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured in political conflict between
Inkatha and UDF supporters at Esikhawini, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, during the late 1980s. One
perpetrator was granted amnesty (AC/2000/054).
MDULI, Regina Mawina (21), an ANC supporter, had
her home in GENGESHE, Richmond, Natal, burnt down
by IFP supporters on 16 April 1992.

MDUMO, Thabile Millicent , had her house destroyed
in an arson attack in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban,
during March 1994, in political conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the run-up to the APRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MDUNA, Nomahlubi Prisca (34), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Mandini, Natal, destroyed by named
Inkatha supporters in March 1990.

MDUNA, Thulani Dumisani , was severely injured
when members of the Orde Boerevolk opened fire
with automatic weapons on a passenger bus in
Durban on 9 October 1990. Seven people were killed
and 27 injured in the attack. See PUTCO BUS ATTACK.
Amnesty was granted to two of the three applicants
and refused to the leader of the unit (AC/1997/0053).
MDUNAWA, Gutsi William (40), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured, allegedly by members of the
SAP in Tokoza, Tvl, on 11 July 1990, during a protest
against the demolition of an informal settlement by
the SAP.

MDUNFANA, Sizwe Sylvia (42), had her home
destroyed in an arson attack at Bhambayi, near
KwaMashu, Durban, in ongoing political conflict
between the ‘RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS during 1993.
MDUNGE, Fe Patrick (45), a UDF supporter, was
injured when his family home in Imbali, Pietermaritz-
burg, was petrol-bombed by Inkatha supporters on 9
September 1988 in intensifying political conflict in the
area. Three members of the family, who were UDF
and ANC supporters, died in the attack.

MDUNGE, Malungelo (27), had her house in Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, destroyed by IFP supporters
in February 1993 in continuing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MDUNGE, Mantombi Pauline (58), an ANC supporter,
lost her home in an arson attack by named IFP
supporters in Ngonweni, Inanda, near KwaMashu,
Durban, on 27 January 1993.

MDUNGE, Mar garet (57), lost her home in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, in an arson attack
on 9 June 1990 in political conflict between Inkatha
and ANC supporters in the area.

MDUNGE, Mthandeni Misheck (14), was killed when
his family home in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, was
petrol-bombed by Inkatha supporters on 9 September
1988 in intensifing political conflict in the area. Two
other members of the family, who were ANC and UDF
supporters, died in the attack.

MDUNGE, Musawenkosi Welcome (10), was severely
injured when his family home in Imbali, Pietermaritz-
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burg, was petrol-bombed by Inkatha supporters on 9
September 1988 in intensifying political conflict in the
area. Three members of the family, who were UDF
and ANC supporters, died in the attack.

MDUNGE, Sandile Richard (15), died when his family
home in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, was petrol-bombed
by Inkatha supporters on 9 September 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area. Two other
members of the family, who were ANC and UDF
supporters, died in the attack.

MDUNGE, Thandiwe Verah (43), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead when her house in Imbali, Pietermaritz-
burg, was petrol-bombed by Inkatha supporters on 9
September 1988 in intensifying political conflict in the
area. Two other members of the family died in the attack.
MDUNGE, Thembinkosi Ernest (21), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters in
KwaMagoda, Richmond, Natal, on 29 January 1991.
MDUNGE, Zitusile Thandazile (27), an ANC supporter,
had her house in Empangeni, Natal, destroyed in an
arson attack by IFP supporters in May 1992.
MDUNGW A, Ntombemhlophe Precious (22), had her
home in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, set alight in
1993 in continuing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MDUNGW ANE, Tefa Joseph (54), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten in Dennilton, KwaNdebele, during
conflict over independence in 1986.

MDUNYELWA, Bukubukwana , a PAC supporter, was
shot dead by members of the SAP in Queenstown, Cape,
on 12 December 1962 during a shoot-out between the
police and train passengers, mostly PAC supporters.
MDUNYELWE, Mohlonuphile (29), lost her home in
an arson attack by IFP supporters in Bhambayi, near
KwaMashu, Durban, in August 1993 in intense political
conflict over the launch of an IFP branch in the area.
MDUTSHANE, Nkebe Soswiti  (50), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed and severely injured by named
perpetrators on 8 March 1994 in Flagstaff, Transkei. At
the time, many ANC supporters were apparently
harassed by Chief Mdutshane and his followers.
MDWAYI, Melikhaya (19), was detained and tortured
members of the SAP and ISU in February 1986 in Port
Elizabeth. In detention, he was questioned about UDF
activities.

MDYESHA, Thozama Jennifer (38), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP in Langa, Uitenhage,
Cape, on 21 March 1985 when police opened fire on
mourners marching to a funeral. At least 20 people
were killed and many injured in the shooting. See
LANGA SHOOTINGS.

MDYESHA, Thozamile Edward (27), an ANC
supporter and SAYCO member, was detained under
emergency regulations on 17 July 1986 in Somerset
East, Cape, and held in custody until August 1988.
While in detention, he was tortured.

MDYOGOLO, Mthandazeli Patrick (17), an AZASM
supporter, was shot dead by a named perpetrator on
30 October 1984 during student protests in Grahams-
town, Cape.
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MDYUBA, Boties (42), was severely tortured on 1 July
1963 at the police station in Burgersdorp, Cape, after
he had been accused of being a member of Pogo.
MDZEKE, Mthimkhulu (77), lost his house in arson
attack by UDF supporters during intense public unrest
in DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London, in August 1985. He
was targeted allegedly because he was a COUNCILLOR.
MEDUPE, Itumeleng James Nango (22), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by unidentified attackers in
Welkom, OFS, on 9 May 1992. The killing took place
at a time of heightened political tension and boycotts
in the area.

MEER, Fatima (47), president of the Black WWomen's
Federation, was detained without trial in Durban for
five months in 1976. Other members of her family
were detained at the same time.

MEER, IC, was banned in 1976, allegedly because of
his family’s opposition to apartheid. His wife, son and
son-in-law were detained without trial for five months
in the same year, following the SOWETO UPRISING.
MEER, Rashad, was detained without trial in Durban
for five months in 1976, allegedly because of his
mother’s affiliation to the Black Women's Federation.
MEGALE, Mpho Ellen , a political activist, was
arrested and tortured by named members of the SAP
in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on 9 June 1988.

MEGKWE, Pelo Gabriel , was beaten and injured by
members of the MANDELA UNITED FooTsaLL CLuB
(MUFC) in Diepkloof, Soweto, Johannesburg, during
1988. MUFC members accused Mr Megkwe of having
sexual relations with a priest at the place where he
had sought refuge from the police.

MEHALE, Manke Kwena (47), had her home burnt
down on 2 February 1980 in GaMatlala, Lebowa, by
supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MEHLALA, James Mncedisi , was hacked to death in
New Crossroads, Cape Town, on 19 March 1986,
during clashes between vigilantes known variously as
the ‘Fathers’ or the WITDOEKE, and UDF supporters.
Seven people died in the two-day clash.
MEHLOMAKHULU, Harriet (46), had her home burnt
down by IFP supporters in Swanieville, Krugersdorp,
Tvl, on 12 May 1991. IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers
were retaliating against the explusion of IFP
supporters from the area. About 115 shacks were set
alight, 27 people were killed and 25 vehicles were
burnt. Twelve people were charged with crimes
ranging from murder to arson but were acquitted due
to lack of evidence.

MEINTJIES, David Kaiser (12), was shot by a member
of the SAP in June 1985 in Thembalesizwe, Aberdeen,
Cape. David believes he was targeted because he may
have been spotted in a protest march earlier that day.
MEIRING, A, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
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were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MEIRING, AR, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MEIRING, PW, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MEJANA, Thembile (29), an ANC member, was shot
dead on 10 June 1988 allegedly by UNITA forces
when he was transporting food between ANC camps
in Angola. MK soldiers based in Angola assisted the
FAPLA forces of the ruling MPLA government in its
war against UNITA, which was assisted by the South
African government. 1987-8 saw particularly fierce
fighting, in which a number of MK soldiers were killed
in combat, often in ambushes laid by UNITA.
MEJANE, Thozama Samson (69), an ANC supporter,
was shot by members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on
7 September 1992 during an ANC protest march to
demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people
were killed and 200 people injured in the event which
became known as the BiSHO MASSACRE. Two members
of the former CDF were refused amnesty for the
shooting (AC/2000/122).

MEJE, Dikeni Tshangisa (63), an ANC supporter, was
banished from his home by members of the Transkei
Police and the Transkei Tribal Authorities on 14
November 1983 in Mganduli, Transkei, for furthering
the aims of the ANC.

MEJE, Michael Zalimpi (46), a PAC organiser, had his
home set alight by named ANC members during

political conflict in Steynsburg, Cape, on 13 June 1993.

MELLS, Andre Geor ge (46), a member of the SAP,
suffered injuries on 22 July 1992 when he and 12
other policemen were attacked by ANC self-defence

unit (SDU) members whilst on foot patrol in Khayelitsha,

Cape Town. Six policemen were injured in the
exchange of fire. Two SDU members were granted
amnesty for the incident (AC/1997/0029).

MEKHOE, Ratsebe Jeremiah (25), an ANC supporter,
was detained for three days during May 1971 in
Welkom, OFS. He was tortured under police interro-
gation, and confessed to being a communist. Based
on this confession, he was sentenced on 1 December
1971 to four years on Robben Island.

MEKO, Diki, was shot dead in 1986 in Cookhouse,
Cape during political conflict between members of the
Cookhouse community and the Kakana family. Five
Kanana family members were killed after claims were
made that they were collaborating with the state.
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MEKO, Kgomotso (35), was severely beaten, by
members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Taung,
Bophuthatswana, on 10 December 1992. Ms Meko
and another resident were arrested for resisting Chief
Mangope's rule.

MEKO, Zolani , was shot dead by ANC supporters in
1986 in New Town, Cookhouse, Cape during political
conflict between the Cookhouse community and the
Kakana family. Five Kanana family members were
kiled after claims were made that they were collabo-
rating with the state.

MEKUNU, MP Willies (40), had his house burnt down
by IFP supporters in Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 16 March 1992 in continuing
political conflict in the area.

MELANE, Nkopodi Joyce (14), an ANC supporter,
was severely assaulted in an attack by A-TEAM
members on mourners at a night vigil in Thabong,
Welkom, OFS, on 9 May 1985.

MELANE, Oliver , an IKONGO member, was shot dead
by members of the SAP on 6 June 1960 in Flagstaff,
Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MELANI, Nongxaki Nora (35), lost her home in a petrol
bomb attack in 1986 in New Crossroads, Cape Town,
allegedly because she supported a local rent boycott.
MELAPE, Robert (37), was injured when he was stabbed
and thrown from a moving train by IFP supporters
while travelling from Nancefield to Orlando, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 10 November 1993. Between 1990
and 1993, 572 people died in TRAIN VIOLENCE initiated by
groups opposed to a democratic transition.

MELATO, Alice Dikeledi (38), an ANCWL supporter,
was detained in Bethlehem, OFS on 15 June 1986 and
held at various police stations in the province, allegedly
because she was accused of being a communist. She
was beaten by members of the SAP and kept in
solitary confinement.

MELATO, David Moeti (24), was killed when a hand
grenade was detonated by a named MK operative in
Sebokeng, Tvl, on 27 November 1992. MK and APLA
members had returned from exile and were training
members of the community to defend themselves
against attacks by IFP supporters and the security
forces. The perpetrator threw the hand grenade after
an argument at a stokvel. Six people died and four
others were injured in the explosion.

MELATO, Mahlomola Percy (18), a member of SAYCO,
was severely assaulted by members of the SAP at his
home in Mamafubedu, Petrus Steyn, OFS, on 14 June
1986. He was detained the next day and taken to Petrus
Steyn police station, where he was beaten. Later he
was taken to the Heilbron police station, where he
was again severely assaulted.

MELATO, Percy, was detained and beaten unconscious
by members of the SAP during the state of emergency,
in Bethlehem, OFS, on 1 June 1986. See PoLICE
BRUTALITY.

MELATO, Raymond (22), was detained and tortured
by members of the SAP in Heilbron, OFS, on 15 June
1986. Police had sjambokked him and his friends at
home the day before he was detained. His mother and
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brother were also detained, in different parts of the
province, on 15 June 1986.

MELATO, Tonny, was shot dead by named perpetrators
in Evaton, Tvl, on 27 July 1991 during conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters, and within the ANC in the area.
Mr Melato received threats from a rival faction within
the ANC-aligned civic organisation before his death.
MELESI, Victor Boitumelo , an ANCYL member, was
detained, along with his cousin, by members of the
SAP at Dealesville, OFS, on 25 August 1990, on
suspicion of involvement in an attack on a COUNCILLOR'S
home. The cousins were made to lie on the ground
and were shot at by the police members. His cousin
was wounded in the shooting.

MELLO, MS, was injured when a car bomb exploded
outside the Johannesburg Magistrate’s court on 20
May 1987. Four policemen were killed in the explosion,
which took place after a decoy smaller bomb had lured
them to the scene. Two other people were injured.
Three MK operatives were granted amnesty
(AC/1998/0067).

MELLO, Ntombi Merriam (65), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Mamelodi, Pretoria, on a protest
march against high rentals on 21 November 1985.
MELUBA, Edward , was killed when the vehicle in
which he was travelling detonated a landmine in
Messina, Tvl, on 26 November 1985. The driver of the
vehicle was also injured in what was part of an ANC
LANDMINE CAMPAIGN aimed at military patrols in the rural
border areas. Three MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/093).

MELWANE, Borolo Godfrey (27), the chairperson of a
local PAC branch, was detained in Cape Town in March
1963. He was charged with furthering the aims of a
banned organisation and was sentenced to three
years’ imprisonment on Robben Island, where he was
frequently beaten by prison warders.

MEMA, Alfred Wilson Jabu , was shot and killed in
Tembisa, Tvl, on 4 September 1992 during conflict
between ANC-supporting residents and IFP-supporting
Vusumuzi hostel-dwellers.

MEMA, Mzamo (47), an ANC member, was severely
assaulted by members of the CDF during conflict
between ANC and ADM supporters at KwaMasele, near
King William’s Town, Cape, on 27 December 1991.
MEMANI, Caroline Nanziwe Mambathane , an ANC
supporter, experienced severe harassment by police
after her son was shot dead in Guguletu, Cape Town,
on 10 September 1980, during school and bus
boycotts. Her home was raided and children arrested,
the funeral was placed under restriction orders that
she defied, and their home was tear-gassed after the
funeral on 20 September 1980.

MEMANI, Lennox Themba Kokinana (18), was shot
dead when Riot Police, hidden in a bus, fired birdshot
at a group of youths during a bus boycott in Guguletu,
Cape, on 10 September 1980.

MEMANI, Mzenz Griffiths (39), was shot and injured
by a SpeciaL ConsTABLE in Plettenberg Bay, Cape, during
1989.
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MEMANI, Peggy Nontuthuzelo Suzie (16), an AZAPO
supporter, was assaulted with batons by members of
the SAP in Queenstown, Cape, in 1985, when police
disrupted an AZAPO gathering. In June 1985 she was
also assaulted with a blunt instrument by UDF
supporters in Port Alfred, Cape.

MEMANI, Sebenzile Oliver (42), had his house
destroyed in an arson attack in Crossroads, Cape
Town, in April 1983. His house was again destroyed by
WITDOEKE vigilantes in KTC, Cape Town, in 1986, during
the mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter camps.
MEMANI, Toti James (67), was injured in a shooting
by members of the Ciskei Police in August 1983 in
Mdantsane, Ciskei, while on his way to catch a train
during the MDANTSANEBUS BOYCOTT.

MEMANI, Zenzile William (34), was severely beaten
by members of the SAP who arrested him in
September 1978 for resisting forced removal from
Crossroads, Cape Town. In 1983 he lost his home in
an arson attack in Crossroads.

MEMELA, Bernar d Jabulani (26), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters in Murchison, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, in August 1993.

MEMELA, Bhekani Nelson (21), an ANC supporter,
was killed by a named IFP supporter in Murchison,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 24 December 1991.
MEMELA, Caselinah Situkulu (50), had her house at
KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, burnt
down on 27 March 1990 in intense political conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters following the
UNBANNING of political organisations in February.
MEMELA, Christophora (68), a UDF supporter, lost
her house at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
an arson attack by Inkatha supporters on 29 November
1988 in intense poalitical conflict in the area.

MEMELA, Daniel Mthungathi , was severely beaten
by members of the SAP while in detention in 1965 in
Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MEMELA, Helen Lindiwe (25), was severely injured
when members of the Orde Boerevolk opened fire
with automatic weapons on a passenger bus in
Durban on 9 October 1990. Seven people were killed
and 27 injured in the attack. See PUTCO BUS ATTACK.
Amnesty was granted to two of the three applicants
and refused to the leader of the unit (AC/1997/0053).
MEMELA, Lucy Nomajamane , a UDF supporter, was
shot and killed on 6 April 1990 when a group of Inkatha
supporters attacked UDF supporters and residents at
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in spite of a heavy
police and military presence. Fourteen people were
kiled and at least 120 homes burnt down. One former
IFP member was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
MEMELA, Madoti (65), an ANC supporter, was shot
and killed by IFP supporters in KwaMagoda,
Richmond, Natal, on 28 January 1991.

MEMELA, Mkwe , an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by members of the SAP at Umgababa, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 4 May 1992 during political conflict in the
area. Police allegedly sided with IFP supporters in the
conflict.
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MEMELA, Nomathemba Maria (36), had her house
at Madakane, Port Shepstone, Natal, burnt down by
ANC supporters on 5 February 1994 in political violence
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MEMELA, Ntombikayise Sylvia (18), an ANC
supporter, had her house in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down in fighting between ANC supporters
and IFP supporters, allegedly supported by members
of the ISU, in June 1993. More than 300 people died
violently in Bhambayi during 1993. Hundreds of homes
were burnt down.

MEMELA, Simo , was shot dead by Special Constables
in Durban on 30 April 1987 during intensifying conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters.

MEMELA, Thabani Patrick (22), was shot dead in
Umlazi, Durban, on 19 June 1992, in ongoing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MEMELA, Thabani , was one of four MK operatives
shot dead by members of the Port Natal Security
Branch during a high-speed car chase on Quarry Road,
Durban, on 7 September 1986. Three Port Natal
Security Branch operatives were granted amnesty.
They further confessed to planting weapons on the
deceased (AC/2000/135).

MEMELA, Thandi (42), was harassed by Security Police
in Chesterville, Durban, from 1981 onwards because her
son was a COSAS member. He left for exile in 1983,
but harassment continued, culminating in her house
being set on fire in 1985, allegedly by the police. When
her son and other members of his unit were shot dead
by police in September 1986, Ms Memela was not
allowed to see his body.

MEMELA, Thandi Emestina (51), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house burnt down in violent conflict between
ANC and Inkatha supporters on 11 February 1990. See
RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MEMELA, Thembisile Goodness (29), an ANC supporter,
had his house burnt down allegedly by members of
the KwaZuLu PoLice and IFP supporters at Chimora,
Umlazi, Durban, in March 1991. An IFP supporter was
shot dead by an ANC member during this incident.
MEMELA, Vusumuz Lawrence (39), a UDF supporter,
was stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters and
members of the KwaZuLu PoLice at Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 29 November 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MEMELA, Wilson Bambezakhe (45), was shot dead
by ANC supporters in Bhoboyi, Port Shepstone, Natal,
on 20 April 1994 in intense political conflict during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Mr Memela was
allegedly mistaken for an IFP supporter.

MEMELA, Zodwa Constance (29), an ANC supporter,
had her home in KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by
IFP supporters on 15 January 1991.

MEMELA, Zowakhe Mdunyiswa (34), was shot dead
by ANC supporters in Polela, Bulwer, Natal, on 17 May
1993 in continuing political conflict in the area. Two of
his friends were killed in the same incident.

MEMEZA, George Siphiwe (22), was one of 18
people injured in a limpet mine explosion at a bus stop
near the Checkers shopping complex in Silverton, Tvl,
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on 4 July 1986. Four MK operatives were granted
amnesty for the attack (AC/1999/0257).

MEMEZA, Zwelidanile Jackson , was shot and injured
by members of the SAP at Unathi, Crossroads, Cape
Town, on 16 June 1993, during protests in the area.
Residents of Crossroads had gathered so that they could
attend a march in KTC when police fired shots at them.
About ten others were shot by police in this incident.
MENATSI, Richard , suffered severe emotional trauma
as a result of an arson attack on Khanya House, the
headquarters of the Southern African Catholic Bishops'
Conference, in Pretoria on 12 October 1988. The victims
were trapped in the burning building for some time
before being rescued. Twelve Viakplaas operatives and
seven other Security Branch Headquarters operatives,
including senior personnel, were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/215).

MENDELE, Nowanathi Patricia (32), an ANC
supporter, was stabbed and injured by IFP supporters
and members of the SAP in Power Park, Soweto, on
27 July 1993. Her shack was also set alight and five
members of the household were killed.

MENDU, Alson Fikile (36), a COSAS member, was
shot and stabbed to death by IFP members in KwaXaba,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 10 April 1994 in the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MENDU, Mbayiyana (60), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by other ANC supporters in Izingolweni,
near Port Shepstone, Natal, on 28 April 1990, allegedly
because she was thougth to be a witchdoctor, at a
time of intense political conflict in the area.

MENDU, Ntombile Mar garet (60), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Mgolombeni, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, burnt down by IFP supporters in September 1993.
MENDU, Xolani Christian (25), an ANC supporter, had
his home in Izingolweni, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
burnt down by other ANC supporters during May
1990. His mother had been killed the previous week.
MENE, Jongile (24), an ANC supporter, was shot dead
by members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7
September 1992 during an ANC protest march to
demand free political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people
were killed and 200 people injured in the event which
became known as the BiSHO MASSACRE. Two members
of the former CDF were refused amnesty for the
shooting (AC/2000/122).

MENE, Julian Lansa , was shot, injured and beaten by
members of the SAP in Knysna, Cape, on 16 March
1986. One person was shot dead and several others
injured in this incident that took place during political
unrest in the town.

MENE, Thembile Reginald (16), a COSAS member,
was shot, severely injured, and then beaten in a ‘Trojan
Horse' type shooting by named members of the SAP
and Railway Police concealed on a railway truck in
Nyanga, Cape Town, on 25 March 1986. Two youths
were shot dead in the incident. See TROJAN HORSE
INCIDENT, CAPE TOWN.

MENGQANE, Lindile (43), an ANC supporter, was
suffocated with a tyre tube by members of the Ciskei
Police on 26 December 1991 in Mdantsane, Ciskei.
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MENGQANE, Mzunani , an ANC member, was severely
beaten by members of the CDF on 26 December 1991
at KwaMasele, near King William's Town, Cape, during
political conflict over the reimposition of the headman
system in the homeland.

MENTILE, Christopher Luvuyo (18), an ANCYL
supporter, was tortured in detention by named members
of the Ciskei Police at Dimbaza police station, Ciskei,
in June 1985.

MENTILE, Daniel Wandile Lennox (15), was shot and
lost his sight when he was caught in crossfire between
rival taxi groups in Khayelitsha, Cape Town, on 14 June
1991. The taxi conflicts in Cape Town acquired a
political dimension due to perceptions of political
affiliation and allegations of police involvement. See
TAXI VIOLENCE.

MENTOOR, Edward Ntsikelelo (31), a SAYCO
member, was tortured in detention by named members
of the Security Branch in Port Elizabeth, on 18 August
1985 during the state of emergency. See POLICE
BRUTALITY.

MENTOOR, Sylvester , an ANC member, was
assaulted and tortured by members of the SAP while
he was in detention at Ugie, Cape, in 1990.
MENTYISI, Tamsanqa Alfr ed, an ANC member, lost
his home in an arson attack in Site C, Khayelitsha, Cape
Town, on 18 February 1992, allegedly by supporters of
the Lingelethu West Town Council, believed to be aided
by the SAP. Several persons died in the attack and
many were left homeless.

MENYATSO, Bullboy Johannes (21), was shot and
injured by a member of the SAP in Parys, OFS, on 21
June 1985, as he was returning from a mass funeral
of people allegedly killed by the police.

MENYATSO, Kenneth , was one of a group of boys
abducted by MANDELA UNITED FooTBALL CLUB members
from the Methodist manse in Orlando, Soweto, on 29
December 1988 and taken to Ms Madikizela-Mandela's
house in Diepkloof, Soweto, during a period of intense
political conflict. The youths were accused of being
sexually involved with the Methodist priest and of
being police informers. They were severely beaten
and assaulted by named perpetrators, allegedly in the
presence of Ms Madikizela-Mandela.

MENZE, Kenose Andrew (24), an ANCYL member,
had his home burnt down by members of the THREE
MILLION GANG in Troubou, Kroonstad, OFS, on 2
January 1990, allegedly because he had refused to join
the gang. On 6 July 1991, Mr Menze was stripped,
assaulted and tortured by members of the SAP and
the Security Branch in Kroonstad, OFS. He had
refused to act as an informer for the police.

MENZE, Makhezwane , was detained by members of
the SAP for allegedly killing a white person in Addo,
Cape, and was sentenced to death at the New Law
courts, Port Elizabeth, on 8 January 1987. He was
hanged in Pretoria on 20 April 1989.

MENZE, Mkhululi Headman (17), was detained under
emergency regulations on 15 September 1986 in
Alicedale, Cape. On arrest he was assaulted by a
named member of the SAP. He was held for a week

VOLUME 7 Victim findings: Summaries

and then transferred to Grahamstown police station
where he was detained for nine months before being
released on 21 May 1987.

MENZE, Zukile Mopedi (23), was detained and
tortured by named members of the SAP on 2
September 1986 at Louis le Grange Square police
station in Port Elizabeth, reportedly because his
brother was a political activist.

MENZ, Edward Gugwana (52), a UDF activist, was
stabbed in his shop by named AZAPO supporters
during political conflict in Cookhouse, Cape, on 26
February 1986. His wife was killed in the attack.
MENZI, Nokhaya Mina (50), a UDF supporter, was
stabbed to death in her shop by named AZAPO
supporters during political conflict in Cookhouse, Cape,
on 26 February 1986.

MENZI, Osmen (32), was detained in Pearston, Cape,
in April 1986 during a stayaway. He was held for three
years during which he was interrogated and tortured.
He had also been detained and tortured in 1985.
MENZIWA, Gwebinkundla , was shot dead by members
of the SAP and CDF during intense public unrest in
DUNCAN VILLAGE, East London, on 3 September 1985.
MEQABUDI, M, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MERAE, Baile Piet Bizza (20), vice-president of the
local youth congress, was severely assaulted by a
local cOUNCILLOR and his family in Dealesville, OFS, on
19 August 1990. Mr Merae played a prominent role in
the organisation of a consumer boycott targeting
businesses owned by local councillors.

MESHEKI, Nono (43), was shot and injured by members
of the SAP and IFP supporters in KwaThema, Tvl, on 19
August 1990 during clashes between IFP-supporting
hostel-dwellers and ANC-supporting residents. The
police were often perceived as supporting the IFP.
MESO, Ngoako Joseph (31), a NUMSA member, was
arrested by members of the security forces at his home
in Sebokeng, Tvl, during November 1987. He was
blindfolded, put in a sack and taken to the Vaal River
where he was severely beaten with rifle butts. He
underwent an ear operation as a result of his injuries.
METELE, Alfred Toto (56), an ANC supporter, sustained
injuries when his house was bombed by members of
the Ciskei Police in Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 2 February
1990, during conflict coinciding with the UNBANNING of
political organisations. His wife was also injured during
the attack.

METELE, Florida Thembeka (47), an ANC supporter,
sustained severe burn injuries when her house was
petrol-bombed by members of the Ciskei Police in
Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 2 February 1990.

METHULA, Jan (19), was arrested and charged for
burning a post office vehicle in Mhluzi, Middelburg,
Tvl, during September 1986. He was severely beaten
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by members of the SAP and forced to sign a self-
incriminating confession. In February 1987 he was
sentenced to two years and six months in prison.
METHULE, Mfanasibili Jack , an MK operative, was
shot dead by two named members of the SAP in
Komatipoort, Tvl, on 19 January 1994. Mr Methule was
severely sjambokked by police in 1993 after returning
from exile because he was suspected of owning an
illegal weapon. They returned to his house to warn his
grandmother that they were going to kill Mr Methule
and then proceeded to a taxi rank where he was found
and shot twice. He died in hospital a few hours later.
METLAE, Moses (52), had his house petrol-bombed
by members of the Bophuthatswana Police in Ga-
Rankuwa, Bophuthatswana, in October 1986 during
political conflict in the area.

METROMICH, Ivon , was shot and injured when APLA
operatives threw hand grenades at and opened fire on
the congregation of St James' Church, Kenilworth, Cape
Town, on 25 July 1993. Eleven people were killed and
58 wounded in the attack. See APLA ATTACKS. Three of
four APLA members were granted amnesty for the
attack. The fourth had his application struck off the roll
for failing to attend the amnesty hearing (AC/1998/0018).
METROWICH, June Janetta (32), a trade union activist,
was detained in Observatory, Cape Town under
emergency regulations, on 25 October 1985. On 17
November she was taken to Caledon Square police
station and tortured for 12 hours by named Security
Branch members, after which she was hospitalised.
She thereafter successfully applied for a court interdict
against the perpetrators. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
METSHE, Patrick Motsamai (14), was shot and injured
with a rubber bullet by members of the SAP in
Ipelegeng, Schweizer-Reneke, Tvl, in March 1990.
Police thought Patrick was part of a group of stone-
throwing youths during political conflict. He was
bundled into a police vehicle where police kicked him
on the head and burnt his ears with cigarettes. He
was later convicted of malicious damage to property
and sentenced to three strokes with a cane.
METSING, Thabo Abraham (21), a UDF supporter,
was shot and severely injured by a named SPECIAL
CoNSTABLE in Beaufort West, Cape, on 3 December
1988. The constable was killed later that day.
METSWEMERE, Sello Jacob (46), was severely beaten
by members of the SAP in Khutsong, Carletonville, T,
in July 1986 at a night vigil. Political gatherings were
prohibited during the state of emergency imposed in
June 1986. Members of the SAP and SADF surrounded
the tent, then entered and beat people severely.
MEYER, Adriana Johanna Christina  (40), was killed
when MK operatives detonated an explosive in a car
outside the South African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters
in Church Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-
one people were killed and 217 injured. The overall
commander of MK's Special Operations Unit and two
MK operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MEYER, Clement, was one of ten students arrested
after a political rally in Athlone, Cape Town, on 17
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September 1985. He was then severely beaten by
named and other members of the SAP at the
Brackenfell police station.

MEVYER, JAC, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MEYER, Johannes , a member of the SAP, was shot
and injured when the vehicle he was driving was
attacked by two APLA members in Guguletu, Cape
Town, on 12 January 1993. See APLA ATtTACKS. One
APLA member was granted amnesty (AC/1998/0103).
MEVYER, Leon Lionel (aka ‘Joe’ or ‘Juluka’)  (25), an
MK operative from East London, was shot dead by
Vlakplaas operatives during a raid on two houses in
Maseru, Lesotho, on 19 December 1985. His wife was
one of eight other people killed in the raid, but their
infant daughter Phoenix survived. Seven operatives,
including the deputy commander of Security Branch
Headquarters, the commander of the section which
oversaw the work of Vliakplaas and the commander of
Vlakplaas, applied for amnesty for the operation. All
except the commander of Security Branch Headquarters
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/231 and AC/2001/279).
MEYER, Susarah Isabella , was injured when a limpet
mine exploded on a municipal bus in Gardiner Street,
Durban, on 30 November 1993. The explosive was
being conveyed by APLA operatives to an intended
target. When it accidentally exploded, 12 people were
killed, including one of the operatives. See APLA
ATTACKS. One APLA member and two PASO members
were granted amnesty (AC/1998/0076).

MEYERS, Donne , was shot dead by named APLA
members on 27 August 1993 near Umtata, Transkei. Her
father was also killed in the attack. See APLA ATTACKS.
MEYERS, Michael (49), was shot dead by named APLA
members on 27 August 1993 while delivering milk near
Umtata, Transkei. Mr Meyers' daughter was also killed
in the attack. See APLA atTAcks. On 9 May 1989, Mr
Meyers, then a SARHWU member, had been stabbed
and sjambokked in a confrontation between SARHWU
strikers and non-striking workers at Boksburg station.
MEYI, Johannes Mpiyakhe (23), was shot dead in
August 1993 in Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters
during political conflict in the area.

MEYIWA, Bahlakaniphile (56), had her home in
Njobokazi, Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down by ANC supporters on 18 March 1990, in
continuing political conflict in the area.

MEYIWA, Bezile (64), an ANC supporter, had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in 1992.

MEYIWA, Bhekisizwe Million (38), a founder member
of the local ANC branch, was stabbed to death by IFP
supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 18 January 1994 during political conflict in
the area.
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MEYIWA, Constance Zethu (60), had her home petrol-
bombed by IFP-aligned hostel-dwellers in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 21 June 1992 in ongoing political conflict in
the area.

MEYIWA, Dumangeze , was shot dead at Njobokazi,
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in an attack by
alleged UDF supporters on 18 March 1990. See
NJOBOKAZI ATTACK.

MEYIWA, Fortune Frank Sipho Sandile , was stabbed,
shot and killed by Inkatha supporters during intense
political violence in Woodyglen, Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 11 February 1990, the same day
Nelson Mandela was released from prison. Ten people
were killed in the fighting which lasted for a week.
See MPUMALANGA ATTACKS. A former IFP member was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MEYIWA, Khombiseni Ntombikayise (30), an ANC
supporter, had her house destroyed in an arson attack
by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON
ATTACKS.

MEYIWA, Limephi Ntombini (30), an Inkatha supporter,
had her home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
destroyed in an arson attack by ANC supporters on 18
March 1990.

MEYIWA, Mphiwa (62), an Inkatha supporter, had his
home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, set alight
by UDF supporters in February 1990 during intense
political conflict in the area following the UNBANNING of
political organisations on 2 February.

MEYIWA, Mzokhethwayo Mcindezelwa (37), an
Inkatha supporter, was killed at Njobokazi, Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in an attack by alleged UDF
supporters on 18 March 1990. See NJOBOKAZI ATTACK.
MEYIWA, Soleni (29), an ANC supporter, had his
home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MEYIWA, Zakhona S (26), lost her home when she
was forced to flee from Njobokazi, Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 March 1990, after her
husband had been killed in a petrol bomb attack on an
Inkatha induna's house. See NJOBOKAZI ATTACK.
MEYJES, Hettie , was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MEYJES, Mar tin, was injured when MK operatives
detonated an explosive in a car outside the South
African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK's Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MFABANA, Nozipho Mabel (35), an ANC activist,
was injured in a shooting by members of the SAP in
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1977 during a confrontation between residents and
police in Cradock, Cape. Ms Mfabana and several
others were then detained and assaulted.

MFACO, Nondumiso Dorothy (53), a UDF supporter
and women's activist, was detained at Pollsmoor
prison, Cape Town, in October 1985. She was again
detained in January 1987 under emergency regulations
and was held for six months, three months of which
were in solitary confinement at the Ravensmead
police station. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MFANEKISO, Ashwell Siluva (33), an ANC supporter,
was detained for a month in 1960 at Endlovini in Bizana,
Transkei, for his involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MFAXA, Mputaza , was severely beaten by members
of the SAP in April 1985 in Stutterheim, Cape.
MFAYELA, Thembinkosi Christopher , was one of six
passengers shot dead when members of an ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) attacked a bus at Umkomaas, near
Durban, on 27 April 1992. Eight other passengers
were injured. Three ANC SDU members were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/088). See UMKOMAAS BUS ATTACK.
MFAZWE, Diliza Mayford (57), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten in detention in Uitenhage, Cape,
on 1 July 1985 during the state of emergency. See
POLICE BRUTALITY.

MFAZWE, Mkhonto Kingsworth  (18), a UDF
supporter, was detained and severely tortured while
under interrogation by named Security Policemen in
Noupoort, Cape, in August 1985. On 19 June 1986 he
was detained under emergency regulations and held in
solitary confinement for three months in Richmond,
Cape. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MFAZWE, Thamsanqga Meshack (30), a union
shopsteward, was severely assaulted, then detained
and tortured in Botshabelo, near Bloemfontein, on 29
September 1986, on suspicion of belonging to the
ANC. The incident occurred during a five-day strike. Mr
Mfazwe was detained and assaulted on four other
occasions between 1987 and 1990, allegedly because
of his political activities.

MFAZWE, Toto Alex , a UDF supporter, died in police
custody on 6 July 1986 in Queenstown, Cape, allegedly
by hanging himself in his cell. Mr Mfazwe had been
arrested on the street on 5 July 1986 and appeared to
have been severely beaten in detention.

MFECANE, Fumanekile W ycliff (18), an ANC
supporter, was shot with pellets by members of the
SAP on 11 June 1986 in Grahamstown, Cape, then
detained without trial for 11 months.

MFECANE, Sebenzile (32), was shot dead by members
of the SADF in Soweto, Port Elizabeth, on 22 June
1985. The shooting took place when soldiers opened
fire during fighting between UDF and AZAPO
supporters in the area.

MFEKA, Bonisile Dorothy (32), an ANC supporter,
had her home burnt down by a named IFP supporter
in Malukazi, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, on 11
February 1991.

MFEKA, Busisiwe Constance (56), an IFP supporter, was
severely hacked and beaten by named IFP supporters
at her home in Nyandezulu, near Port Shepstone, Natal,
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on 8 March 1991. Her attackers were allegedly looking
for her son because he refused to join an IFP-aligned
union. Her grandson was killed; she lost five fingers, and
other family members were also injured. The
perpetrators were sentenced to 15 years’ imprisonment.
MFEKA, Dasi Ger trude (53), had her home burnt down
by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON
ATTACKS.

MFEKA, Gladys Kathazile , was shot dead in
Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 26 July
1992 in continuing political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MFEKA, Gugwelihe Cynthia ‘Gugu’ (22), had her
family home burnt down during ongoing conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters at Sinathing, KwaZulu,
near Pietermaritzburg, at in 1992. Her brother had
disappeared during political conflict in 1988.

MFEKA, Hlalawazi Alois (39), had his house in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down on 16 March 1994 in political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the isolated ANC stronghold.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MFEKA, Khombisili Annah  (37), had her house burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MFEKA, Londiwe Audrey (27), had her house in
Amaoti, Inanda, near Durban, burnt down by ANC
supporters in May 1988, on the day of her husband'’s
funeral. Her husband had been killed in the course of
political conflict in the area.

MFEKA, Mxolisi Jethro , was stabbed to death in
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, by ANC supporters
on 9 May 1990. His attackers assumed him to be an
IFP supporter, because he went to school in an
Inkatha-dominated area of Ndwedwe.

MFEKA, Nonhlanhla Goodness (26), was severely
injured when a named perpetrator attacked her and
her daughter, aged four, in their home in Mandini,
Natal, on 16 April 1994 in intense political conflict
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Ms
Mfeka's husband was reportedly believed to be an
ANC supporter.

MFEKA, Ntombi Yemali (53), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MFEKA, Simphiwe Aubrey (21), an ANC supporter,
was arrested at his place of work, the Pietermaritzburg
New Prison, in 1981, and assaulted by five Security
Branch policemen for possessing banned ANC
pamphlets.

MFEKA, Siyabonga Innocent (21), an ANC supporter,
was hacked and shot dead by a crowd of about 200
IFP members returning from a rally in Woodford,
Bergville, Natal, on 16 December 1993. Two ANC
members were killed and at least two others injured.
MFEKA, Tembekile Kobozi (58), an IFP supporter,
had her home in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, burnt down on 16 March 1994 in political
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conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the isolated
ANC stronghold. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MFEKA, Tembeni (67), had her house burnt down by
IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 20 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MFEKA, Thandekile (28), had her home burnt down
in Ndabayakhe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in
February 1994 in political conflict during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MFEKA, Thikabonwa (80), had his home burnt down
by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON
ATTACKS.

MFEKA, Thobekile Mar gar et (45), had her home in
Nhlalakahle, Greytown, Natal, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters in 1988, allegedly because she was
perceived to have sympathies with the UDF.

MFEKA, Zandilie Precious (16), an ANC supporter, was
abducted, raped and shot dead by named IFP supporters
in Gamkulu, Stanger, Natal, on 13 March 1993.
MFEKA, Zintombi Phumzile (64), had her house in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by
IFP supporters on 10 March 1993 in intense political
conflict in the area. At least 18 people were killed in
political violence in Bhambayi in March 1993. Seventy-
five homes were burnt down.

MFEKE, Nomzi Ngxasheka (46), an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten by members of the CDF in
September 1992 at King William’s Town, Cape. The
perpetrators assaulted members of the Mfeke family
when they could not find Ms Mfeke’s son, an ANC
activist.

MFEKE, Nowandile , an ANC supporter, was severely
beaten by members of the CDF in September 1992 at
King William's Town, Cape. The perpetrators assaulted
members of the Mfeke family when they could not
find her brother, an ANC activist.

MFEKE, Vuyiswa (25), an ANC supporter, was severely
beaten by members of the CDF in September 1992 at
King William'’s Town, Cape. The perpetrators assaulted
members of the Mfeke family when they could not
find her brother, an ANC activist.

MFEKETHO, Isaac Dumile (17), was severely beaten
by members of the SAP after he was detained in March
and in June 1986 in Khuma, Stilfontein, Tvl, under
different States of emergency. He was suspected of
being an instigator of a local school boycott and held in
a police cell.

MFEKETHO, Molliat Mziwoxolo , an MK operative, was
severely assaulted and tortured in Zeerust by members
of the Security Police and Bophuthatswana Police, after
being arrested on 26 February 1988 between Botswana
and Bophuthatswana. He was held for several months
under SECTION 29 before being charged, convicted and
sentenced to a prison term.

MFENE, Thulisile Cynthia (35), an ANC supporter,
had her home in Umlazi, Durban, burnt down by IFP
supporters in October 1992.

MFENE, Zakhele Mlungisi Edward (22), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead on 12 June 1990, when
members of the SADF opened fire on protesters in
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Umlazi, Durban. Eight people died in political conflict in
the area that day.

MFENGU, Titimani Frank (33), was arrested and in
1962 was sentenced to seven years’ imprisonment in
Cape Town for his involvement in PAC activities. He
served his sentence at various prisons, including
Robben Island. After his release, he was banished to
Cofimvaba, Transkei, until 1974.

MFENQE, Monde Ben (24), was shot dead by
members of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7 September
1992 during an ANC protest march to demand free
political activity in Ciskei. Thirty people were killed and
200 people injured in the event which became known
as the BISHO MASSACRE. Two members of the former
CDF were refused amnesty for the shooting
(AC/2000/122).

MFENYANA, Ntombi Johanna (30), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured on 24 October 1976 by members
of the SAP in Soweto, Tvl, in the aftermath of the
SOWETO UPRISING. She was later detained in solitary
confinement in Jabulani, Soweto, Johannesburg, from
13 October 1978.

MFENYANE, Zacharia Zwelakhe , was stabbed to
death in Vosloorus, Tvl, on 11 September 1990 during
intense political conflict in the area.

MFETE, Mametja Selina (54), was severely injured
when AWB members detonated a car bomb in Bree
Street, Johannesburg, on 24 April 1994, in an effort to
disrupt the electoral process. Seven people were killed
and 13 injured in the blast. Two perpetrators were
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0342). See RIGHT-WING
ATTACKS.

MFETI, Phindile (31), a union activist, was detained in
Johannesburg, on 17 May 1976 and transferred from
prison to prison until his release on 17 May 1977. Mr
Mfeti disappeared on 25 April 1987 and has not been
seen since.

MFETWA, Mtukuzeni (65), had his house burnt down
by IFP supporters in in Mabhuyeni, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 15 March 1994 in political
conflict during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MFIGWANA, Bambaliphi (39), had his home in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
1993 in intense political conflict between the ‘RED’ AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MFINGW ANA, Maju Ellias (33), had his home in
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, destroyed in an
arson attack in February 1993, and was stabbed and
injured by IFP supporters in March 1993, in continuing
political conflict in the area.

MFO, Mcebisi (33), an ANC supporter, was detained
and tortured by members of the Transkei Police in
February 1987 in Butterworth, Transkei, during the
state of emergency. In January 1989, Mr Mfo was
arrested on charges of supporting a banned organisation.
MFOBO, Makhwenkwe Goduka (21), an MK
operative from Langa, Cape Town, was shot dead in an
attack by SADF Special Forces operatives on several
ANC houses and a block of flats in Maseru, Lesotho,
on 9 December 1982. Thirty South Africans and 12
citizens of Lesotho were killed in the midnight attack.
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MFOLOZI, Zoleka (30), had her home in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in 1993 in
intense political conflict between the ‘RED’ AND 'GREEN’
FACTIONS.

MFONO, Masibonge Kenneth (17), a scholar, was
shot by a named member of the SAP on 21 January
1987 in Komga, Cape, when police opened fire on a
toyi-toying crowd. Mr Mfono was confined to a
wheelchair until his death three years later at Frere
hospital, East London.

MFUDI, Jeremiah, a COSAS member, was one of 10
youths from Mamelodi, Pretoria, recruited in June
1986 by a named askari, ostensibly for military training
in Botswana. All 10 youths were killed when their
vehicle was deliberately crashed and exploded near
Nietverdiend by members of the Security Branch and
SADF Special Forces. See NIETVERDIEND AMBUSH.
MFUKENI, Tokozani Elfrieda (53), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16
March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MFUKO, Msoso Daniel (25), was shot by members
of the CDF in Bisho, Ciskei, on 7 September 1992
during an ANC protest march to demand free political
activity in Ciskei. Thirty people were killed and 200
people injured in the event which became known as
the BISHO MASSACRE. Two members of the former CDF
were refused amnesty for the shooting (AC/2000/122).
MFUKU, Clarence (15), was detained for several weeks
and teargas was thrown into his cell in Oudtshoorn,
Cape, during 1985.

MFULENI, Vuyisile Bethwell Boy (21), was injured in
a shooting by members of the SAP in Cradock, Cape,
on 27 May 1993. There had been a protest march of
teachers and scholars earlier that day.

MFUNDISI, Bafana Mar tin, was shot and killed by
ANC supporters in Bekkersdal, near Westonaria, Tvl, in
December 1990 during conflict between ANC, AZAPO
and IFP supporters on the West Rand. The IFP buried
Mr Mfudisi despite the fact that after his death all
three organizations claimed him as a member.
MFUNDISI, Mpumelelo Spekire (18), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by a named member of the
SAP on 11 October 1985 in Mzamomhle, Burgersdorp,
Cape.

MFUNTANE, Mhlazwa , an IKONGO member, was shot
by members of the SAP on 6 June 1960 at NGauza HiLL,
near Flagstaff, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MFUNZANA, Mpumelelo Goodman (26), a UDF
supporter, had his home in Inanda, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by Inkatha supporters in August
1989 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MFUTWANA, W ilberfor ce Vuyo (31), a UDF supporter,
was hacked to death by AZAPO members during
political conflict in KwaZakele, Port Elizabeth, on 2 July
1985.

MFUYWA, Mtholeni Msolobhana (32), an ANC
supporter, was arrested and tortured at Mount Frere
police station during the PONDOLAND RevoLT. Mr
Mfuywa was later sentenced to death along with five
others for his alleged involvement in a killing during
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the revolt. The six were executed at Pretoria Central
prison on 18 September 1962.

MFUYWA, Sigwebo , was shot dead by members of
the SAP on 6 June 1960 in Flagstaff, Transkei, during
the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MGABI, Monwabisi Atwell Joseph (22), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by members of the SAP in
Crossroads, Cape Town, on 10 June 1986, during the
mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter camps
by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting with the tacit approval
and aid of the security forces. Over 60 people were
killed and 20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.
MGABI, Sandile Henry (19), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by IFP supporters in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 23 September 1992.

MGADI, Donald (48), an ANC supporter, was shot dead
in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 17 May 1986, during the
mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter camps
near Crossroads by WITDOEKE vigilantes acting with the
support and sanction of the security forces.

MGADI, Dubelani Agnes (65), had her home in
Umkomaas, near Durban, burnt down by IFP supporters
in 1992 in continuing political conflict in the area.
MGADI, Isaac (16), was shot dead by named members
of the local self-defence unit (SDU) in Moleleki Section,
Katlehong, Tvl, on 7 December 1993 during conflict
between members of the local ANCYL and SDU. The
SDU members involved in this incident applied for but
were denied amnesty.

MGADI, Makhelwane , died when an MK operative
detonated a car bomb at Jacobs, Durban, on 12 July
1984. The explosion killed five people and injured 27
others. One MK operative was granted amnesty for
his role in the MK command structures in Swaziland
that facilitated the attack (AC/2001/175).

MGADI, Ms (first name not given), the wife of a senior
MK commander known as ‘Thami Zulu’, suffered
intimidation by Eastern Transvaal Security Branch and
Viakplaas operatives at their home in Mbabane,
Swaziland, during 1988. Ms Mgadi, her ten-month-old
baby and the housekeeper were tied and placed in the
bathroom whilst the house was illegally searched. Ms
Mgadi managed to escape and no one was injured. A
Vlakplaas operative was granted amnesty
(AC/2001/070).

MGADI, Musawenkosi , an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the KwaZuLu PoLIce at KwaMashu,
Durban, on 23 December 1989.

MGADI, Thembisile (28), lost her room in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, in 1993 in intense political
conflict between the 'RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.
MGAGA (JOKAZI), Vuyelwa Debra (29), a FAWU
member, was injured when a hand grenade exploded
in a bus transporting workers in Heidelberg, Tvl, on 28
September 1992, during a labour dispute between
striking COSATU-aligned FAWU workers and non-
striking IFP-aligned UWUSA workers. This caused
violent conflict between July and December 1992.
One person was killed and 13 others were injured in
the attack.
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MGAGA, Abel Sipho , was shot dead by members of
the SAP and SADF soldiers on 22 July 1985 in Tsakane,
near Brakpan, Tvl, after the funeral of a ‘comrade’.
MGAGA, Thamsanga (15), a UDF supporter, died
after being shot by Inkatha supporters in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 30 September 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MGALI, Matenza (23), was seriously injured after
being abducted at gunpoint with his neighbour by IFP-
supporting hostel-dwellers and taken to Kwesine
hostel in Tokoza, Tvl, on 29 March 1991. Mr Matenza
and his neighbour were questioned about the activities
of civic activist Sam Ntuli, who was subsequently
assassinated in September 1991. They were then
burnt, stabbed and repeatedly shot by hostel-dwellers
before being left for dead. Mr Matenza's neighbour did
not survive the incident. See also NTULI FUNERAL.
MGANDELA, Golden , was shot dead in Sebokeng,
Tvl, on 23 May 1991 when |IFP-supporting KwaMadala
hostel-dwellers attacked a beerhall with AK47s during
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
Mr Mgandela and eight others were killed.
MGANDELA, Thulani Christopher (25), had his home
destroyed in an arson attack by a named perpetrator in
ongoing conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 20 March 1993.
At least 18 people were killed in political violence in
Bhambayi in March 1993, and 75 homes were burnt
down.

MGATSHI, Bulelani Sivuyile , was detained and beaten
in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei. Mr Mgatshi was involved
in the NoNQULWANA group who met to discuss problems
regarding the tribal authorities. See PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MGCEKW A, Motsamai Samuel , an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by IFP supporters on 17 June
1992 in the BOIPATONG MASSACRE in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, which left 45 people dead and 27
seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were granted
amnesty; a further three applications were refused
(AC/2000/209).

MGCINA, (first names not given), was attacked and
later burnt to death in Crossroads, Cape Town, on 11
April 1983, during conflict between supporters of two
opposing squatter leaders in the area, Mr
Ngxobongwana and Mr Memani. Seven people died in
the attack.

MGCINA, Benjamin Zilwa (15), a church youth
member, lost an eye after an attack by named members
of the SAP in Evaton, Tvl, on 15 December 1985.
When the church minister inquired why Benjamin was
assaulted he was charged with malicious damage to
property but the case was dropped. Policemen allegedly
mistook Benjamin’s church badge for that of a political
organisation.

MGCINA, J, was severely injured during the BOIPATONG
MASSACRE by IFP supporters in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1992, which left 45
people dead and 27 seriously injured. Thirteen
perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further three
applications were refused (AC/2000/209).
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MGCINA, John Hluphekile (43), a councillor, lost his
house and vehicle in an arson attack by members of
the Vaal Civic Association in Bophelong, Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, on 29 August 1984. Councillors were seen as
legitimate targets because they were not represen-
tative of residents and acted as agents of the state.
MGCINA, Lukhile Joseph , suffered severe ill-treatment
and damage to property during the BOIPATONG MASSACRE
by IFP supporters in Boipatong, near Vanderbijlpark,
Tvl, on 17 June 1992, which left 45 people dead and
27 seriously injured. Thirteen perpetrators were
granted amnesty; a further three applications were
refused (AC/2000/209).

MGCINA, Mpho Julie , was killed during the BoIPATONG
MASSACRE by IFP supporters in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1992, which left 45
people dead and 27 seriously injured. Thirteen
perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further three
applications were refused (AC/2000/209).

MGCINEKA, Ndabezinhle Cyril , was shot dead by
IFP supporters in a house in Inanda, near KwaMashu,
Durban, in September 1992 in continuing political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
Three people died in the attack.

MGCUWE, Mzimkhulu (31), a PAC supporter, was
shot and injured by unidentified perpetrators while on
his way to a PAC rally at Nyanga Stadium, Cape Town,
on 20 June 1993, when he was caught in crossfire
during inter-group conflict in Crossroads.

MGEDBANE, Vuyane Vincent (25), had his
possessions destroyed in an arson attack in Bhambayi,
near KwaMashu, Durban, in ongoing political conflict
between the 'RED’ AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS during 1993.
MGEDEZI, Ephraim Mbongeni (17), was shot dead in
KwaNdengezi, KwaZulu, near Pinetown, Natal, on 9
February 1986, when members of the SAP accosted
him and his friends in the street. The youths were
allegedly ordered to run and the police opened fire.
Three named policemen were convicted of the killing.
MGEDEZI, Mandla , was beaten and shot dead in
KwaNdengezi, KwaZulu, near Pinetown, Natal, on 9
February 1986, when members of the SAP accosted
him and his friends in the street. The youths were
allegedly ordered to run and the police opened fire.
Three named policemen were convicted of the killing.
MGENGE, Fayedwa (43), an IFP chairperson, was
shot and injured and lost his home in an arson attack
by named ANC supporters on 20 August 1990 in
intensiyfing political conflict in Richmond Farm, near
KwaMashu, Durban.

MGENGE, Grace Tholani (46), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban,
destroyed in an arson attack by UDF supporters during
1989.

MGENGE, Lindiwe Dorah (16), had her home at
Amaoti, Inanda, near Durban, burnt down on 12
November 1993 in continuing political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MGENGE, Mama Nellie (58), had her house in
Ntuzuma, near Durban, burnt down in September
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1989 in intensifying political conflict between UDF and
Inkatha supporters in the area.

MGENGO, Ntombentsha Tiny (30), a UDF supporter,
died when members of the SAP fired an excessive
quantity of teargas into her house on 28 April 1985 in
Fort Beaufort, Cape. There was conflict at the time
between UDF supporters and residents who
supported the COUNCILLORS in Fort Beaufort, leading to
a strong police presence in the area.

MGEQANE, Witane Patrick (17), a COSAS member,
was shot and injured by a named perpetrator in
Tumahole, Parys, OFS, on 4 December 1988.
MGEXO, Gcinintetho (32), lost his house in an arson
attack in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 20
February 1992 during continuing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MGIBANT AKA, Patrick , (52), was shot and injured by
members of the security forces in Phola Park, Tokoza,
Tvl, in July 1991 during ongoing political conflict in the
area.

MGIDI, Abie Soyobi , was stoned and burnt with a petrol
bomb in KwaNdebele, on 3 July 1986 by UDF supporters
who suspected him of being an informer for the
IMBOKODO vigilante group. At the time, local resistance
to INCORPORATION into KwaNdebele was forcing
homeland supporters and vigilantes out of the area.
MGIDI, Adam Boy , was shot in the abdomen and
injured by IMBOKODO vigilantes who set up a roadblock
in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, during 1986. The majority
of residents in the area were opposed to INCORPORATION
into KwaNdebele.

MGIDI, Given, (3) was burnt to death in an arson attack
on her house by IMBOKODO vigilantes in Siyabuswa,
KwaNdebele, on 12 June 1986 during conflict over the
proposed independence of KwaNdebele.

MGIDI, Jabulani Petr os, was shot by IMBOKODO vigilantes
in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 30 July 1986 during
conflict over the proposed independence of KwaNdebele.
MGIDI, Jeffrey Lucas (20), an MK operative, was
killed by members of the SAP during an MK mission in
Vereeniging, Tvl, on 12 March 1984. Mr Mgidi left
Mamelodi, Pretoria, in 1980 to join MK and infiltrated
the country two years later. Vereeniging police asked
his parents to identify his body, which had three bullet
wounds in the stomach and back.

MGIDI, Patrick , was beaten and tortured by named
IMBOKODO vigilantes in Siyabuswa, KwaNdebele, on 18
May 1986 during conflict over the proposed
independence of KwaNdebele.

MGIDINGO, Leonard , an ANC activist, was arrested
and tortured in 1960 in East London, allegedly because
of his involvement in NonauLwaANA. Mr Mgidingo died
after his release as a result of injuries he sustained in
detention. See PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MGIDLANA, Melusi , had his home burnt down in KTC,
Cape Town, in June 1986, during the mass destruction
of UDF-supporting squatter camps by WITDOEKE
vigilantes, acting with the tacit approval and aid of the
security forces. Over 60 people were killed and 20 000
homes destroyed in the attacks.
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MGINYW A, Bigboy Mgcini (17), died in hospital after
he was shot by members of the Security Police at the
funeral of a victim of the political unrest on 13 April
1986 in Grahamstown, Cape.

MGOBHOZ, Busisiwe (33), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by an IFP supporter at her home in Folweni,
KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, on 27 July 1992, the
day after the FOLWENI MASSACRE

MGOBHOZ, Lesa (57), had her house burnt down by
IFP supporters during political conflict at Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in 1989.

MGOBHOZI, Magedlase Ngoneni Mamdema
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20
March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MGOBHOZI, Nomakhosi M (29), an ANC supporter,
had his houses at Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban,
destroyed in an arson attack during 1990 in
intensifying conflict between ANC and IFP supporters.
MGOBHOZI, Tobias , a UDF supporter, was stabbed
to death in KwaNdengezi, Kwazulu, near Pinetown,
Natal, in 1986, in intensifying conflict between Inkatha
and UDF supporters in the area.

MGOBOZA, Mxolisi Sithole Victor (12), was shot in
the stomach by members of the SAP during a student
protest in Venterstad, Cape, on 7 July 1993.
MGOBOZA, Sifanelo , an ANC supporter, had his
home burnt down by named perpetrators in Matatiele,
Transkei, on 27 April 1990. A group of men associated
with the traditional authorities and opposed to the
launch of an ANC branch attacked numerous homes
and persons associated with the ANC.

MGOBOZ, Busisiwe Lethiwe (45), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20
March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MGOBOZ, Khizana (48), an ANC supporter, had his
home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MGOBOZ, Luvuyo Angelius Per cival, was one of
four MK operatives shot dead by members of the Port
Natal Security Branch during a high speed car chase
on Quarry Road, Durban, on 7 September 1986. Three
Port Natal Security Branch operatives were granted
amnesty. They further confessed to planting weapons
on the deceased (AC/2000/135).

MGOBOZI, Qweqweni (62), had her house burnt down
by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON
ATTACKS.

MGOBOZ, Thabani Robert (17), an ANC supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death by IFP members during
political conflict at Amahlongwa Reserve, Umkomaas,
Natal, on 18 October 1990. Two perpetrators were
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0015).

MGODELI, Mngabisi Tallman (22), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP near Crossroads, Cape
Town, on 19 February 1985. Eighteen people were
shot dead and hundreds were wounded in a three-day

(43),
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clash when Crossroads residents resisted a forced
removal to Khayelitsha.

MGODUKA, Harry (58), a PAC supporter, died while
in police custody in March 1964 in East London.
MGODUKA, Mbambalala Glen , was one of four
Eastern Cape Security Branch operatives killed in the
MOTHERWELL CAR BOMB explosion, Port Elizabeth, on 14
December 1989, in a joint operation by the Eastern Cape
Security Branch and Security Branch headquarters.
Two operatives from the Eastern Cape Security Branch
and seven from Security Branch headquarters, including
the Vlakplaas commander and his commanding officer,
were refused amnesty for the operation. Applicants
presented different versions as to why the four had
been killed (AC/1999/0345).

MGODUSA, Dinimivula (70), an IFP branch chairman,
was shot dead by fellow IFP supporters in Applesbosch,
near Stanger, Natal, on 22 January 1991. His wife was
also killed in the attack, which allegedly occured in the
course of an internal dispute in the IFP.

MGODUSO, Vivian Nomhle (67), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by IFP supporters in Durban on 22
January 1991. Her husband, an IFP supporter, was
also killed in the attack, which allegedly occurred in
the course of an internal dispute in the IFP.
MGOGODLO, Wliwe Willie (52), a PAC member, was
sentenced to three years’ imprisonment for being a
member of a banned organisation in Paarl, Cape, during
1963. There were many arrests and trials of PAC members
in the wake of the Pogo attack in November 1962.
MGOGODLO, Vumile Amos (21), a UDF supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Nemato, Port Alfred, Cape, on 16 November 1984,
while attending the funeral of a victim of violent
political conflict. He was then detained, charged with
public violence, convicted and sentenced to five
years' imprisonment.

MGOJO, Nonceba , a civilian, and one other person,
were shot and injured in an attempted robbery of their
vehicle by APLA operatives during January 1992. The
perpetrators required their vehicle in order to use it in
an attack on the Lady Grey police station, OFS. See
APLA atTACKS. One APLA member was granted
amnesty (AC/1998/0057).

MGOLOMBANA, Msondezi Isaac , an ANC supporter,
was assaulted by members of the CDF on 21 August
1992 in King William's Town, Cape.

MGOMEZULU, Sipho (22), a Metal and Allied Workers'
Union member, was abducted from his home, stabbed
several times, shot and killed in Emdeni, Soweto, on
15 May 1986.

MGONA, David \elele Rues (23), an ANCYL member,
was arrested and detained at St Alban’s prison, Port
Elizabeth, on 1 March 1985 during the state of
emergency. A cell protest about poor prison conditions
resulted in him being beaten with batons. His eye was
severely injured and he was hospitalised for three
months. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MGOAQI, Ncedo Paul (27), was shot and injured by
named IFP supporters in Tembisa, Tvl, in August 1990,

race 417



during conflict between mainly ANC-supporting
residents and IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers.
MGOZA, Albert (60), an ANC supporter, was hacked
to death by IFP supporters at a bus stop in Wembezi,
KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, on 25 August 1993.
MGQABUZANA, Sonwabo (20), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP on 31 May
1985 in Cradock, Cape during a state of emergency.
The police were allegedly looking for his friend, a
fellow activist, and shot Mr Mggabuzana as he was
returning to his house. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MGAQIBISA, Mantoni Mathews , was shot in the leg
by Inkatha supporters in Pimville, Soweto, in July 1983
during conflict between IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers
and ANC supporting residents.

MGQOLOZANA, Simphiwe (19), was shot and injured
and lost his home and shop in an attack by WITDOEKE
vigilantes in KTC, Cape Town, in June 1986, during the
mass destruction of UDF-supporting squatter camps
by the vigilantes, acting with the tacit approval and aid
of the security forces. Over 60 people were killed and
20 000 homes destroyed in the attacks.

MGQOSINI, Fani David (22), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead in Katlehong, Tvl, on 5 December 1992
during ongoing political conflict in the area.

MGQUBA, Zola (29), a UDF supporter, was severely
beaten by members of the Ciskei Police on 1 May
1986 during a consumer boycott at Dimbaza, Ciskei.
MGQWANGI, Christopher (27), an ANC chairperson,
was detained and severely tortured by members of
the SAP at Newcastle, Natal, in March 1990 during
intense political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MGUBANE, Peter , a local ANC leader, was shot and
injured by named IFP supporters when the car in
which he and two other ANC officials were travelling
was ambushed near Ixopo, Natal, on 27 October 1992.
He was part of an ANC delegation attempting to
broker peace with the IFP. An ANC Midlands Exective
Committee member was shot dead in the ambush.
MGUBASI, Lulamile Andrew Mziwanele (38), was
beaten and burnt to death by UDF supporters on 11
April 1985 in Kirkwood, Cape.

MGULWA, Marelana Horance (51), an /Kongo
member and leader in Nongulwana, was executed in
Pretoria Central prison on 6 July 1962 for his role in
resisting the introduction of the Bantu Education and
Bantu Authorities Acts, and forced removals.
MGUNGU, Papani John , an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by members of the SAP in a raid on Ethafeni
Hostel, Tembisa, Tvl, on 1 September 1990. Mr
Mngungu heard shots being fired at the hostel. He went
outside to investigate and was subsequently shot.
Tembisa was one of several Transvaal townships
embroiled in conflict between IFP and ANC supporters.
MGUNI, Abram (18), was shot and killed by members
of the SAP in Siyathemba, near Balfour, Tvl, on 1 May
1986 during clashes between youth and police that day.
MGUNI, Mgcata , was shot and injured by IFP
supporters in Magongqo, Table Mountain, near Pieter-
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maritzburg, in 1992, allegedly because of his association
with Chief Mhlabunzima Maphumulo, a UDF-aligned
traditional leader in the area.

MGUZE, Mdudza Raphael (33), had his house burnt
down at Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 24
February 1993 in intense political conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area. About 35 houses
were burnt down in Bhambayi in February 1993.
MGWABA, Ber nard (22), an Inkatha supporter, was
stabbed and killed by a named ANC supporter at
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 February
1989 in intense political conflict in the area. His two
brothers were found shot dead in a nearby house on
the same day.

MGWABA, Bheki (18), was one of seven KwaMashu
Youth League members abducted and killed by IFP
supporters at Lindelani, near KwaMashu, Durban, on
17 March 1987. Their bodies were discovered in a
trench. In 1989, several Inkatha supporters were
convicted on charges of abduction, while two
bodyguards of a local IFP leader were convicted on
charges of murder and sentenced to death.
MGWABA, Daniel (20), an Inkatha supporter, was
shot dead at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
18 February 1989 in intense political conflict between
UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area. One of his
brothers was shot dead with him. Another was found
stabbed to death nearby on the same day.

MGWABA, Ndoda Mthembiseni (34), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by IFP supporters in
Odondolo, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 31
December 1992.

MGWABA, Richard (23), an Inkatha supporter, was
shot dead at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
18 February 1989 in intense political conflict between
UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area. One of his
brothers was shot dead with him. Another was found
stabbed to death nearby on the same day.

MGWABA, Vusumzi Howard (59), was shot dead on
3 March 1994 at Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi,
Durban, in political conflict during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. He had allegedly failed to attend
IFP meetings.

MGWABA, Zefred Xolani (21), an ANC/MK member
returned from exile, was shot dead by members of
the SAP during political conflict at Lindelani, near
KwaMashu, Durban, on 20 July 1993.

MGWADLENI, Ethel Gebisile (31), was shot and
severely injured when members of the KHUMALO GANG
attacked a stokvel she was attending in Tokoza, Tvl, on
12 December 1992. The IFP-aligned gang was a key
participant in the conflict on the East Rand. Ms
Mgwadleni was disabled as a result of her injuries and
died soon after testifying to the TRC.

MGWANGQA, Lloyd Phuphu , a SAYCO member, was
detained for nine months in 1985 at Stutterheim, Cape,
after being instrumental in the launch of SAYCO in the
area and suspected of being involved in a ‘necklace’
killing. He was again detained for a month in 1989 during
the state of emergency during which he was interrogated
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but not charged. In 1990 he was again arrested for
being an accomplice in murder and was acquitted.
MGWAXELA, Petrus Boy (60), a street committee
member, was detained by members of the SAP under
emergency regulations in 1986 in Port Elizabeth.
During his detention, police members assaulted and
tortured him by handcuffing him and putting a bag
over his face. His injuries resulted in the removal of an
eye. See POLICE BRUTALITY.

MGWEBA, Thembekile Moses (24), a Fort Hare
student activist, was shot dead by a named SPECIAL
CoNsTABLE in Noupoort, Cape, on 14 December 1986.
MGWEBA, Viege, a PAC supporter, was imprisoned
from 1961 on Robben Island, Cape Town, where he
served a 12-year prison sentence. He was severely
beaten, partially buried and urinated on by prison warders.
MGWEJE, Goodman Nceba (27), an ANC member,
had her home demolished by named ADM members
on 12 November 1993 during political conflict at
Mlakalala in Zwelitsha, Ciskei.

MGWENGWE, David Mbongeni (24), was killed by
named perpetrators during intensifying conflict
between UDF and Inkatha supporters at Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 25 October 1988.
MGWENYA, Sipho Lucky (21), was shot dead by
named members of the KaNgwane Police in Witrivier,
Tvl, on 31 July 1990. Mr Mgwenya was part of a
group of youths enforcing a consumer boycott at the
time of the attack.

MHALANGU, Maria , was injured when MK
operatives detonated an explosive in a car outside the
South African Air Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church
Street, Pretoria, on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people
were killed and 217 injured. The overall commander of
MK'’s Special Operations Unit and two MK operatives
were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003 and
AC/2001/023). See CHURCH STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.
MHAYA, Daliwonga Notote , was shot dead on 29
July 1986 when an MK unit attacked the Madeira
police station, in Umtata, Transkei. At least eight
people were killed in the attack, including members of
the SAP, civilians and one of the MK operatives. One
MK operative was granted amnesty (AC/2000/240).
MHKIZE, Alson Bhekisigcino (29), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death with spears and knives by IFP
supporters near Gagisa Lower Primary School,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, in March 1991.

MHKIZE, Sipho Douglas , an IFP supporter, was shot
dead by ANC supporters at his home in Wembezi,
KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, on 9 February 1991.
MHLABA, Andries (38), was shot dead in a DRIVE-BY
SHOOTING in Ethwatha section, Daveyton, Tvl, on 2
November 1992.

MHLABA, Emmanuel Dentegnali  (23), was shot
dead by named Inkatha supporters in Ntshongweni,
KwaZulu, near Hammarsdale, Natal, on 12 September
1987 in intensifying political conflict between UDF and
Inkatha supporters in the area.

MHLABA, Mahwidi Lazarus (34), an SAP member,
was stabbed, shot dead and his car was petrol-
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bombed by named members of the SAP at Daveyton,
Tvl, on 24 July 1993.

MHLABA, Milungiseleli (18), an ANC Youth League
member, was shot to death by members of the SAP in
Khayalitsha, Cape Town, on 13 April 1994.

MHLABA, Sigogo William (60), a community
COUNCILLOR, was beaten by named UDF supporters in
Kwezi, Hanover, Cape, on 17 April 1985. Mr Mhlaba
and his family were driven out of their home in
November 1985.

MHLABA, Thozama Milliicent (49), an ANC
supporter, was shot at and had a petrol bomb thrown
into her house in Entshawini, KwaZulu, near Stanger,
Natal, by IFP supporters on 6 May 1994 in political
conflict that accompanied the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MHLABANE, Thoko Lindiwe (24), was shot by a
named member of the SAP in eMijindini, Barberton,
Tvl, on 10 June 1985 during a rent boycott.
MHLABUTHI, Pretty; was severely injured when
AWB members detonated a car bomb in Bree Street,
Johannesburg, on 24 April 1994, in an effort to disrupt
the electoral process. Seven people were killed and 13
injured in the blast. Two perpetrators were granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0342). See RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.
MHLAHLELA, Simphiwo (18), a SAYCO member,
was kicked and severely beaten with rifle-butts by
members of the SAP on 11 November 1987 in Port
Elizabeth allegedly because he was suspected of
harbouring arms and ammunition.

MHLAKAZA, Fuzile (26), an ANC SELF-DEFENCE UNIT
(SDU) member, was abducted and severely beaten by
members of a BALACLAVA GROUP in Khayelitsha, Cape
Town, in 1993, allegedly because they wanted
information from him.

MHLAMBI, Muziwabantu Prince (29), an ANC
supporter and civic leader, was shot dead by named
perpetrators in an ambush in Phola Park in Tokoza, Tvl,
on 10 October 1992. Four other people were also shot
dead in the attack. The Goldstone Commission later
implicated a police informer in a disinformation
campaign against the Phola Park Residents Committee
which Mr Mhlambi headed.

MHLAMBI, Samson Lucky (32), an ANC member and
chairperson of the Tokoza civic association, was injured
when he was shot in the leg in Tokoza, Tvl, in 1993.
The perpetrators were members of the ISU allegedly
accompanied by the leader of the KHUMALO GANG. Mr
Mhlambi was also detained under emergency
regulations in 1985 and subsequently spent three
years in detention at Modderbee prison in Benoni, Tvl,
where he was assaulted by members of the SAP. Mr
Mhlambi was finally released after he and other
detainees went on a hunger strike for 28 days.
MHLAMBISO, Charles , a member of SAYCO and the
Khutsong Youth Congress, was severely assaulted in
Khuma, Stilfontein, Tvl, on 31 October 1990. One
ANCYL/SAYCO member was granted amnesty.
Although convicted, two others denied involvement in
the killing and were refused amnesty (AC/1997/0002;
AC/1997/0003 and AC/97/0005).
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MHLANA, Msikeleli Cornelius (23), an ANCYL
supporter, was shot and injured in Tokoza, Tvl, on 7
June 1991, allegedly by ISU members, during ongoing
political conflict in the area.

MHLANGA, Amos Happy (21), was shot in the left
knee by IFP-aligned BLAck CATS outside shops in
Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, on 28 August 1991, in
retaliation for the earlier killing of the gang’s leader.
MHLANGA, Andries Velaphi (25), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead when the vehicle in which he and nine
other young men were travelling was ambushed at
Diepdale, near Ermelo, Tvl, on 30 September 1993.
The youths were returning from a court appearance in
connection with the killing of a local chief when they
were attacked, allegedly by the chief's son and other
IFP supporters. Four of the ten were killed and three
others injured.

MHLANGA, Bafana Johannes ‘Jwi’  (41), the leader of
the BLack CATs, was killed by members of an ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) in Ermelo, Tvl, in July 1991, during
political conflict between IFP and ANC supporters. Five
SDU members were granted amnesty (AC/1998/0121).
MHLANGA, Bradly Sipho (13), was kicked and beaten
by a named member of the SAP in Mookgophog,
Naboomspruit, Tvl, during clashes on 10 April 1993,
the day SACP leader CHRIS HANI was assassinated.
MHLANGA, Comilius (17), was shot dead by members
of the SADF in Ivory Park, near Tembisa, Tvl, on 3
August 1993. The SADF was called in to monitor
violence between IFP-supporting hostel-dwellers and
ANC-supporting residents during a stayaway. When the
army arrived they allegedly opened fire on residents.
MHLANGA, Der rick, was shot dead by a named IFP
supporter in Estcourt, Natal, in August 1992, during
ongoing political conflict in the area.

MHLANGA, Elizabeth Mduduzi , was beaten to death
by IFP supporters, one of whom is named, at VWWembezi,
KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal, in June 1993 in
continuing political conflict in the area.

MHLANGA, Elmon Mphamba , was shot by members
of the SADF on 17 August 1992 in Mangweni, near
Komatipoort, Tvl, during a consumer boycott.
MHLANGA, Johannes Mfanethu (43), an ANC supporter,
was shot in TRAIN VIOLENCE at the station in Daveyton,
Tvl, on 15 June 1992. Mr Mhlanga was shot in the
head and pelvis, resulting in paralysis of his right leg.
MHLANGA, Jongilizwe Thanduxolo  (33), had his
house burnt down in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, in 1993 in continuing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area. More than 300
people died violently in Bhambayi during 1993.
Hundreds of homes were burnt down.

MHLANGA, Makambeni Levit (67), was tortured and
his house was burnt down by local youths at
kaNyamazane, Nelspruit, Tvl, on 7 November 1989.
MHLANGA, Malefane Samuel , died after his head
was smashed with a heavy object by members of the
SAP at Diepkloof, Soweto, on 17 June 1976 during the
SOWETO UPRISING.

MHLANGA, Marie Thembisile (37), an ANC
supporter, was severely injured when IFP supporters
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shot and stabbed her in her home at Ezakheni,
KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal, on 9 March 1994,
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Her
house was burnt down in the incident and she was
forced to flee the area.

MHLANGA, Mbulelo Anderson (17), a member of
the UDF-supporting AMABUTHO, was handcuffed,
suffocated and beaten by members of the SAP while
in detention in Sanlam Building, Strand Street, Port
Elizabeth in April 1980. Mr Mhlanga was arrested for
throwing petrol bombs at the police, and charged with
Intimidation Act 56. He was imprisoned for two years of
a four-year sentence, in St Alban’s prison, Port Elizabeth.
MHLANGA, Moses (24), a COSAS member, was shot
dead by a named member of the Pan-African Students
Organisation (PASO) in KwaThema, Tvl, on 30 March 1994
during conflict between COSAS and PASO. The PASO
member accused Mr Mhlanga of being a police spy.
MHLANGA, Njabulo , was shot dead by a named IFP
supporter at Wembezi, KwaZulu, near Estcourt, Natal,
during May 1992 in ongoing political conflict in the area.
MHLANGA, Ntombifikile Eunice (28), a UDF
supporter, had her house in KwaHaza, near Howick,
Natal, burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 26 April
1989 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MHLANGA, Tsunana Jonnas (50), was shot dead by
members of the SAP in Entshawini, KwaZulu, near
Stanger, Natal, on 7 December 1981. Mr Mhlanga, who
had recently returned from abroad, was allegedly being
watched by the SAP, on suspicion of being a ‘communist’.
MHLANGA, Zingisile Kidwell (36), an ANC supporter,
was shot by members of the Ciskei Police near Egerton
railway station, Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 4 August 1983
while trying to board a train during the MDANTSANE BUS
BOYCOTT.

MHLANGENI, Oscar Amos , and five other scholars
were interrogated, tortured and killed by AZAPO
members in Soweto, Johannesburg on 1 August 1986.
The incident was sparked off by the burning of the
house of an AZAPO leader and the youths were
believed to have been responsible for the arson. Three
perpetrators were refused amnesty, and one was
granted amnesty. (AC/2000/179 and AC/99/0230)
MHLANGENY AMA, Thembalethu (57), had his house
burnt down in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in
1993 in intense political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area. More than 300 people died
violently in Bhambayi in 1993. Hundreds of homes
were burnt down.

MHLANGU, Tunywandi (61), an ANC supporter, had
her house in Nokweja, Ixopo, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 28 July 1993. More than 110 people
fled the area after their homes were burnt down.
MHLANTI, Bhekisisa (21), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed and severely injured by IFP supporters at the
railway station in Daveyton, Tvl, on 22 July 1993. The
attack took place because the train was transporting
mostly Xhosa-speaking commuters presumed to be
ANC supporters. Between 1990 and 1993, 572 people
died in TRAIN VIOLENCE initiated by groups opposed to a
democratic transition.
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MHLAULI, Sicelo , a UDF activist, was one of the
CraDOCK FOUR abducted by the Eastern Cape Security
Branch while travelling to Cradock, on 27 June 1985.
He was shot and stabbed near Port Elizabeth, after
which his body was burnt. Six Eastern Cape Security
Branch operatives, including the divisional commander,
were refused amnesty for the killings. The
commander of Vlakplaas was granted amnesty for
knowledge of the incident (AC/1999/0350).
MHLAWULI, Mncedisi Edward (31), an ANC
supporter, was detained, beaten, tortured and held in
solitary confinement for three months in July 1983 and
during 1984 in Mdantsane, Ciskei. In February 1987,
members of the Ciskei Police drove him and his family
to open veld beyond the Kei River and left them there
because they claimed that he was a Transkeian. \When
he returned to his home, he was arrested and tortured
by suffocation by members before being released on
the following day.

MHLAWULI, Nocawe Rosey (37), was shot by
members of the SAP at the Despatch police station,
Cape, on 8 June 1986.

MHLETSHWA, Ziyeke , an ANC supporter, lost his
home of seven huts in an arson attack in March 1960
in Entsimbini, near Bizana, Transkei, during the
PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MHLOKHULU, Sheleni , an ANC member, was
executed in Pretoria on 21 March 1962 after he was
accused of being an accomplice to murder during the
PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MHLOLA, Thembelani Stanford (18), was burnt to
death in Crossroads, Cape Town, on 20 June 1989,
after his home was set alight during inter-group
conflict in Crossroads.

MHLOLULA, (first name not given), a member of the
SAP, was shot and killed by APLA operatives at the
police quarters in Tsakane, Brakpan, Tvl, during August
1993. See APLA AtTAcks. One perpetrator was granted
amnesty (AC/2001/067).

MHLONGO, Adelete (48), was severely burnt then
her house was petrol-bombed on 13 November 1993
in Duduza, Nigel, Tvl, because boys living at her home
were suspected of being police informers during
conflict between police and township residents. Ms
Mhlongo spent five months in hospital.

MHLONGO, Albertina Totana (75), was shot dead on
20 August 1992 in Ekuphumleni, Ciskei, when IFP
youth swept through the area killing and robbing
people during political conflict. Her daughter and four
other people were killed in the attack.

MHLONGO, Alfred Dabulizwe (37), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead when Inkatha supporters
attacked a group of about 20 people at Swayimane,
Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, on 3 January
1991. Eight people were killed and one was seriously
injured. Mr Mhlongo was allegedly shot while fleeing
from the attackers.

MHLONGO, Anthony Bhoyi (29), an ANC supporter,
was abducted, along with his father and three brothers,
by named IFP supporters and members of the
KwaZuLu Potice in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban,
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on 23 December 1990 in intense political conflict in
the area. They were shot and injured before they
managed to escape. The family home was burnt down
the next day.

MHLONGO, Ben (20), was slapped in the face, beaten
with batons and kicked in the groin by members of the
SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on 18 June 1976 in
the wake of the SOWETO UPRISING which spread rapidly
around the country.

MHLONGO, Bheki Richard (24), a UDF supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters
in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 17 April
1988 in intensifying political conflict in the area. Inkatha
supporters allegedly marched through Mpumalanga
Unit 3 after a meeting, shooting people at random.
MHLONGO, Bhekinkosi Ar mstrong (50), was stabbed
to death in Ongoye, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
on 31 March 1994 in political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters during the run-up to the ApPRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MHLONGO, Bhekisisa (18), a UDF supporter, was
hacked to death by Inkatha supporters, one of whom
is named, on 15 December 1987 in KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, after a peace meeting in
the area. Inkatha supporters seeking to derail the
peace process allegedly attacked UDF supporters who
came out of hiding for a peace meeting.

MHLONGO, Bhekokwakhe (23), an ANC supporter,
was shot and severely injured by IFP supporters in
Matimatolo, near Greytown, Natal, in May 1991.
MHLONGO, Bitsene Amos (69), an ANC supporter,
had his house in Nelspruit, Tvl, burnt down on 11
January 1993 by named perpetrators because they
suspected him of practising witchcraft.

MHLONGO, Bongani Zwelethu (27), an IFP supporter,
had his house in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters on 16 March
1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Bongekile Patience , was shot dead when
IFP supporters attacked a house in Inanda, near Kwa-
Mashu, Durban, during September 1992 in continuing
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in
the area. Three people were killed in the attack.
MHLONGO, Boyi Abednigo (74), had his house burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Brenda (2), was burnt to death in an
arson attack on her parents’ home in Chesterville,
Durban, on 9 January 1987, by named members of
the Chesterville A-TEAM. Her mother and sister were
killed in the same attack.

MHLONGO, Busisiwe Emestine (22), was severely
beaten by members of the Security Branch at her home
in Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, during
political violence between ANC and IFP supporters in
1988. The security forces were allegedly brought in to
bring calm to the situation, but exacerbated the
violence through random assaults on people.
MHLONGO, Buyaphi Regina (31), was severely
injured when Inkatha supporters abducted, stabbed and
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beat her in KwaMashu, Durban, on 8 August 1985,
allegedly because she was perceived to be a UDF
supporter. Following the death of UDF leader Victoria
Mxenge in Umlazi on 1 August, political conflict
quickly spread to areas north of Durban.

MHLONGO, Buyelaphi Prudence (26), an ANC
supporter, had her house in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, severely damaged in an arson
attack by IFP supporters on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Christina (59), an ANC supporter, lost
her home in an arson attack by Inkatha supporters in
Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, in
March 1990.

MHLONGO, Collen Sfiso (26), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by IFP supporters in Wangu Reserve,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 27 March 1994 in
the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Mr Mhlongo
was travelling in a car with two others at the time of
the attack. His companions were both killed.
MHLONGO, Cynthia Nkosingiphile (28), an ANC
supporter, was shot and hacked to death in an attack
on her home at Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 3 October
1991 in ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area. Her brother was injured in the
attack, and the house was burnt down.

MHLONGO, David Ntewu (34), was severely
assaulted by members of the SAP in his home at
Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, in
September 1991, when the police arrived to search for
weapons. Mr Mhlongo's mother was shot and injured
when she tried to stop the police assaulting him.
MHLONGO, Derrick Mduduzi (36), a UDF supporter,
was hacked to death by members of the Chesterville
A-TEam in Chesterville, Durban, on 25 May 1986.
MHLONGO, Dokotela Dokter (20), was shot and
severely injured by members of the SAP during a
political meeting held in Vlakbult, near Nelspruit, Tvl,
on 21 May 1986. Mr Mhlongo was shot six times by
police when they dispersed the crowd. Mr Mhlongo
sued the Minister of Police but two weeks later he
was arrested and charged with arson and sentenced
to three years’ imprisonment.

MHLONGO, Dombi Josephina (70), an ANC
supporter, was shot and injured in her home at
Mpophemeni, near Howick, Natal, by members of the
SAP in September 1991. The police came to search
for weapons, and shot Ms Mhlongo in the shoulder
when she tried to stop them assaulting her son.
MHLONGO, Dominic (21), an ANC supporter, was
abducted along with his three brothers and father by
named IFP supporters and members of the KwaZuLu
Pouice on 23 December 1990 in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in intense political conflict in the area. They
were shot and injured before they managed to escape.
The family home was burnt down the next day.
MHLONGO, Effie (58), an ANC supporter, had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
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MHLONGO, Elizabeth (25), an ANC supporter, was
shot and had her house in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by IFP supporters on 19 July
1993, in ongoing political conflict between the ‘Rep’
AND ‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MHLONGO, Elsie (58), had her home burnt down by
IFP supporters in Entoweni, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, in March 1992 in ongoing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MHLONGO, Emma Mcane (52), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead at the Ngcamu store, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 7 March 1994 in political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Two other family
members were severely injured in the attack.
MHLONGO, Enock Mandlenkosi (29), was shot dead
on 29 December 1989, when his car was ambushed in
New Hanover, near Pietermaritzburg, in intensifying
political conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters
in the area.

MHLONGO, Fikile Mirriam (35), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead when IFP supporters attacked a house
in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, in September
1992 during continuing political conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area. Three people were
kiled in the attack.

MHLONGO, Filda Mankanaza (42), lost her home in
an arson attack in Ntuze, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 1 April 1992 in ongoing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MHLONGO, Gabisile (47), an ANC supporter, had her
houses burnt down by Inkatha supporters in
Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, on
29 October 1989. Eight Inkatha supporters were killed
and many houses were destroyed by fire in the
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MHLONGO, Gazo Amon (55), an IFP supporter, was
shot dead in KwaDweshula, Port Shepstone, Natal, on
2 September 1990 in political conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area. His son was also killed
in the attack.

MHLONGO, Gettie Mthomolozi (48), an ANC
supporter, had her home burnt down by Inkatha
supporters in Ntshongweni, KwaZulu, near Hammars-
dale, Natal, in 1987 in intensifying political conflict in
the area.

MHLONGO, Godfrey Vusi (18), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Entshawini, KwaZulu, near Stanger, Natal, on 19 March
1990. Police opened fire on a gathering of youths,
allegedly in an attempt to prevent them from attending
a stayaway rally due to be held the following day.
MHLONGO, Grace Makhosazana Mandlela (45), had
her home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Gugu Saraphina Mirdiam  (29), lost her
home in an arson attack in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 29 December 1989 during intensifying
political conflict between UDF and Inkatha supporters
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in the area. Her husband had been killed earlier, and her
house was looted and burnt on the day of his funeral.
MHLONGO, Happy , was shot and injured by members
of an ANC self-defence unit (SDU) in Wesselton,
Ermelo, Tvl, in July 1991. In the attack, the leader of
the BLack CaTs was assassinated. Five SDU members
were granted amnesty (AC/98/0121).

MHLONGO, Isaac Nalati (40), had his room severely
damaged in an arson attack on his landlord’s home by
men reportedly wearing balaclavas in Katlehong, Tvl, in
April 1994. The incident took place during political
conflict in the area in the run-up to the first democratic
election on April 27 1994.

MHLONGO, Johannes , an ANC supporter, was
abducted, along with his four sons, by named IFP
supporters and members of the KwaZuLu PoLice in
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 23 December
1990 in intense political conflict in the area. They were
shot and injured before they managed to escape. The
family home was burnt down the next day.
MHLONGO, Johnie (30), was shot dead in Tokoza,
Tvl, on 9 December 1990 during political conflict which
spread from Natal to the Transvaal in July 1990, and
engulfed the East Rand from August 1990.
MHLONGO, Joseph Mlethwa (37), an Inkatha
supporter, suffered severe injuries when a named
UDF supporter beat him, poured petrol over him and
set him alight on 22 March 1988 in Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, during intensifying political
conflict in the area.

MHLONGO, Kege Mandenkosi (15), an ANC supporter,
was shot and burnt to death on 8 December 1993, when
the house he was in was set alight by IFP supporters
in Enteneshana, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal.
MHLONGO, Khulekani Derrick (18), a UDF supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Pietermaritzburg on 5 April 1988, while he was in a
community meeting awaiting a report-back on peace
talks held between the conflict-torn Pata and Dambuza
communities. The bullet is still lodged in his hip, and
he received an out-of-court settlement from the
Minister of Law and Order.

MHLONGO, Khumbulani Sydney (18), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead by KwaZuLu Potice (KZP)
members at Umlazi, Durban, on 9 April 1990 while
leading a protest march against KZP violence. COSATU
had called for a stayaway that day. Community leaders
had gathered near the Executive Hotel for a report-
back on peace talks between police and residents,
when policemen opened fire on the crowd, killing Mr
Mhlongo instantly.

MHLONGO, Mahelane Msawenkosi (72), an IFP
supporter, was shot and severely injured by other IFP
supporters in Sihuzu, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
during February 1994. Mr Mhlongo's son allegedly
attended a school dominated by ANC supporters.
MHLONGO, Mahlasela Paul (38), an ANC supporter,
was arrested and tortured by members of the SAP in
Komatipoort, Tvl, on 17 December 1976. Police
allegedly tore up Mr Mhlongo’s reference book,
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subjected him to electric shock torture and beat him
because he refused to admit he was a Frelimo soldier
sent by Samora Machel. When he finally made a false
confession, he was charged and sentenced to nine
months’ imprisonment in Barberton.

MHLONGO, Mamiti Fakazile (54), lost her houses in
an arson attack in Ntuze, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, in 1993 during continuing political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MHLONGO, Mandla (23), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by IFP supporters in Lloyd, Stanger,
Natal, in September 1993. He was forced to flee into
the forest, and remained in hiding for three months.
MHLONGO, Mandlenkosi (61), an ANC supporter, had
his house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Martin, an ANC supporter, was abducted,
together with four family members, from NDWEDWE,
KwaZulu, near Durban, by IFP supporters on 23
December 1990. He survived unharmed, but two family
members were shot and injured. The family home was
burnt down the following day.

MHLONGO, Masinga Emmanuel (24), an MK member,
was abducted and shot dead by IFP supporters in
KwaMashu, Durban, on 11 May 1993, after he had
returned from exile. Three other people, including a
17-year-old pregnant woman, were killed that day.
MHLONGO, Mbusi (16), was abducted from her
home by Inkatha supporters in Ntshongweni, KwaZulu,
near Hammarsdale, Natal, in 1987. At the time of her
disappearance, her aunt, an ANC supporter, had been
forced to flee the area because of the political violence.
Mbusi Mhlongo has not been seen again and is
presumed dead.

MHLONGO, Mbuso , an ANC supporter, was stabbed
to death by IFP supporters at Lion's River, near Pieter-
maritzburg, on 6 February 1993. The perpetrator was
sentenced to five years' imprisonment, suspended for
five years.

MHLONGO, Mdali (45), was accosted by members of
the SAP and tortured to death near Cato Ridge, Natal,
on 9 May 1985, allegedly while he was being
questioned in connection with illegal weapons.
MHLONGO, Mduduzi (25), an ANC supporter, was
abducted from his home by a named IFP supporter on 5
February 1993 and taken to a tribal court in Esiqumageni,
Maphumulo, Natal, where he was shot and killed. His
father was shot and injured in the same incident.
MHLONGO, Mduduzi Concert (34), was shot and
stabbed to death by IFP supporters at Ndaleni,
Richmond, Natal, on 27 March 1991. He and others
had allegedly been fetched from their homes by IFP
supporters the previous day to go to a camp. They
were found dead the next morning.

MHLONGO, Mdumiseni (42), lost his house in an
arson attack in Bhukhanana, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 11 January 1994 in political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
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MHLONGO, Mdumiseni , an ANC supporter, was shot
and injured by IFP supporters in Matimatolo, near
Greytown, Natal, in May 1991.

MHLONGO, Mduzana (52), lost her house in an arson
attack in Ntuze, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in
March 1993 in continuing political conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area. Her son was killed in
the attack.

MHLONGO, Meshack , was shot dead on 28 November
1993 when IFP supporters from Ndabayakhe opened
fire on ANC supporters attending a cultural ceremony
at Iniwe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal. Eight people,
all believed to be ANC supporters, were killed in the
attack.

MHLONGO, Mkakwa Richard (64), was shot and
severely injured by IFP supporters in Greytown, Natal,
in May 1991 in continuing political conflict in the area.
MHLONGO, Mkhaliseni (49), was shot and injured in
Empangeni, Natal, on 2 August 1992 and had his
house burnt down on 3 March 1994, in continuing
political conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in
the area.

MHLONGO, Mla, an ANC supporter and member of a
self-defence unit (SDU), was shot dead in Esigcakeni,
Richmond, Natal, on 9 October 1993, soon after he
and a friend had been fetched from their homes on
the instructions of local ANC leader, Mr Sifiso Nkabinde.
The friend was also shot dead. On the previous day,
Mr Mhlongo had borrowed a firearm from a friend,
who had got it from Mr Nkabinde for SDU purposes.
Mr Mhlongo had allegedly used the gun to kill an
unidentified person.

MHLONGO, Moses Blokakhe , was stabbed and shot
dead during ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, in 1993.
MHLONGO, Motion , an ANC member, was severely
beaten by alleged members of the SADF at Nkomazi,
Komatipoort, Tvl, in June 1986.

MHLONGO, Mshayeni (44), lost his house in an arson
attack in Ohlange, Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban,
on 6 June 1993 in continuing political conflict between
IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

MHLONGO, Mtente (41), lost his house in an arson
attack at Nqutshini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
on 20 August 1984 in intensifying political conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MHLONGO, Mthinteni (29), an ANC supporter, had
his home burnt down by members of the KwaZuLu
PoLice in Umlazi, Durban, on 16 January 1992.
MHLONGO, Munteyhlupha Mphumuze (34), had his
home at Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pieter-
maritzburg, burnt down by ANC supporters on 29
October 1989, allegedly in politicised factional conflict
between the Makhatini and Mabheleni tribal groups.
Eight Inkatha supporters were killed, and many houses
were destroyed by fire.

MHLONGO, Nathi (18), an ANC supporter, was shot
and injured by Inkatha supporters at Vulisaka,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 28 March 1990 in
political conflict following the UNBANNING of political
organisations in February 1990.
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MHLONGO, Ngenzeni (62), had her house burnt
down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Nicholas (22), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by named IFP supporters in
Sbululwane, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 1
February 1992 during political conflict in the area.
MHLONGO, Nkelezi (55), an IFP supporter, had her
house burnt down by ANC supporters in Nhlangakazi,
near Stanger, Natal, on 30 April 1994 in the political
conflict accompanying the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MHLONGO, Nohwagela Thokozile (50), had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Nokukhanya Brightness (26), an ANC
supporter, lost her home in an arson attack at Ngcamu
store, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 5
November 1993. On 7 March 1994 she was shot and
injured in political conflict during the run-up to the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. One other family member was
severely injured and another was killed in this attack.
MHLONGO, Nokuthula Gladness (29), had her
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Nokwethemba Grace (30), had her
home destroyed in an arson attack by IFP supporters
during political conflict at Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, in 1992.

MHLONGO, Nomnyango Mahwanga (60), an IFP
supporter, had her house in Bhoboyi, Port Shepstone,
Natal, burnt down by ANC supporters on 26 April 1993.
MHLONGO, Nompumelelo (15), a UDF supporter, was
abducted, raped and killed by IFP supporters in August
1991 at KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, at a
time of intense political conflict in the area.
MHLONGO, Nomvula (20), was burnt to death on 2
September 1990, when IFP supporters attacked her
neighbours’ home in KwaDweshula, Port Shepstone,
Natal, in intensifying political conflict in the area. She
was visiting her neighbours with her sister when the
house was set alight, burning Ms Mhlongo, her sister
and and Ms Mhlongo’s two children. A total of seven
people were killed in the attack.

MHLONGO, Nonhlanhla Irene (15), had her house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Nonhle (16), was burnt to death on 2
September 1990 when IFP supporters attacked her
neighbours’ home in KwaDweshula, Port Shepstone,
Natal, in intensifying political conflict in the area. She was
visiting her neighbours with her sister when the house
was set alight, burning a total of seven people to death.
MHLONGO, Nqashiya (60), had her house at Ntuze,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters on 24 April 1994 in intense political conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters, days before the
APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
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MHLONGO, Ngenamuzi Muntu (54), an IFP supporter,
had his house in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, burnt down on 16 March 1994 in intensified
political conflict between ANC and IFP supporters. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Ntombi (46), had her house in Mpuma-
langa, KwaZulu, near Durban, vandalised by a named
Special Constable in April 1988. The incident took place
on the day she was burying her son, a UDF supporter,
who had been killed by Inkatha supporters on 17 April
1988 in political conflict.

MHLONGO, Ntombinani (64), an ANC supporter, had
her home burnt down by IFP supporters in Sonkombo,
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 20 March 1994.
See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Ntombini Eslina (71), had her houses in
Edendale, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, burnt down
by Inkatha supporters on 29 March 1990 during the
SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MHLONGO, Ntomula , was killed by IFP supporters in
Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 23
February 1992 in ongoing political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MHLONGO, Patrick , an ANC supporter, was abducted,
along with his father and three brothers, by named IFP
supporters and members of the KwaZuLu POLICE in
Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 23 December
1990 in intense political conflict in the area. They were
shot and injured before they managed to escape. The
family home was burnt down the next day.

MHLONGO, Phillip (29), an ANC supporter, was shot and
severely injured by IFP supporters, allegedly assisted
by members of the KwaZuLu PoLIcE, at Mpophomeni,
KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, during 1991.
MHLONGO, Phindile Lephinah (19), was severely
injured when she was stabbed and shot by IFP
supporters who attacked a home in Ndwedwe, Kwa-
Zulu, near Durban, on 13 March 1991 in continuing
political conflict in the area. A child aged eight was
killed in the attack.

MHLONGO, Precious Themba (25), was shot by IFP
supporters in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, in March 1991
in continuing political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MHLONGO, Prince Ncuncu (21), an ANC supporter,
was killed by IFP supporters in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 6 October 1992.

MHLONGO, Richard , a Daveyton Youth Congress
member, disappeared from Springs, Tvl, in December
1989. He and a friend were finally found in hospital,
badly burnt. According to police, they found Mr
Mhlongo at New Era Station on a burning train. He
died of burn wounds on 18 December 1989.
MHLONGO, Robert (25), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters at Ndaleni, Richmond, Natal, in
July 1991 in continuing political conflict between ANC
and |IFP supporters in the area.

MHLONGO, Samuel , was injured when a limpet
mine, planted by MK operatives from the ‘Dolphin
Unit’, exploded at the Ciskei Consulate in Johannesburg,
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on 26 August 1983. Three MK operatives were
granted amnesty (AC/2001/003).

MHLONGO, Sbusiso (17), was killed when he was
stabbed in the head by Inkatha supporters on 8 August
1985 at his house in KwaMashu, Durban. Following
the death of UDF leader Victoria Mxenge in Umlazi on
1 August, political conflict quickly spread to areas
north of Durban.

MHLONGO, Seralo Rebecca (29), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Boichoko, near Postmasburg,
Cape, on 20 June 1990. She had participated in a march
to the town council offices along with ANC leaders.
MHLONGO, Sibongile Fikisiwe (29), an ANC
supporter, lost her house in Ntuzuma, near Durban, in
an arson attack on 3 October 1991 in ongoing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MHLONGO, Sibongile Ngenisile (26), had her house
in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down on 21
June 1993 in continuing political conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area.

MHLONGO, Sibusiso Sicelile (33), an IFP supporter,
had his house in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban,
burnt down by ANC supporters on 9 March 1994 in
intense political conflict in the area during the run-up
to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MHLONGO, Sicelo (13), an IFP supporter, was shot
dead by ANC supporters in Mehlomnyana, Port
Shepstone, Natal, on 2 September 1990.

MHLONGO, Sipho (33), an IFP supporter, was severely
injured when he was beaten by ANC supporters in
Empangeni, Natal, in 1991. Mr Mhlongo was allegedly
attacked because had refused to side with the ANC in
the conflict.

MHLONGO, Sithembiso (2), was burnt to death on 2
September 1990 when IFP supporters attacked his
neighbours’ home in KwaDweshula, Port Shepstone,
Natal, in intensifying political conflict in the area. He
was with his mother, who was visiting her neighbour
when the house was set alight. A total of seven
people, including his mother and sister, were killed in
the attack.

MHLONGO, Siza Cyril , was attacked with an axe and
had his house in Chesterville, Durban, burnt down by
named members of the Chesterville A-TEAM on 9
January 1987. Three people, including two children,
were burnt to death in the incident.

MHLONGO, Sizani Catherine (51), had her house in
Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down by ANC supporters on 20 March 1994. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MHLONGO, Soli Solomon (39), an ANC supporter,
had his house in KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by
Inkatha supporters on 25 August 1989 during
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MHLONGO, Soto Gladys (54), an ANC supporter, had
her house in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban,
burnt down during 1993 in intense political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area. More
than 300 people died violently in Bhambayi during the
course of 1993. Hundreds of homes were burnt down.
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MHLONGO, Thandekhaya Eric (30), was shot and
stabbed to death by IFP supporters at Ndaleni,
Richmond, Natal, on 27 March 1991. He and others
had allegedly been fetched from their homes by IFP
supporters the previous day to go to a camp. They
were found dead the next morning.

MHLONGO, Themba (41), an ANC supporter, had his
house in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down on 4 November 1993 in intense political conflict
between IFP and ANC supporters in the area. See
‘RED’ AND "GREEN' FACTIONS.

MHLONGO, Themba Godfrey (46), had his house in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down in
intense political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters in the area during 1993. See 'ReD’ AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MHLONGO, Thembekile (60), an ANC supporter, had
her house burnt down by IFP supporters in
Enteneshana, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 8
December 1993. In the attack, her son, an ANC
supporter, was shot and burnt to death. Another son
had been killed a year earlier, also in political conflict.
MHLONGO, Thembekile Ntombizo (44), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by Inkatha
supporters in April 1990 in Imbali, Pietermaritzburg,
during political conflict following the SEVEN-DAY WAR.
MHLONGO, Thembinkosi Christopher (46), a UDF
supporter, had his house, business premises and
vehicles burnt in an arson attack by Inkatha supporters
in Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 27 November 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MHLONGO, Thembisile Joy , (29), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by IFP supporters in Folweni,
KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, on 27 July 1992, the
day after the FOLWENI MASSACRE.

MHLONGO, Thembitshe Khohlwayisu , was shot
and wounded when ANC security guards opened fire
from the ANC headquarters at Shell House,
Johannesburg, on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28
March 1994. At least nine marchers were killed and
around 100 injured. Ten ANC security guards were
granted amnesty (AC/2000/142).

MHLONGO, Thokoza (25), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured on 7 March 1994 at the Ngcamu
store, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, in political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters during the
run-up to the ApRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. One family member
was killed in the attack; another was severely injured.
MHLONGO, Thokozani Richard (30), an IFP supporter,
was shot and injured in KwaDweshula, Port Shepstone,
Natal, on 2 September 1990 in political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters. His father was also killed in
the attack. On that day, most people in the area had
left their houses and fled into the nearby forest.
MHLONGO, Tholakele Dorah (37), an ANC supporter,
had her house bumnt down by IFP supporters at
Mabhuyeni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 28
September 1992.

MHLONGO, Titi, was shot dead on 28 November
1993 when IFP supporters from Ndabayakhe opened
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fire on ANC supporters attending a cultural ceremony
at Iniwe, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal. Eight
people, all believed to be ANC supporters, were killed.
MHLONGO, Tobias Bhekithemba (24), a UDF
supporter from Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban,
disappeared without trace in September 1983 after
allegedly going into exile to undergo military training in
ANC camps. He is presumed dead.

MHLONGO, Vincent Mhlophe (23), had his house
burnt down by IFP supporters in Ongoye, KwaZulu,
near Empangeni, Natal, on 27 July 1992. Mr Mhlongo
was perceived to be an ANC supporter.

MHLONGO, Vusumuz (25), an ANC supporter, was
abducted by unidentified persons in Empangeni, Natal,
on 18 January 1993 during political conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area. He has not been
seen since and is presumed dead.

MHLONGO, Zakhe (15), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters at Enteneshana, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 22 November 1992.
MHLONGO, Zandile , was injured when she was
attacked at her home in Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 22 November 1992 during intense
political conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in
the area.

MHLONGO, Zenzeni Doris (25), lost her house in an
arson attack in Ntuze, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal,
in July 1993 in ongoing political conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area. Her husband was shot
and killed in the attack.

MHLONGO, Zibuse Eric (32), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by IFP supporters in KwaDlangezwa,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 6 December 1993.
MHLOTJANE, Martha Nomalanga (14), was severely
beaten and tear-gassed by SAP members in Bultfontein,
OFS, on 28 February 1990. She was participating in a
student protest during a week-long boycott by approxi-
mately 20 000 school children in several towns in the
province.

MHLUNGU, Alton Siphiwe (27), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by Inkatha supporters at the Glebelands
hostel, Durban, when fighting broke out between ANC
and Inkatha supporters in the hostel on 19 February
1989.

MHLUNGU, Bekinhlanhla Jer ome, an ANC supporter,
had his house in Ntuzuma, near Durban, burnt down by
Inkatha supporters on 7 December 1989.

MHLUNGU, Jabulisile , was detained and tortured by
members of the SAP in Newcastle, Natal, on 17 June
1986, during the state of emergency.

MHLUNGU, Khayelihle Muzi (11), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured in an attack on his home by
Inkatha supporters at Ntuzuma, near Durban, on 7
December 1989.

MHLUNGU, Sabela Smorden (23), a UDF supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in Imbali,
Pietermaritzburg, during a battle between Inkatha and
ANC supporters on 7 October 1989. The police allegedly
opened fire in an attempt to disperse the crowd, and
shot Mr Mhlungu as he was leaving the scene.
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MHLUNGU, Sibusiso Ntokozo (22), an ANC
supporter, was detained, beaten and tortured in
Osizweni, KwaZulu, near Newcastle, Natal, on 27 April
1988. He had been involved in underground work for
MK and in organising student movements in schools
in the area.

MHLUNGU, Tr yphina , a UDF supporter, was detained
by a named member of the SAP in Newcastle, Natal,
in June 1986, during the state of emergency.
MHLUNGW ANA, Johannes Omecor (56), had his
house burnt down by ANC supporters in KwaMbonambi,
KwaZulu, near Richards Bay, Natal, in February 1994 in
political conflict during the run-up to the ApRIL 1994
ELECTIONS.

MHLWAZI, Bonisiwe Beauty (24), lost her house in
an arson attack in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban,
in ongoing political conflict between the ‘RED" AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS during 1993.

MHOLO, David, suffered severe damage to house
and property as a result of a car-bomb explosion in
Gaborone, Botswana, on 22 April 1987. See GABORONE
CAR BOMB. The head of the Security Branch and four
Northern and Western Transvaal Security Branch
operatives were granted amnesty for this operation
(AC/2000/214).

MHONGO, Happy , was attacked and injured by ANC
supporters in July 1991 in Wesselton, Ermelo, Tvl, during
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MIAS, Konu Liza , was killed during the BOIPATONG
MASSACRE by IFP supporters in Boipatong, near
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 17 June 1992, which left 45
people dead and 27 seriously injured. Thirteen
perpetrators were granted amnesty; a further three
applications were refused (AC/2000/209).

MICALLEF, Stanley Charles , was injured when
members of MK’s Special Operations Unit detonated
an explosive in a car outside the SADF Witwatersrand
Command headquarters in Johannesburg on 30 July
1987. At least 68 people were injured. Three MK
operatives and one UDF supporter linked to MK were
granted amnesty for their roles in this attack
(AC/2001/0003 and AC/2000/248).

MICHAEL, Mzolisi Johannes (15), a SAYCO member,
was accused of throwing petrol bombs, beaten by
Amagundwana MuNicIPAL PoLICE members and detained
for six months in Port Alfred, Cape, in June 1986 during
the state of emergency. On 12 November 1986 he was
sentenced to three years in prison (two suspended)
for being in possession of explosives material.
MIDDLETON, Edmund Chades , suffered damage to
his property at Fouriesburg, OFS, on 14 August 1993,
when it was attacked with petrol bombs and burnt
down by APLA operatives. See APLA ATTACKS. One
APLA member was granted amnesty (AC/2001/102).
MIDDLETON, Jean , was kept in solitary confinement
during her imprisonment at Barberton, Tvl. Ms
Middleton was on trial with political activist Bram Fischer
and was sentenced to three years’ imprisonment on 2
April 1965 for being a member of the SACP.

MIGELS, Bonisile Stephanus , was assaulted by
members of the SAP while in custody at Steytlerville,
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Cape, in July 1985. He was detained during protests
against the deaths of the CRADOCK FOUR.

MIGELS, Mzwandile V erenus (20), a SAYCO supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP in Steytlerville,
Cape, on 3 July 1985, when police opened fire on
marchers protesting against the death of the CRADOCK
Four. In mid-1984, he had been expelled from school
in Graaff-Reinet because of his political activities, and
he was under constant police surveillance.

MIHURA, Michael , was shot and injured when APLA
operatives threw hand grenades at and opened fire on
the congregation of St James’ Church, Kenilworth, Cape
Town, on 25 July 1993. Eleven people were killed and
58 wounded in the attack. See APLA ATTACKS. Three of
four APLA members were granted amnesty for the
attack. The fourth had his application struck off the roll
for failing to attend the amnesty hearing (AC/1998/0018).
MILANZ, Newton Neverdie (27), a PAC supporter,
was shot dead by named members of the Gazankulu
Police in Tzaneen, Tvl, on 13 June 1992 because he
was active in the local civic association which was
agitating against the appointment of a new principal at
the local school.

MILE, Keneiloe Miriam (51), was repeatedly harassed
by members of the Special Branch in Bloemfontein in
1983 and 1984, allegedly for information about her
children who had fled into exile. Her remaining children
were taken by police for questioning and would at
times return home badly beaten.

MILE, Motladi Phillip (32), was detained and tortured
my members of the SAP in Bloemfontein, in 1984,
allegedly for information about his brother and sister
who had fled into exile.

MILES, Donald Walter (55), was harassed, intimidated
and assaulted by named perpetrators on 30 October
1991 in Port Elizabeth.

MILES, EN, was injured when MK operatives detonated
an explosive in a car outside the South African Air
Force (SAAF) headquarters in Church Street, Pretoria,
on 20 May 1983. Twenty-one people were killed and
217 injured. The overall commander of MK's Special
Operations Unit and two MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/003 and AC/2001/023). See CHURCH
STREET BOMBING, PRETORIA.

MILLER, Magdelena (18), was shot and injured by members
of the SAP in Mossel Bay, Cape, in September 1976,
during a period of unrest in the town. She lost her
right eye in the shooting.

MILLER, Nomawabo Freda (13), was severely injured
after attending a rally at the Hlengisa Primary School,
near Nyanga, Cape Town, on 29 November 1976. The
children were returning home when police confronted
them, firing teargas and birdshot.

MIMI, Mankankela Nelson (25), a PAC supporter,
participated in a Pogo march to storm the police
station and prison in Paarl, Cape, on 21 November 1962.
Two Paarl residents were killed by Pogo supporters,
and five marchers were shot dead in the incident. Mr
Mimi was convicted of sabotage and sentenced to 12
years' imprisonment on Robben Island.
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MINDLULA, Raisibe Francina (51), had her home
burnt down on 2 February 1980 at GaMatlala, Lebowa,
by supporters of Chief BK Matlala because she resisted
Lebowa's proposed independence from South Africa.
MINERS, Eddie (34), a CRADORA and UDF activist,
was detained twice during the state of emergency in
1985 in Cradock, Cape. In detention, he was
interrogated and severely beaten by named members
of the Security Police, allegedly because they wanted
him to become an informer. See POLICE BRUTALITY.
MINI, Noluthado Doreen (17), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Langa, Cape Town, on 11
August 1976, after the SOWETO UPRISING erupted in
Cape Town. Over 20 people were shot dead that day.
MINI, Nombiyiselo Jane (20), a PAC activist, was
severely ill-treated when she was imprisoned for a
year in December 1962 in Mganduli, Transkei. Pogo
attacked representatives of traditional authority in the
homelands because chiefs were perceived as collabo-
rating with the apartheid state. During that month, an
attempt was made on Chief Kaiser Matanzima's life
and residents of Jixini Location, arrested either in
Cape Town or Mganduli, were transferred to East
London to stand trial for Pogo activities.

MINI, Nomkhosi (aka ‘Mar y’) (26), an MK operative
from Port Elizabeth, was shot dead by Viakplaas
operatives during a raid on two houses in Maseru,
Lesotho, on 19 December 1985. Nine people were
killed in the raid, three of them citizens of Lesotho. Six
years earlier, in March 1979, Ms Mini had survived an
SADF attack on Novo Catengue camp in Angola. Her
father, Vuyisile Mini, had been sentenced to death in
1964 and executed for alleged political offences.
Seven members of the Security Branch, including the
then deputy chief, were refused amnesty for her
killing (AC/2001/231).

MINI, Vuyisile (44), a founder member of SACTU and
an ANC supporter, was executed in Pretoria, on 6
November 1964 after being sentenced to death in the
1960 treason trial. Mr Mini was allegedly betrayed by
‘comrades’ who turned state witness in the case.
MINIYANE, Nomasonto Miriam (48), had her house
burnt down at KwaMbonambi, KwaZulu, near Richards
Bay, Natal, by IFP supporters and members of the
KwaZuru PoLice on 5 February 1992 in ongoing poiltical
conflict in the area.

MINNIE, Mathews Otto , lost his shack in KTC squatter
camp, Cape Town, in June 1986, during an arson
attack by members of the WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting
with the support and sanction of the security forces.
MINTZ, S, was injured in what became known as the
MAGOO0's BAR BOMBING in Durban on 14 June 1986. The
explosion killed three women and injured at least 74
other people. Seven MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/128).

MIRAGE, Emily , was severely injured when members
of MK'’s ‘Dolphin Unit" detonated an explosive in a car
near the Krugersdorp Magistrate’s court and the adjacent
police station, Tvl, on 16 March 1988. Three people
were killed and more than 20 were injured in the blast.
Two MK operatives were granted amnesty (AC/2001/003).
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MIRANDA, Michael (11), was shot dead by members
of the Railway Police in Athlone, Cape Town, on 15
October 1985, in the TROJAN HORSEINCIDENT, CAPE TOWN.
MIRION, Mark Craig was injured when AWB members
detonated an explosive at the taxi rank in Westonaria,
Tvl, on 25 April 1994, in an effort to disrupt the
electoral process. Five people were killed in the blast.
Six AWB members were granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0342). See RIGHT-WING ATTACKS.

MISHOMBO, Ben (47), was beaten and tear gassed
by members of the SAP in Moletsane, Soweto, on 29
August 1976 after he went looking for his grandchildren
who had not returned from school. He was found in
the street and died in Baragwanath hospital on 4
September 1976.

MITCHELL, L, was injured in what became known as
the MAGOO's BAR BOMBING in Durban on 14 June 1986.
The explosion killed three women and injured at least
74 other people. Seven MK operatives were granted
amnesty (AC/2001/128).

MITCHLEY, Norman, a scholar, was injured when
APLA operatives opened fire on the vehicle in which
he was travelling at Eikenhof, Tvl, on 19 March 1993.
The perpetrators had allegedly targeted a schoolbus
conveying white children, and attacked the Mitchley
vehicle when this failed. Three people were killed and
two were injured in the attack. One APLA operative
was granted amnesty (AC/2000/147).

MITCHLEY, Sandra , an unarmed civilian, died when
APLA operatives opened fire on the vehicle in which
she was travelling at Eikenhof, Tvl, on 19 March 1993.
The perpetrators had allegedly targeted a schoolbus
conveying white children, and attacked the Mitchley
vehicle when this failed. Three people were killed and
two were injured in the attack. One APLA operative
was granted amnesty (AC/2000/147).

MITCHLEY, Shaun, a scholar, died when APLA
operatives opened fire on the vehicle in which he was
travelling at Eikenhof, Tvl, on 19 March 1993. The
perpetrators had allegedly targeted a schoolbus
conveying white children, and attacked the Mitchley
vehicle when this failed. Three people were killed and
two were injured in the attack. One APLA operative
was granted amnesty (AC/2000/147).

MITSHALI, Heriet Sisi (49), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by an IFP supporter at Jeppe station,
Johannesburg, on 28 October 1993. Ms Mitshali was
targeted by co-workers who were members of the
IFP-aligned UWUSA, because of political conflict in the
workplace.

MIYA, Bongamusa (17), was shot and killed by IFP
supporters in Carisbrook, Ixopo, Natal, on 2 April 1992,
allegedly for refusing to join the IFP. His father was
also killed in the attack.

MIYA, Dibhiliza Gesta (54), an IFP supporter, had her
house in Malukazi, KwaZulu, near Umlaz, Durban, burnt
down by ANC supporters on 5 February 1991. Her son
was killed in the attack, and she was forced to flee the
area.

MIYA, Jabulani Godfrey (21), was shot dead by
members of the Security Police in Guguletu, Cape
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Town, on 3 March 1986, in the GUGULETU SEVEN
incident. Two Security Branch members from
Vlakplaas were granted amnesty for the incident
(AC/2001/276).

MIYA, Mamthembu Pumzile (38), was detained by
members of the SAP on several occasions in 1962 in
Bizana, Transkei, during the PONDOLAND REVOLT. Her
husband was shot dead by the police during the revolt.
MIYA, Mbhekiswana Ephraim (59), was shot and
killed by IFP supporters in Carisbrook, Ixopo, Natal, on
2 April 1992, allegedly for refusing to join the IFP. His
son was also killed in the attack.

MIYA, Mbusiso , an ANC supporter, was detained in
January 1977 along with four other ANC supporters,
and taken to Fisher Street police station in Durban,
where he was severely beaten by members of the SAP
while under interrogation about his political activities.
MIYA, Mduduzi Aubrey (28), an ANC supporter, was
killed on 18 February 1994, when four gunmen
attacked a house in the rural Mahahle village, near
Creighton, Ixopo, Natal, in which he and other ANC
youths were sleeping. Fifteen ANC youths were killed
in the attack. They had been seen putting up posters
announcing a voter education workshop in preparation
for the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Four prominent IFP
leaders were acquitted on charges relating to the
massacre.

MIYA, Miungisi , an ANC supporter, was shot and
injured by IFP members during political conflict at
Amahlongwa Reserve, Umkomaas, Natal, on 18 October
1990. Two perpetrators were granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0015).

MIYA, Mpotsane Albert (31), was severely beaten by
a named and other members of the SAP on 1 April
1985 in Makeneng, Cape.

MIYA, Msolwa , was imprisoned for two years in 1962
in Bizana, Transkei, for his involvement in the
PONDOLAND REVOLT, and was killed by members of the
SAP who shot him when they visited his home after
his release.

MIYA, Mthokozsi Johan , an IFP supporter, was shot
dead on 28 March 1994 when the bus in which he
was travelling was ambushed in Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in political conflict during the run-up to
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Three people were killed and
18 injured during the attack.

MIYA, Phillip (43), was hacked to death with a panga
and thrown from a train near Denver station,
Johannesburg, on 16 December 1990. Between 1990
and 1993, 572 people died in TRAIN VIOLENCE initiated by
groups opposed to a democratic transition.

MIYA, Qatisa Alfred (52), an IFP supporter, was
injured in a hand grenade attack by ANC supporters on
a shop on 23 March 1993, and shot by ANC
supporters on 17 April 1994 in Wembezi, KwaZulu,
near Estcourt, Natal, during the run-up to the ApRIL
1994 ELECTIONS.

MIYA, Simiso Edmund , was beaten to death in
Umgababa, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 29 June 1993,
at a ‘people’s court’ under the command of an officer
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of a local ANC self-defence unit (SDU). Mr Hlatshwayo
was one of two people killed that day, and five others
were severely beaten, allegedly for crimes committed
in the community. One SDU member was granted
amnesty (AC/2000/033).

MIYA, Sithembiso Robert (28), an IFP supporter, was
attacked by ANC supporters at Malukazi, KwaZulu,
near Umlazi, Durban, on 5 February 1991. He died of
his injuries some days later. His mother’s house was
burnt down in the attack.

MIYA, Sokela (43), an ANC supporter, was stabbed to
death by IFP supporters after he was allegedly
intimidated into attending an IFP meeting in Bulwer,
Natal, on 20 April 1992.

MIYA, Themba Selby (50), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed and severely wounded by IFP supporters at
his home in Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near Ladysmith, Natal,
in October 1992. He died from his injuries a few
months later.

MIYA, Thulani (16), an ANC supporter, was shot and
injured by named IFP supporters at Umkomaas, near
Durban, in October 1990.

MIYA, Thulani Patric (16), was shot and injured by IFP
supporters in Mabhuyeni, KwaZulu, near Empangeni,
Natal, on 11 March 1994 in political conflict in the run-
up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Three perpetrators
were found guilty of the killings.

MIYEN, Cyprian Majamu (38), was beaten by
members of the SAP, one of whom is named, in Louis
Trichardt, Tvl, on 28 September 1990 because he
participated in a strike.

MIZA, Mthetheleli Devilliers (33), was shot and
wounded by named members of the SAP on 23 July
1985 at Phakamisa High School in Zwide, Port
Elizabeth. Scholars were involved in a student protest
when police randomly shot at students, killing two and
injuring six others, including teachers. The perpetrators
were found guilty of murder and attempted murder
and were sentenced to ten years’ imprisonment but
did not serve their sentence.

MIZAH, Nicholas Mziwonga (22), was stabbed and
injured by a group of UDF supporters in New
Crossroads, Cape Town, on 22 February 1986, allegedly
because he was suspected of being an informer.
MIZAH, Nkosiyabo Christopher (19), a UDF supporter,
was abducted and shot dead by supporters of the KTC
Masincedane Committee in KTC, Cape Town, on 5
February 1988, during internal conflict among UDF
supporters in KTC and Tambo Square.

MJACU, Jackson (74), was severely hacked with a
panga by a named perpetrator during an ANC-
organised cultural event on 22 September 1990 in
Jwanxa, King William’s Town, Cape. Mr Mjacu had
managed to resolve political differences within the
community but was attacked on his way home from
the meeting. He died in hospital.

MJACU, Sandile Joseph , was shot by a named town
COUNCILLOR, after leaving home to attend a meeting in
Centerton, near Hankey, Cape. He died in hospital a
few days later on 30 April 1986. The perpetrator had
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slept away from home for fear of being attacked by
community members. He shot at two people
approaching his hiding place, injuring Mr Mjacu. No
one was found legally responsible for his death.
MJADA, Noti (55), was shot and severely injured in
Noupoort, Cape, on 25 April 1985, at a meeting of
schoolchildren and parents to demand the building of a
new school. Police dispersed the meeting by firing
teargas and live ammunition and beating people with
sjamboks. Several people were injured in this incident.
MJADA, Yibanathi Michael (14), was severely
beaten on his arrest at his home in Noupoort, Cape,
on 25 April 1986. He was held in custody for six
weeks, during which time he was severely beaten,
suffocated, and had his penis slammed in a drawer by
members of the SAP. Yibanathi became mentally
disturbed.

MJADU, Lindinkosi Happy (38), an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by IFP supporters while on his
way to work in Empangeni, Natal, on 15 July 1992
during continuing political conflict in the area.
MJADU, Nhlanhla Kenneth (25), was stabbed with a
spear and had his home burnt down in Ngwelezana,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, in April 1993 during
ongoing conflict between ANC and IFP supporters.
MJADU, Nokwethemba Ntombizakhona  (36), was
shot and injured and had her house in Empangeni,
Natal, burnt down by IFP supporters in 1993 in
continuing political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MJAJA, Venene Mayvis (37), was stabbed and
injured in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in 1993
during intense political conflict between the 'RED’ AND
‘GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MJAJI, Mlungisi Shadrack (24), was shot dead by
named |IFP supporters in Port Shepstone, Natal, on 16
January 1994 in political conflict in the area during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MJALLI, Oupa Gert (17), was tortured in detention by
named members of the SAP at Welverdiend police
station, Carletonville, Tvl, on 18 October 1990 during
intense political conflict in the area. Police allegedly
beat and stabbed Mr Mjali to try and make him sign a
statement implicating him in political violence in
Khutsong township.

MJANDANA, Mamntu , lost her homestead in an
arson attack in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei, during the
PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MJANYEL WA, Mnconco , an iKongo member, was
executed on 29 March 1962 in Pretoria Central prison,
for his involvement in the PONDOLAND REevoOLT.
MJAVYIY A, Jackson , a private security guard, was
injured by four APLA operatives during an attack on
police members at the Khayelitsha train station, Cape
Town, in 1992. Four other private security guards were
injured in the attack. See APLA attacks. Two APLA
members were granted amnesty (AC/1998/0103).
MJETHU, Harold Vuyo (27), was shot and severely
injured by members of the SAP in Pabellelo, Upington,
Cape, on 13 November 1985, during a political rally.
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MJIJWA, Nimrod Monde (20), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by members of the SAP on 23 May
1986 in Hankey, Cape, for allegedly trying to attack a
COUNCILLOR'S house.

MJIKELO, July Xwele (52), an ADM supporter, lost his
homestead in arson attacks by named ANC members
during political conflict at Msobomvu, Alice, Ciskei, in
September 1992.

MJILA, Noxolo Lindelwa (27), was shot and injured by
named and unnamed ANC supporters during political
conflict in Mdantsane, Ciskei, on 28 January 1993. She
was allegedly targeted because she was the wife of
an ADM member.

MJILO, Jumouma (68), an Inkatha supporter, had her
house at Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu, Durban,
burnt down by ANC supporters in violent conflict with
Inkatha supporters on 11 February 1990. See
RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MJIWU, Sizwe Witness (36), was blindfolded and
severely beaten by members of the SAP and the CDF
on 16 May 1987 in Mdantsane, Ciskei. The police
claimed that Mr Mjiwu was harbouring weapons at his
house and detained him at the Cambridge police station,
East London. He was released and then redetained
before he fled from the Ciskei. Mr Mjiwu has suffered
from partial deafness since then.

MJOBO, Zandisile Zenieth (23), was shot dead by
members of the Security Police in Guguletu, Cape
Town, on 3 March 1986, in the GUGULETU SEVEN incident.
Two Security Branch members from Viakplaas were
granted amnesty for the incident (AC/2001/276).
MJODO, Enoch (58), was beaten and forced to flee
Crossroads, Cape Town, after several of his colleagues
were killed in 1983 by members of an opposing
committee. He lost his home in an arson attack in KTC
in June 1986, during the mass destruction of UDF-
supporting squatter camps by WITDOEKE vigilantes, acting
with the tacit approval and aid of the security forces.
MJOKA, Madoda Louis (22), was hacked and shot
dead by named Inkatha supporters on 25 August 1989
in KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MJOKA, Nontobeko (12), was shot and her left arm
was broken when IFP supporters attacked several
homes in Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, at
the end of July 1992. Nontobeko's father was killed in
the attack.

MJOKA, Sylvia Baphindile (39), was repeatedly
harassed by Inkatha supporters at KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, in December 1989, after
her son had allegedly been killed by the same
perpetrators during political conflict.

MJOLA, Nonhlanhla (3), was shot dead when IFP
supporters attacked the home of her grandmother, an
ANC supporter, in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban,
on 29 October 1993. Three other people were killed in
the attack.

MJOLI, Bhoko July (25), an AZAPO supporter, was
subjected to electric shock torture by members of the
SAP after his arrest on 15 March 1986 in Jouberton,
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Klerksdorp, Tvl. He was arrested on suspicion of
having set somebody’s house on fire.

MJOLI, Nkosinathi Musa (20), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death by a named Inkatha supporter in
Umlazi, Durban, on 10 June 1990 in intensifying
political conflict in the area. Mr Mjoli was allegedly
confronted by IFP supporters because he was wearing
an ANC T-shirt.

MJOLI, Nomabisinya Esther (68), an IFP supporter,
had her house in Murchison, near Port Shepstone,
Natal, looted and burnt down by ANC supporters in
July 1992.

MJOLI, Nombuyiselo Alzina (54), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house burnt down by ANC supporters on 11
February 1990 in KwaMashu, Durban, in violent conflict
between ANC/UDF supporters and AMASINYORA
vigilantes. See RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MJOLI, Ntsikelelo Eric (25), a UDF supporter, was
tortured in a various ways by members of the SAP,
some of who are named, during political conflict
between AMAAFRIKA and UDF supporters in Kwa-
Nobuhle, Uitenhage, Cape, on 24 May 1987.
MJOMO, (first name not given), was shot in
Sebokeng, Tvl, on 23 May 1991.

MJUZA, Xolile (21), a UDF supporter, was shot and
injured by members of the SAP at Nemato, Port
Alfred, Cape, on 16 November 1984, while he was
attending the funeral of a victim of political conflict. Mr
Mjuza was then detained, charged with public violence
and sentenced to five years' imprisonment.
MJWAHA, Nicholas Xolani Gwandu , was shot and
killed by Inkatha supporters during political conflict at
Mophela, Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 15
September 1989. One perpetrator was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MJWARA, Bazeni Agnecia (58), an ANC supporter,
had her home at GENGESHE, Richmond, Natal, burnt
down in April 1992 in ongoing conflict between IFP
and ANC supporters in the area.

MJWARA, Getrude (70), an ANC supporter, had her
home in Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, burnt
down by IFP supporters on 1 May 1994 in political
conflict that accompanied the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MJWARA, Linda Vivian (20), an ANC supporter,
disappeared for 31 days and was found dead at
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 8 November
1993. He had allegedly been stabbed and killed by an
IFP supporter.

MJWARA, Thobile Beauty (33), lost her house in an
arson attack in GENGESHE, Richmond, Natal, in April
1992 during ongoing political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MJWARA, Vincent Thulani , was shot dead by
members of the SAP while attending a night vigil in
KwaMakhutha, Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 10
March 1990 during political conflict.

MK ‘Brown’, thought to be Kenneth NUNGU | an
MK Special Operations commander, was one of two
MK operatives shot dead in an ambush by members
of the SAP Special Task Force and Eastern Transvaal
Security Branch on the border between South Africa
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and Swaziland on 8 December 1981. The car caught
alight, severely burning the two bodies. The divisional
commanders of the Northern and Eastern Transvaal
Security Branches, the officer commanding the SAP's
Special Task Force, as well as several Security Branch
and Special Task Force members, were granted
amnesty for this operation (AC/2001/186).

MK ‘Scomio’, or ‘Scorpion’ (whose real name may
have been Oupa Ronald MADONDO) , was shot
dead on the farm Leeuspoor near Jozini Dam, northern
Natal, by members of the Natal and Northern Natal
Security Branch in 1980. His body was destroyed by
means of explosives. Five Security Branch operatives,
including the divisional commander of Soweto Security
Branch who authorised the operation, were granted
amnesty for the killing (AC/2000/151).

MKABALASA, Silumko Leonard , was hacked and
stabbed to death by AZAPO members in KwaZakele,
Port Elizabeth, in 1984 after he refused to join AZAPO.
MKABELA, Hendrik Fani , was shot dead by
members of the SAP at KwaGuga, near Witbank, Tvl,
on 20 July 1976 in the wake of the SOWETO UPRISING.
MKABELA, Moss , was injured in a hand grenade
explosion at Lulekani, Gazankulu, on 28 March 1986.
Fifteen people died and scores were injured when the
grenade, thrown by SADF members, exploded in a
packed sheeben on Good Friday 1986. See GAZANKULU
HAND GRENADE ATTACK.

MKABINDE, Nathi , was shot and injured in crossfire
between the police and named ANC operatives at
Edendale Hospital, near Pietermaritzburg, on 4 May
1986, when the operatives tried to free a political
prisoner held at the hospital.

MKAFU, Msuthu (25), a Pogo member, was detained
without trial for 30 days in 1963 at Somerset West,
Cape. He was sentenced to five years' imprisonment
for his political activities.

MKALIPI, Pretty Ntombomzi (15), an AZAPO
supporter, was stabbed and severely injured by UDF
supporters during political conflict in Port Alfred, Cape,
in June 1985. The perpetrators, armed with hatchets
and axes, arrived at her home and attacked her in the
yard after she escaped through a window. As a result
of the attack, she is disabled.

MKAMBA, Boby (54), an ANC supporter, had his
house burnt down by IFP supporters in Folweni,
KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, in December 1990
during intensifying political conflict in the area.
MKAMBA, Thandiwe Primrose (53), an ANC
supporter, had her house and business premises in
Umlazi, Durban, destroyed in an arson attack by IFP
supporters on 6 May 1992.

MKAMBULA, Dinekile Lillian (46), an Inkatha
supporter, had her home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, burnt down by UDF supporters on 10
February 1987 in intensifying political conflict in the
area. Ms Mkambula's new home in Inchanga, Natal,
was reportedly burnt down in 1989.

MKAMBULE, Thomas Shor tie, was shot dead by
members of the SAP in KwaThema, Tvl, on 8 July
1985 during a march to protest against the killing of
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several Duduza youths by Viakplaas operatives who
supplied the youth with doctored hand grenades.
MKANYISW A, Nomathemba (65), lost her home in
an arson attack by members of the SAP in Boipatong,
Vanderbijlpark, Tvl, on 3 September 1984 during
violence following a rent boycott.

MKATALI, Bukwana (68), an ANC member, was
severely assaulted by ADM members during political
conflict in Peddie, Ciskei, in 1993.

MKATSHW A, Bennet Madala (35), an ANC supporter,
lost his right eye after he was severely beaten and
kicked by members of the SADF 21 Battalion and the
SAP in his home in Wattville, Benoni, Tvl, on 24 May
1992. Many people were assaulted by soldiers
patrolling the township that day.

MKAZA, Fikile Kenneth (22), a Nyanga resident, was
shot and injured in Nyanga, Cape Town, on 26
December 1976, during political conflict between
Nyanga residents and migrant workers from the hostels
over the Christmas 1976 period.

MKEFE, Luthaba (49), an ANC supporter, was severely
beaten by members of the CDF in September 1992 at
King William's Town, Cape. The perpetrators assaulted
the Mfeke family when they could not find Mr Mfeke's
son, an ANC supporter.

MKELENI, Phesheya Johnson Gongwane , an ANC
supporter, was severely assaulted by members of the
SAP in 1962 at Lusikisiki police station, Transkei,
because of his involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.
MKETI, Irvin Vuyisile (33), was arrested and charged
with harbouring terrorists in December 1978 and
detained in a prison in Umtata, Transkei, by members
of the Security Branch. Members of Mr Mketi's family
were APLA activists.

MKETI, Ntsikelelo Michael (25), an MK cadre, was shot
dead by a named Security Force member and others
on 9 December 1987 in KwaZakele, Port Elizabeth.
After he left school in 1982, he joined the ANC in exile
and was not heard of again until an anonymous
telephone caller informed the family that he had been
killed during a confrontation with security forces.
MKETI, Rex Meyisi (30), an APLA member from Umtata,
Transkei, was shot dead by Basotho paramilitary force
members at Qacha'’s Nek, Lesotho, close to the
Lesotho-Transkei border, in March 1985. Five other
APLA members died in this incident, which occurred
at a time of increased LLA activity in the area aimed at
destabilising the pro-ANC government of Chief Leabua
Jonathan. The Basotho security forces claimed they
had mistaken the APLA unit for LLA members. APLA
and the LLA were closely connected at the time.
MKETI, Sophia Nomahlubi (60), was detained in
December 1978 for three months by members of the
Security Branch and held in various prisons in Umtata,
Transkei, allegedly because she visited her son, an
APLA member, in hospital.

MKETI, Trevor Xola Raymond Mvelase (23), an
APLA member, was detained in December 1978 by
members of the Security Branch in Umtata, Transkei.
He was reportedly kept naked in a cell for a month.
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MKETI, Valencia T embisa, an APLA supporter, was
detained by members of the Security Branch in
December 1978 and held at a prison in Umtata, Transkei.
Ms Mketi was accused of harbouring trained
terrorists.

MKHABELA, Bongani William (20), an ANCYL
member, was stabbed to death in Pietermaritzburg, on
3 February 1990 in political conflict between Inkatha
and ANC supporters following the UNBANNING of
political organisations the day before.

MKHABELA, Joseph , a taxi driver, was shot dead in
Vosloorus, Tvl, on 16 March 1994. One ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) member, who claimed to believe
that Mr Mkhabela was an IFP supporter, was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0017).

MKHABELA, Mandla Metro (24), an ANCYL member,
was shot in the leg and chest by members of the SAP
at Boschfontein community ground in Nelspruit, Tvl, in
June 1986 during a community meeting.

MKHABELA, Mpaniseni Godfrey (19), was shot dead
by IFP supporters in a DRIVE-BY SHOOTING in Daveyton,
Tvl, on 25 July 1993. Between January and October
1993, 139 people were killed in DRIVE-BY SHOOTINGS.
MKHABELA, Sizwe (15), a UDF supporter, was shot
and severely injured by a named Inkatha supporter in
the streets of Clermont, near Durban, in 1986 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MKHABELA, Thembelihle Constance (43), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by IFP supporters
at Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 27
December 1992.

MKHABELA, W allace , survived an attempt on his life
in 1987 when an explosive device was thrown into his
home at Matsulu, KaNgwane, by SADF members who
believed him to be an ANC member. One perpetrator
was granted amnesty (AC/2001/277).

MKHABILE, Mzikhaya Dekstad (25), was arrested and
beaten by police in 1960 in Paarl, Cape, in connection
with the anti-Pass Law campaign. He was again
arrested, severely beaten and tortured after partici-
pating in the Pogo march to storm the police station in
Paarl, on 21 November 1962. He was then sentenced
in 1963 to 12 years' imprisonment for sabotage. While
serving his sentence on Robben Island, he was
subjected to beatings and humiliating treatment.
MKHALANI, Nontetho Meslinah (34), an ANC
supporter, had her house at Bhambayi, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by IFP supporters in February
1992 in intense political confict in the area.
MKHALIPHI, Stella Zelfa (65), had her house at Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters in 1989, in intensifying political conflict in
the area.

MKHALIPHI, Theophillus , an ANC and SACP
member, disappeared from Johannesburg, after the
banning of the liberation movements in 1960 and was
presumed to have joined the ANC in exile. His wife
was left to fend for herself and their children, and they
were constantly harassed by members of the Security
Branch during his absence. It was later found that Mr
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Mkhaliphi was killed in the Wankie campaign in
Zimbabwe during 1967.

MKHALIPI, Sizani Agnes (50), was injured when her
house was petrol-bombed by members of the KwaZuLu
Pouice during political conflict at Ntuzuma, near Durban,
on 6 March 1989.

MKHANAZI, Thandazile (26), had her house in
Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by
IFP supporters, allegedly assisted by members of the
ISU, during 1993 in intense political conflict between
the ‘RED’ AND "GREEN’ FACTIONS.

MKHASIBE, Mzungezwa , an ANC supporter, was shot
and injured by members of the SAP at Mpophomeni,
KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, in April 1990. It is
alleged that the police opened fire on a group of
people watching the retreat of Inkatha supporters who
had earlier attacked the community.

MKHASIBE, Petros Sibonelo (30), an ANC supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death on 14 February 1993 in
Ntuzuma, near Durban, in continuing political conflict
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MKHASIBE, Thomas Muzi (30), was shot dead by a
named ANC supporter on 23 February 1993 in
Sebokeng, Tvl. The perpetrator was allegedly involved
in car hijackings and armed robberies.

MKHATHSW A, Linah (59), was shot with rubber
bullets by members of the SAP during political conflict
in Nelspruit, Tvl.

MKHATJW A, Adam (23), an ANC supporter, was
severely tortured and beaten while in police custody
on suspicion that he participated in an arson attack on
a house at Nelspruit, Tvl, in May 1986.

MKHATSHA, Veleleni Enoch (69), an ANC supporter,
lost two huts in an arson attack in Pholile, Matatiele,
Natal, on 30 April 1990 in intense conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area. Following the
UNBANNING of political organisations, local villagers,
including leading members of the community, resisted
attempts by the ANC to establish branches in the
Pholile and KwaMango areas of Matatiele in March
and April 1990. From 27 to 30 April 1990 about 12
homes belonging to ANC supporters were burnt down
by known perpetrators carrying traditional weapons.
MKHATSHW A, Angelina (28), was sprayed with a
chemical that made her choke and was severely
beaten by alleged members of the SAP in Nkomazi,
Komatipoort, Tvl, on 13 April 1990 looking for
information about the whereabouts of an arms cache.
Police suspected her late husband who had returned
from exile and was allegedly shot by police, would
have told her the whereabouts of the arms cache.
MKHATSHW A, Moses (17), was shot dead by
members of the SAP on 27 July 1990 in Matsulu,
KaNgwane, because he was suspected of being an
ANC supporter.

MKHATSHW A, Smangaliso , a clergyman, official in the
Southern African Catholic Bishops' Conference and
patron of the UDF, was targeted for killing by members
of the Northern Transvaal Security Branch. An
unsuccessful attempt on his life was made at the
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Durban airport during 1987. Two of the conspirators were
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0030 and AC/1999/0032).
MKHATSHW A, Tryphinah , was shot in April 1994 in
Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly by NPKF members, during
political conflict in the area in the run-up to the APRIL
1994 ELECTION.

MKHATSW A, Bokweni Bethuel , was tortured,
mutilated and burnt by members of the community
and named ANC supporters in Nkomazi-West district,
Komatipoort, Tvl, on 6 June 1986 in retaliation for his
brother having killed a chief. His two brothers were
killed with him in the same manner in full view of the
community. Five perpetrators were charged, convicted
of murder and sentenced.

MKHATSW A, December, was tortured, mutilated and
burnt by named ANC supporters and members of the
community in Nkomazi-West district, Komatipoort, Tvl,
on 6 June 1986 because he was accused of killing a
chief. Despite Mr Mkhatswa's alleged confession, his
two brothers were killed with him in the same manner
in full view of the community because they were
suspected of opposing the new chief. Five perpetrators
were charged, convicted of murder and sentenced.
MKHATSW A, Jonathan , was tortured, mutilated and
burnt by named ANC supporters and community
members in Nkomazi-West district, Komatipoort, Tvl, on
6 June 1986 in revenge for his brother having killed the
chief. His two brothers were killed with him in the same
manner in full view of the community. Five perpetrators
were charged, convicted of murder and sentenced.
MKHATSW A, Vitah Nakile (18), was shot and injured
by members of the SAP in Nelspruit, Tvl, during a
protest march to the Tonga police station to demand
the release of arrested local leaders on 12 May 1986.
MKHELE, Jabulane , was shot dead by members of
the SAP in Alexandra, Johannesburg, on 18 February
1986 during the six-DAY WAR when security forces
moved into the area to counteract the relative success
of community structures after town councillors were
expelled.

MKHESENG, Willbeloved Xakekile (19), an ANC
supporter, was shot by members of the SAP in
Burgersdorp, Cape, on 26 January 1986. Police
opened fire during clashes with protesters during a
consumer boycott. Mr Mkheseng died three days
later, on the way to Pelenomi hospital in Bloemfontein.
MKHETHWA, Mar hoborhobo , an ANC member, was
detained in 1960 in Bizana, Transkei, because of his
involvement in the PONDOLAND REVOLT.

MKHETSHANE, Funani , was shot dead in 1992 during
political conflict in Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly by IFP supporters.
MKHETSHANE, Nopasile (43), was severely beaten
in 1992 during political conflict in Tokoza, Tvl, allegedly
by IFP supporters.

MKHIMISHE, (first name not given), suffered severe
emotional trauma as a result of an arson attack on
Khanya House, the headquarters of the Southern
African Catholic Bishops’ Conference, in Pretoria on 12
October 1988. The victims were trapped in the
burning building for some time before being rescued.
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Twelve Viakplaas operatives and seven other Security
Branch Headquarters operatives, including senior
personnel, were granted amnesty (AC/2000/215).
MKHIWANE, Michael (57), a town council member,
lost his house and all his belongings in an arson attack
by UDF supporters in Sebokeng, Tvl, on 1 September
1984. Councillors were forced to resign by the UDF
movement in the township as they were seen as
apartheid puppets.

MKHIZE, (first name not given), an IFP supporter, lost
his home in an arson attack in Kliptown, Soweto,
Johannesburg, on 2 May 1991 because he lived in a
predominantly ANC area. That day the ANC held a rally
at the Orlando stadium and the IFP held one at the
George Goch stadium. Supporters of both parties
attacked each other after the rallies, resulting in a
number of deaths, injuries and damage to property.
MKHIZE, (the family) , ANC supporters, were
constantly harassed by other ANC supporters in the
Durban area during 1991, allegedly because the family
was thought to be supportive of the IFP.

MKHIZE, Abednigo (31), a UDF supporter, was shot
and stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters on 29
March 1990 in KwaMnyandu, KwaZulu, near
Pietermaritzburg, in the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MKHIZE, Abednigo Mbhekiseni (27), an IFP supporter,
was killed in a limpet-mine attack on the home of a well-
known IFP leader in the Umbumbulu area, KwaZuly,
near Durban, on 26 October 1991. The attack, which
took place during a wedding ceremony, is thought to
have been carried out by an ANC supporter. Six people
were killed.

MKHIZE, Agnes Ntombizonke (20), was severely
beaten and then abducted by Inkatha supporters in
Pietermaritzburg during December 1988, in intensifying
conflict between UDF and Inkatha supporters.
MKHIZE, Alfred Bheki (21), a COSAS supporter, had
his home in Lindelani, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt
down while he was in detention in August 1985. Mr
Mkhize, who had been detained at the time of the
death of UDF leader Victoria Mxenge, was attacked
and detained on several occasions because of his
political activities.

MKHIZE, Alfred Zolile (18), was subjected to electric
shock torture and beaten by members of the Kwa-
Ndebele Police in 1986 and 1987 in Moutse,
KwaNdebele. He was interrogated about the deaths of
two policemen and the whereabouts of an activist
during conflict over INCORPORATION in which hundreds
of people died or were injured.

MKHIZE, Alzina Thembani (40), a UDF supporter, had
her house burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 28
March 1990 at KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritz-
burg, in the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MKHIZE, Ambros B , had his house burnt down at
KwaMthethwa, KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on
26 June 1992 during ongoing conflict between ANC
and IFP supporters in the area.

MKHIZE, Amos Bhekisizwe , was stabbed to death
on a train between Germiston and Katlehong, Tvl, on
22 September 1992. The East Rand was a key site of
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TRAIN VIOLENCE with the track between Katlehong and
Kwesine stations becoming the line with the highest
risk in South Africa.

MKHIZE, Andile Siduduzo Sikhumbuzo (8), was
hacked to death when IFP supporters attacked his
parents’ home at Thafamasi, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 3 March 1991 during ongoing political
conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Angelina Khuluza , an ANC branch secretary,
was raped, severely beaten and stabbed to death by
named IFP supporters at her home in KwaMashu,
Durban, on 27 January 1991.

MKHIZE, Angeline Ntombeliza , an ANC supporter,
was severely beaten and had her house burnt down
by IFP supporters at Mahlabatini, near Ulundi,
KwaZulu/Natal, during 1991.

MKHIZE, Badelise Pretty Theodora (35), had her home
burnt down, allegedly by members of the security
forces, in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 23
March 1990, during political conflict in the area.
MKHIZE, Bafikile Alter (26), an ANC supporter, had
his house at Richmond, Natal, burnt down by Inkatha
supporters in April 1990 during intense political conflict
in the area.

MKHIZE, Bafunani (32), an IFP supporter, had her
home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt
down by ANC supporters on 25 August 1991. The
perpetrators allegedly chased Ms Mkhize and her
family from their home before setting fire to it.
MKHIZE, Bavumile (33), an Inkatha supporter, was
forced by ANC supporters to leave her home in
Hammarsdale, Natal, on 18 March 1990. They then
removed the roof of her house.

MKHIZE, Beauty Ntombizodwa (45), was abducted,
hacked and then burnt to death by ANC supporters in
Mooi River, Natal, on 4 October 1992, in ongoing
political conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Ber nard Ben (45), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by IFP supporters in Engonyameni, near
Umlazi, Durban, on 15 August 1992. He and his family
had fled from their home in Emagadini, Umbumbulu, a
few months before his death, allegedly because of
harassment by IFP supporters.

MKHIZE, Bhekamakhize Linos (20), an IFP supporter,
was killed by members of an ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) at the Duduza hostel in Tvl, on 19 March 1994.
At least ten people were killed in the attack, which
took place after IFP hostel-dwellers had attacked and
evicted ANC hostel-dwellers. Two SDU members
were granted amnesty for this killing (AC/2000/054).
MKHIZE, Bheki (18), had his home in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt down by UDF supporters
on 18 August 1988 in intensifying political conflict
between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.
MKHIZE, Bheki Petros (29), an ANC supporter, was
detained and beaten by KwaZuLu PoLIcE members in
Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban, in October
1993. He was later informed that his detention had
been a case of mistaken identity as police were
looking for someone else with the same surname who
was allegedly involved in political activity.
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MKHIZE, Bhekithemba Bridgeman (74), was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Madundubala, near
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 5 May 1994 in political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters accompanying
the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS. Mr Mkhize was allegedly
targeted because his son was an ANC supporter.
MKHIZE, Bhekizenzo Bongani (28), an ANC
supporter, was shot dead in Vezunyawo, KwaZulu,
near Stanger, Natal, during a violent confrontation
between ANC and IFP supporters in the area on 16
October 1993.

MKHIZE, Bhekizenzo Thulani  (29), was shot and
injured by IFP supporters at Umlazi, Durban, on 27
April 1994, the first day of the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MKHIZE, Bhekizitha , a UDF and ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters at Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 14 September 1989 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Bhekukufa (46), had his house burnt down
by IFP supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON
ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Bhoyi Patrick (36), an ANC supporter, was
abducted from his home in Ezakheni, KwaZulu, near
Ladysmith, Natal, on 1 January 1993, and taken to a
deserted place where he was shot several times in
the back and left for dead. He is now paralysed.
MKHIZE, Bhunu Sipho (21), an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by Inkatha supporters on 30 October
1987 at Ntshongweni, KwaZulu, near Hammarsdale,
Natal. He is paralysed from the waist down as a result
of the shooting.

MKHIZE, Bonakele Christina (53), an ANC supporter,
had her house in Bulwer, Natal, burnt down by a
named IFP supporter in March 1994 during political
conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Bongani (19), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead when a named member of the KwaZuLu PoLice
opened fire in a home in Umlazi, Durban, on 12 June
1990. Five other people died in the same attack.
MKHIZE, Bongani (21), an ANC supporter, was shot
dead by IFP supporters in Magonggqo, Table Mountain,
near Pietermaritzburg, on 29 October 1991. His
brother and cousin were killed in the same attack, and
one other person was severely injured.

MKHIZE, Bongani (46), an Inkatha supporter, died
after being shot by ANC supporters in the Durban area
on 15 May 1989 during intensifying political conflict in
the area.

MKHIZE, Bongani Hermilton (24), had his house
burnt down in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, in
August 1993 in political conflict between IFP and ANC
supporters surrounding the launch of an IFP branch in
the area.

MKHIZE, Bongani V incent, an Inkatha supporter, was
shot and killed in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
on 10 September 1986 in intensifying political conflict
between UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area.
MKHIZE, Bongani , died when he was stoned, stabbed
and burnt with acid by members of the Masibonisane
Lamontville Youth Organisation (MALAYQO) in Lamontville,
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Durban, on 21 May 1983. His attackers believed that
he was linked to the Mashoalin gang, which supported
local community councillors. One MALAYO member
was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0250).

MKHIZE, Bonginkosi (40), an Inkatha supporter, was
shot dead by UDF supporters on 29 March 1990 in
KwaMnyandu, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, during
the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MKHIZE, Bongiwe Princess , was shot and killed in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in September
1989 in intensifying political conflict between UDF and
Inkatha supporters in the area. Ms Mkhize's husband
was an Inkatha supporter. During 1989, about 1 000
homes were badly damaged or destroyed in political
violence in Mpumalanga, leaving many dead and
thousands homeless.

MKHIZE, Bridgeman Musa (29), an ANC activist, was
killed when unidentified perpetrators, allegedly members
of the SAP, intercepted and opened fire on the vehicle
in which he was travelling in Verulam, Natal, on 6
January 1992. Mr Mkhize and other members of his
family were known ANC activists in the area.

MKHIZE, Busi Milfred (30), a UDF supporter, was
raped and stabbed by an members of an Inkatha-
supporting gang known as ‘Otheleweni’, who attacked
her home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
June 1987, allegedly because her brothers were UDF
supporters. Her sister was raped and her mother
raped and killed in the attack.

MKHIZE, Busisiwe Gugu Daphne (24), an ANC and
UDF supporter, lost her house in an arson attack in
KwaDweshula, Port Shepstone, Natal, on 24 March
1989 in intensifying political conflict between Inkatha
and UDF supporters. She escaped injured by hiding in
the bushes.

MKHIZE, Busisiwe , was killed at Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 31 December 1992, in ongoing
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
MKHIZE, Caslina , an Inkatha supporter, had her house
at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, burnt down by
UDF supporters on 27 December 1987.

MKHIZE, Catherine Hlamkile (36), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead by Inkatha supporters at Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 4 February 1990 following the
UNBANNING of political organisations two days earlier.
MKHIZE, Collin Cecil Bhekumuzi (34), an ANC
supporter, died when he was run over by a car in
Umlazi, Durban, on 2 September 1989. The car was
allegedly driven by Inkatha supporters, who targeted
him because he had refused to join in a revenge attack
against ANC supporters.

MKHIZE, Conrad , was killed in a limpet-mine attack on
the home of a well-known IFP leader in the Umbumbulu
area, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 26 October 1991. The
attack, which took place during a wedding ceremony,
is thought to have been carried out by an ANC
member. Six people were killed.

MKHIZE, Dominic Mandlenkosi (52), an ANC
supporter, had his house in Ntuzuma, near Durban,
burnt down by IFP supporters on 26 April 1994, the
day before start of the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
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MKHIZE, Duduzile Winnie (41), a UDF supporter, was
shot dead, allegedly by members of the KwaZuLu
PoLICE, in an attack on her home in KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 9 March 1990. Her
husband was also shot dead and her son injured in the
attack. The family had been harassed and threatened
by IFP supporters, and had their home burnt down in
early 1986, allegedly because they did not vote for an
Inkatha candidate during local council elections.
MKHIZE, Dumazile Florah (49), an ANC supporter,
had her house in Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban,
burnt down by IFP supporters on 11 August 1991.
MKHIZE, Dumezweni Jef frey (26), was shot dead by
IFP supporters in Umlazi, Durban, on 6 November
1991. Demonstrators marching in protest against VAT
charges were attacked by IFP supporters and fled into
Mr Mkhize's yard. Mr Mkhize was shot in the head
and died later in hospital.

MKHIZE, Dwa Olive (21), was shot dead by ANC
supporters at Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 8
May 1990, allegedly because she lived in an Inkatha
stronghold, at a time of intense political conflict.
MKHIZE, Dwana Michaelina (56), an ANC supporter,
had her house burnt down by Inkatha supporters in
politicised factional conflict at Swayimane, Table
Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg, in October 1989.
MKHIZE, Edgar Sandile (29), was killed by a named
Inkatha supporter in Umgababa, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 12 July 1988 in intensifying political
conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the
area. The perpetrator was convicted of the killing.
MKHIZE, Elinah , a UDF supporter, was shot and killed
had her house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990
when a group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF
supporters and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in spite of a heavy police and military
presence. Fourteen people were killed and at least
120 homes burnt down. One former IFP member was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MKHIZE, Emmah , a UDF supporter, had her house
damaged when it was attacked by Inkatha supporters
during political conflict at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 14 November 1987. One perpetrator was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/033).

MKHIZE, Emmanuel Bonga (30), an ANC supporter,
was stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters in
Ntshongweni, KwaZulu, near Hammarsdale, Natal, on
17 July 1988 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MKHIZE, Emmanuel Zwelithini (19), was assaulted
and detained by named members of the SAP during
political unrest at New Hanover, near Pietermaritzburg,
on 20 August 1988.

MKHIZE, Ephraim (21), an Inkatha supporter, was
beaten and stabbed to death by UDF supporters in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 12 December
1987 in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MKHIZE, Ernest Mandlenkosi (19), an ANC supporter,
was shot dead on 19 November 1991 in KwaNdengezi,
Kwazulu, near Pinetown, Natal, in ongoing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.

VOLUME 7 Victim findings: Summaries

MKHIZE, Euclide Muzi , an ANC supporter, had his
house at Richmond, Natal, burnt down by IFP
supporters in April 1992.

MKHIZE, Fanana Sixtus (40), an IFP supporter, was
shot dead by members of an ANC self-defence unit
(SDU) on at Zuba Location, Umkomaas, near Durban, 7
November 1990. The family’s home was burnt down
in the attack. Three SDU members were granted
amnesty (AC/1998/0102).

MKHIZE, Fano , was stabbed to death by a named
perpetrator near Trust Feeds, New Hanover, Natal, on
22 July 1988 in intense political conflict between
Inkatha and UDF supporters in the area.

MKHIZE, Fihliwe Viera (55), a UDF supporter, was
raped, stabbed and killed by an members of an Inkatha-
supporting gang known as ‘Otheleweni’, who attacked
her home in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
June 1987, allegedly because her sons were UDF
supporters. Her two daughters were also raped in the
attack, and one was also stabbed and severely injured.
MKHIZE, Fikelephi (52), an Inkatha supporter, had her
house in Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu, Durban,
burnt down by ANC supporters in violent conflict with
Inkatha supporters on 11 February 1990. See
RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Fikile Crezencia (38), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
burnt down in intensifying political conflict between
UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area during 1987.
MKHIZE, Flora Bazabile (49), an ANC supporter, had
her house in Nkoneni, Harding, Natal, burnt down by
Inkatha supporters on 11 July 1990.

MKHIZE, Florence Fisani (27), had her house in
Richmond, Natal, burnt down on 2 July 1993 during
political conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in
the area. Peace talks about the return of political
refugees had collapsed two weeks previously.
MKHIZE, Gladness Ganile (13), an ANC supporter,
had her home at KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by
IFP supporters on 27 January 1991. Two family
members were killed in the attack.

MKHIZE, Gqgizo Ntombeziningi (38), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by IFP
supporters in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON
ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Gqokeleni Mpompo (37), an IFP supporter,
had her house in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu,
near Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters on 16
March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Grace , was injured when a limpet mine
exploded on a municipal bus in Durban on 30
November 1993. The explosive was being conveyed
by APLA operatives to an intended target. When it
accidentally exploded, 12 people were killed, including
one of the operatives. See APLA AtTACKS. One APLA
member and two PASO members were granted
amnesty (AC/1998/0076).

MKHIZE, Gugu Ritta (20), died after being raped and
hanged by IFP supporters in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
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near Durban, on 22 January 1991, in ongoing conflict
in the area. The perpetrators abducted her and her
four-year-old child when they could not find another
member of the family. They were taken to an
abandoned house where she was raped and killed and
her child suffocated.

MKHIZE, Happy-Girl Thandazile V ernon (40), an
ANC supporter, had her home in KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, burnt down by named
Inkatha supporters on 4 February 1990 in political
conflict following the UNBANNING of political organi-
sations two days earlier.

MKHIZE, Henry Nkenke , an ANC supporter, was
repeatedly stabbed and then fatally struck on the head
with a tomahawk by named IFP supporters at
KwaMashu, Durban, on 27 January 1991.

MKHIZE, Hiekisile Paulina (39), an ANC supporter, had
her house in Folweni, KwaZulu, near Umlazi, Durban,
burnt down by IFP supporters on 13 February 1992,
allegedly because her son was a local ANC |leader.
MKHIZE, lan Sipho Winston (43), a UDF supporter,
had his house and car burnt by Inkatha supporters in
Hambanathi, near Verulam, Natal, on 21 August 1984
in political conflict over the INCORPORATION of
Hambanathi into KwaZulu.

MKHIZE, Innocent Nhlanhla , was shot dead and had
his body mutilated by Inkatha supporters in Imbali,
Pietermaritzburg, on 18 March 1990 during intense
political conflict between ANC and Inkatha supporters
in the area.

MKHIZE, Irene Nokusuka (67), was shot dead by
named IFP supporters during political conflict at Ntuze,
KwaZulu, near Empangeni, Natal, on 28 June 1993.
Ms Mkhize was allegedly targeted because she did
not attend weekly IFP meetings and was therefore
believed to support the ANC.

MKHIZE, Jabu Rose (41), an ANC supporter, was shot
by IFP supporters at Umkomaas, near Durban, in
August 1992.

MKHIZE, Jabulani Edwin , a UDF supporter, was shot
and injured when a group of Inkatha supporters and
CAPRIVI TRAINEES attacked a UDF meeting in a house at
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 January
1988. Nine people were killed and an estimated 200
people were injured in the attack. The group went on
to destroy around eight houses. One former Inkatha
member was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).
MKHIZE, Jabulani , was fatally stabbed, allegedly by
IFP-aligned youths, during political conflict in Vulindlela,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 19 October 1993.
MKHIZE, Japhet (55), an Inkatha supporter, was shot
dead by ANC supporters in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, on 12 February 1990 in political conflict
following Nelson Mandela’s release from prison the
previous day.

MKHIZE, Johannes Makhosemba , an IFP supporter,
was shot dead when members of an ANC self-
defence unit (SDU) opened fire on IFP supporters on
their way to a meeting at the Tokoza stadium on the
East Rand, Tvl, on 8 September 1991. Sixteen people
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were killed and ten were injured in the attack. One
SDU member was granted amnesty for the attack
(AC/1999/00225). See TOKOZA ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Jovita Qondeni , a UDF supporter, had her
house looted and set alight on 6 April 1990 when a
group of Inkatha supporters attacked UDF supporters
and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban,
in spite of a heavy police and military presence.
Fourteen people were killed and at least 120 homes
burnt down. One former IFP member was granted
amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MKHIZE, Joyce Nomthandazo (24), an ANC
supporter, broke her leg while running away from
attackers in Mariannhill, Pinetown, Natal, on 7
February 1990, in political conflict between ANC and
Inkatha supporters following the UNBANNING of political
organisations on 2 February.

MKHIZE, Juanna (71), was shot dead by a named IFP
supporter in an attack on her home in Clermont, near
Durban, on 7 November 1993. Ms Mkhize's two-year-
old grandchild was also shot dead in the attack. Her
daughter was shot and injured.

MKHIZE, Julius , was killed by ANC supporters in
Richmond, Natal, in October 1993 in continuing political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters in the area.
MKHIZE, Justice Sipho Mxhegu (28), was shot and
injured by members of the SAP in Imbali, Pietermaritz-
burg, on 13 November 1989 during intensifying
political conflict between UDF and Inkatha supporters
in the area. His badly injured arm had to be amputated.
MKHIZE, Kenilworth Solomuz Ronald  (25), an ANC
supporter, was shot and severely injured by two
unidentified men in Nkandla, KwaZulu, near Melmoth,
Natal, on 23 April 1994, while canvassing for the APRIL
1994 ELECTIONS in an IFP stronghold. Mr Mkhize is now
blind as a result of his injuries.

MKHIZE, Kenneth Mthokozisi ‘Makhehla” , was shot
dead by members of an ANC breakaway gang known
as the ‘Cleaners’ in his home in J Section, KwaMashu,
Durban, on 6 October 1993. One other person was
killed and one injured in the attack.

MKHIZE, Khanyisile (21), was shot dead in a random
shooting while waiting at a bus stop in Amanzimtoti,
near Durban, on 14 March 1990. The incident took
place in heightened political tension during a stayaway
in the area.

MKHIZE, Khanyisile Brightness (28), had her house
in Bhambayi, near KwaMashu, Durban, burnt down by
IFP supporters on 23 February 1993 in intense political
conflict between ANC and IFP supporters in the area.
About 35 houses were burnt down in Bhambayi that
month

MKHIZE, Khanyisile Mavis (27), was shot and
severely injured by Inkatha supporters on 28 March
1990 in KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg,
during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MKHIZE, Khehla Desh , was shot and injured when IFP
supporters attacked ANC supporters at Ndaleni, Richmond,
Natal, on 23 June 1991. See RICHMOND ATTACKS.
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MKHIZE, Khehla Lucas , an ANC supporter,
disappeared from Umlazi, Durban, during intensifying
political conflict in the area in 1987. He has not been
seen again and is presumed dead.

MKHIZE, Khehlo Mashikashika , was shot and killed by
an IFP member during political conflict at Izingolweni,
Port Shepstone, Natal, on 7 June 1991. One perpetrator
was granted amnesty (AC/1999/0339).

MKHIZE, Khengane Edmund , an ANC supporter, was
beaten to death by Inkatha supporters at a supermarket
in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in 1988 in
intensifying political conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Khethekile Vinah (34), lost her house in an
arson attack at GENGESHE, Richmond, Natal, during
April 1992 in ongoing political conflict between IFP and
ANC supporters in the area.

MKHIZE, Khiphabanye Jerome (39), an Inkatha
supporter, had his house burnt down by UDF supporters
at Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pietermaritzburg,
on 29 October 1989, allegedly in politicised factional
conflict between the Makhatini and Mabheleni tribal
groups. Eight Inkatha supporters were killed, and
many houses were destroyed by fire.

MKHIZE, Khosi Dora (35), a UDF supporter, was raped
by members of an Inkatha-supporting gang known as
‘Otheleweni’, who attacked her home in Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in June 1987, allegedly because
her brothers were UDF supporters. Her mother was
raped and killed, and her sister raped and stabbed in
the attack.

MKHIZE, Kulumile T eresa (61), had four houses
destroyed on 16 March 1994 in an arson attack by IFP
supporters on residents of the isolated ANC stronghold
in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban. See
SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Kwazikwakhe Maqujela , a UDF supporter,
had his car set alight and his house looted on 6 April
1990 when a group of Inkatha supporters attacked
UDF supporters and residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in spite of a heavy police and military
presence. Fourteen people were killed and at least
120 homes burnt down. One former IFP member was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0332).

MKHIZE, Lekelela Ronald (33), had his home
destroyed by IFP supporters in Bhambayi, near
KwaMashu, Durban, in April 1994, in political conflict
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MKHIZE, Lindeni Dorah (68), an ANC supporter, had
her home in Swayimane, Table Mountain, near Pieter-
maritzburg, burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 13
March 1990. There was intense political conflict in the
area following the UNBANNING of political organisations
in February.

MKHIZE, Linus (65), was shot in the chest by IFP
supporters in KwaBhidla, near Bulwer, Natal, on 13
January 1993, allegedly because he was thought to be
an ANC supporter. Several ANC supporters were
attacked in the area that day. Mr Mkhize died in
hospital the following day.
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MKHIZE, Lucky Nhlanhla (16), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by named IFP supporters near his home in
Isithebe, KwaZulu, near Mandini, Natal, on 4 July 1993.
MKHIZE, Lungisani (2), was shot dead by a named
IFP supporter who attacked his grandmother’'s home
in Clermont, near Durban, on 7 November 1993.
Lungisani's mother was shot and injured, and his
grandmother shot dead in the attack.

MKHIZE, Madoda , was shot and injured by members
of the SAP in Port Shepstone, Natal, on 17 July 1991
while in the company of a friend who had returned
from exile. The SAP claims that Mr Mkhize and two
friends had shot at them from a stolen vehicle, and an
AK47 rifle and other weapons were allegedly found in
their possession. Mr Mkhize was admitted to hospital
and was later shot dead by members of the SAP while
attempting to escape.

MKHIZE, Magwegwe Wilson (34), an Inkatha
supporter, had his house destroyed in an arson attack
by UDF supporters at Skhokho, Inanda, near
KwaMashu, Durban, on 5 April 1989.

MKHIZE, Makhosonke Solomon , was shot and
wounded when ANC security guards opened fire from
the ANC headquarters at Shell House, Johannesburg,
on a crowd of IFP marchers, on 28 March 1994. At
least nine marchers were killed and around 100 injured.
Ten ANC security guards were granted amnesty
(AC/2000/142).

MKHIZE, Mandla (19), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by a named Inkatha supporter in
Isipingo, Natal, on 7 August 1989. His two brothers
were also killed, at different times, in the course of
political conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Mandla (34), was stabbed, shot and stoned
to death by Inkatha members on 20 March 1990 at
KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, in
political conflict leading to the outbreak of the SEVEN-
DAY WAR in the area. The perpetrators were allegedly
acting under the orders of a local chief to attack
perceived UDF supporters in the community.

MKHIZE, Mandla Nicholas , a UDF supporter, was
shot dead by named Inkatha supporters and members
of the KwaZuru Potice in Clermont, near Durban, on
15 July 1988. He was killed outside his home and in
front of his 11-year-old son. Mr Mkhize was a prominent
leader in Clermont, and there is evidence of a hit list in
which his name appeared. His family continued to be
intimidated and threatened after his death.

MKHIZE, Mandlakayise Samson (40), lost his home
in Ashdown, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, in an
arson attack by Inkatha supporters on 28 March 1990
during the SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MKHIZE, Mandlendoda Albert (51), an Inkatha
supporter, was shot and injured when ANC supporters
opened fire on a vehicle in which he was travelling in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 11 February
1990, the day of Nelson Mandela's release from prison.
MKHIZE, Mandlenkosi (52), an ANC supporter, was
shot by named IFP supporters at Wembezi, KwaZulu,
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near Estcourt, Natal, on 5 May 1991. His infant
daughter was killed in the same attack.

MKHIZE, Mar gar et (38), an ANC supporter, had her
home burnt down by Inkatha supporters at Inanda,
near KwaMashu, Durban, in July 1985.

MKHIZE, Mashingane (60), was stoned and stabbed to
death by supporters of the ANCYL in the Uganda informal
settlement at Umlazi, Durban, in January 1987, allegedly
because he was thought to be an Inkatha supporter.
MKHIZE, Maur een, a UDF supporter, had her house
looted and set alight on 6 April 1990 when a group of
Inkatha supporters attacked UDF supporters and
residents at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, in
spite of a heavy police and military presence. Fourteen
people were killed and at least 120 homes burnt
down. One former IFP member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0332).

MKHIZE, Maxwell Jabulani (27), an IFP supporter,
was stabbed to death by ANC supporters, two of
whom are named, on 13 May 1993 in KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban.

MKHIZE, Mbali (3 months), was killed by IFP
supporters in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
22 January 1991 in ongoing political conflict in the
area. The perpetrators abducted Mbali and her mother
when they could not find another member of the
family. They were taken to an abandoned house
where her mother was raped and hanged, and Mbali
was suffocated to death.

MKHIZE, Mbangomuni Raphael (32), an IFP supporter,
was shot and stabbed to death by ANC supporters on
25 May 1991 in Bhomela, Port Shepstone, Natal.
MKHIZE, Mbhekeni (15), was one of five young ANC
supporters shot dead by IFP supporters during political
conflict at Magoda, Richmond, Natal, on 14 July 1991.
Residents accused the security forces of involvement,
and a top-level police investigation was launched. The
chief of Phatheni was arrested in connection with the
massacre.

MKHIZE, Mbhekeni (21), an ANC supporter, was shot
and stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Ndaleni,
Richmond, Natal, on 13 June 1991. Four other ANC
supporters were killed in the attack.

MKHIZE, Mboniseni Petr os, an Inkatha supporter,
was hacked to death in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 7 September 1988 in intensifying political
conflict between Inkatha and UDF supporters in the
area.

MKHIZE, Mdikivane , was stabbed and wounded by
IFP members at Maphumulo, KwaZulu, near Greytown,
Natal, on 24 August 1991. He was allegedly targeted
because he was believed to oppose the IFP. Two IFP
members were refused amnesty (AC/1998/0009).
MKHIZE, Mduduzi Cecil (15), had his family home
destroyed in a petrol bomb attack at Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 12 August 1986, allegedly
because his mother, a UDF supporter, did not vote for
Inkatha in the local elections.

MKHIZE, Mduduzi Madoda (33), an Inkatha supporter,
had his house in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban,
burnt down by ANC suporters in December 1989.
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MKHIZE, Mdumazeni (37), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by IFP supporters in Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 1 December 1991. Two of
his brothers were also killed, at different times, in the
course of political conflict.

MKHIZE, Mhlomi (41), a COSATU member, died the
day after he was shot and injured on 27 June 1993 in
Katlehong, Tvl, allegedly by ANC supporters.

MKHIZE, Michael Mandla (16), a UDF supporter, was
stabbed to death by other named UDF supporters in
Mpophomeni, KwaZulu, near Howick, Natal, on 20
January 1989. He is believed to have been targeted
because he had relatives in the police force, and the
police were perceived to be aligned with Inkatha in the
area.

MKHIZE, Michael Mboniseni , a UDF supporter, was
struck with an axe and injured when a group of Inkatha
supporters and CAPRIVI TRAINEES attacked a UDF meeting
in a house at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
18 January 1988. Nine people were killed and an
estimated 200 people were injured in the attack. The
group went on to destroy around eight houses. One
former IFP member was granted amnesty
(AC/1999/0332).

MKHIZE, Michael Mfungeleni (42), was stabbed and
burnt to death at Mevamhlophe, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 21 February 1993 during
continuing political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MKHIZE, Mlungisi , an AZAPO member, disappeared in
Sobantu, near Pietermaritzburg, on 14 November 1987,
allegedly having been abducted by UDF supporters.
He has not been seen since and is presumed dead.
MKHIZE, Moses Bhekokwakhe Khohlozi , an ANC
supporter, was shot and stabbed to death by Inkatha
supporters during a mass attack at KwaNxamalala,
KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg on 12 February 1990,
in political conflict following the release of Nelson
Mandela from prison the day before.

MKHIZE, Moses Bonginkosi , an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by named IFP supporters in Isipingo, Natal,
on 24 December 1991.

MKHIZE, Mqoqi Maxwell (19), a UDF supporter, was
shot dead by a named Inkatha supporter in
Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near Durban, on 6 January
1989 in intense political conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Msawenkosi (19), an ANC supporter, was
shot and killed by unidentified persons at KwaMakhutha,
Amanzimtoti, near Durban, on 18 May 1993 during
continuing political conflict between ANC and IFP
supporters in the area.

MKHIZE, Mtebekhuzi Pearl (47), had her house burnt
down by IFP supporters at Umbumbulu, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in February 1994, in political conflict
during the run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.
MKHIZE, Muntu , an alleged IFP supporter, was shot
dead during a confrontation between ANC and IFP
supporters at Gengeshe, Richmond, Natal, on 26
September 1992, in which at least nine people were
killed. Two ANC supporters were granted amnesty
(AC/97/0063).
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MKHIZE, Muntukayise (48), a local ANC chairperson,
was shot and stabbed by IFP supporters at Ohlange,
Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, on 19 July 1993
during intense political conflict. He died in hospital a
week later.

MKHIZE, Musa Mfanukhona , an ANC supporter, was
shot and injured by IFP supporters and members of
the KwaZuLu PoLick, in Esikhawini, KwaZulu, near
Empangeni, Natal, on 20 September 1992.

MKHIZE, Muzikawungenwa , was shot dead by IFP
supporters at Pietermaritzburg on 26 October 1991, in
ongoing political conflict.

MKHIZE, Muzikayifani Michael (39), an ANC
supporter, was abducted and shot dead by IFP
supporters at Mophela, KwaZulu, near Hammarsdale,
Natal, on 18 March 1992.

MKHIZE, Muzomusha (29), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by members of the KwaZuLu PoLICE in
Umbumbulu, KwaZulu, near Durban, in December 1988.
MKHIZE, Mzo, an ANC supporter, was killed at
Richmond, Natal, on 20 March 1994 in intense political
conflict between IFP and ANC supporters during the
run-up to the APRIL 1994 ELECTIONS.

MKHIZE, Ndelezi Mavis , an Inkatha supporter, had
her house burnt down in political conflict between ANC
and Inkatha supporters in Njobokazi, Mpumalanga,
KwaZulu, near Durban, on 18 March 1990.

MKHIZE, Ndodakubo (50), an ANC supporter, was
stabbed to death by Inkatha supporters at Umbumbulu,
KwaZulu, near Durban, in March 1987 in intensifying
political conflict in the area.

MKHIZE, Ndukuzempi , an IFP supporter, was killed
by ANC supporters who stoned him, poured petrol
over him and then set him alight at Nyandezulu, near
Port Shepstone, Natal, in 1990. Mr Mkhize was
suspected of being a police informer and of causing
the deaths of other ANC supporters. One ANC
member was granted amnesty (AC/2000/052).
MKHIZE, Ngakhali , an Inkatha supporter, was shot
dead by ANC supporters at Mpumalanga, KwaZulu,
near Durban, in November 1980.

MKHIZE, Nhlamvu Secr ete, was shot dead in his
bedroom by members of a self-defence unit (SDU) at
Hlanzeni, Camperdown, Natal, on 12 March 1994. The
attackers claimed he was an informer. Another person
in the room was also killed. One SDU member was
granted amnesty (AC/2000/016).

MKHIZE, Nhlanhla , an ANC supporter, was sentenced
in 1987 to seven years' imprisonment on Robben
Island, allegedly for being in possession of arms and
furthering the aims of the ANC.

MKHIZE, Nicolas (15), was tear gassed and assaulted
by members of the SAP at Rockville, Soweto, Johannes-
burg, during a commemoration service on 16 June
1977 for those who died the previous year in the
SOWETO UPRISING.

MKHIZE, Nkosinathi Lenos , was shot dead by a named
Inkatha supporter at Imbali, Pietermaritzburg, on 5
March 1989, in intensifying political conflict in the area.
MKHIZE, Nkosingiphile (28), an ANC supporter, was
shot dead by named members of the Municipal Police
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in Greytown, Natal, who opened fire during a violent
confrontation between ANC and IFP supporters on 10
November 1990.

MKHIZE, Nobuhle Dorothy (50), lost her house in an
arson attack during ongoing conflict between ANC and
IFP supporters at Richmond, Natal, on 20 January 1991.
MKHIZE, Nokusuka Irene (57), an ANC supporter,
was shot and killed by an IFP supporter at Bhamshela,
near Maphumulo, Natal, in continuing political conflict
in June 1993.

MKHIZE, Nokuthula Lungile (5), was severely injured
when she was shot in the jaw by IFP supporters who
attacked her family home in Pietermaritzburg, on 26
October 1991. The family had allegedly been targeted
because they supported the ANC.

MKHIZE, Nomnikelo Thembisile (37), had her house
in Inanda, near KwaMashu, Durban, destroyed in an
arson attack in July 1993 in continuing conflict between
ANC and IFP supporters in the area.

MKHIZE, Nompumelelo (18), had her home set alight
and was shot and injured by named IFP supporters
during political conflict in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu, near
Durban, on 14 January 1988.

MKHIZE, Nomsa , was shot dead at Umkomaas, near
Durban, in October 1987 in intensifying conflict
between UDF and Inkatha supporters in the area.
MKHIZE, Nomzinto Esther (50), an ANC supporter,
was forced to leave her home in Pietermaritzburg and
flee with her family after being threatened by IFP
supporters at her husband'’s funeral in 1991.

MKHIZE, Nonhlanhla Florence (33), had her house
burnt down by Inkatha supporters on 28 March 1990
at KwaShange, KwaZulu, near Pietermaritzburg, in the
SEVEN-DAY WAR.

MKHIZE, Nontombi Daisy (44), an Inkatha supporter,
had her house in Richmond Farm, near KwaMashu,
Durban, burnt down by ANC supporters in violent
conflict with Inkatha supporters on 11 February 1990.
See RICHMOND FARM ARSON ATTACKS.

MKHIZE, Norah (66), had her house at KwaMashu,
Durban, destroyed in an arson attack by IFP supporters
during 1991, allegedly because her sons were ANC
supporters.

MKHIZE, Ntantuza Sithelele , was shot and injured by
ANC supporters in ongoing political conflict at
Mpusheni Reserve, Natal, on 18 August 1992. Eight
people died in the attack. One ANC supporter was
granted amnesty (AC/1999/0219).

MKHIZE, Ntokozo Make-Peace , an ANC supporter,
was shot and injured by members of the SAP in
Greytown, Natal, on 15 September 1990.

MKHIZE, Ntombenhle Nomthandazo  (26), an ANC
supporter, had her house burnt down by IFP supporters
in Sonkombo, Ndwedwe, KwaZulu, near Durban, on
16 March 1994. See SONKOMBO ARSON ATTACKS.
MKHIZE, Ntombifikile Fines